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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties.
Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-
looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,”
“projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions
that concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not
limited to, statements about:

• the evolution of the cyberthreat landscape facing enterprises in the United States and other countries;

• developments and trends in the domestic and international markets for network security products and related services;

• our expectations regarding the size of our target market;

• our ability to educate prospective end-customers about our technical capabilities and the use and benefits of our products and to achieve
increased market acceptance of our solution;

• our beliefs and objectives regarding our prospects and our future results of operations and financial condition;

• the effects of increased competition in our target markets and our ability to compete effectively;

• our business plan and our ability to manage our growth effectively;

• our investment in our sales force and our expectations concerning the productivity and efficiency of our expanding sales force as our sales
representatives become more seasoned;

• our growth strategy to maintain and extend our technology leadership, expand and diversify our end-customer base, deepen our existing end-
customer relationships, and attract and retain highly skilled security professionals;

• our ability to enhance our existing products and technologies and develop or acquire new products and technologies;

• our plans to attract new end-customers, retain existing end-customers, and increase our annual revenue;

• our expectations concerning renewal rates of maintenance contracts with end-customers;

• our plans to expand our international operations;

• our expectations regarding future acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary companies, services, or technologies;

• our ability to continue to generate a significant portion of our revenue from public sector customers;

• the effects on our business of evolving information security and data privacy laws and regulations, government export or import controls and
any failure to comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws;

• our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our brand and intellectual property;

• fluctuations in our results of operations and other operating measures;

• our expectations regarding changes in our cost of revenue, gross margins, and operating costs and expenses;

• our expectations regarding the portions of our revenue represented by product revenue and maintenance and professional services revenue;
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• our expectations concerning the impact on our results of operations of development of our distribution programs and sales through our channel
partners;

• the impact on our revenue, gross margin, and profitability of future investments in the enhancement of CounterACT and Extended Modules and
expansion of our sales and marketing programs;

• the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act on our business;

• our ability to successfully acquire and integrate companies and assets;

• sufficiency of our existing liquidity sources to meet our cash needs; and

• our potential use of foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge our foreign currency risk and our general use of our foreign currency.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business,
financial condition, operating results, cash flows, or prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks,
uncertainties, and other factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a
very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and
uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that the
results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually
achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments
we may make.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and have filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity,
performance, and events and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Forescout Technologies, Inc. (“Forescout”) is the leading provider of device visibility and control solutions. We have pioneered an agentless approach to
device visibility and control that provides one of the most comprehensive, real-time identification, classification, assessment and continuous control over the
devices, that collectively, comprise an organization’s network. This network extends across the campus information technology (“IT”) devices, the campus
Internet of Things (“IoT”) devices, operational technology (“OT”) devices, the data center, and within the third-party cloud. The devices that comprise this
vastly heterogeneous and flat (non-segmented) network are continuously monitored for purposes of taking real-time control action when those devices behave
in a manner outside of established policies. Through continuous visibility and control over the devices, each of which is an entry point for malware to enter
and for corporate and customer information to exit, we protect organizations against the emerging threats that exploit the billions of devices connected to
organizations’ networks. Over 30 billion devices will be connected to the Internet by 2022, according to data published by ABI Research*, and a growing
percentage of them will be used for business purposes through Enterprise IoT initiatives. In addition, in its Top Strategic IoT Trends and Technologies
Through 2023 report (September 2018), Gartner, Inc. estimates that, by 2023, the average CIO will be responsible for more than three times the devices they
managed in 2018.**

IoT devices often bring tremendous value to an organization and OT devices are fundamental to an organizations’ infrastructure and revenue generation.
As such, the percentage of the network that is comprised of these devices will continue to increase, and, as evidenced by trends emerging in many of our end-
customers’ organizations, will actually surpass, in quantity, the number of devices that are secured using the traditional approach of relying on a corporate-
installed security software agent. Given that IoT devices, OT devices, and virtual devices within a third-party cloud provider cannot be adequately secured
with the traditional approach of relying on a corporate-installed security software agent on those devices, organizations are faced with a major gap in device
visibility and lack of control over a significant portion of their network. Also contributing to that gap are the wide varieties of platforms and operating
systems on these devices that are something other than Microsoft Windows, UNIX or LINUX operating systems commonly found on traditional corporate-
owned, IT managed devices.

The threat landscape is rapidly evolving, and attackers are now leveraging the gap in device visibility to gain access to organizations. New attacks are
stealthy, targeted, and pervasive and can target known and unknown software vulnerabilities that can persist undetected inside a network for months. As
organizations invest billions of dollars to protect their traditional devices, servers, network infrastructure, mobile systems, and personal computers, attackers
are shifting their focus to the less secure IoT and OT devices, which have increased the attack surface within organizations. Attackers use these unsecured
devices and a lack of IT control to enter a network and traverse through systems, gathering information before executing an attack. The response to such
attacks is often both uncoordinated and manual because existing security systems operate in silos and security teams often lack the ability to share information
and coordinate an attack response. Further compounding this issue is the continued trend of IT/OT network convergence, in which previously air-gapped OT
networks are physically connected to traditional IT networks, exposing operational technologies and critical infrastructure to potential threats.

Organizations need a new approach to security that gives them the ability to see and control the devices connected to their extended networks. Over the
past ten years, Forescout has developed proprietary agentless technology that discovers and classifies IP-based devices in real time as they connect to the
network and continuously monitors and assesses their security posture. Our solution supports heterogeneous wired and wireless networks, typically without
requiring network modification or upgrades, as well as both virtual and cloud infrastructures, while scaling to meet the needs of globally distributed
organizations. We have built an extensive repository of policies that control how devices are expected to behave on the network. When a device deviates from
a policy, we can immediately take action. Additionally, we offer integrations with third-party systems that expand upon our visibility and control capabilities
and allow us to share contextual device data and deliver automatic policy enforcement between our system and the third-party systems. This is enforcement
that neither our solution nor the third-party solution could do individually. Collectively, we refer to this as our orchestration capabilities.

Our solution is sold across two product groups: (i) products for visibility and control capabilities, and (ii) products for orchestration capabilities.
Typically, end-customers initially deploy our solution in a portion of their campus IT and IoT network or in a portion of their OT network. Because our
solution is agentless and supports heterogeneous network infrastructure, end-
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customers experience rapid deployment of the Forescout platform including compliance assessment of their devices within days. They then apply these
detailed visibility insights to various access control policies. Anecdotally, an end-customer might begin in a specific region in their wired or wireless network
within their campus IT and IoT network, for example - then expand their usage to cover additional regions and other portions of their network. After end-
customers achieve enhanced visibility of and control over their devices, and before they have completed their wall-to-wall deployment in any specific portion
of the network, they can deploy new use cases that often leverage our orchestration capabilities on that portion of the network.

We sell into organizations of all sizes, with a focus on those with a large footprint of devices. Our end-customers represent a broad range of industries,
including financial services, government, healthcare, technology, manufacturing, services, energy, entertainment, and retail. We target the largest accounts in
each industry first to establish reference accounts for that sector. As of December 31, 2018, we have sold to nearly 3,300 end-customers in over 80 countries,
including 21% of the Global 2000, since our inception, with nearly 65 million devices under management. We utilize a high-touch direct sales force with deep
security expertise and strong industry relationships. We sell our products predominantly through a network of value added resellers and systems integrators
that provide a broad reach into various segments of the market across geographies.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, our revenue was $297.7 million, $224.4
million, and $167.5 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of 33% and 34%, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017,
and 2016, our net loss was $74.8 million, $80.7 million, and $65.5 million, respectively.

Our Growth Strategy

We intend to execute on the following growth strategies:

• Expand within our existing end-customers as more devices enter the enterprise and as we expand to new parts of their network. We expect to
grow within our end-customer base as more devices come online within the enterprise. Our product revenue is directly tied to the number of licensed
devices managed by our solution; therefore, we sell more product as more devices come online. As of December 31, 2018, we had sold products
with licenses covering nearly 65 million devices. End-customers often expand usage of our products as they realize the value and applicability to
other areas within an organization. We expect to grow as our end-customers extend their use of our solution across campus IT and IoT portions of the
network which are characterized as wired networks and wireless networks (remote and visitor devices), the operational technology portion of the
network, the on-premise data center portion of the network, and the portion of their network that is now hosted by a third-party cloud provider. As of
December 31, 2018, we had sold products with licenses covering nearly 65 million devices, 23% (or approximately 15 million) of those device
licenses were purchased during the year ended December 31, 2018.

• Grow global end-customer base. We have invested significantly, and plan to continue to invest, in our sales organization to drive new end-customer
growth. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we added more than 500 new customers, of which more than 60 are identified in the list of
Global 2000. We now count six of the top 10 financial services companies, five of the top 10 manufacturing companies, numerous large healthcare
companies and 11 of the 14 civilian cabinets within the United States federal government as customers that are standardizing with Forescout for
device visibility and control.

• Increase sales of our Extended Modules. We are seeing strong demand for our Extended Modules as end-customers are realizing the value of the
orchestration capabilities enabled with these integration modules. As of December 31, 2018, 27% of our end-customers have purchased at least one
Extended Module, up from 23% as of December 31, 2017. During the year ended December 31, 2018, approximately one-third of product deals
included at least one Extended Module, up from one-fourth of product deals during the year ended December 31, 2017. As of December 31, 2018,
we had a portfolio of over 20 Extended Modules. We have also established an Alliance Partner program that allows us to productize these
integrations and leverage joint go-to-market efforts.

• Expand our presence in the market by leveraging our ecosystem of channel partners. We will continue to broaden and invest in our value added
and system integrator channel partner relationships to increase distribution of our products. We are focused on educating existing partners and
investing in sales enablement to expand our market reach through our channel partner network, particularly into mid-market enterprises.
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Our Products

We offer our solution across two product groups: (i) products for visibility and control capabilities and (ii) products for orchestration capabilities.

• Our products for visibility and control capabilities are comprised of CounterACT and SilentDefense. Our CounterACT product provides for visibility
and control capabilities across campus IT and IoT devices, OT devices, data center physical and virtual devices and cloud virtual devices. Our
SilentDefense product provides for visibility and control capabilities deeper within the OT portion of the network. On February 20, 2019, we
announced that, in March 2019, our products for the visibility and control capabilities of CounterACT will be offered as Forescout eyeSight and
Forescout eyeControl, respectively. In addition, we expect to rename and rebrand the SilentDefense product line in 2019. This is a simple rebranding
and renaming of our products and we do not believe this exercise will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Our agentless
technology discovers, classifies, and assesses IP-based devices. It interrogates the network infrastructure to discover devices immediately as they
attempt to connect to the network. Since it does not rely on agents, our end-customers have reported seeing up to 60% more devices on their
networks than previously known. After discovering a device, our solution uses a combination of active and non-disruptive passive methods to
classify the device based on its type and ownership. Based on its classification, our solution then assesses the device security posture and allows
organizations to set policies that establish the specific behavior the device is allowed to have while connected to a network. The connected devices
on these vastly heterogeneous and flat (non-segmented) networks are continuously monitored for purposes of taking real-time control action when
those devices behave in a manner outside of established policies. Control actions vary, based on our customers’ preferences, and include blocking a
device from accessing the network, establishing a Virtual Local Area Network (“VLAN”) that limits access on the network, and sending alerts of
non-compliance.

• Our products for orchestration capabilities are comprised of our portfolio of over 20 Extended Modules. On February 20, 2019, we announced that,
in March 2019, our products for the orchestration capabilities of the Forescout platform will be offered under the Forescout eyeExtend family of
products. This is a simple rebranding and renaming of our products and we do not believe this exercise will have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements. Our Extended Modules represent integrations with vendors across nine categories: advanced threat detection,
client management tools, enterprise mobility management, endpoint protection, detection and response, IT Systems Management, next-generation
firewall, privileged access management, security information and event management and vulnerability assessment. Additionally, end-customers can
create their own integrations using our Open Integration Module or utilize our Advanced Compliance Module for security content automation
protocol.

• Advanced Threat Detection (“ATD”): The combined solution automatically detects indicators of compromise (“IOCs”) and quarantines infected
devices, thereby limiting malware propagation and breaking the cyber kill chain.

• Client Management Tools (“CMT”): The combined solution provides visibility and control of devices while they’re off the enterprise network.

• Enterprise Mobility Management (“EMM”): The combined solution facilitates unified security policy management for mobile devices.

• Endpoint Protection, Detection and Response (“EPP/EDR”): The combined solution verifies device compliance for functional antivirus, up-to-
date signatures, encryption and other endpoint policies and facilitates remediation actions.

• IT Service Management (“ITSM”): The combined solution provides up-to-date device properties, classification, configuration and network
context to help true-up assets in a configuration management database (“CMDB”), improve asset compliance, and maintain a trusted single-
source-of-truth repository for better decision-making.

• Next Generation Firewall (“NGFW”): The combined solution uses real-time situational awareness about devices to implement dynamic network
segmentation, automate controls for secure access to critical resources and create context-aware security policies within industry-leading
next-generation firewalls.
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• Privileged Access Management (“PAM”): The combined solution provides real-time agentless visibility into undiscovered local privileged
accounts and automated responses to threats based on holistic visibility into user activity, device security posture, incident severity, and overall
threat exposure.

• Security Incidence and Event Management (“SIEM”): The combined solution improves situational awareness and mitigates risks using advanced
analytics and comprehensive device information, including IoT classification and assessment context for correlation and incident prioritization.

• Vulnerability Assessment (“VA”): The combined solution ensures devices be added to the network for the first time or ones rejoining the network
(such as mobile devices) meet defined vulnerability compliance thresholds. Additionally, the solution automates policy-based enforcement
actions.

• Open Integration Module (“OIM”): Allows end-customers, systems integrators and technology vendors to integrate custom applications, security
tools and management systems with our platform.

• Advanced Compliance Module for Security Content Automation Protocol (“SCAP”): Automates on-connect and continuous device configuration
assessment to comply with standards-based security benchmarks and content published in the SCAP format.

We offer our solution across two product types: software products and hardware products

• Our software products include CounterACT, Extended Modules, CounterACT Virtual Appliance, CounterACT Enterprise Manager Virtual
Appliances, SilentDefense and SilentDefense Command Center.

• Our hardware products include hardware that is sold separately for use with CounterACT or SilentDefense, CounterACT Appliances (hardware
appliances that are embedded with CounterACT), and CounterACT Enterprise Manager Appliances.

We offer our solution across license types and increments

• Our products are sold with a perpetual license, with the exception of our SilentDefense products, which are sold with either a perpetual license or a
subscription license.

• End-customers can purchase in license increments of 100 devices, with hardware sold separately based on customer deployment requirements. End-
customers can manage their deployments of our products in various options that can scale and manage deployments of up to 2,000,000 devices under
a single console. End-customers can purchase our SilentDefense products in license increments that are on a per site basis.

Our Technology

The key technologies underlying our platform have been built from the ground up to address the device visibility and control challenges of today. Our
foundational technologies are: (i) agentless data collection, (ii) an adaptive abstraction layer, (iii) a real time and continuous policy engine, and (iv) distributed
and scalable architecture. We have invested over ten years of research and development into our technology and believe it represents a significant competitive
advantage for us.

Agentless data collection. Our software uses a combination of both active and passive methods to discover, classify, and assess devices in an
organization’s network. Utilizing active discovery methods, we can poll switches, VPN concentrators, and wireless controllers for a list of connected devices.
Using NBT scans and NMAP, or via WMI for deeper inspection of corporate-managed devices, we can inspect workstations running Windows, Mac, or
Linux, without the use of agents. We also deploy passive inspection methods that allow our appliances to receive SNMP traps from switches and wireless
controllers, monitor a network SPAN port to see network traffic, and leverage information such as TCP window sizes, session information, HTTP traffic, and
DHCP information banners as well as NetFlow traffic data. If 802.1x is implemented, our technology can authenticate 802.1x requests to a built-in or external
RADIUS server, and authorize network access. In addition, our technology can import external MAC classification data or request LDAP data. Power over
Ethernet (PoE) is an additional method available.

Adaptive abstraction layer. Our abstraction layer is able to ingest billions of packets of raw data across a wide array of heterogeneous network systems.
We then consolidate this data into a single pane of glass showing our end-customers a real-
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time depiction of the devices on their networks by type. Our solution does not require vendor-specific network equipment, upgrades of existing infrastructure,
or reconfiguration of each switch and switch port to support 802.1x. As organizations adopt virtual and cloud environments, our technology has the flexibility
to integrate with hypervisor technologies and cloud platforms.

The abstraction layer adapts to the IT enterprise environment and continuously enriches its information as organizations make more data available. As an
example, organizations can choose to consume only NetFlow data, which is only the metadata of the actual network traffic. With this information, our
solutions expedite detection of new devices, collects device properties such as IP address and session protocols, and understands which devices are talking to
each other. If organizations choose to give our technology full access to their network traffic through a SPAN port, we can build on this and provide very
granular information such as MAC address, HTTP user agent, device type, applications in use, and the ability to identify malicious traffic.

Real-time and continuous policy engine. Our policy engine continuously checks devices against a set of policies that control how devices are expected
to behave on the network. While other vendor technologies rely on periodic checks, or queries from an operator, our policy engine can do this continuously
and in real-time for over two million devices. Our policies are triggered in real-time based on events occurring on a specific device. These can be network
admission events, such as plugging into a switch port or change of IP address, authentication events like those received by RADIUS servers or detected by
network traffic, changes in device attributes like user, opening/closing of ports, and specific traffic behavior such as how the device is communicating and
what protocol it is using.

The policy engine leverages both infrastructure and host-based controls. At the network switch, our technology can change a Virtual Local Area Network
(“VLAN”), add an Access Control List (“ACL”), or disable a switch port. At a wireless controller, we can blacklist a MAC address or change the role of a
user. In addition, our technology can restrict remote VPN users. At the host, our technology can start and stop applications, update anti-virus security agents,
disable peripheral devices, and request end-user acknowledgment. The policy engine applies these policies automatically regardless of a device’s location. As
the device moves, the policy engine can follow it within the corporate network, cloud, or data center. We determine the type of infrastructure and, based on
policy, apply the appropriate control actions.

Distributed, scalable architecture. Our console uses distributed computing algorithms to virtually consolidate the device information into a single pane
of a glass view for the administrator. The algorithms allow the administrator to search for security related information such as users, processes, and services
across the entire deployment in real time, and retrieve it in seconds.

Our Services

End-customers typically purchase maintenance and professional services when they purchase one or more of our products. Our support and maintenance
contracts typically have a one-year or three-year term. We offer a portfolio of professional services and extended support contract options to assist with
additional deployment and ongoing advanced technical support.

Maintenance and Support Services

We offer technical maintenance and support for our solution to our end-customers. We provide two levels of maintenance and support, including
premium-level support for coverage 24 hours a day, seven days a week on a global basis. Our end-customers receive post-sale support through online portals,
email and telephone, managed by a single point of contact.

Professional Services

We offer professional services to end-customers to help them design, plan, deploy, and optimize our solution. We also provide training on solution
administration and emerging security best practices. We also provide professional services through our channel partners.

Our Customers

Since our inception, we have sold to nearly 3,300 end-customers in over 80 countries, including 21% of the Global 2000, with nearly 65 million devices
under management. We sell into all industries and into organizations of all sizes, including corporations and government agencies. Our end-customers
generally purchase from distributors and/or VARs.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales

We deploy a direct-touch channel-fulfilled strategy. Our customer acquisition sales cycle is typically nine to 24 months, depending on the industry and
size and scope of deployment. Our expansion sales cycle is typically three to 12 months, as our customers buy more licenses to cover the additional devices
that enter their network after their initial purchase and as we expand into other parts of their network, generally into their other campus environments or
beyond campus and into OT, data center and cloud. We have a direct field sales team and a dedicated team focused on managing relationships with our
channel partners and working with our channel partners to support our end-customers. We expect to continue to grow our sales headcount in areas of highest
demand for our solution. Generally, our sales representatives become more productive the longer they are with us, with limited productivity in their first few
quarters as they learn to sell our products and participate in field training, but with increasing productivity as they acquire accounts and as those accounts
begin their expansion purchases for additional devices, additional parts of their network and orchestration capabilities. Our sales representatives’ annual
productivity historical trends indicate, as a cohort, that their productivity in their second full year is more than double their productivity in their first full year
and that their productivity in years after their second full year are more than 50% higher than their productivity in their second year. As of December 31,
2018, 50% of our sales representatives have been with us for more than two years, up from 35% as of December 31, 2017. For the year ended December 31,
2018, each of the sales representatives’ annual cohorts are producing at levels at or better than in their prior year.

Our sales team is supported by sales engineers with deep technical expertise who are responsible for pre-sales technical support, solutions engineering for
our end-customers, proof of concept work and technical training for our channel partners.

Marketing

Our marketing efforts are focused on building brand reputation and awareness to generate customer demand and build a strong sales pipeline, working in
conjunction with our channel partners around the globe. Our team consists of corporate marketing, product marketing, partner marketing, field and digital
marketing, account and lead development, operations, social media, public relations, and corporate communications. Marketing activities include demand
generation, managing our corporate website and partner portal, trade shows and conferences, press, and analyst relations. Our sales development
representatives also qualify sales leads and facilitate face-to-face meetings with potential customers. We actively drive thought leadership and tell our
technology story by engaging industry analysts and top journalists at business and trade publications, as well as direct to customers via social media and other
digital marketing channels.

Partner Ecosystem

We actively foster and develop our partner ecosystem to find and work with high quality partners who provide our solution to end-customers. Our sales
force and strategic alliance group are responsible for cultivating these partnerships to establish new opportunities for delivering our solution to new and
existing end-customers.

Channel Partners

We leverage the global breadth and reach of the channel ecosystem, including value-added resellers and distributors, to fulfill orders and sell to our mid-
market end-customers. We dedicate significant resources to building in-depth relationships with our channel partners, including marketing, technical, and
sales support to assist in jointly sourcing and closing sales opportunities.

Alliances Partners

We have established an Alliance Partner program that allows us to productize technical integrations with third-party security vendors and leverage joint
go-to-market efforts.

Research and Development

We invest substantial resources in research and development to consistently enhance features and capabilities of our solution. Our research and
development teams are located in Tel Aviv, Israel; San Jose, California; Eindhoven, The Netherlands; and Dallas, Texas. We plan to continue to significantly
invest in resources to conduct our research and development effort.
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Competition

We operate in the intensely competitive security market that is characterized by constant change and innovation. The threat landscape is growing faster
than the security market, drawing new providers and new functionality from existing providers to address dynamic threat vectors. We compete with security
providers in the following categories:

• the large networking vendors, Cisco and HP Enterprise Company; and

• independent security vendors that offer products that perform some of the functions of our solution.

The principal competitive factors in our market include:

• effectiveness;

• features and functionality;

• global support capabilities;

• scalability and overall performance;

• time to value;

• integration capabilities with heterogeneous network infrastructure and security tools;

• brand awareness and reputation;

• strength of sales and marketing efforts;

• size and scale of organization;

• price and total cost of ownership; and

• customer return on investment.

We believe we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors as a result of the features and performance of our solution, the ease
of integration of our products with network infrastructure, and the breadth of our capabilities. However, many of our competitors have substantially greater
financial, technical and other resources, greater name recognition, larger sales and marketing budgets, deeper customer relationships, broader distribution, and
larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios.

Manufacturing

We outsource the final assembly of the off-the-shelf-Dell-components that comprise the hardware that is sold separately along with our software, or
which has our software embedded, to a single third-party contract manufacturer, Arrow Electronics, Inc. (“Arrow”). This approach allows us to reduce our
costs by decreasing our manufacturing overhead and inventory and also allows us to adjust more quickly to changing end-customer demand. Arrow assembles
our product using design specifications, quality assurance programs and standards that we establish, and it procures components and assembles our products
based on our demand forecasts. These forecasts represent our estimates of future demand for our products based on historical trends and analysis from our
sales and product management functions as adjusted for overall market conditions.

We have entered into a written agreement with Arrow pursuant to which Arrow provides its contract manufacturing services. This agreement continues in
effect until either party terminates, with or without cause, by giving 90 days prior written notice.

Seasonality and Backlog

We experience seasonality in our business, with sales generally stronger in our third and fourth fiscal quarters. For this reason, we do not believe that our
product backlog at any particular time is meaningful because it is not necessarily indicative of future revenue in any given period as such orders may be
rescheduled by our partners without penalty or delayed due to inventory constraints.
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Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. We rely on, among other things, patents,
trademarks, copyrights, and trade secret laws, confidentiality safeguards and procedures, and employee non-disclosure and invention assignment agreements
to protect our intellectual property rights. We have seven U.S-issued patents, which expire between November 24, 2019 and October 29, 2035, 20 patent
applications pending in the United States, and 18 pending foreign counterpart patent applications in a non-U.S. jurisdiction. We also have 14 issued foreign
counterparts of these patents. We also license software from third parties for integration into our products, including open source software and other software
available on commercially reasonable terms.

We control access to and use of our proprietary software, technology and other proprietary information through the use of internal and external controls,
including contractual protections with employees, contractors, end-customers, and partners, and our software is protected by U.S. and international copyright,
patent, and trade secret laws. In addition, we intend to expand our international operations and effective patent, copyright, trademark, and trade secret
protection may not be available or may be limited in foreign countries.

See the section titled “Risk Factors—Failure to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights could substantially harm our business
and results of operations” for additional information.

Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we had 1,116 employees, including 1,098 full-time employees.

None of our employees are represented by a labor organization or are a party to any collective bargaining arrangement. None of our employees located in
France, Spain, Germany and The Netherlands are currently covered by industry-wide collective bargaining agreements. We have never had a work stoppage,
and we consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in April 2000. We completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) in October 2017 and our common stock is listed on
The NASDAQ Global Market. Our principal executive offices are located at 190 West Tasman Drive, San Jose, California 95134. Our main telephone
number is (408) 213-3191.

Several trademarks and trade names appear in this prospectus. “Forescout” and “CounterACT” are the exclusive properties of Forescout Technologies,
Inc., are registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, and may be registered or pending registration in other countries. Other trademarks, service
marks, or trade names appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.

Our website address is located at www.forescout.com, and our investor relations website is located at http://investors.forescout.com/investor-relations.
Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, are available, free of charge, on our
investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material electronically with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). The SEC also maintains a website that contains our SEC filings. The address of the site is www.sec.gov.

We also use our website and the investor relations page on our website as channels of distribution for important company information. Important
information, including press releases, analyst presentations and financial information regarding us, as well as corporate governance information, is routinely
posted and accessible on our investor relations website and social media. It is possible that the information that we post on social media could be deemed to
be material information. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media and others interested in us to review the information we post on U.S. social media
channels listed on the investor relations page on our website. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website or social medial sites
does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our website and
social media sits are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information contained in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, including the sections titled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes. Any of the risks, if realized, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition, and could cause the trading price of our common stock to
decline, which would cause you to lose all or part of your investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or deemed to be material by us may impair our operations and performance.

Risks Related to Our Business

As a result of recent changes in our market, sales organization, and go-to-market strategy, our ability to forecast our future results of operations and
plan for and model future growth is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties.

Although we were founded in 2000 and launched CounterACT in 2006, much of our growth has occurred in recent periods. Our growth reflects a number
of macro changes impacting the cyber security market, particularly through the growth of unsecured IoT devices within the campus and on-premise data
center portions of organizations’ networks, the emerging awareness that the OT devices represent significant portions of many organizations’ networks that
are unsecured and are connected to the IT part of the network and the shift of application payloads from on-premise data centers into third-party cloud
providers thus extending the IT part of an organization’s network into a third-party network for which visibility and control over those virtual devices is very
limited. To address this demand, we have made substantial investments in our sales force. As a result of these recent changes in our market, sales organization
and go-to-market strategies, coupled with our limited operating history, our ability to forecast our future results of operations and plan for and model future
growth is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties. We have encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently
encountered by rapidly growing companies in developing markets. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties are incorrect or change in
response to developments in the security market, our results of operations and financial results could differ materially from our plans and forecasts. If we are
unable to achieve our key objectives, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected and the fair market value of our common stock could
decline.

Our revenue growth rate in recent periods may not be indicative of our future performance.

Our revenue growth rate in recent periods should not be viewed as an indication of our future performance. For the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017, and 2016 our revenue was $297.7 million, $224.4 million, and $167.5 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of 33% and 34%,
respectively. We may not achieve similar revenue growth rates in future periods. Factors that could impact our ability to increase our revenue include
continued retention and sales to existing end-customers, extending the reach of our sales force footprint, and increasing the efficiency by which our sales
force engages our end-customers. If we are unable to maintain consistent revenue or revenue growth, our stock price could experience volatility, and our
ability to achieve and maintain profitability could be adversely affected.

We have a history of losses and may be unable to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We have incurred significant net losses in each year since our inception. We may not be able to sustain or increase our growth or achieve profitability in
the future or on a consistent basis. We expect our operating expenses to increase over the next several years as we continue to expend substantial financial
resources on, among other things, investments in research and development and sales and marketing, and the hiring of additional employees. The return on
these investments, if any, will only be realized over time and may not result in increased revenue commensurate with increases in our expenses, or at all.

In addition, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) in October 2017, and as a public company, we have incurred, and will continue to incur,
significant accounting, legal, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. Achieving profitability will require us to increase revenue,
manage our cost structure, and avoid significant liabilities. Revenue growth may slow, revenue may decline, or we may incur significant losses in the future
for a number of reasons, including general
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macroeconomic conditions, increasing competition, a decrease in the growth of the markets in which we operate, the inability to expand our sales force and
increase its productivity, or if we fail for any reason to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities. Additionally, we may encounter unforeseen operating
expenses, difficulties, complications, delays, and other unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. If these losses exceed our expectations or
our revenue growth expectations are not met in future periods, our financial performance will be harmed and our stock price could decline.

If we are unable to increase sales of our solution to large organizations and government entities, while mitigating the risks associated with serving
such end-customers, our business, financial position, and results of operations may suffer.

Our growth strategy is dependent, in part, upon increasing sales of our solution to large organizations and government entities. Sales to large
organizations and government entities involve risks that may not be present (or that are present to a lesser extent) with sales to smaller entities. These risks
include:

• increased purchasing power and leverage held by large end-customers in negotiating contractual arrangements with us, including, in certain cases,
clauses that provide preferred pricing of configurations with similar specifications;

• more stringent or costly requirements imposed upon us in our maintenance and support contracts with such end-customers, including stricter
response times and penalties for any failure to meet maintenance and support requirements (which penalties may include termination of our
maintenance and support contracts with such end-customer, or refunds of amounts paid);

• more complicated and costly implementation processes and network infrastructure;

• longer sales cycles and the associated risk that substantial time and resources may be spent on a potential end-customer that ultimately elects not to
purchase our products or purchases fewer products than we anticipated;

• closer relationships with, and increased dependence upon, large technology companies who offer competitive products and have stronger brand
recognition; and

• increased pressure for pricing discounts. In addition, because security breaches with respect to larger, high-profile organizations, or government
entities are likely to be heavily publicized and because they are more likely to be targeted by cyberattackers, there is increased reputational risk
associated with serving such end-customers.

If we are unable to increase sales of our solution to large organizations and government entities while mitigating the risks associated with serving such
end-customers, our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition may suffer.

Our business and operations have experienced rapid growth, and if we do not appropriately manage any future growth, or are unable to improve our
systems and processes, our results of operations will be harmed.

We have experienced rapid growth over the last several years, which has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management,
administrative, operational, and financial infrastructure. As we have grown, we have had to manage an increasingly larger and more complex array of internal
systems and processes to scale all aspects of our business in proportion to such rapid growth, including an expanded sales force, additional end-customer
service personnel, and a new corporate headquarters, as well as more complex administrative systems related to managing increased headcount, particularly
within our sales force. Our success will depend in part upon our ability to manage our growth effectively. To do so, we must continue to increase the
productivity of our existing employees, particularly our sales force, and hire, train, and manage new employees as needed.

To manage the domestic and international growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our operational, financial, and
management controls, as well as our reporting processes and procedures. In addition, we will need to implement more extensive and integrated financial and
business information systems. These additional investments will increase our operating costs, which will make it more difficult for us to offset any future
revenue shortfalls by reducing expenses in the short term. We may not be able to successfully acquire or implement these or other improvements to our
systems and processes in an efficient or timely manner, or once implemented, we may discover deficiencies in their capabilities or effectiveness. We may
experience difficulties in managing improvements to our systems and processes or in integrating with third-party technology. In addition, our systems and
processes may fail to prevent or detect errors, omissions, or fraud. Our failure to improve our systems and processes, or their failure to operate effectively and
in the intended manner, may result in
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the disruption of our current operations and end-customer relationships, our inability to manage the growth of our business, and our inability to accurately
forecast and report our revenue, expenses and earnings, any of which may materially harm our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial
condition.

If we are unable to increase market awareness of our company and our solution, or fail to successfully promote or protect our brand, our competitive
market position and revenue may not continue to grow or may decline.

Market awareness of the value proposition of our solution will be essential to our continued growth and our success. If our marketing efforts are
unsuccessful in creating market awareness of our company and our solution, then our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition will be
adversely affected, and we will not be able to achieve sustained growth.

Moreover, due to the intensely competitive nature of our market, we believe that building and maintaining our brand and reputation is critical to our
success and that the importance of positive brand recognition will increase as competition in our market further intensifies. While we believe that we are
successfully building a well-established brand and have invested, and expect to continue to invest substantial resources to promote and maintain our brand,
both domestically and internationally, there can be no assurances that our brand development strategies will enhance our reputation or brand recognition or
lead to increased revenue.

Furthermore, an increasing number of independent industry analysts and researchers, such as Gartner, Inc., International Data Corporation, and Forrester
Research, Inc., regularly evaluate, compare, and publish reviews regarding the functionality of security products and services, including our solution. The
market’s perception of our solution may be significantly influenced by these reviews. We do not have any control over the content of these independent
industry analysts and researchers’ reports, and our reputation and brand could be harmed if they publish negative reviews of our solution or do not view us as
a market leader. The strength of our brand may also be negatively impacted by the marketing efforts of our competitors, which may include incomplete,
inaccurate, and misleading statements about us, or our products and services. If we are unable to maintain a strong brand and reputation, sales to new and
existing end-customers could be adversely affected, and our financial performance could be harmed.

We operate in a highly competitive market, with certain competitors having greater resources than we do, and competitive pressures from existing
and new companies may adversely impact our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

The market in which we compete is highly fragmented, intensely competitive, and evolving in response to changes in the threat landscape and corporate
network security infrastructures. We expect competition to intensify in the future as existing competitors bundle new and more competitive offerings with
their existing products and services, and as new market entrants introduce new products into the security market. This competition could result in increased
pricing pressure, reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses, and our failure to increase, or the loss of, market share, any of which could
seriously harm our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition. If we do not keep pace with product and technology advances and
otherwise keep our products and services competitive, there could be a material and adverse effect on our competitive position, revenue, and prospects for
growth.

Our competitors and potential competitors may emulate or integrate features similar to ours into their own products; independent network security
vendors that offer products that claim to perform similar functions to our solution; and small and large companies that offer point solutions that compete with
some of the features present in our solution. We may also face competition from highly specialized vendors as well as larger vendors that may continue to
acquire or bundle their products more effectively as our market grows and IT budgets are increased or created to support next-generation threat protection.

Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, are substantially larger and have greater financial, technical, research and
development, sales and marketing, manufacturing, distribution, and other resources, and greater name recognition. Such competitors also may have well-
established relationships with our current and potential end-customers, extensive knowledge of our industry and the market in which we compete and intend
to compete, and such competitors may emulate or integrate product features similar to ours into their own products. As a result, our competitors may be able
to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, or to devote greater resources to the development,
marketing, promotion, and sale of their products and services than we can with respect to our products and services. They also may make strategic
acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with other providers, thereby increasing their ability to provide a broader suite of
products and services, and potentially causing our end-customers
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to decrease purchases of, or defer purchasing decisions with respect to, our products and services. In addition, some of our larger competitors have
substantially broader product offerings and may be able to leverage their relationships with distribution partners and customers based on other products or
incorporate functionality into existing products to gain business in a manner that discourages potential end-customers from purchasing our products and
services, including by selling at zero or negative margins, product bundling, or offering closed technology solutions. Potential end-customers may also prefer
to purchase from their existing vendors rather than a new supplier regardless of product performance or features. Further, to the extent that one of our
competitors acquires, or establishes or strengthens a cooperative relationship with, one or more of our channel partners, it could adversely affect our ability to
compete. We may be required to make substantial additional investments in research and development and sales and marketing to respond to these
competitive pressures, and we may not be able to compete successfully in the future. Any of the foregoing may limit our ability to compete effectively in the
market and adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

If we are unable to successfully expand our sales force while maintaining sales productivity, sales of our products, maintenance, and professional
services and the growth of our business and financial performance could be harmed.

We continue to be substantially dependent on our sales force to obtain new end-customers and increase sales to existing end-customers, and we plan to
continue to grow our sales force in the future. There is significant competition for sales personnel with the skills and technical knowledge that we require. Our
ability to achieve significant revenue growth and profitability will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training, and retaining a sufficient
number of sales personnel to support our growth, particularly in international markets. New sales representative hires require significant training and may
require a lengthy on-boarding process before they achieve adequate levels of productivity. Generally, our sales representatives become more productive the
longer they are with us, with limited productivity in their first few quarters as they learn to sell our products and participate in field training.

Our recent hires and planned hires may not become productive as quickly as we expect, or at all, and we may be unable to hire or retain a sufficient
number of qualified personnel in the markets where we do business or plan to do business. If we are unable to recruit, train, and retain a sufficient number of
productive sales personnel, sales of our products, maintenance, and professional services and the growth of our business would be harmed. Additionally, if
our efforts to expand our sales force do not result in increased revenue, our results of operations could be negatively impacted due to increased operating
expenses associated with an expanded sales force.

Our end-customers’ purchasing cycles may cause fluctuations in our revenue.

Our business is affected by cyclical fluctuations in end-customer spending patterns, which result in some seasonal trends in the sale of our solution.
Revenue in our third and fourth fiscal quarters, particularly in the last two weeks of the fourth quarter, is typically stronger due to the calendar year-end. Our
U.S. public sector end-customers typically end their fiscal years during our third quarter, while many of our other end-customers end their fiscal years during
our fourth quarter. Our first and second fiscal quarters typically experience lower sales, with aggregate revenue historically significantly lower in our first
fiscal quarter when compared to our third and fourth fiscal quarters. Furthermore, our rapid growth rate over recent years may have made these fluctuations
more difficult to detect. If our growth rate slows over time, cyclical variations in our operations may become more pronounced, and our business, results of
operations, prospects, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Reliance on shipments at the end of the quarter could cause our revenue for the applicable period to fall below expected levels.

As a result of end-customer buying patterns and the efforts of our sales force and channel partners to meet or exceed their quarterly sales objectives, we
have historically received a substantial portion of sales orders and generated a substantial portion of revenue during the last few weeks of each fiscal quarter.
If expected revenue at the end of any fiscal quarter is delayed for any reason, our revenue for that quarter could fall below our expectations and the estimates
of analysts, which could adversely impact our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition and cause a decline in the trading price of our
common stock. The reasons our expected revenue may be delayed include:

• the failure of anticipated purchase orders to materialize;

• our logistics partners’ inability to deliver products prior to fiscal quarter-end to fulfill purchase orders received near the end of the fiscal quarter;
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• our failure to manage inventory to meet demand;

• our inability to release new products on schedule;

• any failure of our systems related to order review and processing; or

• any delays in shipments based on trade compliance requirements.

We are dependent upon lead generation strategies to drive our sales and revenue. If these marketing strategies fail to continue to generate sales
opportunities, our ability to grow our revenue will be adversely affected.

We are dependent upon lead generation strategies to generate sales opportunities, such as sponsored events, tradeshows, webinars, and product
demonstrations. These strategies may not be successful in continuing to generate sufficient sales opportunities necessary to increase our revenue. To the
extent that targeted leads do not become, or we are unable to successfully attract, end-customers, we will not realize the intended benefits of these marketing
strategies, and our ability to grow our revenue will be adversely affected.

Our business depends substantially on our ability to retain end-customers and expand our offerings to them. A decline in our end-customer retention
or in our ability to expand sales to existing end-customers could harm our future results of operations.

Many organizations seek security solutions that are among the best available in the industry. For us to maintain or improve our results of operations in an
industry that is rapidly evolving and places a premium on market leading solutions, it is important that we retain existing end-customers and that our end-
customers expand their use of our products and services. An increasing portion of our revenue is derived from additional sales to our end-customers for both
the management of additional existing devices on their networks and the influx of new devices that are added to their networks each day. During the year
ended December 31, 2018, the majority of our revenue came from existing end-customers, and it is important for us to increase sales into this base. Our end-
customers also have no obligation to renew their maintenance and support contracts with us upon the expiration of the initial maintenance and support
contract period, which is typically a one-year or three-year term, and even if end-customers do renew, they may not renew with a similar maintenance and
support contract period, or they may renew on terms that are less economically beneficial to us.

Our end-customer retention rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including the level of our end-customers’ satisfaction with
our solution, services and support, our prices and the prices of competing solutions or products, mergers and acquisitions affecting our end-customer base, the
effects of global economic conditions, new technologies, changes in our end-customers’ spending levels, and changes in how our end-customers perceive the
security threats to their organizations and the importance of our offerings to the security of their organizations.

Our future success depends substantially on our ability to expand our sales to our existing end-customers with solutions we develop or acquire. If we are
unable to expand our presence within our end-customer base by expanding the scope of their usage or adopting additional products, our business and revenue
will be adversely affected.

If we are unable to attract new end-customers, our revenue growth and profitability will be adversely affected.

To increase our revenue and achieve and maintain profitability, we must consistently add new end-customers. Numerous factors, however, may impede
our ability to add new end-customers, including our inability to convert prospective end-customers that have been referred to us by our existing network into
end-customers, failure to attract and effectively train new sales and marketing personnel, failure to retain and motivate our current sales and marketing
personnel, failure to develop relationships with resellers, or failure to ensure the effectiveness of our marketing programs. In addition, if prospective end-
customers do not perceive our solution to be of superior value and quality, we will not be able to attract the number and types of new end-customers that we
are seeking.

Our results of operations may fluctuate significantly, be difficult to predict, and may not meet investor expectations.

Our results of operations have varied significantly in the past and may vary significantly in the future, from period to period due to a number of factors,
many of which are outside of our control, including macroeconomic factors. These factors limit our
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ability to accurately predict our results of operations and include factors discussed throughout this “Risk Factors” section, including the following:

• macroeconomic conditions in our markets, both domestic and international, as well as the level of discretionary IT spending available to
organizations;

• the timing, size, and mix of orders from, and shipments to, end-customers, including the timing of large orders, and timing of shipments;

• fluctuation in demand for our Software Products and Hardware Products;

• fluctuation in demand for our high-margin and low-margin Hardware Products;

• fluctuation in demand for our products, maintenance, and professional services;

• evolving conditions in the markets in which we compete;

• variability and unpredictability in the rate of growth in the markets in which we compete;

• our ability to continue to acquire new end-customers and increase our market share;

• our sales cycles, which may lengthen as the complexity of products and competition in our markets increases and in response to macroeconomic
conditions;

• the level of competition in our markets, including the effect of new entrants, price competition, consolidation, and technological innovation;

• market acceptance of our products, maintenance, and professional services;

• any disruption in our channel or termination of our relationship with important channel partners;

• product announcements, introductions, transitions, and enhancements by us or our competitors, which could result in deferrals of end-customer
orders;

• technological changes in our markets;

• the quality and level of our execution of our business strategy and operating plan, and the effectiveness of our sales and marketing programs;

• the impact of future acquisitions or divestitures;

• the cost of potential and existing litigation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business;

• seasonality or cyclical fluctuations in our markets;

• the need to change our pricing model or make pricing concessions to large end-customers;

• changes in accounting rules and policies; and

• the need to recognize certain revenue ratably over a defined period or to defer recognition of revenue to a later period.

Furthermore, a high percentage of our expenses, including those related to overhead, service and maintenance, research and development, sales and
marketing, and general and administrative functions are generally fixed in the short term. As a result, if our revenue is less than forecasted, we may not be
able to effectively reduce such expenses to compensate for the revenue shortfall and our results of operations will be adversely affected.
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Within sales to our government customers, sales to U.S. federal, state, and local government agencies and other public sector entities are subject to a
number of challenges and risks that may adversely impact our business.

We currently sell our solution to various government agencies and other public sector entities, and we may in the future increase sales to government
agencies and other public sector entities. Sales to such government agencies and other public sector entities are subject to certain risks. Selling to government
agencies and other public sector entities can be highly competitive, expensive, and time-consuming, and can require certification requirements, often
requiring significant upfront time and expense without any assurance that these efforts will result in a sale. Additionally, public sector demand and payment
for our products, maintenance, and professional services may be impacted by public sector budgetary cycles, government shutdowns, and/or funding
authorizations. Funding reductions, budget constraints, or delays may adversely affect public sector demand for our products, maintenance, and professional
services. For example, an extended government shutdown could prevent certain sales from being completed within the time anticipated. The vast majority of
our sales to government agencies and other public sector entities are completed through our network of channel partners, and government agencies and other
public sector entities may have statutory, contractual, or other legal rights to terminate contracts with our distributors and resellers for convenience or due to a
default. The public sector routinely investigates and audits public sector contractors’ administrative processes, and any unfavorable audit could result in the
public sector refusing to continue buying our products, maintenance, and professional services, a reduction of revenue, fines, or civil or criminal liability if
the audit uncovers improper or illegal activities, which could adversely impact our results of operations.

Because we derive the majority of our revenue and cash flows from one product group, products for device visibility and control, the failure to
achieve increased market acceptance would adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

We derive and expect to continue to generate most of our revenue from our device visibility and control product group and related maintenance and
professional services for the foreseeable future. As a result, the market acceptance this product group is critical to our continued success. Demand for this
product group is affected by a number of factors beyond our control, including continued market acceptance of this product group by referenceable accounts
for existing and new use cases, the timing of development and release of new products by our competitors, technological change, and growth or contraction in
our market. Our inability to expand our sales of this product group to existing end-customers or increase our sales of this product group to new end-customers
would harm our business and results of operations more seriously than if we derived significant revenue from a variety of sources.

Real or perceived defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our products, the misconfiguration of our products, the failure of our products to detect or
prevent a security breach, the failure of end-customers to take action on attacks identified by our products, or the failure of our products to detect newly
developed devices could harm our reputation and adversely impact our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

Because our products are complex, they have contained, and may in the future contain, design or manufacturing defects or errors that are not detected
before their deployment. Our products also provide our end-customers with the ability to customize a multitude of settings, and it is possible that an end-
customer could misconfigure our products or otherwise fail to configure our products in an optimal manner. Such defects, errors, and misconfigurations of our
products could cause our products to be vulnerable to security attacks, cause them to fail to secure networks and detect and block threats, or temporarily
interrupt the networking traffic of our end-customers. In addition, because the devices and techniques used by computer hackers to access or sabotage
networks change frequently and generally are not recognized until widely deployed, there is a risk that an advanced attack could emerge through a device that
our products are unable to detect, particularly devices without IP addresses. Moreover, as our products are adopted by an increasing number of large
organizations and government entities, it is possible that the individuals and organizations behind cyberattacks will begin to focus on finding ways to defeat
our products. If this happens, our products could be targeted by attacks specifically designed to disrupt our business and undermine the perception that our
products are capable of providing superior network security, which, in turn, could have a serious impact on our reputation. Any security vulnerability or
perceived security vulnerability of our products could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

If any of our end-customers become infected with malware after using our products, such end-customer could be dissatisfied with our products or
perceive that our products failed to perform their intended purpose, regardless of whether our products mitigated the actual harm of malware, blocked the
theft of any of such end-customer’s data, or would have blocked such theft
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if the product had been configured properly. If any of our end-customers experience a security breach, such end-customers and the general public may believe
that our products failed even if the cause of the breach is unrelated to the performance of our products. Furthermore, if any organizations or government
entities that are publicly known to use our products are the subject of a cyberattack that becomes publicized, our other current or potential end-customers may
believe that our products failed and be inclined to purchase alternative solutions from our competitors. Real or perceived security breaches of our end-
customers’ networks could cause disruption or damage to their networks or other negative consequences and could result in negative publicity about us,
damage to our brand and reputation, decreased sales, increased expenses, and end-customer relations problems.

Furthermore, our existing products are designed to detect existing IP-based devices and may fail to detect newly developed IP-based devices or devices
that operate on newly developed protocols for any number of reasons, including our failure to enhance and expand our products and services to reflect
industry trends, the advancement of new and existing technologies and new operating environments, the complexity of our end-customers’ network and
environment, and the sophistication of malware, viruses, and other threats. To the extent potential end-customers, industry analysts or testing firms believe
that the failure of our products to detect certain networked devices indicates that our products or services do not provide significant value, our reputation and
business could be harmed. Failure to keep pace with technological changes in the security industry and the threat landscape could adversely affect our ability
to protect against security breaches and could cause us to lose end-customers.

Any real or perceived defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our products, or any other failure of our products to detect devices that introduce threats to an
end-customer’s network, could result in:

• a loss of existing or potential end-customers or channel partners;

• delayed or lost revenue and harm to our financial condition and results of operations;

• a delay in attaining, or the failure to attain, market acceptance for new products;

• the expenditure of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate, or work around errors or defects,
to address and eliminate vulnerabilities, or to identify and ramp up production with alternative third-party manufacturers;

• an increase in warranty claims or an increase in the cost of servicing warranty claims, either of which would adversely affect our gross margins;

• harm to our reputation or brand; or

• litigation, regulatory inquiries, or investigations that may be costly and further harm our reputation.

Because our products are highly complex and are subject to real or perceived defects, our business is subject to risks related to warranty claims,
product returns and product liability.

We may incur significant costs in connection with a product recall and any related indemnification obligations, which could materially and adversely
affect our results of operations. In addition, many of our products operate on our internally developed operating system, and any error in the operating system
may affect those products. We have experienced in the past, and may continue to experience in the future, errors or quality problems in connection with new
products and enhancements to existing products. We expect that errors or quality problems will be found from time to time in our products after
commencement of commercial shipments, which could seriously harm our business.

Historically, the amount of warranty claims we have received has not been significant, but there is a risk that errors or problems with the quality of our
products could result in material claims in the future. Because our end-customers install our appliances directly into their network infrastructures, any errors,
defects, or other problems with our products could negatively impact their networks or other internet users, resulting in financial or other losses to our end-
customers. While we typically seek by contract to limit our exposure to such damages, liability limitation provisions in our standard terms and conditions of
sale, and those of our channel partners, may not be enforceable under some circumstances as a result of federal, state, or local laws or ordinances, or
unfavorable judicial decisions in the United States or other countries or may not fully or effectively protect us from end-customer claims and related liabilities
and costs, including indemnification obligations under our agreements with channel partners or end-customers. The sale and support of our products also
entail the risk of product liability claims. We maintain insurance to protect against certain types of claims associated with the use of our products, but our
insurance coverage
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may not adequately cover any such claims. In addition, even claims that ultimately are unsuccessful could require us to incur costs in connection with
litigation, which could divert management’s time and other resources away from our business and could significantly harm the reputation of our business and
products.

We rely on revenue from maintenance and professional services, which may decline, and because we recognize revenue from our support and
maintenance contracts over the term of the relevant service period, downturns or upturns in sales of our support and maintenance services are not
immediately reflected in full in our results of operations.

Sales of new or renewal service contracts may decline and fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our end-customers’ level of satisfaction
with our maintenance and support services or our professional services, the prices of our services, and reductions in our end-customers’ spending levels. If
our sales of new or renewal maintenance and support contracts or professional services contracts decline, our revenue and revenue growth may decline and
our business will suffer. While we typically bill for support and maintenance services upfront, we recognize revenue from support and maintenance services
ratably over the contractual service period, which is typically either one or three years, but can be up to five years. Our professional services revenue is
generally recognized as the services are rendered. As a result, much of the service revenue from our maintenance and support contracts that we report each
fiscal quarter is the recognition of deferred revenue from maintenance and support contracts entered into during previous fiscal quarters. Consequently, a
decline in new or renewed maintenance and support contracts in any one fiscal quarter will not be fully or immediately reflected in revenue in that fiscal
quarter but will negatively affect our revenue in future fiscal quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in new or renewed sales of our
maintenance and support services is not reflected in full in our results of operations until future periods. Also, it is difficult for us to rapidly increase our
services revenue through additional sales of maintenance and support services in any period, as revenue from new and renewal maintenance and support
contracts must be recognized over the applicable term of the contract. Furthermore, any increase in the average term of our maintenance and support contracts
would result in revenue for such contracts being recognized over longer periods of time.

The security market is rapidly evolving and difficult to predict within the increasingly challenging cyberthreat landscape. If the security market does
not evolve as we anticipate or if our target end-customers do not adopt our solution, our sales will not grow as quickly as anticipated and our stock price
could decline.

We are in a new, rapidly-evolving category within the security market that focuses on providing organizations with enhanced visibility and control over
their networks through an agentless and continuous monitoring solution. As such, it is difficult to predict important market trends, including how large the
security market will be or when and what products end-customers will adopt. For example, organizations that currently use traditional approaches may
believe that these approaches already provide them with sufficient network security. Therefore, they may continue spending their network infrastructure
budgets on these products and may not adopt our solution in addition to or in lieu of such traditional products.

The introduction of new products by others, market acceptance of products based on new or alternative technologies, or the emergence of new industry
standards could render our existing products obsolete or make it easier for other products to compete with our products. Moreover, many of our end-
customers operate in markets characterized by rapidly changing technologies and cyberthreats, which require them to add numerous devices and adopt
increasingly complex network infrastructures, incorporating a variety of hardware devices, software applications, operating systems, and networking
protocols. As their technologies and business plans grow more complex, we expect these end-customers to face new and increasingly sophisticated methods
of cyberattack. We face significant challenges in ensuring that our solution effectively identifies and responds to these advanced and evolving attacks without
disrupting our end-customers’ network performance. Changes in the nature of advanced cyberthreats could result in a shift in IT budgets away from solutions
such as ours. In addition, any changes in government regulation, compliance standards, or audit requirements that deemphasize the types of visibility,
controls, and monitoring that our solution provides would adversely impact demand for our offerings. If solutions such as ours are not viewed by
organizations as necessary, or if end-customers do not recognize the benefit of our solution as a critical layer of an effective security strategy, then our revenue
may not grow as quickly as expected, or may decline, and our business could suffer.

Our future success will depend in part upon our ability to:

• develop, acquire, and/or maintain competitive products;

• enhance our products by adding innovative features that differentiate our products from those of our competitors;
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• bring products to market on a timely basis at competitive prices;

• identify and respond to emerging technological trends in the market; and

• respond effectively to new technological changes or new product announcements by others.

If the market for network security products does not evolve in the way we anticipate or if organizations do not recognize the benefits our solution offers
in addition to or in place of existing network security products, and as a result we are unable to increase sales of our solution to end-customers, then our
revenue may not grow as expected or may decline, which could adversely impact our stock price.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense. As a result, our sales and the timing of
our sales are difficult to predict and may vary substantially from period to period, which may cause our results of operations to fluctuate significantly.

The decision makers within our end-customers are primarily IT departments that are managing a growing set of user and compliance demands, which
increases the complexity of end-customer requirements to be met in the sales cycle. The length of our customer acquisition sales cycle and our expansion
sales cycles, from identification of an opportunity to delivery of and payment for our products, maintenance, and professional services, typically ranges from
nine to 24 months and three to 12 months, respectively, but can be longer and may vary significantly from customer to customer, with sales to large
organizations and government entities typically taking longer to complete. To the extent our competitors develop products that our prospective end-customers
view as comparable to ours, our average sales cycle may increase. Additionally, a combination of legal, procurement, development, and IT departments are
involved in testing, evaluating, and finally approving purchases, which can also make the sales cycle longer and less predictable. Moreover, sales to large
organizations and government entities, which we target, will contribute to the growth of our revenue and involve challenges that could further increase the
complexity and length of our sales cycle, such as complicated certification and bidding processes. As a result, large individual sales have, in some cases,
occurred in quarters subsequent to those we anticipated or have not occurred at all. The loss or delay of one or more large transactions in a quarter could
impact our results of operations for that quarter and any future quarters for which revenue from that transaction is delayed.

We may not be able to accurately predict or forecast the timing of sales, which could cause our results to vary significantly. In addition, we might devote
substantial time and effort to a particular unsuccessful sales effort, and as a result we could lose other sales opportunities or incur expenses that are not offset
by an increase in revenue, which could harm our business.

If our products do not successfully interoperate with our end-customers’ infrastructure, sales of our products, maintenance, and professional services
could be negatively affected, which would harm our business.

Our products must interoperate with our end-customers’ existing or future infrastructures, which often have different specifications, utilize multiple
protocol standards, deploy products from multiple vendors, and contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time. As a result, when
problems occur in a network, it may be difficult to identify the sources of these problems. If we are unable to successfully manage and interpret new protocol
standards and versions, or if we encounter problematic network configurations or settings, or if end customer’s traffic is or becomes encrypted, or end
customer’s existing or future vendors threaten to disrupt the service level agreements they have with our shared customers based on a perceived potential
disruption to their products are implemented, we may have to modify our software or hardware so that our products will interoperate with our end-customers’
infrastructures and can manage our end-customers’ traffic in the manner intended, which may divert substantial time and resources. If we find defects in the
hardware installed with an end-customer, as we have in the past, we will replace the hardware as part of our normal warranty process. If we find errors or
bugs in existing software that create problematic network configurations or settings, as we have in the past, we may have to issue software updates as part of
our normal maintenance process. Any delays in identifying the sources of problems or in providing necessary modifications to our software or hardware could
have a negative impact on our reputation and our end-customers’ satisfaction with our products, maintenance, and professional services and our ability to sell
products and services could be adversely affected. In addition, government entities and other end-customers may require our products to comply with certain
additional security or other certifications and standards. If our products are late in achieving or fail to achieve compliance with these certifications and
standards, or our competitors achieve compliance with these certifications and standards, we may be disqualified from selling our products to such end-
customers or at a competitive disadvantage, which would harm our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.
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Failure to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights could substantially harm our business and results of operations.

The success of our business depends on our ability to protect and enforce our trade secrets, trademarks, copyrights, patents, and other intellectual
property rights. We attempt to protect our intellectual property under patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws, and through a combination of
confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions, and other methods, all of which can offer only limited protection. We have a number of issued patents and
pending patent applications in the United States and abroad, and we plan to file additional patent applications in the future. Valid patents may not issue from
our pending applications, and the claims eventually allowed on any patents may not be sufficiently broad to prevent competitors from using technology
similar to our patented technology.

Any issued patents may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, and any rights granted under these patents may not actually provide adequate
defensive protection or competitive advantages to us. Patent applications in the United States are typically not published until 18 months after filing or, in
some cases, not at all, and publications of discoveries in industry-related literature lag behind actual discoveries. At the time of filing a patent application, we
cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our pending patent applications or that we were the first to file for patent protection,
which could prevent our patent applications from issuing as patents or invalidate our patents following issuance. Additionally, the process of obtaining patent
protection is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications or pursue patent protection in
all countries and jurisdictions in which we do business at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. In addition, recent changes to the patent laws in the United
States may bring into question the validity of certain categories of software patents. As a result, we may not be able to obtain adequate patent protection for
our software or effectively enforce any issued patents relating to software.

Many aspects of our business rely on our unpatented or unpatentable proprietary technology and trade secrets. Despite our efforts to protect our
proprietary technology and trade secrets, unauthorized parties may attempt to misappropriate, reverse engineer, or otherwise obtain and use them. The
contractual provisions that we enter into with employees, consultants, partners, vendors, and end-customers may not prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of
our proprietary technology or intellectual property rights and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our
proprietary technology or intellectual property rights, which may substantially harm our business. In addition, we cannot assure you that we have entered into
such agreements with all parties who may have or have had access to our confidential information, that such agreements will be fully enforceable, or that the
agreements we have entered into will not be breached by the counterparty. Some license provisions protecting against unauthorized use, copying, transfer, and
disclosure of our technology may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries. We cannot guarantee that any of the measures
we have taken will prevent misappropriation of our technology. Because we, as a provider of network security solutions, may be an attractive target for
computer hackers, we may have a greater risk of unauthorized access to, and misappropriation of, our proprietary information. Moreover, policing
unauthorized use of our technologies, products and intellectual property is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, particularly in foreign countries where
the laws may not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those in the United States and where mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property
rights may be weak. We may be unable to determine the extent of any unauthorized use or infringement of our products, technologies or intellectual property
rights, and may not be able to take appropriate steps to mitigate harms resulting from any unauthorized use or infringement.

From time to time, we may need to bring legal action to enforce our patents, trademarks, and other intellectual property rights, to protect our trade
secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the intellectual property rights of others, or to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. Such
litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could negatively affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and
cash flows. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, we may find ourselves at a competitive disadvantage to others who need not incur the
additional expense, time, and effort required to create the innovative products that have enabled us to be successful to date.

Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violations by us of their intellectual property rights, or other lawsuits asserted against us, could
result in significant costs and substantially harm our business and results of operations.

Patent and other intellectual property disputes are common in the security industry. Some companies in the security industry, including some of our
competitors, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade secrets, which they may use to assert claims against us or to prevent us from
developing certain technologies. Third parties may assert claims of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights against
us. They may also assert such claims
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against our end-customers whom our standard license and other agreements obligate us to indemnify against claims that our products infringe,
misappropriate, or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of third parties. As the number of products and competitors in our market increase, the
number of products with overlapping functionality may increase, which in turn may result in more claims of infringement, misappropriation, and other
violations of intellectual property rights. Further, as we gain an increasingly high profile, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us
grows. Any claim of infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of intellectual property rights by a third party, even those without merit, could cause us
to incur substantial costs defending against the claim and could distract our management from our business.

For example, in 2012, a non-operating entity brought a patent infringement action against us, which we settled in 2012 for a nominal amount, but which
required the payment of legal fees and diverted management’s time and attention. Additionally, on October 24, 2017, Network Security Technologies, LLC
(“NST”), a non-operating entity, filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, alleging that we infringed certain
patents owned by it and sought unspecified damages. The case was voluntary dismissed on February 1, 2018.

While we expect to increase the size of our patent portfolio, the patent portfolios of our most significant competitors and potential competitors are larger
than ours. This disparity between our patent portfolio and the patent portfolios of our most significant competitors may increase the risk that they may sue us
for patent infringement and may limit our ability to counterclaim for patent infringement or settle through patent cross-licenses. In addition, future assertions
of patent rights by third parties, and any resulting litigation, may involve other non-operating entities or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant
product revenue and against whom our own patents may therefore provide little or no deterrence or protection. Given the competitive nature of the market in
which we operate, there is a risk that we are infringing or otherwise violating third-party intellectual property rights.

An adverse outcome of a dispute may require us to:

• pay substantial damages, including treble damages if we are found to have willfully infringed a third party’s patents or copyrights;

• cease making, licensing, or using solutions that are alleged to infringe or misappropriate the intellectual property of others;

• expend additional development resources to attempt to redesign our products or services or otherwise to develop non-infringing technology, which
may not be successful;

• enter into potentially unfavorable royalty or license agreements to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or intellectual property rights; or

• indemnify our partners and other third parties.

Any damages or royalty obligations we may become subject to and any third-party indemnity we may need to provide that result from an adverse
outcome could harm our results of operations. Royalty or licensing agreements, if required or desirable, may be unavailable on terms acceptable to us or at all,
and may require significant expense and expenditures. In addition, some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to the
same technology licensed to us. Any of these events could seriously harm our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

We rely on technology that we license from third parties, including software that is integrated with our internally developed software and used with
our products.

We rely on technology that we license from third parties, including third-party commercial software and open source software, which is used with certain
of our products. We cannot be certain that our licensors are not infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties or that our licensors have sufficient
rights to the licensed intellectual property in all jurisdictions in which we may sell our products. Some of our agreements with our licensors may be
terminated for convenience by them.  If we are unable to continue to license any of this software on commercially reasonable terms, we will face delays in
releases of our software or we will be required to delete this functionality from our software until equivalent, non-infringing technology can be licensed or
developed and integrated into our current products. This effort could take significant time (during which we would be unable to continue to offer our affected
products or services) and expense and may ultimately not be successful. In
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addition, our inability to obtain certain licenses or other rights might require us to engage in litigation regarding these matters, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

Our use of open source software could negatively affect our ability to sell our solution, require us to reengineer our products and possibly subject us
to litigation.

We use open source software in our products and our development environments and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. Open
source software is typically provided without assurances of any kind. Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for
modifications or derivative works we create based upon the type of open source software we use. If we combine our proprietary software with open source
software in a certain manner that is not intended under our policies or monitoring practices, we could, under certain open source licenses, be required to
release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar products quickly with lower development
effort and ultimately could result in a loss of sales for us. This could also result in litigation, require us to purchase costly licenses, or require us to devote
additional research and development resources to change our products or services, any of which would have a negative effect on our business and results of
operations. In addition, if the license terms for the open source software we utilize change, we may be forced to reengineer our offerings or incur additional
costs. Although we regulate the use and incorporation of open source software into our products, we cannot be certain that we have, in all cases, incorporated
open source software in our products in a manner that is consistent with the applicable open source license terms.

For our primary product, we are dependent on a single third-party for the final assembly of the off-the-shelf-Dell-components that comprise the
hardware that is sold separately along with our software or which has our software embedded and a limited number of third-party logistics providers to
fulfill orders for such hardware.

For our primary product, we depend on a single third-party manufacturer, Arrow Electronics, Inc., to perform the final assembly of the off-the-shelf-Dell-
components that comprise the hardware that is sold separately with our software or which has our software embedded. Our reliance on this third-party reduces
our control over the assembly process and exposes us to risks, including reduced control over quality assurance, product costs, and product supply and timing.
This manufacturer typically fulfills our supply requirements on the basis of individual orders. We do not have a long-term contract with our third-party
manufacturer that guarantees capacity, the continuation of particular pricing terms, or the extension of credit limits. Accordingly, it is not obligated to
continue to fulfill our supply requirements, which could result in supply shortages, and the prices we are charged for their services could be increased on short
notice. There are alternative providers that could provide components and assemble the hardware, as our agreements do not provide for exclusivity or
minimum purchase quantities, but the transition and qualification from our single third-party provider to another could be lengthy, costly, and difficult,
diverting substantial time and resources from our operations.

We also depend on third-party logistics providers to fulfill orders for our products. Our supply chain partners are not committed to design or manufacture
our products, or to fulfill orders for our products, on a long-term basis in any specific quantity or at any specific price. From time to time, we may be required
to add new supply chain partner relationships or new manufacturing or fulfillment sites to accommodate growth in orders or the addition of new products. It is
time consuming and costly to qualify and implement new supply chain partner relationships and new manufacturing or fulfillment sites, and such additions
increase the complexity of our supply chain management. Our ability to ship products to our end-customers could be delayed, and our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected if:

• we fail to effectively manage our supply chain partner relationships;

• our third-party assembly provider does not meet our schedules;

• our third-party assembly provider experiences delays, disruptions, or quality control problems in manufacturing our products;

• one or more of our third-party logistics providers experiences delays or disruptions or otherwise fails to meet our fulfillment schedules; or

• we are required to add or replace our third-party assembly provider, third-party logistics providers, or fulfillment sites.
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In addition, these supply chain partners have access to certain of our critical confidential information and could wrongly disclose or misuse such
information or be subject to a breach or other compromise that introduces a vulnerability or other defect in the products manufactured by our supply chain
partners, which risks cannot be fully mitigated. While we take precautions to ensure that the hardware obtained or manufactured by our supply chain partners
is inspected, any espionage acts, malware attacks, theft of confidential information, or other malicious incidents perpetrated either directly or indirectly
through our supply chain partners, may compromise our system infrastructure, expose us to litigation and associated expenses and lead to reputational harm
that could result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we are subject to risks resulting from the
perception that certain jurisdictions do not comply with internationally recognized rights of freedom of expression and privacy and may permit labor practices
that are deemed unacceptable under evolving standards of social responsibility. If assembly or logistics in these foreign countries is disrupted for any reason,
including natural disasters, IT system failures, military, or government actions or economic, business, labor, environmental, public health, or political issues,
or if the purchase or sale of products from such foreign countries is prohibited or disfavored, our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial
condition could be adversely affected.

We rely on third-party channel partners to sell our products, maintenance, and professional services. If our partners fail to perform, or if we fail to
manage and retain such partners, our ability to sell our products, maintenance, and professional services would be limited, and if we fail to optimize our
channel partner model going forward, our results of operations would be harmed.

We market and sell our products, maintenance, and professional services through a direct touch, channel fulfilled model. Our channel network includes
channel partners, system integrators, value-added resellers, and distributors. If we lost any of our channel partners responsible for a significant portion of our
business is unable to pay for our products, our results of operations could be harmed. Although we provide support to these channel partners through our
direct sales and marketing activities, we depend upon these partners to generate sales opportunities and to independently manage the sales process for
opportunities with which they are involved. In order to increase our revenue, we expect we will need to maintain our existing channel partners and continue to
train and support them, as well as add new channel partners and effectively train, support, and integrate them with our sales process. Additionally, our entry
into any new markets will require us to develop appropriate channel partners and to train them to effectively address these markets. If we are unsuccessful in
these efforts, our ability to grow our business will be limited, and our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition will be adversely
affected.

Our current system of channel distribution may not prove effective in maximizing sales of our products, maintenance, and professional services. Our
products are complex and certain sales can require substantial effort and outlay of cost and resources, either by us or our channel partners. It is possible that
our channel partners will be unable or unwilling to dedicate appropriate resources to support those sales. Furthermore, most of our channel partners do not
have minimum purchase or resale requirements and may terminate our agreements with only a short notice period or otherwise cease selling our products at
any time. If we are unable to develop and maintain effective sales incentive programs for our third-party channel partners, we may not be able to incentivize
these partners to sell our products to end-customers and, in particular, to large organizations. They also may market, sell, and support products and services
that are competitive with ours and may devote more resources to the marketing, sales, and support of those competitive products. There is no assurance that
we will retain these channel partners or that we will be able to add additional or replacement channel partners in the future. The loss of one or more of our key
channel partners in a given geographic area could harm our results of operations within that area, as new channel partners typically require extensive training
and take several months to achieve acceptable productivity.

We also depend on some of our channel partners and our end-customers’ outsourced IT vendors to deliver professional services for our products. Once
our products are deployed within our end-customers’ networks, many of our end-customers depend on the support of our channel partners and their
outsourced IT vendors to resolve any issues relating to the implementation and maintenance of our solution. If our channel partners and our end-customers’
outsourced IT vendors do not effectively assist our end-customers in deploying our products, succeed in helping our end-customers quickly resolve post-
deployment issues or provide effective ongoing support, our end-customer satisfaction and future sales of our products could be adversely affected.

While we require that our channel partners comply with applicable laws and regulations, they could engage in behavior or practices that expose us to
legal or reputational risk.
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Managing the supply of our products is complex. Insufficient supply and inventory may result in lost sales opportunities or delayed revenue, while
excess inventory may harm our gross margins.

Our third-party manufacturer procures components and builds our products based on our forecasts, and we generally do not hold inventory. These
forecasts are based on estimates of future demand for our products, which can be adjusted based on historical trends and analysis and for overall market
conditions, and we cannot guarantee the accuracy of our forecasts. In order to reduce manufacturing lead times and plan for adequate component supply, from
time to time we may issue forecasts for components and products that are non-cancelable and nonreturnable.

Our inventory management systems and related supply chain visibility tools may be inadequate to enable us to forecast accurately and effectively manage
supply of our products and product components. Supply management remains an increased area of focus as we balance the need to maintain supply levels that
are sufficient to ensure competitive lead times against the risk of obsolescence because of rapidly changing technology and end-customer requirements. We
accrue for manufacturing cost commitments in excess of our forecasted demand. If we ultimately determine that we have excess supply, we may have to
record a reserve for excess manufacturing costs or reduce our prices and write-down inventory, either of which in turn could result in lower gross margins.
Alternatively, insufficient supply levels may lead to shortages that result in delayed revenue or loss of sales opportunities altogether as potential end-
customers turn to competitors’ products that are readily available. Additionally, any increases in the time required to manufacture our products or ship
products could result in supply shortfalls. If we are unable to effectively manage our supply and inventory, our results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Our failure to adequately protect personal information in compliance with evolving legal requirements could harm our business.

We are subject to a number of state, federal, and international laws and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, protection, disclosure,
transfer, and other processing of personal data. For instance, in order for our solution to detect devices on a network, our solution gathers and tracks IP
addresses to monitor each device on our end-customer’s networks. While we do not have immediate access to these IP addresses and other personal
information, we may have access to this information from time to time in connection with our maintenance and professional services. Data protection and
privacy-related laws and regulations are evolving and may result in ever-increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and
sanctions. Our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations, or to protect such data, could result in enforcement actions against us, including fines,
imprisonment of company officials and public censure, claims for damages by end-customers and affected individuals, damage to our reputation and loss of
goodwill (both in relation to existing end-customers and prospective end-customers), any of which could harm our operations, financial performance, and
business. Evolving and changing definitions of personal data and personal information, within the European Union (the “EU”), the United States, and
elsewhere, especially relating to classification of IP addresses, machine identification, location data, and other information, may limit or inhibit our ability to
operate or expand our business, including limiting strategic partnerships that may involve the sharing of data. Even the perception of privacy concerns,
whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and inhibit adoption of our products by current and future end-customers.

In addition, our appliances, when configured by our end-customers, may intercept and examine data in a manner that may subject the use of those
appliances to privacy and data protection laws and regulations in those jurisdictions in which our end-customers operate. Any failure or perceived failure by
us or by our products or services to comply with these laws and regulations may subject us to legal or regulatory actions, damage our reputation or adversely
affect our ability to sell our products or services in the jurisdiction that has enacted the law or regulation. Moreover, if these laws and regulations change, or
are interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data practices or the operation of our products and services, we may need to expend
resources in order to change our business operations, data practices, or the manner in which our products or services operate. This could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

In addition, data protection regulation is an area of increased focus and changing requirements. On April 14, 2016 the EU adopted the General Data
Protection Regulation 2016/679 (the “GDPR”) that took effect on May 25, 2018 and replaced the data protection laws of each EU member state previously in
effect. The GDPR applies to companies established in the EU as well as to those outside the EU if they collect and use personal data in connection with the
offering of goods or services to individuals in the EU or the monitoring of their behavior. The GDPR enhances data protection obligations for processors and
controllers of personal data, including, for example, expanded disclosures about how personal information is to be used, limitations on retention of
information, mandatory data breach notification requirements and new obligations on services
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providers. Non-compliance with the GDPR can trigger steep fines of up to €20 million or 4% of total worldwide annual turnover, whichever is higher. Given
the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, working to meet the GDPR’s requirements has required, and will continue to require time,
resources, and a review of the technology and systems currently in use against the GDPR’s requirements. The United Kingdom also recently enacted
legislation that substantially implements the GDPR. It is unclear, however, how United Kingdom data protection laws or regulations will develop in the
medium to longer term, and how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated.

Additionally, with regard to transfers of personal data from our European customers and employees to the U.S., we utilize the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield
and a related program, the U.S.-Swiss Privacy Shield. The U.S.-EU Privacy Shield has been challenged in European courts, however, and may be suspended
or invalidated. It is uncertain that the U.S.-EU or U.S.-Swiss Privacy Shield programs will remain intact and serve as appropriate means for us to meet
European requirements for personal data transfers from the EEA or Switzerland to the United States. Developments in the legal landscape affecting the
transfer of personal data from the EEA may cause us to find it necessary or desirable to modify our data handling practices, and may serve as a basis for our
personal data handling practices, or those of our customers and vendors, to be challenged and may otherwise adversely impact our business, financial
condition, and operating results. We may find it necessary to establish systems to maintain personal data originating from the EU or Switzerland in the EEA,
which may involve substantial expense and may cause us to divert resources from other aspects of our business, all of which may adversely affect our
business.

Further, beginning on January 1, 2020, the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) will take effect. The CCPA will, among other things, require
covered companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers and provide such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of their personal
information. The CCPA was amended in September 2018, and it is possible that it will be amended again before it goes into effect. We cannot yet predict the
impact of the CCPA on our business or operations, but it may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and
expenses in an effort to comply.

Additionally, we cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling liabilities actually incurred, will cover any
indemnification claims against us relating to any incident, that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that
any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance
coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance
requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition, operating results, and reputation.

If we or our third-party service providers experience a security breach or unauthorized parties otherwise obtain access to our customers' data, our
data, or our solution, our offerings may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed, demand for our offerings may be reduced, and
we may incur significant liabilities.

Our solution and our related operations involve the storage, transmission and processing of data. Security breaches could result in the loss of this
information, litigation, indemnity obligations and other liability. We may become the target of cyber-attacks by third parties seeking unauthorized access to
our data or users' data or to disrupt our ability to provide service. While we have taken steps to protect the confidential information that we have access to,
including confidential information we may obtain through our customer support services or customer usage of our solution, our security measures or those of
our third-party service providers could be breached or we could suffer data loss. Computer malware, viruses, social engineering (predominantly spear
phishing attacks), and general hacking have become more prevalent in our industry.

We also process, store and transmit our own data as part of our business and operations. This data may include personally identifiable, confidential or
proprietary information. There can be no assurance that any security measures that we or our third-party service providers have implemented will be effective
against current or future security threats. While we utilize certain measures in an effort to protect the integrity, confidentiality and security of our data, our
security measures or those of our third-party service providers could fail and result in unauthorized access to or disclosure, modification, misuse, loss or
destruction of such data. 

Because there are many different security breach techniques and such techniques continue to evolve, we may be unable to anticipate attempted security
breaches and implement adequate preventative measures. Third parties may also conduct attacks designed to disrupt or deny access to our solution. Any
security breach or other security incident, or the perception that one has occurred, could result in a loss of customer confidence in the security of our solution
and damage to our brand, reduce the demand for our offerings, disrupt normal business operations, require us to spend material resources to investigate or
correct
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the breach, expose us to legal liabilities, including litigation, regulatory enforcement, and indemnity obligations, and adversely affect our revenues and
operating results.

We use third-party technology and systems for a variety of reasons, including, without limitation, encryption and authentication technology, employee
email, content delivery to customers, back-office support, credit card processing and other functions. Although we utilize measures designed to protect
customer information and prevent data loss and other security breaches, such measures cannot provide absolute security.

If our security measures are, or are perceived to be, inadequate or breached as a result of third-party action, employee error or malfeasance, product
defects, social engineering techniques, or otherwise, and this results in, or is believed to result in, the disruption of the confidentiality, integrity, or availability
of our systems or networks or any data we process or maintain, or the loss, destruction, or corruption of such data, we could incur significant liability, we
could face a loss of revenues, our business may suffer, and our reputation and competitive position may be damaged. Additionally, our service providers may
suffer, or be perceived to suffer, data security breaches or other incidents that may compromise data stored or processed for us that may give rise to any of the
foregoing. Any actual or perceived security breach or other incident may lead to the expenditure of significant financial and other resources in efforts to
address and eliminate vulnerabilities, to remediate any breach or incident, and to prevent future security breaches or incidents.

Additionally, we cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data security liabilities actually incurred, will cover any
indemnification claims against us relating to any incident, that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that
any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance
coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance
requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition, operating results, and reputation.

Reduced information technology and network infrastructure spending or adverse economic conditions may harm our business, results of operations,
prospects, and financial condition.

Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology, network infrastructure, and network security products. In addition, the purchase
of our products and services is often discretionary and may involve a significant commitment of capital and other resources. Currently, most organizations and
public sector entities have not allocated a fixed portion of their budgets to protect against next-generation advanced cyberattacks. If we do not succeed in
convincing end-customers that our products and services should be an integral part of their overall approach to network security and that a portion of their
annual IT budgets should be allocated to our solution, general reductions in IT spending by our end-customers are likely to have a disproportionate impact on
our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

Weak global economic conditions, or a reduction in information technology and network infrastructure spending even if economic conditions improve,
could adversely impact our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition in a number of ways, including longer sales cycles, lower prices
for our products and services, higher default rates among our distributors, reduced unit sales and lower or no growth. In addition, continued budgetary
challenges in the United States and Europe and geopolitical turmoil in many parts of the world have and may continue to put pressure on global economic
conditions and overall spending on network security products.

The average sales price of our products has decreased from time to time, and may decrease in the future, which may negatively impact our gross
profits and results of operations.

From time to time, the average sales price of our products and services has decreased. In the future, it is possible that the average sales price of our
products will decrease in response to competitive pricing pressures, increased sales discounts, new product introductions by us or our competitors, or other
factors. Such pricing pressures may also be dependent upon the mix of products sold, the mix of revenue between products, maintenance, and professional
services and the degree to which products, maintenance, and professional services are bundled and sold together for a package price. Therefore, to achieve
and maintain profitability, we must develop and introduce new products and product enhancements on a timely basis and continually reduce our product
costs. Our failure to do so would cause our revenue and gross profits to decline, which would harm our business and results of operations. Furthermore,
currency fluctuations in certain countries and regions may negatively impact actual prices that partners and end-customers are willing to pay in those
countries and regions. In addition, we may experience substantial period-to-period fluctuations in future results of operations in the event we experience an
erosion of our average sales price.
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We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management and other key employees, and the loss of any of these key
employees or any failure to hire and retain additional highly-skilled employees could adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, and
financial condition.

Our future performance depends on the continued services and contributions of our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
President, Michael DeCesare, and other key employees to execute on our business plan, and to identify and pursue new opportunities and product
innovations. The loss of services of senior management or other key employees could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our development and
strategic objectives and could harm our business and our customer relationships. We do not maintain key man life insurance with respect to any officer or
other employee.

Our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel will be critical to our future success. Competition for highly skilled personnel is
frequently intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area, where we have a substantial presence and need for talent. We may not be successful in
attracting, assimilating or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. Also, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may
be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or that they divulged proprietary or other confidential information.

In addition, we issue stock options and other equity awards as a key component of our overall compensation and recruiting and retention efforts. Our
compensation arrangements, such as our equity award programs, may not always be successful in attracting new employees and retaining and motivating
existing employees. We are also required under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) to recognize compensation expense in our results of
operations for employee stock-based compensation under our equity grant programs, which may negatively impact our results of operations and may increase
the pressure to limit stock-based compensation. Further, many of our employees have received, or may in the future receive, significant proceeds from the
sale of our equity in the public markets, which may reduce their motivation to continue to work for us and lead to greater attrition.

We are dependent on various IT systems, and failures of, or interruptions to, those systems could harm our business.

Many of our business processes depend upon our IT systems, the systems and processes of third parties and on interfaces with the systems of third parties
over which we do not have control. If those systems fail or are interrupted, or if our ability to connect to or interact with one or more networks is interrupted,
our processes may function at a diminished level or not at all. This would harm our ability to maintain operations and to ship products, and our financial
results would likely be harmed. In addition, reconfiguring our IT systems or other business processes in response to changing business needs may be time
consuming and costly. To the extent any such reconfiguration were to impact our ability to react timely to specific market or business opportunities, our
financial results would likely be harmed.

Governmental regulations affecting the manufacturing of products and that contain “conflict minerals” and the import or export of our products
could negatively affect our revenue and may cause reputational harm.

We may be deemed to manufacture or contract to manufacture products that contain certain minerals that have been designated as “conflict minerals”
under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”). As a result, in future periods, we may be required
to validate the origin of such minerals and disclose and report whether or not such minerals originated in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (“DRC”) or
adjoining countries. For instance, the Dodd-Frank Act includes disclosure requirements regarding the use of certain minerals mined from the DRC and
adjoining countries and procedures pertaining to a manufacturer’s efforts regarding the source of such minerals. SEC rules implementing these requirements
and other international standards, such as the Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply
Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High Risk Areas, may have the effect of reducing the pool of suppliers who can supply DRC “conflict free”
components and parts, and we may not be able to obtain DRC conflict free products or supplies in sufficient quantities for our products. In addition, we may
incur additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of any of the relevant minerals and metals
used in our products. We may also face reputational challenges with our end-customers, stockholders and other stakeholders if we are unable to verify the
origins for the minerals used in our products.

In addition, the U.S. government and various foreign governments, including that of Israel, where we have significant research and development
operations, have imposed controls, export license requirements, and restrictions on the import or export of some technologies, especially encryption
technology. If we were to fail to comply with any of these controls or requirements, including U.S. export licensing requirements, U.S. customs regulations,
U.S. economic sanctions, or other laws,
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we could be subject to substantial civil and criminal penalties, including fines, incarceration for responsible employees and managers, and the possible loss of
export or import privileges. Obtaining the necessary export license or approval for a particular sale may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss
of sales opportunities. Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products to U.S. embargoed or
sanctioned countries, governments, and persons. Even though we take precautions to ensure that our channel partners, who we rely on to fulfill our product
orders and deliver our products to our end-customers, comply with all relevant regulations, any failure by us or by our channel partners to comply with such
regulations could have negative consequences, including reputational harm, government investigations, and penalties. In addition, from time to time,
governmental agencies have proposed additional regulation of encryption technology, such as requiring the escrow and governmental recovery of private
encryption keys. Governmental regulation of encryption technology and regulation of imports or exports, or our failure to obtain required import or export
approval for our products, could harm our international and domestic sales and adversely affect our revenue. In addition, failure to comply with such
regulations could result in penalties, costs and restrictions on export privileges, which would harm our results of operations.

Parts of our research and development activities are located in Israel and, therefore, our results of operations may be adversely affected by political,
economic, and military instability in Israel.

Parts of our research and development facilities are located in Israel. Accordingly, political, economic, and military conditions in Israel may directly
affect our business. Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between Israel and its neighboring
countries. In recent years, these have included hostilities between Israel and Hezbollah in Lebanon and Hamas in the Gaza strip, both of which resulted in
rockets being fired into Israel causing casualties and disruption of economic activities. In addition, Israel faces threats from more distant neighbors, in
particular, Iran. Our commercial insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security situation in the Middle
East. Although the Israeli government is currently committed to covering the reinstatement value of direct damages that are caused by terrorist attacks or acts
of war, we cannot assure you that this government coverage will be maintained or, if maintained, will be sufficient to compensate us fully for damages
incurred. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business. Any armed conflict involving Israel could adversely
affect our operations and results of operations.

Further, our operations could be disrupted by the obligations of personnel to perform military service. We have a number of employees based in Israel,
certain of which may be called upon to perform up to 54 days in each three year period (and in the case of non-officers depending on their specific military
commanders or officers, up to 70 or 84 days, respectively, in each three year period) of military reserve duty until they reach the age of 40 (and in some cases,
up to 49 years of age) and, in certain emergency circumstances, may be called to immediate and unlimited active duty. Our operations could be disrupted by
the absence of a significant number of employees related to military service, which could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Several countries, principally in the Middle East, restrict doing business with Israel and Israeli companies, and additional countries may impose
restrictions on doing business with Israel and Israeli companies whether as a result of hostilities in the region or otherwise. In addition, there have been
increased efforts by activists to cause companies and consumers to boycott Israeli goods based on Israeli government policies. Such actions, particularly if
they become more widespread, may adversely impact our ability to sell our products.

Our international operations expose us to a variety of risks.

We currently have operations in a number of foreign countries and make sales to end-customers throughout the world. The majority of our sales are into
the Americas; however, we anticipate that our sales in markets outside of the Americas will increase as we grow and expand our international operations and
sales force. In addition, we currently perform certain of our research and development and other operations in Israel and in other geographically dispersed
locations outside of the United States. Our international operations and sales into international markets require significant management attention and financial
resources, and subject us to certain inherent risks, including:

• technical difficulties and costs associated with product localization;

• challenges associated with coordinating product development efforts among geographically dispersed areas;
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• potential loss of proprietary information due to piracy, misappropriation, or laws that may inadequately protect our intellectual property rights;

• greater difficulty in establishing, utilizing, and enforcing our intellectual property rights;

• our limited experience in establishing a sales and marketing presence, and research and development operations, together with the appropriate
internal systems, processes, and controls, in certain geographic markets;

• political unrest or economic instability, regulatory changes, war, or terrorism, and other unpredictable and potentially long-term events in the
countries or regions where we or our end-customers do business, which could result in delayed or lost sales or interruption in our business
operations;

• longer payment cycles for sales in certain foreign countries;

• seasonal reductions in business activity in the summer months in Europe and at other times in various countries;

• the significant presence of some of our competitors in some international markets;

• potentially adverse tax consequences or changes in applicable tax laws;

• import and export restrictions, trade disputes, tariffs and other trade protection initiatives;

• potential failures of our foreign employees and channel partners to comply with both U.S. and foreign laws and regulations, including antitrust laws,
trade regulations, and anti-bribery and corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”);

• compliance with foreign laws, regulations, and other government controls, such as those affecting trade, privacy and data protection, the
environment, corporations, and employment;

• management, staffing, legal, and other costs of operating a distributed enterprise spread over various countries;

• fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, which we currently do not hedge against; and

• fears concerning travel or health risks that may adversely affect our ability to sell our products and services in any country in which the business
sales culture encourages face-to-face interactions.

To the extent we are unable to effectively manage our international operations and these risks, our international sales or operations may be adversely
affected, we may incur additional and unanticipated costs, and we may be subject to litigation or regulatory action. As a consequence, our business, results of
operations, prospects, and financial condition could be seriously harmed.

Due to the global nature of our business, we could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. FCPA or similar anti-bribery laws in other
jurisdictions in which we operate and various international trade and export laws.

The global nature of our business creates various domestic and local regulatory challenges. The FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions
generally prohibit U.S.-based companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business to non-
U.S. officials. In addition, U.S.-based companies are required to maintain records that accurately and fairly represent their transactions and have an adequate
system of internal accounting controls. We operate in areas of the world that experience corruption by government officials to some degree and, in certain
circumstances, compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. Our global operations require us to import and export to and
from several countries, which increases our compliance obligations. In addition, changes in such laws could result in increased regulatory requirements and
compliance costs which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot assure you that our employees or other
software agents will not engage in prohibited conduct and render us responsible under the FCPA. If we are found to be in violation of the FCPA or other anti-
bribery laws (either due to acts or inadvertence of our employees or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), we could suffer criminal or civil penalties or
other sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Third parties may bring legal actions against us.

In the past, third parties have brought legal actions against us and we may, from time to time, be a party to other lawsuits in the normal course of our
business. We have incurred costs to defend those lawsuits and related legal proceedings. It is likely that in the future other parties may bring legal actions
against us. Such actions, even if without merit, could harm our business. Litigation in general, and intellectual property and securities litigation in particular,
can be expensive, lengthy, and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. An
unfavorable resolution of any lawsuit could adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, or financial condition. Any material litigation or
arbitration inevitably results in the diversion of the attention of our management and other relevant personnel. To the extent uninsured, such claims further
require us to incur defense costs for us and for parties to whom we may have indemnification obligations. For example, we indemnify our channel partners in
response to requests they receive from our end-customers to be indemnified for patent or other intellectual property litigation brought by third parties against
our end-customers with regard to our end-customers’ use of products or services sold by our channel partners, including our own products. We also may be
required to pay material amounts in settlement costs or damages. Furthermore, if the matter relates to infringement of a third party’s intellectual property, we
may be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements or to develop non-infringing technology, and injunctive relief could be entered against us. End-
customer concerns with respect to material litigation can result in delayed or lost sales and reputational damage. Any of the foregoing could seriously harm
our business and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operations could be significantly hindered by the occurrence of a natural disaster, terrorist attack, or other catastrophic event.

Our business operations are susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, and other events beyond
our control, and our sales opportunities may also be affected by such events. In addition, a substantial portion of our facilities, including our headquarters, are
located in Northern California, an area susceptible to earthquakes. We do not carry earthquake insurance for earthquake-related losses. Despite our
implementation of network security measures, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins, and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering
with our computer systems. We may not carry sufficient business interruption insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur as a result of any of these
events. In addition, acts of terrorism and other geo-political unrest could cause disruptions in our business or the business of our supply chain, manufacturers,
logistics providers, partners, or end-customers or the economy as a whole. Any disruption in the business of our supply chain, manufacturers, logistics
providers, partners, or end-customers that impacts sales at the end of a fiscal quarter could have a significant adverse impact on our financial results. To the
extent that such events disrupt our business or the business of our current or prospective end-customers, or adversely impact our reputation, such events could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

If we fail to comply with environmental requirements, our business, results of operations, prospects, financial condition, and reputation could be
adversely affected.

Our operations and the sale of our products are subject to various federal, state, local, and foreign environmental and safety regulations, including laws
adopted by the EU, such as the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive (the “WEEE Directive”) and the Restriction of the Use of Certain
Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive, (the “EU RoHS Directive”) of certain metals from global hot spots. The WEEE
Directive requires electronic goods producers to be responsible for marking, collection, recycling, and treatment of such products. Changes in the WEEE
Directive of the interpretation thereof may cause us to incur additional costs or meet additional regulatory requirements, which could be material.

The EU RoHS Directive and similar laws of other jurisdictions limit the content of certain hazardous materials such as lead, mercury, and cadmium in the
manufacture of electrical equipment, including our products. Currently, our products comply with the EU RoHS Directive requirements. However, if there are
changes to this or other laws, or to their interpretation, or if new similar laws are passed in other jurisdictions, we may be required to reengineer our products
or to use different components to comply with these regulations. This reengineering or component substitution could result in substantial costs to us or disrupt
our operations or logistics.

We are also subject to environmental laws and regulations governing the management of hazardous materials, which we use in small quantities in our
engineering labs. Our failure to comply with past, present, and future environmental and safety laws could result in increased costs, reduced sales of our
products, substantial product inventory write-offs, reputational damage, penalties, third-party property damage, remediation costs, and other sanctions, any of
which could harm our business and financial
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condition. To date, our expenditures for environmental compliance have not had a material impact on our results of operations or cash flows, and although we
cannot predict the future impact of such laws or regulations, they will likely result in additional costs and may increase penalties associated with violations or
require us to change the content of our products or how they are manufactured, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, prospects, and financial condition. We also expect that our business will be affected by new environmental laws and regulations on an ongoing
basis, which may be more stringent, imposing greater compliance costs and increasing risks and penalties associated with violations which could harm our
business.

Our gross margin is affected by a number of factors, and we may not be able to sustain it at present levels.

Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including:

• market acceptance of our solution and fluctuations in demand for our solution and services;

• fluctuation in demand mix between our Software Products and Hardware Products;

• fluctuation in demand mix among the portfolio of products that comprise our Hardware Products;

• fluctuation in demand for our products, maintenance, and professional services;

• varying discounting rates among end-customers;

• our ability to increase sales to and retain existing end-customers and to sell to new end-customers;

• increased price competition and changes in product pricing;

• actions taken by our competitors;

• new product innovations and enhancements;

• manufacturing and component costs;

• availability of sufficient inventory to meet demand;

• purchase of inventory in excess of demand;

• our execution of our strategy and operating plans;

• geographies in which sales are made; and

• revenue recognition rules.

Macroeconomic factors and competitive pressures may also require us to lower prices or increase spending, and our business and results of operations
may suffer. Even if we achieve our net revenue and operating expense objectives, our net income or loss and results of operations may be below our
expectations and the expectations of investors if our gross margin is below expectations.

Our investments in new or enhanced products and services may not yield the benefits we anticipate.

The success of our business is predicated on our ability to develop new products and technologies and to anticipate future market requirements and
applicable industry standards. We intend to continue to invest in enhancing our products by adding personnel and other resources to our research and
development function. We will likely recognize costs associated with these investments earlier than the anticipated benefits. If we do not achieve the
anticipated benefits from these investments, or if the achievement of these benefits is delayed, our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial
condition may be adversely affected.

The process of developing new technologies is time consuming, complex, and uncertain, and requires the commitment of significant resources well in
advance of being able to fully determine market requirements and industry standards. Furthermore, we may not be able to timely execute new product or
technical initiatives because of errors in product planning or timing,
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technical difficulties that we cannot timely resolve, or a lack of appropriate resources. This could result in competitors bringing products to market before we
do and a consequent decrease in our market share and net revenue. Our inability to timely and cost-effectively introduce new products and product
enhancements, or the failure of these new products or enhancements to achieve market acceptance and comply with industry standards, could seriously harm
our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition. Additionally, products and technologies developed by others, and our own introduction
of new products and product enhancements, could result in the obsolescence and write-off of previously purchased or committed inventory, which would
reduce our net income or increase our net loss.

We have acquired and may in the future acquire or invest in companies, which may divert our management’s attention and result in additional
dilution to our stockholders. We may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits of such
acquisitions.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to grow our business in response to changing technologies, end-customer demands, and competitive
pressures. In some circumstances, we may choose to do so through the acquisition of complementary businesses and technologies rather than through internal
development. For example, on November 7, 2018, we acquired SecurityMatters, B.V. (“SecurityMatters”). The risks we face in connection with acquisitions
include:

• encountering difficulties or unforeseen expenditures in integrating the business, technologies, products, personnel, or operations of a company that
we acquire, particularly if key personnel of the acquired company decide not to work for us;

• failure to achieve the expected benefits of the acquisition or investment;

• difficulties maintaining relationships with the customers and suppliers of the acquired company;

• unforeseen liabilities that were not identified or accounted for in due diligence;

• disruptions of our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses, and distract our management;

• ineffective or inadequate controls, procedures or policies at the acquired company;

• differing regulatory or tax regimes applicable to the acquired company;

• the tax and accounting effects of the acquisition, which may adversely impact our financial results;

• our use of cash to pay for acquisitions, which would limit other potential uses for our cash;

• if we incur debt to fund an acquisition, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct our business; and

• if we issue a significant amount of equity securities in connection with acquisitions, existing stockholders may be diluted and earnings per share may
decrease.

In addition, the identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and we may not be able to complete
successfully identified acquisitions. The occurrence of any of these risks could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, prospects, and
financial condition.

We face increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated in U.S. Dollars, and therefore, the majority of our revenue is not currently subject to foreign currency risk.
However, a strengthening of the U.S. Dollar could increase the real cost of our products to our end-customers outside of the United States, which could
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, increased international sales in the future, including through our channel
partners and other partnerships, may result in greater foreign currency denominated sales, increasing our foreign currency risk. Moreover, an increasing
portion of our operating expenses is incurred outside the United States, is denominated in foreign currencies, and is subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. If we are not able to successfully hedge against the risks associated with currency fluctuations, our financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.
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We do not currently maintain a program to hedge transactional exposures in foreign currencies. However, in the future, we may use derivative
instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of
such hedging activities may not offset any or more than a portion of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the
limited time the hedges are in place. Moreover, the use of hedging instruments may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges
with such instruments.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal
controls. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting and, beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year 2018, provide a management report
on internal control over financial reporting. We are also required to have our independent registered public accounting firm issue an opinion on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis.

Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our results
of operations, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, result in a restatement of our consolidated financial statements for prior periods, or adversely
affect the results of management evaluations and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our internal control over financial reporting that we
are required to include in our periodic reports that we file with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the
trading price of our common stock.

If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective or when required in the future, if our independent registered public
accounting firm issues an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected and we could become subject to investigations
by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management
resources.

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion, and focus on execution that we believe
contribute to our success, and our business may be harmed.

We believe that our corporate culture has been a critical component to our success. We have invested substantial time and resources in building our team.
As we grow and mature as a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain our corporate culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively
affect our future success, including our ability to recruit and retain personnel and effectively focus on and pursue our business strategy.

Forecasting our estimated annual effective tax rate is complex and subject to uncertainty, and there may be material differences between our
forecasted and actual tax rates.

We are currently generating operating losses and have minimal tax rate uncertainty. When we begin generating operating profit, and fully utilize our net
operating losses (“NOLs”), forecasts of our effective tax rate will become more complex. As a multinational corporation we conduct our business in many
countries and are subject to different taxation in many jurisdictions. The taxation of our business is subject to the application of multiple and conflicting tax
laws and regulations as well as multinational tax conventions. Our effective tax rate will be highly dependent upon the geographic distribution of our
worldwide earnings or losses, the tax regulations in each geographic region, changes in or new legislation relating to tax, the availability of tax credits and
carryforwards, and the effectiveness of our tax planning strategies.

In addition, we are subject to examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. If tax authorities challenge
the relative mix of our U.S. and international income, our future effective income tax rates could be adversely affected. While we regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes from such examinations and the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, there can be no assurance that such provision is
sufficient and that a determination by a tax authority will not have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.
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Changes in U.S. tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of operations or financial condition.

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) into law, which significantly changes the
taxation of U.S.-based multinational corporations, by, among other things, reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate, adopting elements of a territorial tax
system, assessing a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred, and the creation of new taxes on
certain foreign-sourced earnings. The legislation is unclear in some respects and requires interpretations and implementing regulations by the Internal
Revenue Service, as well as state tax authorities, and the legislation could be subject to potential amendments and technical corrections, any of which could
lessen or increase certain impacts of the legislation. We will continue to assess the effects of the legislation. The current and future impact of the legislation
could materially impact our deferred tax assets and tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our business, cash flow, results of operations or financial
condition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carry-forwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

The Company has federal and state NOLs available. Subject to the following discussion, such NOLs are generally available to be carried forward to
offset our future taxable income, if any, until such NOLs are used or expire.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change”
(generally defined as a greater than 50-percentage point cumulative change (by value) in the equity ownership of certain stockholders over a rolling three-year
period) is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset post-change taxable income. Similar rules may apply under state tax
laws. Based upon an analysis of the period from inception through November 30, 2015, we believe we may have undergone an ownership change and that a
portion of our current NOLs may be subject to limitations under Section 382. Future changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our
control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code. Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we have acquired or
may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations. There is also a risk that due to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs, or other
unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. For these reasons, we may not be able
to realize a tax benefit from the use of our NOLs, whether or not we attain profitability.

Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock

Provisions of our corporate governance documents could make an acquisition of our company more difficult and may prevent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current management, even if beneficial to our stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”)
contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so might be beneficial to our stockholders.

These provisions include:

• the division of our board of directors into three classes and the election of each class for three-year terms;

• advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and director nominations;

• the ability of the board of directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue new series of, and designate the terms of, preferred stock, without stockholder approval, which could be
used to, among other things, institute a rights plan that would have the effect of significantly diluting the stock ownership of a potential hostile
acquirer, likely preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of directors;

• limitations on the ability of stockholders to call special meetings and to take action by written consent; and

• the required approval of holders of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our capital stock to adopt, amend, or repeal
certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws or remove directors for cause.
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In addition, Section 203 of the DGCL may affect the ability of an “interested stockholder” to engage in certain business combinations, for a period of
three years following the time that the stockholder becomes an “interested stockholder.”

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board. Because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these
provisions could in turn affect any attempt to replace current members of our management team.

Our amended and restated bylaws designate courts in the State of Delaware and in the county of Santa Clara, California as the sole and exclusive
forums for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, subject to limited exceptions, a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware or a state or
federal court located within the county of Santa Clara, California will be the sole and exclusive forums for:

• any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

• any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or other employees to us or our stockholders;

• any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or our
amended and restated bylaws; or

• any other action asserting a claim against us or our directors, officers, or employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented
to these provisions. These provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our
directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and employees. Alternatively, if a court
were to find these provisions of our amended and restated bylaws inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions
or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

Market volatility may affect the price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are
beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance. From October 27, 2017, the date that our common stock started trading on The
NASDAQ Global Market, through December 31, 2018, the closing price of our common stock has ranged from $21.92 per share to $40.46 per share. The
trading price of our common stock may continue to fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot predict or control,
including:

• actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations and whether our results of operations meet the expectations of securities
analysts or investors;

• actual or anticipated changes in securities analysts’ estimates and expectations of our financial performance;

• announcements of new products and solutions, services or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions, or other events by us or our
competitors;

• general market conditions, including volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general and of companies in the
network security industry in particular;

• changes in how current and potential end-customers perceive the effectiveness of our solution in protecting against advanced cyberattacks or other
reputational harm;
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• sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors, and significant stockholders and significant
settlements of RSUs;

• announced departures of any of our key personnel;

• lawsuits threatened or filed against us or involving our industry, or both;

• changing legal or regulatory developments in the United States and other countries;

• general economic conditions and trends; and

• other events or factors, including those resulting from major catastrophic events, war, acts of terrorism, or responses to these events.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of
equity securities of many technology companies. Stock prices of many technology companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If
we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our
business and adversely affect our business, results of operations, prospects, and financial condition.

Our business could be impacted as a result of actions by activist shareholders or others.

We may be subject, from time to time, to legal and business challenges in the operation of our company due to actions instituted by activist shareholders
or others. Responding to such actions could be costly and time-consuming, may not align with our business strategies and could divert the attention of our
board of directors and senior management from the pursuit of our business strategies. Perceived uncertainties as to our future direction as a result of
shareholder activism may lead to the perception of a change in the direction of the business or other instability and may affect our relationships with our end-
customers, prospective and current employees and others.

As a public company, we are subject to additional laws, regulations, and stock exchange listing standards, which impose additional costs on us and
may strain our resources and divert our management’s attention.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirements of The
NASDAQ Global Market, and other applicable securities laws and regulations. Compliance with these laws and regulations increases our legal and financial
compliance costs and make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, or costly. For example, the Exchange Act requires us, among other things, to file
annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting. Also, as a public company, it is more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance than it was
before we became a public company, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. Although we
have already hired additional employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to hire even more employees in the future, which will increase our
costs and expenses. These factors may therefore strain our resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our ability to attract and retain qualified board
members.

Since we have no current plans to pay regular cash dividends on our common stock, you may not receive any return on investment unless you sell
your common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

We do not anticipate paying any regular cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the
future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash
requirements, contractual restrictions, and other factors that our board may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is, and may be, limited by
covenants of existing and any future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur. Therefore, any return on investment in our common stock is solely
dependent upon the appreciation of the price of our common stock on the open market, which may not occur.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their recommendations regarding
our shares or if our results of operations do not meet their expectations, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our shares will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. We
do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, we
could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts
who cover our company downgrade our stock or if our results of operations do not meet their expectations, our share price could decline.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in San Jose, California in a facility consisting of approximately 95,950 square feet of office space under a lease that
expires in 2026. We maintain additional offices throughout the United States and various international locations, including Australia, Canada, China,
Germany, Hong Kong, Israel, Japan, the Netherlands, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom. We lease all of our facilities and do not own any
real property. We intend to procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable for
our current needs and that suitable additional or alternative space will be available to accommodate the expansion of our operations if needed.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth under the “Litigation” subheading in Note 7, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITITIES

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “FSCT”.

Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2018, there were 106 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and
other institutions on behalf of beneficial owners of our stock, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund business development and
growth, and we do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion
of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on a number of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital
requirements, contractual restrictions, general business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

On October 26, 2017, our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-220767) was declared effective by the SEC for our initial public offering, or
IPO, of common stock. We started trading on The NASDAQ Global Market on October 27, 2017. On October 31, 2017, we closed our IPO and sold
6,072,000 shares of our common stock, including the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase an additional 792,000 shares, at an offering price of
$22.00 per share, for an aggregate offering price of approximately $133.6 million. Upon completion of the sale of the shares of our common stock, our IPO
terminated.

We paid to the underwriters of our IPO underwriting discounts and commissions totaling approximately $9.4 million and incurred estimated offering
expenses of approximately $4.5 million that, when added to the underwriting discounts and commissions, amount to total expenses of approximately $13.9
million. Thus, the net offering proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commission and other offering expenses and including the exercise by the
underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares of our common stock, were approximately $119.7 million.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus, dated October 26, 2017, pursuant to
Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act.

We closed our follow-on offering (the “Offering”) in March 2018, in which we issued and sold 500,000 shares of our common stock. Further, an
additional 4,572,650 shares of our common stock were sold by certain stockholders in the Offering, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase
additional shares from certain of the selling stockholders. The price to the public was $29.00 per share. We received aggregate proceeds of $16.4 million from
the Offering, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions of $0.7 million and inclusive of approximately $2.6 million received by us in connection with
the exercise by certain selling stockholders of options to purchase an aggregate of 425,436 shares of common stock that were sold in the Offering. We
incurred offering costs of approximately $1.2 million. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders in the Offering.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from the Offering as described in our final prospectus, dated March 19, 2018, pursuant
to Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any filing of
Forescout under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific
reference in such filing.

The following graph compares the cumulative total return for our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer Index. An
investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our common stock and in each index on October 27, 2017, the date
our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ, and its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2018, the last trading date of our 2018 fiscal
year end. The returns shown are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

The selected consolidated financial data below should be read in conjunction with the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and our consolidated financial statements and related
notes included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are derived from audited consolidated
financial statements which are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our future results. The
selected consolidated financial data in this section are not intended to replace our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, and are qualified in
their entirety by the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we have recast certain financial data as a result of our adoption of Accounting Standard Update 2014-
09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”) in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, as indicated by the “as adjusted” note. Financial data for the
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 has not been adjusted to reflect the adoption of Topic 606. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding our adoption of Topic 606.
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 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted  2015  2014

 (In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:          
Revenue:          

Product $ 162,667  $ 125,348  $ 97,994  $ 71,264  $ 40,947
Maintenance and professional services 134,984  99,056  69,552  54,695  30,166

Total revenue 297,651  224,404  167,546  125,959  71,113
Cost of revenue:          

Product (1) 27,854  23,841  21,832  16,161  10,654
Maintenance and professional services (1) 40,028  34,771  26,571  16,961  11,222

Total cost of revenue 67,882  58,612  48,403  33,122  21,876
Total gross profit 229,769  165,792  119,143  92,837  49,237
Operating expenses:          

Research and development (1)   61,713  47,435  31,490  17,772  12,302
Sales and marketing (1)   183,880  144,398  119,071  70,269  56,391
General and administrative (1)   57,721  51,206  30,731  22,874  21,078

Total operating expenses 303,314  243,039  181,292  110,915  89,771
Loss from operations (73,545)  (77,247)  (62,149)  (18,078)  (40,534)
Interest expense (913)  (1,223)  (2,577)  (2,745)  (2,749)
Other income (expense), net 2,567  316  (607)  (488)  (433)
Revaluation of warrant liabilities —  (727)  1,104  (5,621)  303
Loss before income taxes (71,891)  (78,881)  (64,229)  (26,932)  (43,413)
Income tax provision 2,945  1,839  1,250  328  575
Net loss $ (74,836)  $ (80,720)  $ (65,479)  $ (27,260)  $ (43,988)
Decrement of redeemable convertible preferred stock to
redemption value —  —  —  —  (41,780)
Deemed dividend on the conversion of Series G redeemable
convertible preferred stock —  12,810  —  —  —

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (74,836)  $ (93,530)  $ (65,479)  $ (27,260)  $ (2,208)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic
and diluted (2) $ (1.83)  $ (8.20)  $ (11.67)  $ (6.61)  $ (0.91)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted (2) 40,980  11,405  5,609  4,122  2,439
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_____________________    
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016  2015  2014

 (In thousands)

Cost of revenue:          
Product $ 253  $ 103  $ 30  $ 16  $ 5
Maintenance and professional services 3,015  2,291  1,123  391  125

Research and development 10,161  6,213  2,311  1,101  441
Sales and marketing 24,999  14,451  8,084  2,245  1,075
General and administrative 15,069  19,538  5,286  4,959  3,476

     Total $ 53,497  $ 42,596  $ 16,834  $ 8,712  $ 5,122

(2) See Note 11 in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a description of
how we calculate net loss per share, basic and diluted.

 December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted  2015  2014

 (In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,895  $ 63,009  $ 79,665  $ 126,846  $ 42,621
Marketable securities 47,632  123,384  —  —  —
Working capital, excluding deferred revenue 154,523  223,927  98,821  111,521  44,866
Total assets 388,478  328,718  194,272  170,870  76,379
Total deferred revenue 171,518  134,859  85,290  83,459  66,456
Notes payable - non-current 8,248  15,579  22,824  —  18,799
Warrant liabilities —  —  4,874  5,978  5,882
Redeemable convertible preferred stock —  —  283,854  279,913  200,501
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 127,721  $ 115,491  $ (258,127)  $ (252,802)  $ (243,685)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the section titled “Selected
Consolidated Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere within this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This
discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current plans, expectations and beliefs that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors”
and in other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our fiscal year end is December 31.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we have recast certain financial data as a result of our adoption of Accounting Standard Update
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”) in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding our adoption of Topic 606.

On November 7, 2018, we acquired 100% of the equity interests of SecurityMatters B.V. (“SecurityMatters”). The inclusion of the results of
SecurityMatters from the date of acquisition did not have a material impact on our results of operations. As part of the acquisition, we acquired the
SilentDefense product line.

Overview

We generate revenue from sales of our products and associated maintenance and professional services.

We offer our solution across two product groups: products for visibility and control capabilities, and products for orchestration capabilities. Our products
for visibility and control capabilities consist of CounterACT and SilentDefense. Our CounterACT product provides for visibility and control capabilities
across campus IT and IoT devices, OT devices, data center physical and virtual devices and cloud virtual devices. Our SilentDefense product provides for
visibility and control capabilities deeper within the OT portion of the network. Our products for orchestration capabilities are comprised of our portfolio of
Extended Modules. On February 20, 2019, we announced that, in March 2019, our products for the visibility and control capabilities of CounterACT will be
offered as Forescout eyeSight and Forescout eyeControl, respectively. Additionally, our products for the orchestration capabilities of the Forescout platform
will be offered under the Forescout eyeExtend family of products. We also expect to rename and rebrand the SilentDefense product line as well in 2019. This
is a simple rebranding and renaming of our products and we do not believe this exercise will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Our solution is available in two product types: software products and hardware products. Our software products include CounterACT, Extended Modules,
CounterACT Virtual Appliance, CounterACT Enterprise Manager Virtual Appliances, SilentDefense and SilentDefense Command Center. Our hardware
products include hardware that is sold separately for use with CounterACT or SilentDefense, CounterACT Appliances (hardware appliances that are
embedded with CounterACT), and CounterACT Enterprise Manager Appliances.

Also, we offer our solution across license types and increments. Our CounterACT products are sold with a perpetual license. Our SilentDefense products
are sold with either a perpetual license or a subscription license. Customers can purchase in license increments of 100 devices, with hardware sold separately
based on customer deployment requirements. Customers can manage their deployments of our products in its varying options that can scale and manage
deployments of up to 2,000,000 devices under a single console. Customers can purchase our SilentDefense products in license increments that are on a per
site basis.

As of December 31, 2018, we have sold to nearly 3,300 end-customers in over 80 countries, including 21% of the Global 2000, since our inception. For
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 we sold to 14%, 13%, and 11% of the Global 2000, respectively. Our end-customers represent a broad
range of industries, including government, financial services, healthcare, manufacturing, technology, services, entertainment, energy, retail, and education.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, our revenue was $297.7 million, $224.4
million, and $167.5 million, respectively, representing year-over-year increase of 33% for 2018 and 34% for 2017.

49



Table of Contents

Factors Affecting Our Performance

We believe that the growth of our business and our future success are dependent upon many factors, including our ability to continue to increase the
efficiency by which our sales force engages our end-customers, to extend the reach of our sales force footprint to engage more end-customers, to retain and
increase sales to existing end-customers, to grow our global end-customer base, and to increase the deal size of sales to our end-customers. While each of
these areas presents significant opportunities for us, they also pose significant risks and challenges that we must successfully address in order to sustain the
growth of our business and improve our results of operations.

Increasing the Efficiency by which Our Sales Force Engages Our End-Customers

We are focused on increasing the efficiency of our sales force. Over the last 12 months, we have increased hiring in sales enablement and marketing,
enhanced sales training activities, and implemented company-wide standards for product positioning in order to instill a culture of success and discipline in
our sales organization. Our sales strategy depends on attracting top talent from security organizations, expanding our sales coverage, increasing our pipeline
of business, and enhancing productivity. We focus on productivity per quota-carrying sales representative across different levels within the sales organization,
and the time it takes our sales representatives to reach productivity. We manage our pipeline on a quarterly basis by sales representative to ensure sufficient
coverage of our bookings targets. Our ability to manage our sales productivity and pipeline are important factors to the success of our business.

We deploy a direct-touch channel-fulfilled strategy. Our customer acquisition sales cycle is typically nine to 24 months, depending on the industry, size
and scope of deployment. Our expansion sales cycle is typically shorter, as customers buy more licenses to cover the additional devices that enter their
network after their initial purchase and as we expand into other parts of their network - generally into their other campus environments or beyond campus and
into OT, data center and cloud. We have a direct field sales team and a dedicated team focused on managing relationships with our channel partners and
working with our channel partners to support our end-customers. We expect to continue to grow our sales headcount in areas of highest demand for our
solution. Generally, our sales representatives become more productive the longer they are with us, with limited productivity in their first few quarters as they
learn to sell our products and participate in field training, but with increasing productivity as they acquire accounts and as those accounts begin their
expansion purchases for additional devices, additional parts of their network, and orchestration capabilities. Our sales representatives annual productivity
historical trends indicate, as a cohort, that their productivity in their second full year is more than double their productivity in their first full year and that their
productivity in years after their second full year are more than 50% higher than their productivity in their second year. We focus our sales management efforts
on helping our sales representatives increase productivity as they become more seasoned. As of December 31, 2018, 50% of our sales representatives have
been with us for more than two years.

Extending the Reach of Our Sales Force Footprint

We have made substantial investments in our sales force in recent periods in order to address the significant opportunity created primarily by the increase
in the attack surface within organizations driven by the influx of IoT in the campus and data centers, the digital transformation from data centers to third party
hosted cloud providers, and the emergence of the critical need to secure OT networks. We expect to continue to make substantial investments in our sales
force to capitalize on the market opportunity for device visibility and control.

Continued Retention and Sales to Existing End-Customers

Reflecting the strategic nature of our visibility, control and orchestration capabilities 84% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 came
from our existing end-customers as they expanded their deployment of our solution within their large heterogeneous networks well beyond their initial
deployment phase and associated purchases. The chart below illustrates, most profoundly in the most recent years, the annual value of end-customers, as
measured as a calendar-year-class-cohort, as they expand the use of our solutions, beyond their initial deployment. The chart shows revenue generated from
our end-customers beginning from fiscal year 2007, the initial year of purchase for the 2007 end-customer cohort, along with the annual revenue derived from
those same end-customers in each year through fiscal 2018. Each colored segment represents a new cohort of end-customers beginning in their initial year of
purchase.
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For context, we have served several of our top 20 end-customers for over 10 years. Our largest end-customer has spent more than $87 million with us
life-to-date and our 20th largest end customer has spent more than $9 million with us life-to-date. We have one end-customer, acquired in 2015 that has spent
nearly $40 million with us life-to-date. The number of annual end-customer deals over $1 million and the collective value of those deals continues to increase.
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, we had 49, 48, and 28 deals, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of the collective value
of those deals in 2018 and 2017 of 29% and 55%, respectively. We define an annual end-customer deal as the aggregate billings to an end-customer during a
calendar year.

We believe the net-recurring revenue retention rate over the trailing 12 month period on our support and maintenance contracts is an important metric to
measure our ability to retain and increase sales to our existing end-customers. We calculate the net-recurring revenue retention rate on support and
maintenance contracts using the following formula:

X = (A + B + C)/(B + D)

where:

X = net-recurring revenue retention rate on support and maintenance contracts

A = annualized value of support and maintenance contracts renewed over the trailing 12 month period

B = trailing 12 month annualized value of support and maintenance contracts not subject to renewal because the scheduled expiration date of the multi-
year support and maintenance contract falls outside of the 12 month period under measurement

C = trailing 12 month annualized value of new support and maintenance contracts from end-customers that have been end customers for more than one
year

D = 12 months annualized value of support and maintenance contracts scheduled to terminate or renew during the 12 month period under measurement
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We believe this metric is an indication of the continuing value we provide to our end-customers because it shows the renewal of their support and
maintenance contracts on their existing IP-based devices and the expanded value to our end-customers demonstrated by increases in the number of their IP-
based devices. Our net-recurring revenue retention rate on support and maintenance contracts as of December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 were 117%, 126%,
and 127%, respectively. A net retention rate over 100% indicates that our products are expanding within our end-customer base, whereas a rate less
than 100% indicates that our products are constricting within our end-customer base. Additionally, this calculation includes all changes to the annualized
value of the recurring revenue from support and maintenance contracts for the designated set of support and maintenance contracts used in the calculation,
which includes scheduled expiration periods, stub periods, changes in pricing, additional products purchased, lost end-customers, early renewals, and
decreases in the number of devices licensed to be managed by our Software Products or Hardware Products under contract. This metric does not take into
account product revenue or professional services revenue. The annualized value of our support and maintenance contracts is a legal and contractual
determination made by assessing the contractual terms with our end-customers. The annualized value of our support and maintenance contracts is not
determined by reference to historical revenue, deferred revenue, or any other U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) financial measure over
any period.

Grow Global End-Customer Base

We have invested significantly, and plan to continue to invest, in our sales organization to drive new end-customer growth. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, we added more than 500 new customers, of which more than 60 are identified in the list of Global 2000. We now count six of the top 10
financial services companies, five of the top 10 manufacturing companies, 11 of the 14 civilian cabinets with the US federal government, and numerous large
healthcare companies as our customers that are standardizing with us for device visibility and control.

Increasing Deal Size of Sales to Our End-Customers

The value realized from our products has led to increased adoption and larger scale deployments. We define an annual end-customer deal as the aggregate
billings to an end-customer during a calendar year. For the year ended December 31, 2018, our average deal size was approximately $202,000, a decrease of
7% from the average annual deal size for the year ended December 31, 2017, reflecting the increased quantity of smaller international deals. We define the
average deal size as the aggregate sales to end-customers during a calendar year divided by the number of end-customers purchasing in that year, excluding
any end-customer for which the total value of their purchases in that year were less than five thousand dollars and excluding support and maintenance
renewals, as we determined that the majority of this population was comprised of transactions not fundamental to our end-customer group and go-to-market
strategy.

Key Financial Metrics

Non-GAAP Operating Loss and Free Cash Flow

In addition to our results determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, we monitor the non-GAAP financial
metrics described below to evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, measure the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and measure and assess
operational efficiencies.

We define non-GAAP operating loss as loss from operations excluding stock-based compensation expense, acquisition-related expenses, and
amortization of acquired intangible assets. Acquisition-related expenses include transaction costs such as accounting and legal fees, and other employee
retention expenses arising from the acquisition. We consider non-GAAP operating loss to be a useful metric for investors and other users of our financial
information in evaluating our operating performance because it excludes the impact of stock-based compensation, a non-cash charge that can vary from
period to period for reasons that are unrelated to our core operating performance and non-recurring and non-operating amortization of acquired intangible
assets, and acquisition-related expenses. This metric also provides investors and other users of our financial information with an additional tool to compare
business performance across companies and periods, while eliminating the effects of items that may vary for different companies for reasons unrelated to core
operating performance.

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less purchases of property and equipment. We consider free cash flow to
be an important metric because it measures the amount of cash we use or generate and reflects changes in working capital.
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A reconciliation of non-GAAP operating loss to loss from operations, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP, is provided below:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

 (In thousands)

Non-GAAP operating loss:      
Loss from operations $ (73,545)  $ (77,247)  $ (62,149)
Add:      

Stock-based compensation expense 53,497  42,596  16,834
Acquisition-related expenses 3,497  —  —
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 463  —  —

Non-GAAP operating loss $ (16,088)  $ (34,651)  $ (45,315)

A reconciliation of free cash flow to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and
presented in accordance with GAAP, is provided below:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

 (In thousands)

Free cash flow (non-GAAP):      
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 13,489  $ (2,735)  $ (38,291)
Less: purchases of property and equipment (7,628)  (4,517)  (22,006)

Free cash flow (non-GAAP) $ 5,861  $ (7,252)  $ (60,297)

Net cash used in investing activities $ (36,950)  $ (127,549)  $ (22,010)

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 25,123  $ 113,764  $ 13,310

It is important to note that other companies, including companies in our industry, may not use non-GAAP operating loss or free cash flow, may calculate
these metrics differently, or may use other financial measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of these non-GAAP
metrics as comparative measures.

As a result, our non-GAAP operating loss and free cash flow should be considered in addition to, not as substitutes for or in isolation from, measures
prepared in accordance with GAAP.

We compensate for these limitations by providing investors and other users of our financial information, reconciliations of non-GAAP operating loss to
the corresponding GAAP financial measure, operating loss, and reconciliations of free cash flow to the corresponding GAAP financial measure, cash flow
provided by (used in) operating activities. We encourage investors and others to review our financial information in its entirety, not to rely on any single
financial measure, and to view non-GAAP operating loss and free cash flow in conjunction with the corresponding GAAP financial measure.

Components of Financial Performance

Revenue

We derive revenue from sales of our products, maintenance, and professional services.

Our revenue is comprised of the following:
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• Product Revenue. Our product revenue is derived from sales of CounterACT, SilentDefense, and Extended Modules. Revenue is recognized at the
time of transfer of control, which is generally upon delivery of access to software downloads or shipment, provided that all other revenue recognition
criteria have been met. As a percentage of total revenue, we expect our product revenue to vary from quarter to quarter based on seasonal and
cyclical factors.

• Maintenance and Professional Services Revenue. Our maintenance revenue is derived from support and maintenance contracts with terms that are
generally either one or three years, but can be up to five years. We typically bill for support and maintenance contracts upfront. We recognize
revenue from support and maintenance over the contractual service period. Our professional services revenue is generally recognized over time as
the services are rendered. As a percentage of total revenue, we expect our maintenance and professional services revenue to vary from quarter to
quarter based on seasonal and cyclical factors.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue is comprised of the following:

• Cost of Product Revenue. Cost of product revenue primarily consists of costs paid to our third-party contract manufacturer for our Hardware
Products. Our cost of product revenue also includes allocated costs, shipping costs, and personnel costs associated with logistics for our Hardware
Products. Our cost of product revenue for Software Products includes amortization of acquired developed technology. There is no other direct cost of
revenue associated with our Software Products because Software Products are delivered electronically. We expect our cost of product revenue to
fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on product mix; however, over time, we expect our cost of product revenue to decline as a percentage of
product revenue primarily due to a shift in product mix towards increased sales of CounterACT deployed in virtual environments, which does not
use hardware provided by us, and Extended Modules.

• Cost of Maintenance and Professional Services Revenue. Cost of maintenance and professional services revenue consists of personnel costs for our
global customer support and professional services organization and costs paid to third-party contractors that deliver some of our services. We expect
our cost of maintenance and professional services revenue to decline over time as a percentage of our maintenance and professional services revenue
as we expect to scale our customer support organization at a lower growth rate than our anticipated maintenance and professional services revenue
growth rate.

Gross Margin

Gross margin, or gross profit as a percentage of revenue, has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including the mix of products
sold between Hardware Products and Software Products; the mix between high-margin and low-margin Hardware Products; the mix of revenue between
products, maintenance, and professional services; the average sales price of our products, maintenance and professional services; amortization of acquired
developed technology; and manufacturing costs.

Product margin on our Software Products was approximately 99% for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016. Product margin on our
Hardware Products vary. The average product margin on hardware sold separately for use with CounterACT was approximately 24% and 27% for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We began selling hardware sold separately for use with CounterACT in 2017. Product margin on
CounterACT Appliances, which are the hardware appliances that are embedded with CounterACT, vary. The average product margin on our high-end
CounterACT Appliances was approximately 80%, 83%% and 83%, and average product margin on our low-end CounterACT Appliances was approximately
53%, 58% and 60% for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. We expect our product margins to fluctuate from quarter to quarter
based on product mix; however, over time, we expect our product margins to increase as a percentage of product revenue primarily due to a shift in product
mix towards increased sales of CounterACT deployed in virtual environments, which does not use hardware provided by us, and Extended Modules.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses. Personnel costs are the most
significant component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and with regard to sales and marketing
expense, sales commissions.
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• Research and Development. Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel costs. Research and development expense also
includes consulting expense and allocated costs including facilities and information technology related costs. We expect research and development
expense to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to invest in our future products and services; however, we expect our research and
development expense to decline as a percentage of total revenue in the long term as we scale the business.

• Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of personnel costs. Sales and marketing expense also includes sales
commissions, costs for market development programs, promotional and other marketing costs, travel costs, professional services, amortization of
acquired customer relationships, and allocated costs including facilities and information technology related costs. Incremental commissions incurred
to acquire customer contracts are deferred and recognized as we recognize the associated revenue or over the estimated customer life. We expect
sales and marketing expense to continue to increase in absolute dollars as we increase the size of our sales and marketing organizations; however, we
expect our sales and marketing expense to decline as a percentage of total revenue in the long term as we scale the business.

• General and Administrative. General and administrative expense consists of personnel costs, professional services, and allocated costs including
facilities and information technology related costs. General and administrative personnel include our executive, finance, human resources, and legal
organizations. Professional services consist primarily of legal, auditing, accounting, and other consulting costs. We expect general and administrative
expense to increase in absolute dollars due to additional costs associated with accounting, compliance, insurance, and investor relations as we
continue to support our growth, however, we expect our general and administrative expense to decline as a percentage of total revenue in the long
term as we scale the business.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists of interest on our outstanding indebtedness.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and foreign currency
exchange gains (losses) related to transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar.

Revaluation of Warrant Liabilities

Revaluation of warrant liabilities includes adjustments to the estimated fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants outstanding
offset by any gain realized from the exercise of outstanding warrants when the fair value of the warrants exercised is greater than the fair value of the
redeemable convertible preferred stock. We mark-to-market our warrant liabilities on a quarterly basis. All of these warrants were exercised as of December
31, 2017.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists primarily of foreign income taxes, unrecognized tax benefits, withholding taxes, and U.S. state income taxes. We
maintain a full valuation allowance for domestic net deferred tax assets. Our foreign deferred tax assets are immaterial. 
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Results of Operations

The following tables summarize our consolidated statement of operations data and such data as a percentage of our total revenue. The period-to-period
comparison of results is not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

 (In thousands)

Revenue:      
Product $ 162,667  $ 125,348  $ 97,994
Maintenance and professional services 134,984  99,056  69,552

Total revenue 297,651  224,404  167,546
Cost of revenue:      

Product (1) 27,854  23,841  21,832
Maintenance and professional services (1) 40,028  34,771  26,571

Total cost of revenue 67,882  58,612  48,403
Total gross profit 229,769  165,792  119,143
Operating expenses:      

Research and development (1)   61,713  47,435  31,490
Sales and marketing (1)   183,880  144,398  119,071
General and administrative (1)   57,721  51,206  30,731

Total operating expenses 303,314  243,039  181,292
Loss from operations (73,545)  (77,247)  (62,149)
Interest expense (913)  (1,223)  (2,577)
Other income (expense), net 2,567  316  (607)
Revaluation of warrant liabilities —  (727)  1,104
Loss before income taxes (71,891)  (78,881)  (64,229)
Income tax provision 2,945  1,839  1,250
Net loss $ (74,836)  $ (80,720)  $ (65,479)
Deemed dividend on the conversion of Series G redeemable convertible
preferred stock —  12,810  —

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (74,836)  $ (93,530)  $ (65,479)
_____________________    
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

 (In thousands)

Cost of revenue:      
Product $ 253  $ 103  $ 30
Maintenance and professional services 3,015  2,291  1,123

Research and development 10,161  6,213  2,311
Sales and marketing 24,999  14,451  8,084
General and administrative 15,069  19,538  5,286

     Total $ 53,497  $ 42,596  $ 16,834
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 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

 (As a percentage of total revenue)

Revenue:      
Product 55 %  56 %  58 %
Maintenance and professional services 45  44  42

Total revenue 100  100  100
Cost of revenue:      

Product 10  11  13
Maintenance and professional services 13  15  16

Total cost of revenue 23  26  29
Total gross profit 77  74  71
Operating expenses:      

Research and development 21  21  19
Sales and marketing 62  64  71
General and administrative 19  23  18

Total operating expenses 102  108  108
Loss from operations (25)  (34)  (37)
Interest expense —  (1)  (2)
Other income (expense), net 1  —  —
Revaluation of warrant liabilities —  —  1
Loss before income taxes (24)  (35)  (38)
Income tax provision 1  1  1
Net loss (25)%  (36)%  (39)%
Deemed dividend on the conversion of Series G redeemable
convertible preferred stock — %  6 %  — %

Net loss attributable to common stockholders (25)%  (42)%  (39)%
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Revenue

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Revenue:              
Product $ 162,667  $ 125,348  $ 97,994  $ 37,319  30%  $ 27,354  28%
Maintenance and professional
services              

Support and maintenance 118,572  86,691  60,374  31,881  37%  26,317  44%
Professional services 16,412  12,365  9,178  4,047  33%  3,187  35%

Total maintenance and
professional services 134,984  99,056  69,552  35,928  36%  29,504  42%

Total revenue $ 297,651  $ 224,404  $ 167,546  $ 73,247  33%  $ 56,858  34%

Product revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily due to an increase of $57.6
million, or 117%, in Software Product revenue, which was partially offset by a decrease of $20.3 million or 27% in Hardware Product revenue. The increase
in Software Product revenue included a $29.7 million increase in the sale of CounterACT and SilentDefense, and a $27.9 million increase in the sale of
Extended Modules. The decrease in Hardware Product revenue was primarily due to a $35.2 million decrease in the sale of CounterACT Appliances, which
was partially offset by a $14.8 million increase in the sale of hardware sold separately for use with CounterACT.

Maintenance and professional services revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017
primarily due to a $16.1 million increase attributed to support and maintenance contracts associated with initial product sales, a $15.8 million increase
attributed to support and maintenance contracts that were renewals, and a $4.0 million increase attributed to increased sales of professional services.

Product revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily due to an increase of $27.1
million, or 121%, in Software Product revenue. The increase in Software Product revenue included a $23.4 million increase in the sale of CounterACT and a
$3.6 million increase in sale of Extended Modules.

Maintenance and professional services revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 due to a
combination of a $14.0 million increase in support and maintenance contracts associated with initial product sales, a $12.3 million increase in support and
maintenance contracts that were renewals, and a $3.2 million increase in revenue from sales of professional services.
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Cost of Revenue

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenue:              
Product $ 27,854  $ 23,841  $ 21,832  $ 4,013  17%  $ 2,009  9%
Maintenance and
professional services 40,028  34,771  26,571  5,257  15%  8,200  31%

Total cost of revenue $ 67,882  $ 58,612  $ 48,403  $ 9,270  16%  $ 10,209  21%

Product cost of revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due a $11.5 million
increase due to higher quantities of hardware sold separately for use with CounterACT, partially offset by an $8.2 million decrease due to lower quantities of
CounterACT Appliances sold.

Maintenance and professional services cost of revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017
primarily due to an increase in personnel costs related to an average increase in headcount of 24%.

Product cost of revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to a $3.6 million
increase due to higher quantities of hardware sold separately for use with CounterACT, partially offset by a $1.9 million decrease due to lower quantities of
CounterACT Appliances sold.

Maintenance and professional services cost of revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016
due to an increase in personnel costs related to an average increase in headcount of 28%.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Gross Profit  
Gross

Margin  Gross Profit  
Gross

Margin  Gross Profit  
Gross

Margin  Gross Profit  
Gross

Margin %  Gross Profit  
Gross

Margin %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Gross profit:                    
Product $ 134,813  83%  $ 101,507  81%  $ 76,162  78%  $ 33,306  2%  $ 25,345  3%

Maintenance and
professional
services 94,956  70%  64,285  65%  42,981  62%  30,671  5%  21,304  3%

Total gross profit $ 229,769  77%  $ 165,792  74%  $ 119,143  71%  $ 63,977  3%  $ 46,649  3%

Gross profit increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase is consistent with the changes
in our revenue and cost of revenue. 

Gross margin increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was driven by increases in
product margin and increases in maintenance and professional services margin.

The increase in product margin was primarily due to a higher concentration of Software Products revenue compared to Hardware Products revenue,
which was principally driven by a shift in product mix towards increased sales of Extended Modules and customers deploying CounterACT in virtual
environments that does not require any hardware being provided by the Company. The mix between Software Products revenue and Hardware Products
revenue shifted to 66:34 for the year ended December 31,
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2018, from 39:61 for the year ended December 31, 2017. Within Hardware Products revenue, the mix among hardware sold separately for use with
CounterACT, low-end CounterACT Appliances, and high-end CounterACT Appliances shifted to 35:31:34 for the year ended December 31, 2018, from
6:39:55 for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The increase in maintenance and professional services margin was primarily driven by growing efficiencies in our customer support organization and the
scaling of our prior investments.

Gross profit increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase is consistent with the changes
in our revenue and cost of revenue.

Gross margin increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was driven by increases in
product margin and increases in maintenance and professional services margin.

The increase in product margin was primarily due to a higher concentration of Software Products revenue compared to Hardware Products revenue,
which was principally driven by a shift in product mix towards increased sales of Extended Modules and customers deploying CounterACT in virtual
environments that does not require any hardware being provided by the Company. The mix between Software Products revenue and Hardware Products
revenue shifted to 39:61 for the year ended December 31, 2017, from 23:77 for the year ended December 31, 2016. Within Hardware Products revenue, the
mix among hardware sold separately for use with CounterACT, low-end CounterACT Appliances, and high-end CounterACT Appliances shifted to 6:39:55
for the year ended December 31, 2017, from 0:50:50 for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The increase in maintenance and professional services margin was primarily driven by growing efficiencies in our customer support organization and the
scaling of our prior investments, as well as a shift in revenue mix to higher margin support and maintenance revenue.

Operating Expenses

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Operating expenses:              
Research and development $ 61,713  $ 47,435  $ 31,490  $ 14,278  30%  $ 15,945  51%
Sales and marketing 183,880  144,398  119,071  39,482  27%  25,327  21%
General and administrative 57,721  51,206  30,731  6,515  13%  20,475  67%

Total operating expenses $ 303,314  $ 243,039  $ 181,292  $ 60,275  25%  $ 61,747  34%

Research and development expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, due to an increase
in personnel costs of $11.6 million related to an increase of 43% in headcount, and includes an increase in stock-based compensation costs of $3.9 million.
The increase was further driven by an increase in allocated IT and facilities costs of $1.5 million.

Sales and marketing expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, due to an increase in
personnel costs of $31.8 million related to an increase of 40% in headcount, and include an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $10.4 million
and an increase in commissions expense of $7.0 million. The increase was further driven by an increase in other marketing activities costs of $2.5 million, an
increase in allocated IT and facilities cost of $2.4 million, and an increase in travel and entertainment cost of $2.1 million.

General and administrative expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, due to an increase
in personnel cost, excluding stock-based compensation expenses, of $5.1 million related to an increase of 26% in headcount, partially offset by a decrease in
stock-based compensation expense of $4.3 million impacted by the modification of our CEO’s equity awards in the year ended December 31, 2017 but no
similar transactions occurred
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during the year ended December 31, 2018. This increase was further driven by an increase in professional fees of $3.8 million which includes acquisition-
related expenses.

Research and development expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to an
increase in personnel costs of $12.5 million related to an increase of 25% in headcount, and includes an increase in stock-based compensation costs of $3.9
million. The increase was further driven by an increase in allocated IT and facilities costs of $1.5 million.

Sales and marketing expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to an
increase in personnel costs of $20.5 million related to an increase of 16% in headcount, and includes an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $6.3
million. The increase was further driven by an increase in travel and entertainment cost of $3.8 million and increase in allocated IT and facilities costs of $1.6
million.

General and administrative expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to an
increase in personnel costs of $18.0 million related to an increase of 20% in headcount, and includes an increase in stock-based compensation expense of
$14.1 million impacted by certain grants that had an IPO trigger. The increase was further driven by an increase in professional fees of $1.4 million primarily
related to consulting fees. The increase is partially offset by a reduction of $1.3 million settlement payment to a technology partner during the year
ended December 31, 2016 to settle a contract dispute following the cancellation of such technology partner’s contract with us. No similar transactions
occurred during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Interest Expense

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Interest expense $ (913)  $ (1,223)  $ (2,577)  $ 310  (25)%  $ 1,354  (53)%

Interest expense decreased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to the decreasing notes
payable balance associated with our amended and restated loan and security agreement entered into on December 22, 2016.

Interest expense decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to a lower fixed interest
rate per annum associated with our amended and restated loan and security agreement beginning in December, 2016.

Other Income (Expense), Net

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Other income (expense), net $ 2,567  $ 316  $ (607)  $ 2,251  712%  $ 923  (152)%

Other income (expense), net increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to an
increase in interest income from marketable securities.

Other income (expense), net increased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to a
decrease of $0.8 million in foreign currency exchange losses.
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Revaluation of Warrant Liabilities

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Revaluation of warrant liabilities $ —  $ (727)  $ 1,104  $ 727  (100)%  $ (1,831)  (166)%

Change in revaluation of warrant liabilities decreased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 as there
were no preferred stock warrants outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Change in revaluation of warrant liabilities decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily
due to a $0.3 million of mark to market adjustment at the IPO date when the preferred stock warrants converted to common stock warrants, a $0.1 million
mark to market adjustment at the IPO date upon the exercise of preferred stock warrants, and an increase of $1.4 million in mark to market adjustment for the
pre-IPO period.

Provision for Income Taxes

 Year Ended December 31,  2018 to 2017  2017 to 2016

 2018  2017  2016  Change  Change

 Amount  Amount  Amount  Amount  %  Amount  %

 (Dollars in thousands)

Provision for income taxes $ 2,945  $ 1,839  $ 1,250  $ 1,106  60%  $ 589  47%
Effective tax rate (4.1)%  (2.3)%  (1.9)%         

We recorded an income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2018 due to foreign income taxes, unrecognized tax benefits and U.S. state
minimum taxes. The increase in the provision for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily due to an
increase in pre-tax income of our international operations mainly due to our decision for stock based compensation to be included within our Israeli entity’s
transfer pricing reimbursement arrangements. The effective tax rate decreased primarily due to a decrease in worldwide loss before income taxes, which was
largely generated in the United States and offset by a full valuation allowance.

We recorded an income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2017 due to foreign income taxes, income tax reserves and U.S. state minimum
taxes. The increase in the provision for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily due to an increase
in pre-tax income of our international operations, partially offset by a decrease in income tax reserves related to a statutory income tax audit.

See Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for details on income tax
reserves related to uncertain tax provisions.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated statements of cash flows.

 December 31,

 2018  2017

 (In thousands)

Working capital $ 52,623  $ 144,296

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,895  $ 63,009
Marketable securities 47,632  123,384
         Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities $ 114,527  $ 186,393
Total notes payable 15,579  22,824

Net cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities $ 98,948  $ 163,569

Our liquidity and capital resources are derived from cash received from our IPO and our follow-on offering, and cash flows from operations. Our cash
equivalents are comprised of cash and money market accounts. Our marketable securities are comprised of commercial paper, corporate-debt securities, and
U.S. government securities. We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities will be sufficient to meet our projected operating
requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors including our growth rate, the timing and extent of
spending to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the introduction of new and enhanced products and services
offerings, and the continuing market acceptance of our products.

At December 31, 2018, our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $114.5 million were held for general corporate purposes, of which
approximately $11.2 million was held outside the United States. As discussed further in Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we will continue to reinvest our foreign cash outside of the United States. If we were to repatriate these
earnings to the United States, any associated withholding tax would not be material.

The significant components of our working capital are cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, current deferred
commissions, and prepaid expenses and other current assets, reduced by accounts payable, accrued compensation, accrued expenses, current deferred
revenue, and current notes payable. Working capital decreased by $91.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a decrease in
marketable securities, an increase in current deferred revenue, an increase in accrued compensation, an increase in accounts payable, an increase in accrued
expenses, a decrease in inventory, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable, an increase in cash and cash equivalents, an increase in current
deferred commissions, and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets. The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018:

 
Year Ended December 31,

2018  2017  2016

 (In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 13,489  $ (2,735)  $ (38,291)
Net cash used in investing activities (36,950)  (127,549)  (22,010)
Net cash provided by financing activities 25,123  113,764  13,310
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (7)  —  —

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash for period $ 1,655  $ (16,520)  $ (46,991)
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On October 31, 2017, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and sold 6,072,000 shares of common stock inclusive of the underwriters’ option to
purchase additional shares that were exercised in full. We received aggregate proceeds of $124.2 million from the IPO, net of underwriters’ discounts and
commissions.

On March 23, 2018, we completed our follow-on offering (the “Offering”), in which we issued and sold 500,000 shares of our common stock. Further, an
additional 4,572,650 shares of our common stock were sold by certain stockholders in the Offering, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase
additional shares from certain of the selling stockholders. The price to the public was $29.00 per share. We received aggregate proceeds of $16.4 million from
the Offering, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions of $0.7 million and inclusive of approximately $2.6 million received by us in connection with
the exercise by certain selling stockholders of options to purchase an aggregate of 425,436 shares of common stock that were sold in the Offering. The
Company incurred offering costs of approximately $1.2 million.

On April 25, 2018 (the “Settlement Date”), an aggregate of 892,996 shares underlying the RSUs held by our directors and then-current employees vested
and settled. Substantially all of the RSUs vest upon the satisfaction of both a service-based vesting condition and a performance-based vesting condition. The
performance-based vesting condition became probable on October 26, 2017, which was the effective date of the registration statement for our IPO, and was
satisfied on the Settlement Date. For our executive officers, 227,044 of the vested shares were withheld to satisfy the tax obligations due for the RSUs that
settled on the Settlement Date. The closing price of our common stock on the Settlement Date was $32.76 per share, resulting in tax obligations of $7.4
million in the aggregate. For RSUs held by our non-executive employees, subject to tax withholding obligations, 55,904 shares were sold on the Settlement
Date to cover tax obligations of $1.8 million in the aggregate.

Loan Agreements

In December 2016, the entire loan balance of $20.1 million provided under a loan and security agreement entered into in October 2012, as amended, and
a loan and security agreement entered into in December 2013 were paid in full, and the loan and security agreements entered into in October 2012 and
December 2013 were terminated.

In December 2016, we amended our amended and restated loan and security agreement, which we originally entered into in May 2009, or the Amended
and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement, to increase the maximum amount of credit available for borrowing under the revolving line of credit to 80%
of qualified accounts receivable up to $40.0 million. In addition, the Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement provides that the combined
outstanding balances of the revolving line of credit and the term loan cannot exceed $40.0 million. Additionally, we borrowed $30.0 million under the
Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement, which carries a maturity date of December 2020. The agreement is subject to us maintaining an
adjusted quick ratio of 1.25. The Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement requires us to pay equal monthly installments of principal of
$625,000 and monthly interest payments at a fixed interest rate per annum of 3.25%. Concurrent with the final monthly installment payment on the maturity
date, we will be required to pay an additional payment of $825,000.

Our Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants and certain financial and negative covenants,
including restrictions on disposing of assets, entering into change of control transactions, mergers or acquisitions, incurring additional indebtedness, granting
liens on certain of our assets and paying dividends. We have pledged substantially all of our assets other than intellectual property as collateral under our
Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement and granted the lender a negative pledge on our intellectual property.

We were in compliance with respect to all financial-related covenants under our loan agreements as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Operating Activities

Our operating activities have consisted of net loss adjusted for certain non-cash items and changes in assets and liabilities.

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $13.5 million, $(2.7) million, and $(38.3) million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and
2016, respectively, representing an increase of $16.2 million and $35.6 million year over year for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
as compared to the prior year periods. The increase in generation of cash during each fiscal year was due primarily to higher billings and collections, partially
offset by higher operating expenses as we continue to invest in the long-term growth of our business.
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Investing Activities

Our investing activities have consisted of financial instrument purchases and capital expenditures. We expect to continue such activities as our business
grows.

Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $37.0 million, primarily due to the business acquisition of
SecurityMatters, net of cash acquired, of $105.4 million, $54.5 million in purchases of marketable securities, and capital expenditures to purchase property
and equipment of $7.6 million related to the continuing growth of our business, partially offset by proceeds from maturities of marketable securities of $130.6
million.

Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2017 was $127.5 million, primarily resulting from an increase of $123.0 million in
purchases of marketable securities from our net IPO proceeds received in October 2017. Additionally, there was a $4.5 million increase from capital
expenditures to purchase property and equipment.

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $22.0 million, primarily resulting from capital expenditures to purchase
property and equipment of $22.0 million, a large portion of which were related to the build-out of our new corporate headquarters in San Jose, California.
Additionally, there was an increase of $24.0 million in purchases of marketable securities, which significantly increased the cash available for investment,
offset by proceeds from maturities and sales of marketable securities of $24.0 million.

Financing Activities

Our financing activities have consisted of proceeds from the issuance of common stock through our IPO and follow-on offering, issuance of shares
through our employee equity incentive plans, partially offset by repayments of notes payable.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $25.1 million, primarily due to proceeds from sale of shares through
employee equity incentive plans of $31.8 million, proceeds from the follow-on offering in March 2018 of $13.8 million, partially offset by $11.4 million
payments related to shares withheld for taxes on vesting of restricted stock units, $7.5 million in repayment of notes payable, and $1.5 million in payments of
deferred offering costs.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $113.8 million, primarily due to proceeds of $124.2 million received
from our IPO, and proceeds of $1.6 million from the exercise of stock options, offset by $7.5 million in repayment of notes payable, $4.2 million in payments
of deferred offering costs and $0.4 million in payment of success fees.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $13.3 million, primarily from net borrowings of notes payable of $30.0
million, net proceeds of $2.4 million from the final close of our Series G redeemable convertible preferred stock offering and $1.1 million from the exercise
of employee stock options, offset by repayments of notes payable of $20.1 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2018:

 Payments Due by Period 

 Total  
Less Than 1

Year  1 - 3 Years  3- 5 Years  
More Than 5

Years

   (In thousands)   
Notes payable $ 15,825  $ 7,500  $ 8,325  $ —  $ —
Operating lease obligations (1) 34,875  5,551  8,495  8,896  11,933
Purchase obligations (2) 6,464  1,825  4,639  —  —
Contract manufacturer commitments (3) 8,026  8,026  —  —  —

Total (4) $ 65,190  $ 22,902  $ 21,459  $ 8,896  $ 11,933
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_____________________    
(1) Consists of contractual obligations from our non-cancelable operating leases.
(2) Consists primarily of non-cancelable license obligations for software licenses expiring at various dates through December 2021.
(3) Consists of minimum purchase commitments of products and components with our independent contract manufacturer. Obligations under contracts that

we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table above.
(4) No amounts related to Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standard Codification Topic 740-10, Income Taxes, are included. As

of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $1.3 million of tax liabilities recorded related to uncertainty in income tax positions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Through December 31, 2018, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as structured finance or
special purpose entities, that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or
limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires
us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. We base our estimates
on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions
on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and our actual
results, our future financial statements will be affected.

The critical accounting policies requiring estimates, assumptions, and judgments that we believe have the most significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements are described below.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue from sales of products and associated maintenance and professional services. To the extent a contract includes multiple promised
goods or services, we apply judgment to determine whether promised goods or services are capable of being distinct and distinct in the context of the contract.
If these criteria are not met, the promised goods or services are accounted for as a combined performance obligation.

Contracts that contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation based on a relative
standalone selling price, or SSP, basis. We determine standalone selling price based on the price at which the performance obligation is sold separately. If the
standalone selling price is not observable through past transactions, we estimate the standalone selling price taking into account available information such as
market conditions and internally approved pricing guidelines related to the performance obligations.

The new standard related to revenue recognition, Topic 606, had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II. Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Contract Costs

Incremental contract origination costs relating to support and maintenance contracts are capitalized and amortized over either the contractual performance
period or on a straight-line basis over the average customer life of five years, depending on whether the costs relate to a specific support and maintenance
contract or the customer relationship. We determine our average customer life by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology, and other
factors.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is measured and recognized in the financial statements based on the grant date fair value of the award. The fair value
of a stock option is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
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fair value of an RSU is measured using the fair value of our common stock on the date of the grant. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the
requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally four years.

Our use of the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of our underlying
common stock, expected term of the option, expected volatility of the price of industry peers, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of our
common stock. The assumptions used in our option-pricing model represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and
the application of management’s judgment. If factors change and different assumptions are used, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially
different in the future.

These assumptions and estimates are as follows:

• Fair Value of Common Stock. Prior to our initial public offering in October 2017, our stock was not publicly traded and we estimated the fair value
of common stock using various methodologies, including third-party valuations. After the initial public offering, we used the publicly quoted price as
the fair value of our common stock.

• Expected Term. The expected term of employee stock options represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to remain
outstanding. To determine the expected term, we generally apply the simplified approach in which the expected term of an award is presumed to be
the mid-point between the vesting date and the expiration date of the award as we do not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a
reasonable basis for an estimate of expected term.

• Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate on the yields of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities approximately equal to the
expected term of employee stock option awards.

• Expected Volatility. As we do not have a sufficient trading history of our common stock, the expected volatility for our common stock was estimated
by taking the average historic price volatility for industry peers based on daily price observations over a period equivalent to the expected term of the
stock option awards. Industry peers consist of several public companies in our industry which are either similar in size, stage of life cycle, or
financial leverage.

• Dividend Rate. We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a
result, we use a dividend rate of zero.

We estimate the fair value of the rights to acquire stock under our ESPP using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Our ESPP typically provides for
consecutive six-month offering periods and we use our peer group volatility data in the valuation of ESPP shares. We recognize such compensation expense
on a straight-line basis over the offering period.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the assumptions related to our stock-based compensation on a prospective basis. As we continue to
accumulate additional data related to our common stock, we may have refinements to our estimates, which could materially impact our future stock-
based compensation expense.

Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited
to, a decrease in federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, a transition of U.S international taxation from a
worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign earnings. We have estimated our
provision for income taxes in accordance with the Act and guidance available as of the date of this filing. Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 ("SAB 118") was
issued to address the application of US GAAP in situations when a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed
(including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Act. In accordance with SAB 118, the
measurement period is now closed and we have determined that provisional estimates of the impact recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017 in connection with
the revaluation of deferred taxes and the transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign earnings is now final. No adjustments were necessary
to the revaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities that was recorded in 2017. However, for the transition tax, additional work was necessary to complete a
more detailed analysis of our historical foreign earnings as well as potential correlative adjustments. As a result, the Company's provisional estimate of $6.9
million of undistributed foreign earnings and profits (“E&P”) subject to the transition tax decreased to approximately $1.0 million, which was reported on the
2017 tax return and fully offset by net operating losses.
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Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. When we acquire a business, the purchase price is
allocated to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. Any residual purchase price is recorded as
goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price requires us to make significant estimates in determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expected to generate in
the future, the appropriate weighted-average cost of capital, and the cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset. These estimates are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, adjustments to the fair value
of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed may be recorded, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of
the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments
are recorded to the consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets

The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets of businesses acquired in a business combination is recognized as goodwill.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if certain indicators are present. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we
performed our goodwill impairment test on December 31, 2018 as our acquisition was completed on November 7, 2018.

We review long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization, for events and changes in
circumstances that may indicate that carrying amounts of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or circumstances occur, recoverability
of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying value to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If long-lived
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized would equal the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair market
value. To date, we have not recorded any significant impairment to goodwill and other long-lived assets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II. Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for analysis of recent
accounting pronouncements that are applicable to our business.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated in U.S. Dollar. A portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside of the United States, are
denominated in foreign currencies, and are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Israeli Shekel
and British Pound. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our consolidated
statements of operations. The effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates on foreign-denominated accounts as of December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017 would result in a loss of $0.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively, on our consolidated statements of operations.

With the acquisition of SecurityMatters on November 7, 2018, we are further exposed to foreign currency exchange risk as the functional currency of
SecurityMatters is the Euro. Translation from Euro to the U.S. Dollar is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate for the period. Resulting translation adjustments are reported as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets. The effect of an immediate 10% change in the Euro against U.S. Dollar
compared to the exchange rate at December 31, 2018 would not have been material to our consolidated balance sheets.

As our international operations grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to managing the risks relating to fluctuations in foreign currency.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of December 31, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $114.5 million. The primary objectives of our investment
activities are to preserve principal, provide liquidity, and maximize income without significantly increasing risk. Some of the marketable securities we invest
in are subject to interest risk. To minimize this risk, we maintain our portfolio of cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities in a variety of
securities, including money market accounts, commercial paper, corporate debt securities, and U.S. government securities. Due to the short duration and
conservative nature of our investment portfolio, the effect of an immediate 10% change in interest rates at December 31, 2018 would not have been material
to our operating results and the total value of the portfolio assuming consistent investment levels.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Forescout Technologies, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Forescout Technologies, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) equity, and cash flows,
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements").
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and
2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated March 1, 2019 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers and
recognizing costs related to obtaining a contract retrospectively in the period ended December 31, 2018.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

San Francisco, California

March 1, 2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Forescout Technologies, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Forescout Technologies, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In
our opinion, Forescout Technologies, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion
on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of SecurityMatters B.V., which is included in the 2018
consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted approximately 2% of total assets (excluding goodwill and acquired intangible assets), as of
December 31, 2018 and approximately 1% and 1% of revenues and net loss, respectively, for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of SecurityMatters B.V.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 2018 consolidated
financial statements of the Company and our report dated March 1, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon that included an explanatory paragraph
regarding the Company’s adoption of a new accounting standard for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers and recognizing costs related to
obtaining a contract retrospectively in the period ended December 31, 2018.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitation of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California

March 1, 2019
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FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

2018  2017 *As Adjusted

Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,895  $ 63,009
Marketable securities 47,632  123,384
Accounts receivable 79,255  64,686
Inventory 1,501  3,660
Deferred commissions - current 12,543 10,957
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,353  9,213

Total current assets 221,179  274,909
Deferred commissions - non-current 22,831 21,795
Property and equipment, net 24,349  23,260
Restricted cash - non current 1,266  4,146
Intangible assets 19,002  —
Goodwill 92,482  —
Other assets 7,369  4,608

Total assets $ 388,478  $ 328,718

Liabilities and stockholders' equity   
Current liabilities:   

Accounts payable $ 12,118  $ 7,348
Accrued compensation 32,649  25,358
Accrued expenses 14,558  11,031
Deferred revenue - current 101,900  79,631
Notes payable - current 7,331  7,245

Total current liabilities 168,556  130,613
Deferred revenue - non-current 69,618  55,228
Notes payable - non-current 8,248  15,579
Other liabilities 14,335  11,807

Total liabilities 260,757  213,227
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)  
Stockholders' equity:   

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; zero shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017. —  —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; 43,403 and 38,122 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 43  38
Additional paid-in capital 639,237  551,986
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (302)  (112)
Accumulated deficit (511,257)  (436,421)

Total stockholders’ equity 127,721  115,491

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 388,478  $ 328,718
 

* See Note 2 for a summary of adjustments related to the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Revenue:      
Product $ 162,667  $ 125,348  $ 97,994
Maintenance and professional services 134,984  99,056  69,552

Total revenue 297,651  224,404  167,546
Cost of revenue:      

Product 27,854  23,841  21,832
Maintenance and professional services 40,028  34,771  26,571

Total cost of revenue 67,882  58,612  48,403
Total gross profit 229,769  165,792  119,143
Operating expenses:      

Research and development 61,713  47,435  31,490
Sales and marketing 183,880  144,398  119,071
General and administrative 57,721  51,206  30,731

Total operating expenses 303,314  243,039  181,292
Loss from operations (73,545)  (77,247)  (62,149)
Interest expense (913)  (1,223)  (2,577)
Other income (expense), net 2,567  316  (607)
Revaluation of warrant liabilities —  (727)  1,104
Loss before income taxes (71,891)  (78,881)  (64,229)
Income tax provision 2,945  1,839  1,250
Net loss $ (74,836)  $ (80,720)  $ (65,479)
Deemed dividend on the conversion of Series G redeemable convertible
preferred stock —  12,810  —

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (74,836)  $ (93,530)  $ (65,479)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (1.83)  $ (8.20)  $ (11.67)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted 40,980  11,405  5,609

* See Note 2 for a summary of adjustments related to the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Net loss $ (74,836)  $ (80,720)  $ (65,479)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:      
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities 9  (112)  —
Foreign currency translation adjustments (199)  —  —

Comprehensive loss $ (75,026)  $ (80,832)  $ (65,479)

* See Note 2 for a summary of adjustments related to the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 
Redeemable Convertible 

Preferred Stock  Common Stock  Additional
Paid-In
Capital  Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss  
Accumulated

Deficit
*As Adjusted

 
Total

Stockholders'
(Deficit) Equity
*As Adjusted Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount   

Balance as of December 31, 2015 18,300  $ 279,913  5,067  $ 5  $ 65,814  $ —  $ (318,621)  $ (252,802)

Cumulative effect of accounting change —  —  —  —  —  —  41,175  41,175

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  16,834  —  —  16,834
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee equity incentive plans —  —  644  1  1,070  —  —  1,071

Vesting of early exercised stock options —  —  143  —  1,074  —  —  1,074
Net proceeds from issuance of Series G
redeemable convertible preferred stock 169  3,941  —  —  —  —  —  —

Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  (65,479)  (65,479)

Balance as of December 31, 2016 18,469  283,854  5,854  6  84,792  —  (342,925)  (258,127)

Cumulative effect of accounting change —  —   —  —  —  34  34

Unrealized loss on marketable securities —  —  —  —  —  (112)  —  (112)

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  42,562  —  —  42,562
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee equity incentive plans —  —  306  —  1,626  —  —  1,626
Issuance of common stock in connection
with public offering, net of underwriter
discounts and commissions and offering
costs —  —  6,072  6  119,678  —  —  119,684
Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to common stock in
connection with the initial public offering (18,525)  (283,854)  24,845  25  283,829  —  —  283,854
Conversion of preferred stock warrants to
common stock warrants in connection with
initial public offering —  —  —  —  4,173  —  —  4,173

Vesting of early exercised stock options —  —  183  —  1,089  —  —  1,089
Shares issued for common stock warrant
exercise —  —  280  —  —  —  —  —
Shares issued for preferred stock warrant
exercise 56  —  —  —  1,428  —  —  1,428
Deemed dividend on the conversion of
Series G redeemable convertible preferred
stock —  —  582  1  12,809  —  (12,810)  —

Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  (80,720)  (80,720)

Balance as of December 31, 2017 —  —  38,122  38  551,986  (112)  (436,421)  115,491

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax      (190)   (190)

Stock-based compensation     53,497    53,497
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee equity incentive plans —  —  4,616  5  20,342  —  —  20,347
Issuance of common stock in connection
with public offering, net of underwriter
discounts and commissions and offering
costs —  —  500  —  12,572  —  —  12,572

Vesting of early exercised stock options   98  —  840    840
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
common stock warrants   67  —     —

Net loss       (74,836)  (74,836)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 —  $ —  43,403  $ 43  $ 639,237  $ (302)  $ (511,257)  $ 127,721

* See Note 2 for a summary of adjustments related to the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

77



Table of Contents

FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Cash flows from operating activities      
Net loss $ (74,836)  $ (80,720)  $ (65,479)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities      

Stock-based compensation 53,497  42,596  16,834
Depreciation and amortization 8,003  6,068  3,610
Revaluation of warrant liabilities —  727  (1,104)
Other 461  (127)  694

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of business acquisition      
Accounts receivable (10,899)  (19,992)  (14,608)
Inventory 2,168  (2,719)  (450)
Deferred commissions (2,621)  (7,469)  (9,624)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3,084)  (141)  (4,772)
Other assets (3,543)  60  (992)
Accounts payable 4,632  1,734  596
Accrued compensation 7,057  8,072  4,134
Accrued expenses 2,667  (599)  2,045
Deferred revenue 30,366  49,569  23,888
Other liabilities (379)  206  6,937

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 13,489  (2,735)  (38,291)
Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchases of property and equipment (7,628)  (4,517)  (22,006)
Purchases of marketable securities (54,530)  (123,032)  (23,983)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 130,633  —  12,000
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities —  —  11,979
Business acquisition, net of cash acquired (105,425)  —  —

Net cash used in investing activities (36,950)  (127,549)  (22,010)
Cash flows from financing activities      

Net borrowings of notes payable —  —  29,977
Repayments of notes payable (7,500)  (7,500)  (20,130)
Payment of accrued success fees —  (350)  —
Net proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock —  —  2,399
Proceeds from sales of shares through employee equity incentive plans 31,790  1,626  1,071
Payment related to shares withheld for taxes on vesting of restricted
stock units (11,443)  —  —
Payments of deferred offering costs (1,542)  (4,245)  (7)
Proceeds from public offering, net of underwriting discounts and
commissions 13,818  124,233  —
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FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by financing activities 25,123  113,764  13,310
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (7)  —  —
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash for period 1,655  (16,520)  (46,991)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 67,357  83,877  130,868

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 69,012  $ 67,357  $ 83,877

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:      
Cash paid for income taxes $ 1,447  $ 1,634  $ 1,012
Cash paid for interest $ 628  $ 819  $ 2,014

Noncash disclosure of investing and financing activities:      
Change in liability for early exercise of stock options, net of vested
portion $ 840  $ 1,089  $ 1,075
Deferred offering costs included in accrued expenses $ —  $ 296  $ 1,435
Conversion of preferred stock warrants to common stock warrants in
connection with initial public offering $ —  $ 4,173  $ —
Cashless exercise of preferred stock warrants $ —  $ 1,428  $ —

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash within the
consolidated balance sheets to the amounts shown in the statements of
cash flows above:      

Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,895  $ 63,009  $ 79,665
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 851  202  201
Restricted cash $ 1,266  4,146  4,011

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 69,012  $ 67,357  $ 83,877

* See Note 2 for a summary of adjustments related to the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
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FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Company and Background

Forescout Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware and commenced operations in April 2000. The Company
provides an agentless approach to network security that discovers and classifies IP-based devices in real time as the devices connect to the network and
continuously monitors and assesses the devices’ security posture. The Company’s agentless approach supports heterogeneous wired and wireless networks, as
well as both virtual and cloud infrastructures, while scaling to meet the needs of globally distributed organizations.

The Company offers its solution across two product groups: (i) products for visibility and control capabilities, and (ii) products for orchestration
capabilities. The Company’s products for visibility and control capabilities are comprised of CounterACT and SilentDefense. CounterACT provides for
visibility and control capabilities across campus IT and IoT devices, OT devices, data center physical and virtual devices and cloud virtual devices.
SilentDefense provides for visibility and control capabilities deeper within an OT portion of the network. Our products for orchestration capabilities are
comprised of our portfolio of Extended Modules.

The Company offers its solution across two product types: software products and hardware products. The Company’s software products include
CounterACT, Extended Modules, CounterACT Virtual Appliance, CounterACT Enterprise Manager Virtual Appliances, SilentDefense and SilentDefense
Command Center (“Software Products”). The Company’s hardware products include hardware that is sold separately for use with CounterACT or
SilentDefense, CounterACT Appliances (hardware appliances that are embedded with CounterACT), and CounterACT Enterprise Manager Appliances
(“Hardware Products”).

The Company sells its products, maintenance, and professional services to end-customers through distributors and resellers, who are supported by the
Company’s sales and marketing organization, and to a lesser extent directly to end-customers.

Initial Public Offering

On October 31, 2017, the Company closed its initial public offering (“IPO”), in which it issued and sold 6,072,000 shares of common stock inclusive of
the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares that was exercised in full. The price per share to the public was $22.00. The Company received
aggregate proceeds of $124.2 million from the IPO, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions, and before deducting offering costs of
approximately $4.5 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of the Company's outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically
converted into 25,370,616 shares of common stock.

Follow-On Offering

The Company closed its follow-on offering (the “Offering”) in March 2018, in which it issued and sold 500,000 shares of its common stock. Further, an
additional 4,572,650 shares of its common stock were sold by certain stockholders in the Offering, inclusive of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional
shares from certain of the selling stockholders. The price to the public was $29.00 per share. The Company received aggregate proceeds of $16.4 million from
the Offering, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions of $0.7 million and inclusive of approximately $2.6 million received by the Company in
connection with the exercise by certain selling stockholders of options to purchase an aggregate of 425,436 shares of common stock that were sold in the
Offering. The Company incurred offering costs of approximately $1.2 million. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the
selling stockholders in the Offering.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The Company’s
consolidated financial statements include the results of Forescout Technologies, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates
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form the basis of judgments made about carrying values of assets and liabilities, which are not readily apparent from other sources. The areas where
management has made estimates requiring judgment include, but are not limited to, the best estimate of selling prices for products and related support, the
period over which deferred sales commissions are amortized to expense, sales return reserve, accruals, stock-based compensation including the fair value of
common stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities, provision for income taxes, including related reserves, identified intangibles and
goodwill, and purchase price allocation of an acquired business. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Reverse Stock Split

On October 16, 2017, the Company amended its amended and restated certificate of incorporation to effect a two-to-one reverse stock split of its common
stock and convertible preferred stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). Upon the filing of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation in the state of
Delaware, (i) each two shares of outstanding convertible preferred stock and each two shares of outstanding common stock were exchanged and combined
into one share of convertible preferred stock and one share of common stock, respectively; (ii) the number of shares of common stock issuable under each
outstanding option to purchase common stock and issuable upon vesting under each restricted stock unit was proportionately reduced on a two-to-one basis;
(iii) the exercise price of each outstanding option to purchase common stock was proportionately increased on a two-to-one basis; (iv) the number of shares of
convertible preferred stock issuable under outstanding warrants was proportionally reduced on a two-to-one basis and the exercise price of such warrants was
proportionally increased on a two-to-one basis; and (v) corresponding adjustments in the per share conversion prices, dividend rates and liquidation
preferences of the convertible preferred stock were made on a two-to-one basis. Accordingly, all share and per share information presented in the consolidated
financial statements herein, and notes thereto, have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Segment Information

The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis. The
Company has one business activity and there are no segment managers who are held accountable by the CODM for operations, operating results and planning
for levels or components below the consolidated level. The Company operates in one segment.

Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, marketable
securities, accounts receivable, and restricted cash. The Company maintains all of its cash and cash equivalents in interest-bearing bank accounts and money
market accounts. Management believes that the financial institutions that hold the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are financially sound and exposed to
minimal credit risk. Deposits held with banks generally exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits.

Accounts receivable are primarily derived from the Company’s customers, including distributors and resellers representing various geographical
locations. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral on accounts receivable, and, if
necessary, an allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained for estimated potential credit losses. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, four customers
represented 17%, 15%, 11%, and 11% of total accounts receivable, and two customers represented 33% and 17% of total accounts receivable, respectively.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, three customers represented 22%, 18%, and 13% of the Company’s total revenue. For the year ended December 31,
2017, three customers represented 31%, 22%, and 16% of the Company’s total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2016, 24%, 16%, and 14% of the
Company’s total revenue.

The Company purchases its hardware appliances from one contract manufacturer that assembles all of its products.

Foreign Currency

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. dollar for the majority of its foreign operations except for SecurityMatters, B.V. (“SecurityMatters”)
whose functional currency is the Euro. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the applicable functional currency are converted to the functional
currency at the exchange rate on the transaction date. At period end, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured using the current exchange rate at the
balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and capital accounts are remeasured using historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses have been
remeasured using the
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average exchange rates in effect during each period. Resulting foreign currency remeasurement gains and losses are recorded in other income (expense), net
on the consolidated statements of operations.

Where a non-U.S. currency is the functional currency, translation from that functional currency to the U.S. dollar is performed for balance sheet accounts
using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate for the period. Resulting
translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments held at financial institutions with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to
be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities

The Company’s marketable securities consist primarily of commercial paper, corporate debt securities, and U.S. government agency securities. The
Company’s marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value. The Company determines any realized gains or losses on
the sale of available-for-sale securities on a specific identification method, and such gains and losses are recorded as a component of other income (expense),
net on the consolidated statements of operations. Unrealized gains and losses of the available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss.

The Company has classified and accounted for its marketable securities as available-for-sale. After consideration of the Company’s risk versus reward
objectives, as well as the Company’s liquidity requirements, the Company may sell these securities prior to their stated maturities. As the Company views
these securities as available to support current operations, the Company classifies highly liquid securities with maturities beyond 12 months as current assets
under the caption marketable securities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Marketable securities are considered impaired when a decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-temporary. The Company considers available
quantitative and qualitative evidence in evaluating potential impairment of the marketable securities on a quarterly basis. If the cost of an individual
investment exceeds its fair value, the Company evaluates, among other factors, general market conditions, the duration and extent to which the fair value is
less than cost, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment. Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary, the
Company will record an impairment charge and establish a new cost basis in the investment. As of December 31, 2018, the Company did not consider any of
its marketable securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had restricted cash of $0.9 million and $0.2 million recorded as prepaid expenses and other current
assets, respectively, and $1.3 million and $4.1 million recorded as non-current restricted cash, respectively. Restricted cash primarily consists of letters of
credit issued as security deposits required for facility leases.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowances for doubtful accounts. The Company assesses its trade accounts
receivable for doubtful accounts based on the collectability of accounts. Management regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts
by considering the age of each outstanding invoice, each customer’s expected ability to pay, and the collection history with each customer, to determine
whether a specific allowance is appropriate. Accounts receivable that are deemed uncollectible are charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Based
on management’s assessment of its trade accounts receivable, the Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2018 and
2017.

Inventory

Inventory primarily consists of finished goods hardware appliances and production materials. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market
determined using the specific identification method. Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of forecasted demand is written down to its estimated realizable
value. Inventory write-downs, once established, are not reversed as they
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establish a new cost basis for the inventory. There were no material inventory write-downs for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally
three to five years. Demonstration units are not resold after use and are depreciated over the estimated useful life of three years or less. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the remaining lease term.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. When the Company acquires a business,
the purchase price is allocated to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. Any residual purchase price
is recorded as goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price requires management to make significant estimates in determining the fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is
expected to generate in the future, the appropriate weighted-average cost of capital, and the cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset. These
estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, adjustments to
the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed may be recorded, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the
conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded to the consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets

The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets of businesses acquired in a business combination is recognized as goodwill.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if certain indicators are present. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company performed its goodwill impairment test on December 31, 2018 as the SecurityMatters acquisition was completed on November 7, 2018.

Management reviews long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization, for events and changes
in circumstances that may indicate that carrying amounts of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or circumstances occur,
recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying value to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If
long-lived assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized would equal the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its
fair market value. To date, the Company has not recorded any significant impairment to its goodwill and other long-lived assets.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs consisted of fees and expenses incurred in connection with the sale of the Company’s common stock in its IPO and Offering,
including direct incremental legal, consulting, accounting fees, and other offering-related costs. Upon completion of the Company’s IPO or Offering, these
deferred offering costs were reclassified to stockholders’ equity and offset against the proceeds of the offerings.

Product Warranty

The Company provides a standard 90 day warranty on its hardware and software products. The Company also offers its customers post-contract support
(“PCS”), which includes a warranty of between one to five-years on hardware. The Company will also provide its customers software releases or updates
during the PCS term. The Company accrues for estimated standard warranty costs for those customers that do not purchase PCS at the time of product
shipment. These potential warranty claims are accrued as a component of product cost of revenue based on historical experience and other data, which is
reviewed periodically for adequacy. Warranty costs associated with PCS are expensed as incurred. To date, the Company has not incurred nor accrued any
significant costs associated with product warranty.

Contract Manufacturer Liabilities
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Manufacturing, repair, and supply chain management operations are outsourced to a third-party contract manufacturer. These costs are a significant
portion of product cost of revenue. Although the Company is contractually obligated to purchase manufactured products, the Company generally does not
own the manufactured products as product title transfers from the contract manufacturer to the Company and immediately to the customer upon shipment.
The contract manufacturer assembles the Company’s products using design specifications, quality assurance programs, and standards that the Company
establishes. Components are procured and assembled based on the Company’s demand forecasts. These forecasts represent management’s best estimates of
future demand for the products based upon historical trends and analysis from sales and operations functions as adjusted for overall market conditions. The
Company accrues for costs for contractual manufacturing commitments in excess of its forecasted demand, including costs incurred for excess components or
for the carrying costs incurred by the contract manufacturer. To date, the Company has not accrued any significant contract manufacturer liabilities.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred and Common Stock Warrant Liabilities

Upon completion of the Company's IPO in October 2017, there were no freestanding warrants to purchase shares of convertible preferred stock. As such,
no preferred stock warrant liability remained outstanding after the IPO. Before the Company's IPO, freestanding warrants related to shares that are
redeemable or contingently redeemable were classified as a liability in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The convertible preferred stock warrants
were subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date, and any change in fair value was recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The
Company adjusted the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to the estimated fair value of the warrants until either the exercise or the
completion of the Company’s IPO, at which time the redeemable convertible preferred stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants became warrants to
purchase common stock and the related liability was reclassified to additional paid-in capital in stockholders' equity.

Severance Pay Deposits and Accrued Severance Pay Liability

The Company records a severance pay asset and liability on its consolidated balance sheets related to its employees located in Israel. Under Israeli law
and labor agreements, the Company is required to make severance and pension payments to retired or dismissed employees and to employees leaving
employment in certain other circumstances.

Liabilities for severance pay are calculated pursuant to Israeli severance pay law using the most recent monthly salary for the employees, multiplied by
the number of years of employment, and are included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for the current
and non-current portions, respectively. The Company’s liability at each respective balance sheet date for its Israeli employees is fully accrued in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The severance liability is funded through monthly deposits to the employee’s pension and management
insurance carriers. The fair value of this deposit is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets, and other assets in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets for the current and non-current portions, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Topic 606 using the full retrospective method. Refer to Note 2 for a detailed discussion of accounting
policies related to revenue recognition, including deferred revenue and commissions.

Software Development Costs

Software development costs are not capitalized as the software development process is essentially completed concurrent with the establishment of
technological feasibility. As such, all software development costs are expensed as incurred and included in research and development expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs include costs incurred on print, broadcast, and online advertising. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and included in sales and
marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation for employees is measured based on the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the requisite service period,
which is generally the vesting period. The fair value of option awards is determined on the date of
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grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the Company’s determination of the fair value of the
option award on the grant date prior to its IPO is affected by the Company’s estimated fair value of the underlying common stock, as well as assumptions
relating to subjective variables. Subsequent to its IPO, the Company uses the market closing price for its common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market. These variables include the expected term of the award, the expected volatility of the common stock price, the risk-free interest rate, and the
expected dividend yield of common stock.

Prior to the IPO, the fair value of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) is determined on the date of grant using the Company’s estimated fair value of the
underlying common stock. Subsequent to its IPO, the Company uses the market closing price for its common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market.

Prior to January 1, 2017, for awards with a service condition only, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense over the service period on
a straight-line basis, net of forfeitures. For awards with both a service and performance condition, stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the
service period using an accelerated attribution method once the performance conditions become probable. Beginning January 1, 2017 with the adoption of
ASU 2016-09, the Company elected to recognize forfeitures as they occur, and no longer estimates a forfeiture rate when calculating the stock-based
compensation for equity awards. Stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2016 was calculated using an estimated forfeiture rate based on
an analysis of the Company’s actual historical forfeitures.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized using the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the Company’s (1) financial statement carrying amounts and their respective tax bases and (2)
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Valuation allowances are provided when the expected realization of tax assets does not meet a more-likely-than-
not criterion. Due to the Company’s lack of earnings history, the U.S. net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance.

The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by
a taxing authority based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized from such positions are measured based on the largest benefit that
has a greater than 50% likelihood to be realized upon settlement.

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations, when and if incurred.

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) into law. The legislation significantly
changes U.S. tax law by, among other things, lowering corporate income tax rates, implementing a territorial tax system and imposing a mandatory
repatriation tax on earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The Tax Reform Act permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate from a maximum of 35% to
a flat 21% rate, effective January 1, 2018. Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) was issued to address the application of GAAP in situations when
a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting
for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act. In accordance with SAB 118, the measurement period is now closed and the Company has determined that
provisional estimates of the impact recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017 in connection with the revaluation of deferred taxes and the transition tax on the
mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign earnings is now final. No material adjustments from the provisional amounts were recorded in 2018.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The
Company adopted Topic 606 effective January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective method, which required the Company to restate each prior reporting period
presented. See Note 2 for the details of any impacts to previously reported results.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18 (Topic 230), Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash. The new standard requires an entity to
show the changes in the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows, and an entity will no
longer present transfers between cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. The standard is
effective for annual and interim periods
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within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, and should be applied retrospectively. The Company adopted this standard effective January 1,
2018 and as a result of adopting this standard, the Company no longer includes the changes in its restricted cash in net cash used in investing activities. The
Company’s restricted cash primarily consists of letters of credit issued as security deposits required for facility leases.

Recently Issued and Not Yet Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02 (Topic 842), Leases (“ASU 2016-02”). The new standard requires lessees to recognize leases on
their balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The guidance also requires qualitative and quantitative disclosures to assess the amount, timing
and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The standard requires a modified retrospective transition approach and provides certain optional transitional
relief. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-10 (Topic 842), Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases (“ASU 2018-10”), and ASU No. 2018-
11 (Topic 842), Targeted Improvements (“ASU 2018-11”) which provide a transition method to apply the new lease standards at the adoption date and
recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company will apply the transition
method, whereby prior comparative periods will not be retrospectively presented.

The new standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company plans to elect the following practical expedients and
accounting policies:

• Practical expedients not to reassess prior conclusions related to contracts containing leases, lease classification and initial direct costs,

• Practical expedient for lessees to combine lease and non-lease components,

• Accounting policy to not record right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for a lease with an initial term of 12 months or less.

The standard is effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the lease portfolio, process, control and
policy change requirements as part of the adoption. The Company expects the adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on the total assets and
liabilities reported on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, and estimates an increase in long-term assets and total liabilities of approximately $15
million to $25 million as of January 1, 2019. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its
consolidated statements of operations.

Note 2. Revenue, Deferred Revenue and Deferred Commissions

The Company adopted Topic 606 effective January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective method, which required the Company to restate each prior
reporting period presented to be consistent with the standard. The most significant impact to revenue recognized related to the accounting for the sale of
Extended Modules and to a lesser extent the sale of CounterACT.

Under previously reported GAAP, the Company established Vendor Specific Objective Evidence (“VSOE”) for professional services, and support and
maintenance on Software Products, except Extended Modules, beginning January 1, 2016. Under previously reported GAAP, Software Product related
revenue was recognized ratably over the contractually committed support and maintenance period when VSOE was not established. Professional services sold
in conjunction with such Software Products were also recognized ratably over the contractually committed support and maintenance period. Under ASC 606,
the requirement to have VSOE for undelivered elements is eliminated and the Company now generally recognizes Software Product revenue at the time of
delivery, and any related professional services revenue as services are provided to the customers. Further, revenue allocated from future deliverables
(primarily support and maintenance) to Hardware Products is now recognized upon delivery under ASC 606 when the standalone selling price is different
from the contract price. Under previously reported GAAP, such differences were recognized over the contractual support and maintenance period.
Additionally, Topic 606 requires the capitalization of costs to obtain a contract, primarily sales commissions, and the amortization of these costs over the
contract period or estimated customer life, which resulted in the recognition of a deferred charge on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Under
previously reported GAAP, the Company expensed all sales commissions and other incremental costs to acquire contracts as they were incurred.
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Impacts on Financial Statements

The Company adjusted its consolidated financial statements from amounts previously reported due to the adoption of Topic 606. Selected consolidated
balance sheet line items, which reflect the adoption of Topic 606, are as follows (in thousands):

 December 31, 2017

 
As Previously

Reported  Impact of Adoption  As Adjusted

Assets      
Accounts receivable $ 65,428  $ (742)  $ 64,686
Deferred commission - current $ —  $ 10,957  $ 10,957
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 8,655  $ 558  $ 9,213
Deferred commission - non-current $ —  $ 21,795  $ 21,795
Other assets $ 4,120  $ 488  $ 4,608

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity      
Deferred revenue - current $ 98,027  $ (18,396)  $ 79,631
Deferred revenue - non-current $ 64,731  $ (9,503)  $ 55,228
Accumulated deficit $ (497,376)  $ 60,955  $ (436,421)

Selected consolidated statement of operations line items, which reflect the adoption of Topic 606, are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

 Year ended December 31, 2017

 
As Previously

Reported  Impact of Adoption  As Adjusted

Revenue:      
Product $ 121,413  $ 3,935  $ 125,348
Maintenance and professional services $ 99,458  $ (402)  $ 99,056

Cost of revenue:      
Product $ 24,098  $ (257)  $ 23,841

Operating expenses:      
Sales and marketing $ 151,093  $ (6,695)  $ 144,398

Loss from operations $ (87,732)  $ 10,485  $ (77,247)
Net loss $ (91,205)  $ 10,485  $ (80,720)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (104,015)  $ 10,485  $ (93,530)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (9.12)  $ 0.92  $ (8.20)
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 Year ended December 31, 2016

 
As Previously

Reported  Impact of Adoption  As Adjusted

Revenue:      
Product $ 98,655  $ (661)  $ 97,994
Maintenance and professional services $ 68,186  $ 1,366  $ 69,552

Cost of revenue:      
Product $ 21,678  $ 154  $ 21,832

Operating expenses:      
Sales and marketing $ 127,815  $ (8,744)  $ 119,071

Loss from operations $ (71,444)  $ 9,295  $ (62,149)
Net loss $ (74,774)  $ 9,295  $ (65,479)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (74,774)  $ 9,295  $ (65,479)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (13.33)  $ 1.66  $ (11.67)

Revenue by geographic area based on the billing address of the customer, which reflects the adoption of Topic 606, is as follows (in thousands):

 Year ended December 31, 2017

 
As Previously

Reported  Impact of Adoption  As Adjusted

Revenue:      
Americas      
      United States $ 162,479  $ 2,661  $ 165,140
      Other Americas 6,176  (54)  6,122
      Total Americas 168,655  2,607  171,262
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 36,300  364  36,664
Asia Pacific and Japan 15,916  562  16,478

Total revenue $ 220,871  $ 3,533  $ 224,404

 Year ended December 31, 2016

 
As Previously

Reported  Impact of Adoption  As Adjusted

Revenue:      
Americas      
      United States $ 133,615  $ (1,399)  $ 132,216
      Other Americas 4,949  1,017  5,966
      Total Americas 138,564  (382)  138,182
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 18,918  463  19,381
Asia Pacific and Japan 9,359  624  9,983

Total revenue $ 166,841  $ 705  $ 167,546
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The adoption of Topic 606 impacted certain line items in the cash flows from operating activities as follows (in thousands):

 Year ended December 31, 2017

 
As Previously

Reported  
Impact of
Adoption  As Adjusted

Cash flows from operating activities:      
Net loss $ (91,205)  $ 10,485  $ (80,720)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:      
Accounts receivable $ (20,734)  $ 742  $ (19,992)
Deferred commissions $ —  $ (7,469)  $ (7,469)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ (63)  $ (78)  $ (141)
Other assets $ (535)  $ 595  $ 60
Deferred revenue $ 53,844  $ (4,275)  $ 49,569

 Year ended December 31, 2016

 
As Previously

Reported  
Impact of
Adoption  As Adjusted

Cash flows from operating activities:      
Net loss $ (74,774)  $ 9,295  $ (65,479)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:      
Accounts receivable $ (15,469)  $ 861  $ (14,608)
Deferred commissions $ —  $ (9,624)  $ (9,624)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ (5,032)  $ 260  $ (4,772)
Other assets $ (1,767)  $ 775  $ (992)
Deferred revenue $ 25,455  $ (1,567)  $ 23,888

Additionally, the adoption of Topic 606 did not have a material impact on income tax provision. The adoption adjustments impacted the deferred income
taxes pertaining to the U.S. entity which are subject to a full valuation allowance.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue from sales of products and associated maintenance and professional services. The Company offers its solution across
two product groups: (i) products for visibility and control capabilities, and (ii) products for orchestration capabilities and across two product types: (i)
software products, and (ii) hardware products.

Following the adoption of Topic 606, the Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps, which are described in more detail
below:

• Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer—A contract with a customer exists when (i) the Company enters into an enforceable
contract with a customer that defines each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred and identifies the payment terms related to
these goods or services, (ii) the contract has commercial substance, and (iii) the Company determines that collection of substantially all consideration
for goods or services that are transferred is probable based on the customer’s intent and ability to pay the promised consideration. The Company
applies judgment in determining the customer’s ability and intention to pay, which is based on a variety of factors, including the customer’s historical
payment experience or, in the case of a new customer, published credit and financial information pertaining to the customer. The Company’s
payment terms typically range between 30 to 90 days.
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• Identification of the performance obligation(s) in the contract—Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the goods or
services that will be transferred to the customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the goods or services
either on their own or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from the Company, and are distinct in the context
of the contract, whereby the transfer of the goods or services is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. To the extent a contract
includes multiple promised goods or services, the Company applies judgment to determine whether promised goods or services are capable of being
distinct, and are distinct in the context of the contract. If these criteria are not met, the promised goods or services are accounted for as a combined
performance obligation.

• Determination of the transaction price—The transaction price is determined based on the consideration that the Company will be entitled to in
exchange for transferring goods or services to the customer. In determining the transaction price, the Company considers uncertainties such as
historical rates of product returns and/or concessions.

• Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract—If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the
entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation. Contracts that contain multiple performance obligations require an
allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation based on a relative standalone selling price (“SSP”) basis. The Company
determines standalone selling price based on the price at which the performance obligation is sold separately. If the standalone selling price is not
observable through past transactions, the Company estimates the standalone selling price taking into account available information such as market
conditions and internally approved pricing guidelines related to the performance obligations.

• Recognition of revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied—The Company satisfies performance obligations either over time or at a
point in time as discussed in further detail below. Revenue is recognized at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a
promised good or service to a customer. Revenue is recorded net of sales taxes.

The following describes the nature of the Company’s primary types of revenue and the revenue recognition policies as they pertain to the types of
transactions the Company enters into with its customers.

Product Revenue

Product revenue consists of sales of CounterACT, SilentDefense, and Extended Modules. Revenue is recognized at the time of transfer of control, which
is generally upon delivery of access to software downloads or shipment, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Support and Maintenance Revenue

The majority of the products are sold with a support and maintenance contract. Support and maintenance contracts are generally offered as renewable,
fixed fee contracts where payments are typically due in advance and generally have a term of one or three years, but can be up to five years. Support and
maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the support and maintenance contract and any unearned support and maintenance revenue is
included in deferred revenue.

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue is derived primarily from customer fees for optional installation of the Company’s products or training. Generally, the
Company recognizes revenue for professional services as the services are performed.

Contract Costs

The Company capitalizes contract origination costs that are incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. The Company
expects that sales commissions and associated payroll taxes and third-party referral fees related to customer contracts are both incremental and recoverable.
The contract origination costs are capitalized and amortized to sales and marketing expense when the related performance obligations are met. Incremental
contract origination costs relating to products are expensed as the related products are delivered. Incremental contract origination costs relating to support and
maintenance contracts are capitalized and amortized over either the contractual performance period or on a straight-line basis over the average customer life
of five years, depending on whether the costs relate to a specific support and maintenance contract
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or the customer relationship. The Company determines its average customer life by taking into consideration its customer contracts, technology, and other
factors. Capitalized costs are periodically reviewed for impairment.

Capitalized contract costs were $35.9 million and $33.8 million as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, amortization expense for the contract costs was $14.9 million, $11.4 million, and $11.4 million, respectively. There were
no impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

A contract asset is a right to consideration in exchange for products or services that the Company has transferred to a customer when that right is
conditional and is not just subject to the passage of time. The Company has no material contract assets. A receivable will be recorded on the consolidated
balance sheets when the Company has unconditional rights to consideration. A contract liability is an obligation to transfer products or services for which the
Company has received consideration, or for which an amount of consideration is due from the customer. Contract liabilities include customer deposits under
non-cancelable contracts and current and non-current deferred revenue balances. The Company’s contract balances are reported in a net contract asset or
liability position on a contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period.

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the periods presented are as follows (in thousands):

 Contract Liabilities

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 86,405
Additions 274,468
Gross revenue recognized (225,006)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 135,867
Additions 327,650
Assumed in a business combination 6,297
Gross revenue recognized (297,783)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 172,031

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized revenue of $80.0 million and $52.4 million that was included in the
contract liabilities balance as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Contract modifications entered into during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s contract
assets or contract liabilities.

Performance Obligations

The majority of the contracted but not invoiced performance obligations are subject to cancellation terms. Revenue allocated to remaining performance
obligations represent contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized (“contracted not recognized”), which includes deferred revenue, certain customer
deposits, and non-cancelable amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods and excludes performance obligations that are subject
to cancellation terms. Contracted not recognized revenue was $177.6 million as of December 31, 2018, of which the Company expects to recognize
approximately 60% of the revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter.
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Practical Expedients

The Company does not disclose the value of consideration associated with unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts for
which the Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it will have the right to invoice for services performed.

The Company also reflects the aggregate effect of all modifications to a contract that occurred before the earliest period presented in the current period’s
financial statements instead of retrospectively restating contracts for all previous contract modifications.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company generates revenue from the sale of Software Products, Hardware Products, support and maintenance, and professional services. All
revenue recognized in the consolidated statement of operations is considered to be revenue from contracts with customers. The following table depicts the
disaggregation of revenue according to revenue type and is consistent with how the Company evaluates its financial performance (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

Revenue: 2018  2017  2016

Software products $ 106,978  $ 49,405  $ 22,346
Hardware products 55,689  75,943  75,648
Support and maintenance 118,572  86,691  60,374
Professional services 16,412  12,365  9,178

Total revenue $ 297,651  $ 224,404  $ 167,546

Note 3. Fair Value Measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and are categorized based upon the level of judgment
associated with inputs used to measure their fair value.

Fair value reflects the price that would be received on the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. When determining fair value measurements, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market and also
market-based risk.

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs when measuring fair value. The accounting guidance also establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the independence of the source and objective
evidence of the inputs used. There are three fair value hierarchies based upon the level of inputs that are significant to fair value measurement:

• Level 1—Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2—Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets
or liabilities in active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities, or inputs that are derived principally
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

• Level 3—Inputs that are generally unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity, and typically reflect management’s estimate of
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
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There have been no transfers between fair value measurement levels during the periods presented. The following table presents the fair value of the
Company’s financial assets and liabilities according to the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

   Level 1  Level 2  Level 3    Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

Financial Assets            
Cash and cash equivalents:            
      Cash $ 46,017  $ —  $ —  $ 24,526  $ —  $ —
      Money market accounts 20,878  —  —  38,483  —  —

Total cash and cash equivalents 66,895  —  —  63,009  —  —
Marketable securities:            
      Commercial paper —  3,991  —  —  40,610  —
      Corporate debt securities —  35,639  —  —  58,948  —
      U.S. government securities —  8,002  —  —  23,826  —

Total marketable securities —  47,632  —  —  123,384  —
Restricted cash (current and non-current) 2,117  —  —  4,348  —  —

Total financial assets $ 69,012  $ 47,632  $ —  $ 67,357  $ 123,384  $ —

Note 4. Marketable Securities

The following table summarizes the unrealized losses and fair value of the Company’s marketable securities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands):

December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Amortized Cost  Unrealized Losses  Fair Value  Amortized Cost  Unrealized Losses  Fair Value

Marketable securities:            
Available-for-sale:            
      Commercial paper $ 3,991  $ —  $ 3,991  $ 40,610  $ —  $ 40,610
      Corporate debt securities 35,730  (90)  35,640  59,031  (83)  58,948
      U.S. government securities 8,012  (11)  8,001  23,855  (29)  23,826

     Total marketable securities $ 47,733  $ (101)  $ 47,632  $ 123,496  $ (112)  $ 123,384

The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, by
the contractual maturity date (in thousands):

 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

 Amortized Cost  Fair Value  Amortized Cost  Fair Value

Due within one year $ 47,733  $ 47,632  $ 83,419  $ 83,374
Due between one and five years —  —  40,077  40,010

     Total $ 47,733  $ 47,632  $ 123,496  $ 123,384

The Company had 13 and 20 marketable securities in unrealized loss positions as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. For individual
marketable securities that were in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value and gross unrealized loss for these securities
aggregated by investment category and length of time in an unrealized loss position are presented in the following tables (in thousands):
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 December 31, 2018

 Less Than 12 Months  Greater Than 12 Months  Total

 Fair Value  Unrealized Loss  Fair Value  Unrealized Loss  Fair Value  Unrealized Loss

Corporate debt securities $ 4,020  $ (3)  $ 31,620  $ (87)  $ 35,640  $ (90)
U.S. government securities —  —  8,001  (11)  8,001  (11)

Total $ 4,020  $ (3)  $ 39,621  $ (98)  $ 43,641  $ (101)

 December 31, 2017

 Less Than 12 Months  Greater Than 12 Months  Total

 Fair Value  Unrealized Loss  Fair Value  Unrealized Loss  Fair Value  Unrealized Loss

Corporate debt securities $ 58,581  $ (83)  $ —  $ —  $ 58,581  $ (83)
U.S. government securities 23,771  (29)  —  —  23,771  (29)

Total $ 82,352  $ (112)  $ —  $ —  $ 82,352  $ (112)

Unrealized losses related to these marketable securities are due to interest rate fluctuations as opposed to credit quality. In addition, the Company does
not intend to sell and it is not likely that the Company would be required to sell these marketable securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis,
which may be at maturity. As a result, there are no other-than-temporary impairments for these marketable securities at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Note 5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2018  2017

Leasehold improvements $ 19,832  $ 18,631
Computer, equipment and software 14,591  9,835
Furniture and fixtures 4,361  3,577
Demonstration units 3,262  2,528
      Total property and equipment 42,046  34,571
Less: accumulated depreciation (17,697)  (11,311)

      Total property and equipment, net $ 24,349  $ 23,260

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was approximately $7.5 million, $6.1
million and $3.6 million, respectively.

Note 6. Acquisitions, Goodwill, and Intangible Assets

On November 7, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests of SecurityMatters B.V. (“SecurityMatters”), a privately-held entity that
develops cybersecurity solutions for the operational technology market, through a share purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) in exchange for cash
consideration (the “Acquisition”). This Acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination and is intended to enhance the Company’s market-
leading solutions with deeper visibility into the operational technology network stack.

The total consideration transferred as part of the closing of the Acquisition for all of the vested and outstanding equity interests of SecurityMatters
consisted of cash payments (adjusted for customary closing adjustments) of $109.3 million (the “Purchase Consideration”). There were no other components
of Purchase Consideration other than cash payments.
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Also, as part of the Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to pay cash on the closing date of the Acquisition of $6.2 million to be held by a third-
party escrow agent and to be released to a continuing employee of SecurityMatters (the “Holdback Amounts”). Such Holdback Amounts were recorded as
prepaid expenses and other current assets for the current portion and other assets for the non-current portion, and would be released at future dates following
the one and two-year anniversaries of the Acquisition in exchange for future employee services to the Company (assuming the employee provides the
required service). In addition, as part of the Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to pay cash on future dates of $1.2 million to continuing employees of
SecurityMatters in exchange for such employees’ equity awards that were unvested as of the closing of the Acquisition. Such cash payments would be paid on
future dates that are consistent with the original SecurityMatters equity awards’ vesting terms (assuming the employees provide employee services to the
Company through such future dates). Such amounts were not included as Purchase Consideration, but instead will be recognized as post-combination
compensation expense over the period the employees provide the required services.

Also in connection with the Acquisition, the Company issued RSUs with a grant date fair value of $5.9 million to continuing employees of
SecurityMatters in exchange for future employee services to the Company, which vest annually over four years from the grant date. Such amounts are
recorded as post-combination compensation expense over the period the employees provide the requisite service.

Additionally, the Company recognized $2.7 million of acquisition transaction costs as general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The Purchase Consideration of $109.3 million was preliminary allocated as follows (in thousands):

 Amount

Net tangible assets acquired $ 686
Intangible assets 19,500
Deferred tax liabilities, net (3,486)
Goodwill 92,648

Total purchase price allocation $ 109,348

The Company is still finalizing the allocation of the purchase price, which may be subject to change as additional information becomes available.

The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets acquired and their estimated useful lives as of the date of acquisition (in
thousands, except useful life):

 Intangible Assets

  Cost  
Weighted Average

Useful Life (in years)

Developed technology $ 13,300  7.0
Customer relationships 6,200  5.0
Total intangible assets acquired $ 19,500  6.4

Goodwill represents the excess of the preliminary estimated Purchase Consideration over the preliminary estimates of the fair value of the net tangible
and intangible assets acquired and has been allocated to the Company’s one operating segment. Goodwill is primarily attributable to expected post-acquisition
synergies from integrating SecurityMatters’ technology into the Company’s security solutions and product offerings and cross-selling opportunities. None of
the goodwill recorded is deductible for income tax purposes.

The results of operations of SecurityMatters have been included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date. Pro
forma results of operations for the transaction have not been presented as they were not material to the consolidated statements of operations.
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Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

There was no goodwill related to acquisitions as of December 31, 2017 and in prior periods. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the
year ended December 31, 2018 are as follows (in thousands):

 Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ —
Goodwill acquired 92,648
Foreign currency translation adjustments (166)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 92,482

There were no intangible assets acquired as of December 31, 2017 and in prior periods. Intangible assets subject to amortization realized from
acquisitions as of December 31, 2018 are as follows (in thousands):

 Intangible Assets

  Cost  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Foreign Currency
Translation Adjustments   Net

Developed technology $ 13,300  $ (280)  $ (24)  $ 12,996
Customer relationships 6,200  (183)  (11)  6,006

 $ 19,500  $ (463)  $ (35)  $ 19,002

Amortization expense of intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $0.5 million, which was recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations, within product cost of revenue and sales and marketing expenses. There was no amortization expense of intangible assets during the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

The expected future annual amortization expense of intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 is presented below (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,  Amount

2019 $ 3,122
2020 3,122
2021 3,122
2022 3,122
2023 and thereafter 6,514

Total $ 19,002

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases office space under various non-cancelable operating leases, which expire through the year ending October 31, 2026.

The facility lease agreements include rent holidays and generally provide for rental payments on a graduated basis. The agreements also generally
provide for options to renew, which could increase future minimum lease payments if exercised. Lease renewals are not included in the lease term unless the
renewals are reasonably assured at lease inception. Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company records the
difference between cash rent payments and the recognition of rent expense as deferred rent in the consolidated balance sheets.
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In October 2015, the Company entered into an 11 year lease agreement for corporate office space in San Jose, California. This lease allows for one five-
year option to extend the lease term. This option to extend was not assumed in the determination of the lease term as the extension is not reasonably assured at
the inception of the lease. This lease contains an incentive for tenant improvements, in addition to a one year rent holiday and escalating rent payments.
Consistent with the Company’s other operating leases, rent expense begins on the date legal right to use and control the leased space occurs. This lease
contains an incentive for tenant improvements of up to $4.8 million, of which the entire $4.8 million was approved and recognized as a reduction of rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

As of December 31, 2018, the future minimum lease payments by fiscal year under non-cancelable leases are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,  
Operating 

Leases

2019  $ 5,551
2020  4,188
2021  4,307
2022  4,435
2023  4,461
2024 and thereafter  11,933

Total  $ 34,875

Rent expense was approximately $6.4 million, $5.6 million, and $5.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Contract Manufacturer Commitments

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had contract manufacturer commitments of $8.0 million to purchase components and products from the
Company’s third-party contract manufacturer. The contract manufacturer commitments result from the Company’s contractual obligation to order or build
inventory in advance of anticipated sales.

Purchase Obligations

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had purchase obligations of $6.5 million primarily related to non-cancelable license obligations for software
licenses.

Litigation

The Company is a party to various legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company records a liability when it
is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If the Company determines that a loss is possible
and a range of the loss can be reasonably estimated, the range of the possible loss is disclosed.

On October 24, 2017, Network Security Technologies, LLC, or NST, filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware, alleging that the Company infringe U.S. Patent Nos. 8,234,705 and 9,516,048 and is seeking compensatory damages and attorneys’ fees.
The Company believed it had meritorious defenses and intended to vigorously defend the claims against the Company. Subsequently, on February 1, 2018,
NST filed a notice of voluntary dismissal without prejudice to dismiss the Company from the complaint.

Indemnification

The Company enters into indemnification provisions in its standard sales contracts with its customers in which it agrees to defend its channel partners
and end-customers against third-party claims asserting infringement of certain intellectual property rights, which may include patents, copyrights, trademarks,
or trade secrets, and the responsibility to pay judgments entered on
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such claims. In addition, we indemnify our officers, directors and certain key employees while they are serving in good faith in their respective capacities. To
date, there have been no claims under any indemnification provisions.

Note 8. Debt Agreements

On December 22, 2016, the Company amended its amended and restated loan and security agreement, which was originally entered into in May 2009
(the “Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement”) to increase the maximum amount of credit available for borrowing under the revolving
line of credit to 80% of qualified accounts receivable up to $40.0 million. Additionally, the Company borrowed $30.0 million under the Amended and
Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement, which carries a maturity date of December 2020. The combined outstanding balances of the revolving line of
credit and the term loan cannot exceed $40.0 million. The agreement is subject to the Company maintaining an adjusted quick ratio of 1.25. The agreement
requires equal monthly installments of principal of $625,000 and monthly interest payments at a fixed interest rate per annum of 3.25%. Concurrent with the
final monthly installment payment on the maturity date in December 2020, the Company is required to pay an additional payment of $825,000.

The amortization expense related to the total discount of the Company’s debt for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $0.3 million,
$0.3 million, and $0.7 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no outstanding balance under the revolving line of credit. The following table presents the carrying value
of the Company’s notes payable (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2018  2017

Principal amount of notes payable $ 15,825  $ 23,325
Unamortized debt discount (246)  (501)
Net carrying amount of notes payable 15,579  22,824
Less current portion (7,331)  (7,245)

Non-current portion of notes payable $ 8,248  $ 15,579

The Amended and Restated 2009 Loan and Security Agreement provides certain financial-related covenants, among others, relating to delivery of
audited financial statements to the lenders. The Company was in compliance with respect to all financial-related covenants under its loan agreements as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, the future principal payments on the Company’s notes payable were as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,  Amount

2019  $ 7,500
2020  8,325

Total  $ 15,825

Note 9. Common Stock and Stockholders’ Equity

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon the closing of the IPO in October 2017, all shares of the Company's then-outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically
converted into 25,370,616 shares of common stock, including 582,254 additional shares issuable upon conversion of our Series G redeemable convertible
preferred stock based on the initial public offering price of $22.00 per share. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no shares of redeemable
convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.
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Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

Concurrent with the closing of the IPO, all shares of outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants were either exercised or converted to
common stock warrants. In connection with the conversion of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants, the Company re-measured the redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrant liability as of the date of conversion and recorded an increase of $0.3 million to other income (expense), net. The
Company also reclassified approximately $4.2 million from redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital for the
estimated fair value of the warrant on the date of conversion. Additionally, the Company recorded $0.1 million to other income (expense), net upon the
exercise of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants.

All of the above warrants were exercised as of December 31, 2017. In lieu of payment of the aggregate warrant price, the warrant holders elected a
"cashless exercise", whereby a portion of the shares equal to the aggregate warrant price were withheld. The average fair market value at the time of exercise
was $25.12, which resulted in 224,691 shares being issued by the Company.

Common Stock Warrants

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 83,163 and 149,786 common stock warrants were exercised, respectively. In lieu of payment of the
aggregate warrant price, the warrant holders elected a "cashless exercise", whereby a portion of the shares equal to the aggregate warrant price were withheld.
The average fair market value per share at the time exercise was $33.36 and $25.28, which resulted in 66,661 and 111,147 shares being issued by the
Company for the warrants exercised during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, 74 common stock warrants
remained outstanding and exercisable.

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 3.9 million shares and 3.7 million shares of our common stock were reserved for future grants under the 2017 Plan,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, common stock reserved, on an as-if converted basis for issuance are as follows:

 December 31, 2018

Reserved for future issuance under equity award plans 3,905,796
Common stock options outstanding 6,012,830
Restricted stock units outstanding 5,709,472
Common stock warrants outstanding 74

     Total common stock reserved for issuance 15,628,172

Stock Option and Incentive Plan

The 2000 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”) allows for the issuance of stock options and RSUs to employees, non-employees and
directors. The Plan provides for incentive stock options to be granted to employees at an exercise price at least equal to 100% of the fair value at the grant
date as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. If a stock-based award is issued to an executive officer that owns more than 10% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock, the exercise price will be 110% of the fair market value. The Plan also provides for nonqualified stock options to be issued to
employees, non-employees and directors. Options granted generally have a maximum term of 10 years from grant date, allow for early exercise unless
otherwise designated by the Board of Directors at the time of grant. Stock options and RSUs generally vest over a four-year period.
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In October 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”). The 2017 Plan provides for the
grant of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units,
performance shares, and performance awards. A total of 3,800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for future issuance pursuant to the
2017 Plan. In addition, shares subject to outstanding awards granted under the 2000 Plan, that are canceled, expire, or otherwise terminate without having
been exercised in full and shares previously issued under the 2000 Plan that are forfeited to the Company, tendered to or withheld by the Company for the
payment of an award’s exercise price or for tax withholding, or repurchased by the Company, may be added to the 2017 Plan (provided that the maximum
number of shares that may be added to the Company’s 2017 Plan pursuant to the provision in this sentence is 12,500,000 shares). The number of shares
available for future issuance under the Company’s 2017 Plan also includes automatic annual increases on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year beginning
with 2018, equal to the lesser of: 3,800,000 shares; 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock as of the last day of the Company’s immediately preceding
fiscal year; or such lower number of shares as determined by the administrator of the 2017 Plan.

Prior to the IPO, options granted allowed for early exercise unless otherwise designated by the Board of Directors at the time of grant. The Company had
an early exercise liability of approximately $0.4 million and $1.2 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Including early exercises, the
Company has 43,450,819 and 38,266,450 shares of legally outstanding common stock as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In October 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).

The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions and is intended to qualify under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. A total of 800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are available for sale under the ESPP. The number of
shares available for issuance under the Company’s ESPP will also include an automatic, annual increase on the first day of each fiscal year of the Company
beginning in 2018, equal to the lesser of: 800,000 shares; 1% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on the last day of the
Company’s immediately preceding fiscal year; or such lower number of shares as determined by the Administrator. The Company’s ESPP provides for
consecutive, six-month offering periods. The offering periods are scheduled to start on the first trading day on or after May 20 and November 20 of each year,
except for the first offering period which began following the closing of the IPO, and will end on the first trading day on May 18, 2018. Participants may
purchase the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions, of up to a maximum of 15% of their eligible compensation. Participation will end
automatically upon termination of employment with the Company. The purchase price of the shares will be 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on the first trading day of each offering period or on the exercise date.

As of December 31, 2018, 387,602 shares of common stock were purchased under the ESPP at a weighted-average price of $19.53 per share, resulting in
cash proceeds of $7.6 million. The Company selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the method for determining the estimated fair value for the
Company’s ESPP. As of December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation cost related to the ESPP was $1.2 million, which will be amortized over a
period of 0.4 years.

As of December 31, 2018, 793,617 shares of our common stock were reserved for future grants under the 2017 ESPP Plan.

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes option activity under the Plan and related information (in thousands, except per share and contractual life amounts):
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 Options Outstanding

 
Number 

of 
Shares  

Weighted- 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  

Weighted- 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 
Life (Years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value

Balance—December 31, 2016 9,588  $ 10.13  8.0  $ 61,865
     Options granted 549  $ 20.05   
     Options forfeited (517)  $ 14.58     
     Options exercised (306)  $ 5.32   
Balance—December 31, 2017 9,314  $ 10.63  7.2  $ 198,012
     Options granted 44  $ 30.81     
     Options exercised (2,979)  $ 8.13     
     Options forfeited (366)  $ 16.59     

Balance—December 31, 2018 6,013  $ 11.65  6.4  $ 86,624

Options vested and exercisable—December 31, 2018 4,525  $ 10.26  6.1  $ 71,237

The weighted-average fair value per share for all options granted was $14.95, $9.79, and $8.24 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of employee options exercised was $71.9 million, $4.4 million, and $6.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the Company’s estimated fair value of its common stock
and the exercise price of the outstanding options.

As of December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options was $11.5 million, net of estimated forfeitures, which was
expected to be amortized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.4 years.

Restricted Stock Unit Activity

The following table summarizes RSU activity under the Plan and related information (in thousands, except per share and contractual life amounts):

 RSUs Outstanding

 
Number 

of 
Shares  

Weighted- 
Average 

Grant Date Fair Value
Per Share  

Weighted- 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 
Life (Years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value

Balance—December 31, 2016 1,899  $ 14.83  1.7  $ 30,720
     RSUs granted 2,355  $ 25.20     
     RSUs forfeited (38)  $ 20.44     
Balance—December 31, 2017 4,216  $ 20.57  1.7  $ 134,448
     RSUs granted 3,354  $ 30.94     

RSUs released (1,607)  $ 14.78   
     RSUs forfeited (254)  $ 26.80     

Balance—December 31, 2018 5,709  $ 28.01  1.8  $ 148,389

As of December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs was $124.3 million, which was expected to be amortized over
a weighted-average period of approximately 2.9 years.
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On April 25, 2018, an aggregate of 892,996 shares underlying the RSUs held by the Company’s directors and then-current employees vested and settled.
Substantially all of the RSUs vested upon the satisfaction of both a service-based vesting condition and a performance-based vesting condition. The
performance-based vesting condition became probable on October 26, 2017, which was the effective date of the registration statement for the Company’s
IPO, and was satisfied on the Settlement Date. For the Company’s executive officers, 227,044 of the vested shares were withheld to satisfy the tax obligations
due for the RSUs that settled on the Settlement Date. The closing price of the Company’s common stock on the Settlement Date was $32.76 per share,
resulting in tax obligations of $7.4 million in the aggregate. For RSUs held by the Company’s non-executive employees, subject to tax withholding
obligations, 55,904 shares were sold on the Settlement Date to cover tax obligations of $1.8 million in the aggregate.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for both employees and non-employees included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations is as
follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

Cost of revenue:      
Product $ 253  $ 103  $ 30
Maintenance and professional services 3,015  2,291  1,123

Research and development 10,161  6,213  2,311
Sales and marketing 24,999  14,451  8,084
General and administrative 15,069  19,538  5,286

     Total $ 53,497  $ 42,596  $ 16,834

Prior to the IPO, certain employees and advisors have been granted stock options with vesting subject to a future liquidity event. Upon the liquidity
event, these stock options became fully exercisable, and all of the associated stock-based compensation expense was recognized. Prior to the IPO, the
Company granted RSUs to participants that included both a service-based vesting condition and a performance-based vesting condition. The awards generally
vest annually over four years, but were subject to a liquidity event prior to any of the shares vesting. Further, in the case of a liquidity event that is an IPO,
participants must provide services through 181 days post-IPO before any of the “accrued” time-based shares can vest. Since these options and awards were
tied to a liquidity event, and in accordance with the accounting guidance, the liquidity event was not deemed probable until occurrence, the Company did not
record any expense for these grants until the completion of the Company’s IPO. Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO on October 31, 2017, the Company
recognized stock-based compensation expense of approximately $21.2 million related to these performance-based stock options and RSUs.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company amended its Chief Executive Officer's (“CEO”) employment agreement to provide for
accelerated vesting of all of the CEO’s equity awards upon his termination due to death or disability while executing his employment duties. As a result of
this modification to the CEO’s vesting terms, the Company expects to record an incremental $7.6 million in stock-based compensation expense over the
service period beginning in October 2017 (following the completion of the Company’s IPO), $6.5 million of which was recorded by the Company during the
three months ended December 31, 2017. The remaining $1.1 million was recorded by the Company in the year ended December 31, 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company entered into separation agreements with three employees that resulted in the acceleration of the
vesting for stock options. As a result of the modification, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $2.3 million to sales and marketing
expense.

Determining the Fair Value of Stock Options

The fair value of stock option awards granted to employees and to be purchased under ESPP are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The key assumptions within the model are described as follows:

Fair Value of Common Stock
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Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company’s Board of Directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of its
common stock. These factors included, but were not limited to (i) contemporaneous third-party valuations of common stock; (ii) the rights and preferences of
redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to common stock; (iii) the lack of marketability of common stock; (iv) developments in the business; and (v)
the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions.

Subsequent to its IPO, the Company uses the market closing price for its common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on the date of
grant.

Risk-Free Interest Rate

The risk-free interest rate is based on the rate for a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a term that approximates the expected life of the option on the
date of grant.

Expected Term

The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. The expected term is calculated using the simplified
method for stock options issued at-the-money. For stock options that have been issued out-of-the-money, the expected term was determined by calculating the
midpoint of the simplified method and the contractual life of the option of 10 years, as neither historical experience nor other relevant data was available to
estimate the future exercise behavior of out-of-the money stock options. The Company uses the remaining contractual life as the expected term for non-
employee awards.

Volatility

The expected volatility is based on the average historic price volatility for the Company’s publicly traded industry peers based on daily price observations
over a period equivalent to the expected term of stock-based awards. The historical volatility data of a peer group is used as there is insufficient trading
history for the Company’s common stock.

Dividend Yield

The Company has never paid dividends and at present, does not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

The assumptions used to determine the grant date fair value of employee stock options and ESPP purchase rights for the periods presented are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

Employee Stock Options      
Fair value of common stock $29.92 – $30.97  $16.73 – $31.16  $15.78 – $21.56
Risk-free interest rate 2.4% – 2.8%  1.9% – 2.2%  1.2% – 2.1%
Expected term (in years) 6.1  6.0 – 6.1  6.0 – 8.1
Volatility 48%  46% – 49%  47% – 51%
Dividend yield —%  —%  —%
Employee Stock Purchase Plan      
Fair value of common stock $24.65 – $31.00  $25.12  $—
Risk-free interest rate 2.14% – 2.52%  1.4%  —%
Expected term (in years) 0.5  0.5  0
Volatility 30% – 43%  30%  —%
Dividend yield —%  —%  —%
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Note 10. Income Taxes

The components of loss before provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Domestic $ (85,252)  $ (82,292)  $ (66,810)
Foreign 13,361  3,411  2,581

Total $ (71,891)  $ (78,881)  $ (64,229)

* Adjusted to include the impact of Topic 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Current      
     Federal $ 1  $ 17  $ 4
     State 56  50  66
     Foreign 3,263  1,788  1,273
Total current 3,320  1,855  1,343
      

Deferred      
     Foreign (375)  (16)  (93)
Total deferred $ (375)  $ (16)  $ (93)
      

Total $ 2,945  $ 1,839  $ 1,250

* Adjusted to include the impact of Topic 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes and tax effects of net operating loss and credit carryforwards. Significant components of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

104



Table of Contents

 December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted

Deferred tax assets:    
     Federal and state net operating losses $ 59,803  $ 43,410
     Research/other credits 2,913  1,060
     Non-deductible and accrued expenses 4,756  4,485
     Deferred revenue 14,040  3,725
     Property and equipment 506  —
     Stock-based compensation 10,323  9,507
     Other 1,024  610

     Gross deferred tax assets 93,365  62,797

     Valuation allowance (83,376)  (54,233)
Net deferred tax assets 9,989  8,564
    

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Acquired intangible assets (4,117)  —

     Property and equipment —  (13)
Deferred commission (8,691)  (8,375)
Others (116)  —

Net deferred tax liabilities (12,924)  (8,388)
    

Total $ (2,935)  $ 176

* Adjusted to include the impact of Topic 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.

 Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax to the Company’s effective tax (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Tax at federal statutory rate $ (15,097)  $ (30,385)  $ (21,838)
State, net of federal benefit 61  60  61
Stock-based compensation (6,215)  4,097  3,225
Non-deductible warrant expenses —  272  (365)
Tax Reform federal rate change —  36,460  —
Change in valuation allowance 23,929  (10,512)  19,225
Other 267  1,847  942

Total $ 2,945  $ 1,839  $ 1,250

* Adjusted to include the impact of Topic 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed the Tax Act into law. The legislation significantly changes U.S. tax law by, among other
things, lowering corporate income tax rates, implementing a territorial tax system and imposing a mandatory repatriation tax on earnings of foreign
subsidiaries. The Tax Reform Act permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate from a maximum of 35% to a flat 21% rate, effective January 1,
2018. As a result of the change in the U.S. tax rate, the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were remeasured, resulting in an unfavorable change of
$36.5 million, which was offset by a corresponding change in the valuation allowance in its income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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The Tax Act also provided for a one-time deemed mandatory repatriation of post-1986 undistributed foreign subsidiary earnings and profits ("E&P")
through the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company had a provisional $6.9 million of undistributed foreign E&P subject to repatriation, however, no
tax liability was recognized as of December 31, 2017 because the deemed repatriation is expected to be fully offset by net operating losses. The effects of the
Tax Act may be adjusted within a one-year measurement period from the enactment date for items that were previously reported as provisional, or where a
provisional estimate could not be made. In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company finalized its provisional estimate of undistributed E&P that was subject to
repatriation and recorded an adjustment of $5.9 million. This change to the provisional estimate originally recorded in the financial statement period ending
December 31, 2017, did not have an impact on the Company’s income statement or balance sheet as the income inclusion was fully offset by net operating
loss deferred tax assets, which are subject to a full valuation allowance.

The Tax Act provides for new international rules for Global Intangible Low-Tax Income (“GILTI”), Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax (“BEAT”), and
Foreign Derived Intangible Income (“FDII”), which are effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018,
BEAT and FDII were not applicable to the Company and there was no income inclusion associated with GILTI.

A valuation allowance has been provided to reduce the deferred tax asset to an amount management believes is more likely than not to be realized. The
valuation allowance increased by $29.1 million and decreased by $0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $243.8 million, which
begin to expire in 2021 if not utilized. The Company also has California net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $29.3 million, which begin to
expire in 2028 if not utilized. The Company also has other state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $102.9 million, which begin to expire in
2019 if not utilized. The Company has federal, California, and Texas research and development credit carryforwards of $1.8 million, $1.2 million, and $0.1
million respectively. The federal research and development credits will begin to expire in 2035, if not utilized. California research and development credits
can be carried forward indefinitely.

Utilization of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations
provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such a limitation could result in the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards
before utilization. The Company performed an ownership change analysis from inception to the balance sheet date of December 31, 2018 and $2.8 million of
net operating loss carryforwards were written off due to the limitation.

The Company provides U.S. income taxes on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries, unless the subsidiaries’ earnings are considered indefinitely reinvested
outside the United States. As of December 31, 2018, there is no U.S. income tax impact of undistributed earnings from its foreign subsidiaries. Any earnings
if distributed by the foreign subsidiary would not result in any material liability since they would be offset by net operating losses.

Uncertain Tax Positions

For benefits to be realized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination. The amount recognized is measured as the
largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement. As a result of the implementation of these provisions, the
Company did not recognize any adjustments to retained earnings for uncertain tax positions.

A reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefit is as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of the period $ 1,727  $ 1,050  $ 254
     Additions for tax positions taken in prior years 104  248  185
     Additions for tax positions taken in current year 195  845  611
     Reductions for tax positions taken in prior years (759)  —  —
     Settlements with taxing authorities —  (416)  —

Unrecognized tax benefits at the end of the period $ 1,267  $ 1,727  $ 1,050
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It is the Company’s policy to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. During the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company did not recognize any significant accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The Company is subject to federal income tax as well as income tax in multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. Due to the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards, all tax years since inception remain subject to examination for United States federal tax returns, and fiscal year 2016 remains subject to
examination for Israel. There are tax years which remain subject to examination in various other jurisdictions that are not material to the Company’s financial
statements. When considering the outcomes and the timing of tax examinations, the Company is unable to determine the amount of uncertain tax positions
that will significantly change within the next 12 months.

On April 22, 2018, the Supreme Court of Israel ruled to uphold a decision for stock based compensation to be included within Israeli entities’ transfer
pricing reimbursement arrangements. As a result, the Company changed its tax return filing position for fiscal year 2017 and the uncertain tax position
associated with this liability decreased by approximately $0.4 million, there was a corresponding increase to current income tax payable included in accrued
expenses.

Note 11. Net Loss per Share

Net loss per share of common stock is computed using the two-class method required for participating securities based on their participation rights. All
series of redeemable convertible preferred stock are participating securities as the holders are entitled to participate in common stock dividends with common
stock on an as converted basis.

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by basic weighted-average shares outstanding during the
period. All participating securities are excluded from basic weighted-average shares outstanding. In computing diluted net loss attributable to common
stockholders, undistributed earnings are re-allocated to reflect the potential impact of dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by diluted weighted-average shares outstanding, including potentially
dilutive securities, unless anti-dilutive.

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in thousands, except per share
amounts):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Net loss $ (74,836)  $ (80,720)  $ (65,479)
Deemed dividend on the conversion of Series G redeemable convertible preferred stock —  12,810  —

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (74,836)  $ (93,530)  $ (65,479)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted 40,980  11,405  5,609

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (1.83)  $ (8.20)  $ (11.67)
* Adjusted to include the impact of ASC 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.

The following securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented
because their inclusion would reduce the net loss per share (in thousands).

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

Options to purchase common stock 6,013  9,314  9,588
Unvested early exercised common shares 47  146  330
Unvested restricted stock units 5,709  4,216  1,899
Shares estimated under ESPP 233  221  —
Warrants to purchase common stock —  83  233
Redeemable convertible preferred stock —  —  24,788
Warrants to purchase redeemable convertible preferred stock —  —  293
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Note 12. Employee Benefit Plans

Israeli labor laws and agreements require the Company’s Israeli subsidiary to make severance payments to retired or dismissed Israeli employees, as well
as to employees leaving employment under certain other circumstances. The Company’s severance obligations to employees are measured based upon length
of service and latest monthly salary amount. The Company has recorded a non-current liability of $2.5 million and $2.6 million as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, for the estimated amount of accrued severance benefits in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The current
portion of the liability was immaterial as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. The deposits are held with a severance pay fund in order to fund the obligation,
which totaled $2.0 million and $2.1 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and are recorded as a non-current asset in other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The current portion of the deposit was immaterial as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

A 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) was established that covers substantially all of the Company’s U.S. employees. The 401(k) plan
permits participants to make contributions by salary deduction pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company is responsible for
administrative costs of the 401(k) Plan. The Company provided for a match of 50% of the first 6% of an eligible employee’s compensation contributed, up to
a maximum matching dollar amount of $2,000 for a year. Matching contributions under the 401(k) Plan are 100% vested when made. Pre-tax 401(k) and
post-tax Roth 401(k) contributions are allocated to each participant’s individual account and are then invested in selected investment alternatives according to
the participants’ directions. The 401(k) Plan is intended to qualify under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code. As a tax-qualified retirement plan, pre-tax
contributions are not taxable to the employees until distributed from the 401(k) Plan, and post-tax contributions are not exempt from taxes at the time of
contribution but the earnings accumulated are tax-free and are not taxable upon distribution. All contributions are deductible by the Company when made.
The Company’s contributions to the 401(k) Plan were $1.3 million, $1.1 million, and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively.

Note 13. Segment Information

The Company’s business is conducted globally. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer who reviews financial
information presented on a consolidated basis accompanied by information about revenue by geographic region for purposes of allocating resources and
evaluating financial performance. There is one business activity and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating
results, and plans for levels, components, or types of products or services below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, there is a single reporting segment
and operating unit structure.

Revenue by geographic area is attributed based on the billing address of the customer and is as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2018  2017 *As Adjusted  2016 *As Adjusted

Revenue:      
Americas      
      United States $ 215,322  $ 165,140  $ 132,216
      Other Americas 6,883  6,122  5,966
      Total Americas 222,205  171,262  138,182
Europe, Middle East, and Africa (“EMEA”) 52,214  36,664  19,381
Asia Pacific and Japan (“APJ”) 23,232  16,478  9,983

Total revenue $ 297,651  $ 224,404  $ 167,546
* Adjusted to include the impact of Topic 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.
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Long-lived assets, net by geographic area are attributed based on legal entity structure and are as follows (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2018  2017

Long-lived assets, net:    
United States $ 18,570  $ 18,989
Israel 5,057  3,453
Other 722  818

Total long-lived assets, net $ 24,349  $ 23,260

Note 14. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the eight quarters in the period ended
December 31, 2018. The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this report and, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments, which consist only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary
for the fair presentation of the results of operations for these periods in accordance with GAAP. This data should be read in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report. These quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of our
operating results for a full year or any future period.
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 Three Months Ended

 
December 31,

2018  
September 30,

2018  
June

30, 2018  
March

31, 2018  
December 31,

2017 (1)  
September 30,

2017  
June

30, 2017  
March

31, 2017

 (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue:                
Product $ 47,482  $ 51,082  $ 34,323  $ 29,780  $ 34,994  $ 43,204  $ 26,842  $ 20,308
Maintenance and professional
services 37,250  34,546  33,271  29,917  27,913  26,136  23,139  21,868

Total revenue 84,732  85,628  67,594  59,697  62,907  69,340  49,981  42,176

Cost of revenue:                
Product (2) 6,852  8,947  4,919  7,136  6,964  7,240  5,545  4,092
Maintenance and professional
services (2) 10,634  10,250  9,794  9,350  9,109  8,688  8,543  8,431

Total cost of revenue 17,486  19,197  14,713  16,486  16,073  15,928  14,088  12,523
Total gross profit 67,246  66,431  52,881  43,211  46,834  53,412  35,893  29,653

Operating expenses:                
Research and development
(2)   17,161  15,062  14,803  14,687  14,801  10,985  10,702  10,947
Sales and marketing (2)   50,464  46,098  45,039  42,279  41,769  34,028  33,556  35,045
General and administrative
(2)   16,849  13,880  13,260  13,732  23,941  9,148  8,902  9,215

Total operating expenses 84,474  75,040  73,102  70,698  80,511  54,161  53,160  55,207
Loss from operations (17,228)  (8,609)  (20,221)  (27,487)  (33,677)  (749)  (17,267)  (25,554)
Interest expense (237)  (208)  (225)  (243)  (270)  (290)  (318)  (345)
Other income (expense), net 527  865  513  662  382  160  (82)  (144)
Revaluation of warrant liabilities —  —  —  —  (385)  —  50  (392)
Loss before income taxes (16,938)  (7,952)  (19,933)  (27,068)  (33,950)  (879)  (17,617)  (26,435)
Income tax provision 1,010  334  473  1,128  618  412  174  635
Net loss $ (17,948)  $ (8,286)  $ (20,406)  $ (28,196)  $ (34,568)  $ (1,291)  $ (17,791)  $ (27,070)
Deemed dividend on the
conversion of Series G
redeemable convertible preferred
stock —  —  —  —  12,810  —  —  —
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders $ (17,948)  $ (8,286)  $ (20,406)  $ (28,196)  $ (47,378)  $ (1,291)  $ (17,791)  $ (27,070)
Net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and
diluted $ (0.42)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.50)  $ (0.74)  $ (1.73)  $ (0.21)  $ (2.95)  $ (4.57)
Weighted-average shares used to
compute net loss per share
attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted 43,016  42,064  40,457  38,313  27,349  6,140  6,031  5,924

110



Table of Contents

_____________________    
(1) Adjusted to include the impact of Topic 606. Refer to Note 2 for more details on the impact of the adoption of this standard.
(2) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Three Months Ended

 
December 31, 

2018  
September 30, 

2018  
June 30, 

2018  
March 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017  
September 30,

2017  
June 30, 

2017  
March 31, 

2017

 (In thousands)

Cost of revenue:                
Product $ 79  $ 67  $ 54  $ 53  $ 43  $ 19  $ 20  $ 21
Maintenance and professional
services 804  715  723  773  1,361  286  319  325

Research and development 2,688  2,613  2,513  2,347  4,170  630  613  800
Sales and marketing 6,804  6,165  5,850  6,180  9,583  1,602  1,609  1,657
General and administrative 3,578  3,458  3,796  4,237  15,379  1,372  1,372  1,415

     Total $ 13,953  $ 13,018  $ 12,936  $ 13,590  $ 30,536  $ 3,909  $ 3,933  $ 4,218

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there
are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their
costs.

Based on our evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules and forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the 2013
framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2018.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their report that
is included herein.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-
15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. On November 7, 2018, we completed the acquisition of SecurityMatters. As permitted by the Securities
and Exchange Commission, management has elected to exclude the SecurityMatters business from its assessment of internal controls over financial statement
as of December 31, 2018. Total assets of the SecurityMatters business represented approximately 2% (excluding goodwill and intangible assets) of our
consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2018. Revenue and net loss related to SecurityMatters business represented approximately 1% and 1% of our
consolidated revenue and net loss, respectively, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal controls have been designed to
provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also
based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers and Directors

The information required by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with our 2019 annual
meeting of stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”), which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31,
2018, and is incorporated in this report by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

  

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are as follows:

    

  

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

    

  

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of
the schedule, or the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

    

  

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index below in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number  Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  

Filed
Herewith

3.1*  
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant.  10-Q  001-38253  3.1  

December 8,
2017   

3.2*  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.  10-Q  001-38253  3.2  
December 8,

2017   

4.1*  Specimen common stock certificate of the Registrant.  S-1/A  333-220767  4.1  
October 16,

2017   

4.2*  

Special Stockholder Voting Agreement and Irrevocably Proxy by
and among the Registrant, certain stockholders listed therein and
Michael DeCesare, dated September 13, 2017.  S-1  333-220767  4.2  October 2, 2017   

10.1*  
Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant
and each of its directors and executive officers.  S-1  333-220767  10.1  October 2, 2017   

10.2*+  2017 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreements thereunder.  S-1/A  333-220767  10.3  
October 16,

2017   

10.3*+  2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  S-1/A  333-220767  10.4  
October 16,

2017   

10.4*+  
2000 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended, and form of
agreements thereunder.  S-1  333-220767  10.5  October 2, 2017   

10.5*  
Lease Agreement, by and between the Registrant and CF Tasman
SV LLC, dated as of October 16, 2015.  S-1  333-220767  10.6  October 2, 2017   

10.6+*  
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Michael DeCesare, dated May 18, 2016, as amended.  S-1  333-220767  10.14  October 2, 2017   

10.7+*  
Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Antonio Pedro
Abreu, dated March 17, 2017.  S-1  333-220767  10.15  October 2, 2017   

10.8+*  
Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Christopher
Harms, dated March 17, 2017.  S-1  333-220767  10.16  October 2, 2017   

10.9+*  
Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Darren J.
Milliken, dated July 8, 2017.  S-1  333-220767  10.17  October 2, 2017   

10.10*  

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated
November 25, 2015, by and among the Registrant and certain of its
stockholders.  S-1  333-220767  10.18  October 2, 2017   

10.11+*  Summary of 2017 Bonus Plan.  10-K  001-38253  10.18  
February 22,

2018   
10.12+*  Outside Director Compensation Policy  S-1  333-220767  10.21  October 2, 2017   

10.13+*  Executive Bonus Compensation Plan  S-1/A  333-220767  10.22  
October 16,

2017   

10.14*  

Master Integration Agreement between the Registrant and Arrow
Intelligent Systems Group operating under Arrow Electronics, Inc.,
dated November 3, 2017.  10-K  001-38253  10.21  

February 22,
2018   

10.15+  Summary of 2018 Bonus Plan          X
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10.16  

Share Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
Securitymatters Holding B.V., Emerald Cleantech Fund III LP,
Emerald Industrial Innovation Fund LP, KPN Ventures B.V.,
Phoenix Contact Venture Funds I GmbH, Robert Bosch Venture
Capital GmbH, Mr. Alessandro Foti, Mr. Cliff Gregory, Bolzonsoft
B.V., Etalle B.V. And Zambon B.V., dated November 6, 2018          X

21.1  List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.          X

23.1  
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm.          X

31.1  
Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.          X

31.2  
Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.          X

32.1**  
Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.          X

32.2**  
Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.          X

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document.           
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.           
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.           
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.           
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.           
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.           
______________

* Previously filed.
** The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Forescout Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective
of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

+ Indicates a management or compensatory plan.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 1, 2019.

 
  

FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Michael DeCesare

 Michael DeCesare
 Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Michael DeCesare
and Christopher Harms, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him
or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the
same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-
fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or
any of them, or their or his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature  Title  Date

/s/ Michael DeCesare  Chief Executive Officer, President & Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
March 1, 2019MICHAEL DECESARE   

/s/ Christopher Harms  Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer & Principal Accounting Officer)

 
March 1, 2019CHRISTOPHER HARMS   

/s/ Yehezkel Yeshurun  Co-Founder and
Chairman of the Board of Directors

 
March 1, 2019YEHEZKEL YESHURUN   

/s/ David G. DeWalt  Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors

 
March 1, 2019

DAVID G. DEWALT   
/s/ James Beer  

Director
 

March 1, 2019
JAMES BEER   

/s/ T. Kent Elliott  
Director

 
March 1, 2019

T. KENT ELLIOTT   
/s/ Theresia Gouw  

Director
 

March 1, 2019
THERESIA GOUW   

/s/ Mark Jensen  
Director

 
March 1, 2019

MARK JENSEN   
/s/ Rami Kalish  

Director
 

March 1, 2019
RAMI KALISH   

/s/ Enrique Salem  
Director

 
March 1, 2019

ENRIQUE SALEM   
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Exhibit 10.15
SUMMARY of 2018 BONUS PLAN

The 2018 Bonus Plan (the “2018 Bonus Plan”) of ForeScout Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) provides for cash bonuses payable
semiannually based on the achievement of company performance goals and individual performance goals established by the Company’s board
of directors and compensation committee for fiscal year 2018. The company performance goals and individual performance goals are measured
over two, semiannual performance periods during 2018. For the fiscal year 2018 performance period, with bonuses payable semiannually, a
progress payment may become payable at the end of the first half of fiscal 2018, based on specified levels of achievement of the performance
goals for such semiannual period. Any such bonus amount for the first half-portion of the year is capped at 100% of the participant’s target
bonus opportunity for such half-year. If the participant exceeds his or her performance goals for the first semiannual performance period, he or
she will not receive more than 100% of his or her bonus target for the first semiannual performance period. Rather, if a participant exceeds his
or her performance goals for the first semiannual performance period, such portion greater than 100% will be taken into account in determining
whether the participant’s performance goals were met in the second semiannual performance period.

For the bonuses paid to employees, other than the CEO and senior vice presidents, the bonus pool will be funded for the performance
period when the Company achieves a minimum of 80% for each of revenue, total expense, and balanced scorecard related performance goals.
For the bonuses paid to the CEO and senior vice presidents, the bonus pool will be funded for the performance period when the Company
achieves a minimum of 85% for each of revenue, total expense, and balanced scorecard related company performance goals. Achievement of
all three corporate goals at 100% will fund the bonus pool at the target level.

Following the end of fiscal year 2018, the Company’s board of directors (or its authorized committee) reviews achievements against
each annual performance metric and determines the bonus pool funding based on the Company’s achievements against the performance
metrics. The semiannual bonus payments for each of the Company’s named executive officers were calculated based on these determinations
and, for any participant that was employed for part of fiscal year 2018, pro-rated based on the time of employment with the Company during
fiscal year 2018. The 2018 Bonus Plan requires continued employment through the bonus payment date in order to receive a bonus for the
applicable performance period.



EXECUTION VERSION

Exhibit 10.16
DATE NOVEMBER 6 2018

_________________________________________________________________

FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

as the Purchaser

and

SECURITYMATTERS HOLDING B.V.

EMERALD CLEANTECH FUND III LP

EMERALD INDUSTRIAL INNOVATION FUND LP

KPN VENTURES B.V.

PHOENIX CONTACT VENTURE FUNDS I GmbH

ROBERT BOSCH VENTURE CAPITAL GmbH

MR. ALESSANDRO FOTI

and

MR. CLIFF GREGORY

as the Sellers

and

BOLZONSOFT B.V., ETALLE B.V. and ZAMBON B.V.

as the shareholders of SecurityMatters Holding B.V. solely for purposes of Clause 7.5 and Clause 7.6.2

and

MR. DAMIANO BOLZONI, MR. SANDRO ETALLE AND MR. EMMANUELE ZAMBON

as the Founders, solely for purposes of Clause 13.1 and Schedule 7

and

HALSTEN M&A B.V.

as the Sellers’ Representative

________________________________________________________________________

SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR THE SALE AND PURCHASE OF

THE ENTIRE SHARE CAPITAL OF SECURITYMATTERS B.V.

________________________________________________________________________
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THIS AGREEMENT is made as of November 6, 2018,

BETWEEN:

(1) FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, USA, having its registered address at c/o

Corporation Service Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware, USA 19808 and its principal place of business at 190 West Tasman

Drive, San Jose, California 95134, USA (the Purchaser);

(2) SECURITYMATTERS HOLDING B.V., a private company with limited liability (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid)

incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, having its corporate seat in Eindhoven, the Netherlands, registered with the trade register

(handelsregister) of the Chamber of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 08214020 (Company Holding);

(3) KPN VENTURES B.V., a private company with limited liability (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the

laws of the Netherlands, having its corporate seat in Groningen, the Netherlands, registered with the trade register (handelsregister) of the Chamber

of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 02052969 (KPNV);

(4) EMERALD CLEANTECH FUND III LP, a limited partnership under the laws of Guernsey, registered with the Register of Limited Partnerships

of the Island of Guernsey under number 1382 (ECF);

(5) EMERALD INDUSTRIAL INNOVATION FUND LP, a limited partnership under the laws of Guernsey, registered with the Register of Limited

Partnerships of the Island of Guernsey under number 2550 (EIF);

(6) PHOENIX CONTACT VENTURE FUNDS I GmbH, a private company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Germany, having its

corporate seat in Blomberg, Germany, registered with the Amtsgericht Lemgo under number HRB 8593 (PCVF);

(7) ROBERT BOSCH VENTURE CAPITAL GmbH, a private company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Germany, having its

corporate seat in Gerlingen, Germany, registered with the Commercial Register in Stuttgart under number HRB 724692 (RBVC);

(8) MR. ALESSANDRO FOTI, a private individual (ARF);

(9) MR. CLIFF GREGORY, a private individual (CGH); and

(10) HALSTEN M&A B.V., a private company with limited liability (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the

laws of the Netherlands, having its corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, registered with the trade register (handelsregister) of the Chamber

of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 72136324 (the Sellers’ Representative).

Company Holding, ECF, EIF, KPNV, PCVF, RBVC, ARF and CGH are hereinafter jointly also referred to as the Sellers and each as a Seller. The Purchaser,

the Sellers, the Founders and the Sellers’ Representative are hereinafter jointly also referred to as the Parties and each as a Party.

WHEREAS:

(A) The Sellers together hold full legal and beneficial title to all issued and outstanding shares (the Shares) in the capital of SecurityMatters B.V., a

private company with limited liability (besloten vennootschap
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met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, having its corporate seat in Eindhoven, the Netherlands and its

registered address at John F. Kennedylaan 2, 5612AB Eindhoven, the Netherlands, registered with the trade register (handelsregister) of the

Chamber of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 08214012 (the Company).

(B) On the date hereof, the Shares are held as detailed in the overview of the Sellers’ shareholdings in the Company attached hereto as Schedule 1.

(C) The Sellers wish to sell and transfer to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser wishes to acquire from the Sellers, the Shares, all on the terms and subject

to the conditions set out in this Agreement.

(D) The Parties have complied with the provisions of the Social and Economic Council Merger Regulation for the protection of employees (SER-

Besluit Fusiegedragsregels 2015 ter bescherming van de belangen van werknemers) and the Dutch Works Council Act (Wet op de

Ondernemingsraden), to the extent applicable.

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

Actual Cash: means the total amount of Cash, as finally determined in accordance with Clause 4.

Actual Debt: means the total amount of Debt, as finally determined in accordance with Clause 4.

Actual Seller Transaction Costs: means the total amount of the Seller Transaction Costs, as finally determined in accordance with Clause

4.

Actual Working Capital: means the total amount of Working Capital, as finally determined in accordance with Clause 4.

Adjustment: means the amount calculated and payable in accordance with Clause 4.1.2.

Adjustment Escrow Account: means the escrow account opened by the Parties with the Escrow Agent on or before the Completion

Date, which escrow account shall be operated by the Escrow Agent in accordance with the provisions of

the Adjustment Escrow Agreement.

Adjustment Escrow Agreement: means the escrow agreement to be entered into, on or before the Completion Date, between the Sellers’

Representative, the Purchaser and the Escrow Agent, in the Agreed Form attached hereto as Schedule

3-C, in order to secure claims in relation to any Adjustment that may be repayable by the Sellers.

Adjustment Escrow Amount: means an amount of $500,000, which will serve as security for Adjustment that may be repayable by

the Sellers and will be released following the final determination of any Adjustment in accordance with

the provisions of the Adjustment Escrow Agreement.

Affiliate: means (i) solely for the purposes of paragraph A.3.1, A.3.6 and A.4.4 of Schedule 4 and for the

purposes of paragraph 1 of Schedule 7, with respect to any Person, any other Person which directly or

indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person. For purposes of the

immediately preceding sentence, the term “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms

“controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any Person,

means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the

management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by Contract

or otherwise, and (ii) for all other purposes under this Agreement, the ultimate parent of a Party and any

and all Persons with respect to which now or hereafter the ultimate parent of a Party, directly or

indirectly, holds more than fifty percent (50%) of the nominal value of the share capital issued, or more

than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power at general meetings, or has the power to appoint and to

dismiss a majority of the directors or otherwise to direct the activities of such Person.

Agreed Form: means in relation to a document, such document in the terms agreed between the Parties, with such



alterations as may be agreed in writing between the Parties from time to time.

Agreement: means this share purchase agreement, including the schedules and annexes attached hereto, as the same

may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

Alternative Proposal: means any inquiry, proposal or offer relating to an Alternative Transaction.

Alternative Transaction: means any direct or indirect acquisition of all or any portion of the assets of or Equity Interests in any

Group Company by any Person other than Purchaser or its Affiliates (other than acquisitions of Equity

Interests by Employees pursuant to employee benefit arrangements in existence as of the Signing Date),

or any other transaction the consummation of which would reasonably be expected to prevent or

materially impede, interfere with or delay the Transaction.

ARF: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Base Consideration: has the meaning as defined in Clause 3.1(a).

Business: means the Group’s business of providing cybersecurity tools for critical infrastructure, industrial control

systems and SCADA environments.

Business Day: means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are generally open in Amsterdam, the

Netherlands and San Francisco, California, USA for normal business.

Cash: means, without duplication, (i) any cash and cash equivalents of the Group, whether on hand or in

deposit, checking, brokerage or other accounts provided by financial institutions, on a consolidated

basis as of 11:59 pm CET on the date immediately prior to the Completion Date, in each case to the

extent constituting “cash and cash equivalents” determined in accordance with EU-IFRS, plus (ii) any

un-cleared deposits of the Company, minus (iii) any cash needed to fund checks, drafts, draws and any

electronic disbursements written or ordered by the Company but not cleared prior to Completion (each

of clauses (i) and (ii) determined as of 11:59 pm CET on the date immediately prior to the Completion

Date); provided, however, that, other than the Rental Deposits, Cash shall not include any cash or cash

equivalents subject to any legal or contractual restriction on the ability to transfer or use such cash or

cash equivalents for any lawful purpose, including security deposits, collateral reserve accounts, escrow

accounts, custodial accounts and other similar restricted cash or cash equivalents. These Cash

restrictions do not apply and “Cash” shall not be otherwise reduced hereunder with respect to any tax or

other cost or liability imposed or incurred on the repatriation of Cash by Purchaser or, following the

Completion, any Group Company.

Change in Control Payments: means, without duplication, (i) any severance or termination pay, change in control, transaction,

retention, bonus, profit-sharing or other similar compensation, benefits or payments to any Service

Provider, (ii) any payments made in connection with any of the Repriced Options and (iii) any increase

of any benefits otherwise payable by any Group Company, in each case of the foregoing clauses (i), (ii)

and (iii), which are or may become payable by or on behalf of the Purchaser’s Group or any Group

Company, either alone or in connection with any other event, in connection with the execution and

delivery of this Agreement or the Completion, under any Contract or Company Benefit Plan, or under

any other plan, policy, agreement or arrangement. For the avoidance of doubt, the expenses related to

termination of the employment of any Employee after the Completion shall not be deemed Change in

Control Payments (nor shall they otherwise be deemed Seller Transaction Costs).

CHG: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Claim: means any claim against the Sellers under this Agreement including a Warranty Claim and/or, as the

case may be, an Indemnity Claim.

Company Guarantees: has the meaning as defined in Paragraph A.4.2.

Company Holding: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Competing Business: means any business which is, or is likely to be, competitive with the Business conducted at the

Completion Date.



Completion: means completion of the sale and purchase of the Shares in accordance with Clause 5.

Completion Balance Sheet: has the meaning as defined in Clause 4.1.2(a).

Completion Date: means the date on which Completion takes place.

Confidential Information: has the meaning as defined in Clause 15.1.

Conditions: means the conditions to the Completion set forth in Clause 5.1.

Consideration: means the total consideration to be paid for the Shares and Options referred to in Clause 3.1.

Contract: means any written or oral contract, agreement, plan, covenant, instrument, arrangement, obligation,

understanding, commitment or undertaking of any nature (including leases, licenses, mortgages, notes,

guarantees, sublicenses, subcontracts, letters of intent and purchase orders).

Covered Data: means Personal Data and Product Data.

Continuing Founder: means Mr Damiano Bolzoni.

DCC: means the Dutch Civil Code (Burgerlijk Wetboek).

Debt: means, without duplication (whether or not then due and payable), to the extent they are incurred, prior

to Completion by a Group Company (and in each case to the extent remaining unpaid as of 11.59 pm

CET prior to the Completion Date: (i) all indebtedness or other obligations or liabilities (a) for

borrowed money, whether current or funded, secured or unsecured, (b) evidenced by bonds, debentures,

notes or similar instruments (whether or not convertible) or arising under indentures, and (c) in respect

of mandatorily redeemable or purchasable share capital or securities convertible into share capital, (ii)

all obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services (including any potential future

earn-out, purchase price adjustment, releases of “holdbacks” or similar contingent payments) which are

required to be classified and accounted for EU-IFRS as liabilities (other than ordinary course trade

payables) (Deferred Purchase Price), (iii) all liabilities in respect of any lease of (or other arrangement

conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which are, and to the

extent, required to be classified and accounted for under EU-IFRS as capital leases; (iv) all obligations

arising out of any financial hedging, swap or similar arrangements, (v) all liabilities for the

reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance, guarantee, surety,

performance, or appeal bond, or similar credit transaction; (vi) all guarantees of any indebtedness or

other obligations or liabilities of a third party of a nature similar to the items described in clauses (i)

through (v) above, to the extent of the indebtedness or other obligation or liability guaranteed; (vii) the

aggregate amount of all accrued interest payable with respect to any of the items described in clauses (i)

through (vi) above; and (viii) the aggregate amount of all prepayment premiums, penalties, breakage

costs, “make whole amounts,” costs, expenses and other payment obligations that would arise if any or

all of the items described in clauses (i) through (vii) above were prepaid, extinguished, unwound and

settled in full as of such specified date. For purposes of determining the Deferred Purchase Price

obligations as of a specified date, such obligations shall be deemed to be the maximum amount of

Deferred Purchase Price owing as of such specified date (whether or not then due and payable) or

potentially owing at a future date.

Deed of Transfer: means the notarial deed of transfer for the Shares, to be executed in the Agreed Form on the Completion

Date before the Notary pursuant to Clause 7.2.

Defaulting Party: has the meaning as defined in Clause 7.3.

Deferred Revenue: means the deferred revenue balance of the Group on a consolidated basis as of 11:59 pm CET on the

date prior to the Completion Date, determined in accordance with EU-IFRS and consistent with IFRS

15.

Designated Promised Options: means the options to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares promised by the Company and set forth on

Paragraph A.4.7 (i) of the Disclosure Letter that are issuable to the individuals set forth on Schedule 9-

C hereto and designated as “Designated Promised Options”.



Disclosed: has the meaning as defined in Schedule 6 (Warranty Limitations), paragraph 1.

Disclosed Information: means any facts, matters or other information Disclosed in this Agreement and/or the Disclosure Letter.

Disclosure Letter: means the letter from the Sellers to the Purchaser, in the Agreed Form, dated as per the date hereof,

attached hereto as Schedule 2.

Dispute: has the meaning as defined in Clause 17.2.

ECF: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

EIF: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Electronic Delivery: has the meaning as defined in Clause 16.6.

Employment Agreements: means the new employment agreements or the addenda to the employment agreements (as the case may

be) executed in the Agreed Form on or prior to the date hereof by a Group Company or the Purchaser’s

Group (as the case may be) and each of the Key Employees, to be effective upon the Completion.

Escrow Accounts: means the Indemnity Escrow Account and/or the Holdback Escrow Account and/or the Adjustment

Escrow Account, as the case may be and Escrow Account means any one of them.

Escrow Agent: ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

Escrow Agreements: means the Indemnity Escrow Agreement and/or the Holdback Escrow Agreement and/or the

Adjustment Escrow Agreement, as the case may be and Escrow Agreement means any one of them.

Escrow Amounts: means the Indemnity Escrow Amount and/or the Holdback Escrow Amount and/or the Adjustment

Escrow Amount, as the case may be and Escrow Amount means any one of them.

Estimated Cash: means the estimated amount of the Cash of the Group on a consolidated basis as of 11:59 pm CET on

the date prior to the Completion Date, which estimated amount shall be notified by the Sellers’

Representative to the Purchaser in writing no later than five (5) Business Days prior to Completion in

accordance with Clause 3.2.1.

Estimated Debt: means the estimated amount of the Debt of the Group on a consolidated basis as of 11:59 pm CET on

the date prior to the Completion Date, which estimated amount shall be notified by the Sellers’

Representative to the Purchaser in writing no later than five (5) Business Days prior to Completion in

accordance with Clause 3.2.1.

Estimated Seller Transaction Costs: means the estimated amount of the Seller Transaction Costs as of 11:59 pm CET on the date prior to the

Completion Date, which estimated amount shall be notified by the Sellers’ Representative to the

Purchaser in writing no later than five (5) Business Days prior to Completion in accordance with Clause

3.2.1.

Estimated Working Capital: means the estimated amount of the Working Capital of the Group on a consolidated basis as of 11:59

pm CET on the date prior to the Completion Date, which estimated amount shall be notified by the

Sellers’ Representative to the Purchaser no later than five (5) Business Days prior to Completion in

accordance with Clause 3.2.1.

Equity Interests: means, with respect to any Person, (i) any share of capital stock of, or other ownership, membership,

partnership, joint venture or equity interest in, such Person, (ii) any indebtedness, securities, options,

warrants, call, subscription or other rights of, or granted by, such Person or any of its Affiliates that are

convertible into, or are exercisable or exchangeable for, or giving any Person any right to acquire any

such share of capital stock or other ownership, partnership, joint venture or equity interest, in all cases,

whether vested or unvested, (iii) any stock appreciation right, phantom stock, interest in the ownership

or earnings of such Person or other equity equivalent or equity-based award or right, or (iv) any

indebtedness having the right to vote (or convertible into or exchangeable for securities having the right

to vote) on any matters on which any holder of securities of such Person may vote.

EU-IFRS: means the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and Part 9 of Book 2 of the

DCC, consistently applied.



First Date: has the meaning as defined in Clause 4.1.2(a).

Founders: means Mr Damiano Bolzoni, Mr Sandro Etalle and Mr Emmanuele Zambon.

Fully Diluted Shares means the sum of (a) the aggregate number of Shares that are issued and outstanding immediately prior

to the Completion, calculated on an as converted to ordinary shares basis, plus (b) the aggregate number

of Shares on an as converted to ordinary shares basis that are issuable upon full exercise, settlement,

exchange or conversion of all Options and any other securities or rights (whether vested or unvested)

that are convertible into, exercisable for or exchangeable for, Shares that are issued and outstanding

immediately prior to the Completion; provided, however, that Fully Diluted Shares shall not include any

Repriced Options or Designated Promised Options.

Fundamental Warranties: means the Warranties referred to in paragraphs A.1 (Organization, authority and capacity of the Group

Companies and the Sellers), A.3 (The Company and the Subsidiaries), A.4 (The Shares and Subsidiary

Shares), I (Tax) and L (No Finder’s Fees).

Fundamental Warranty Breach: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Fundamental Warranty Claim: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Funds Flow: has the meaning as defined in Clause 3.2.3.

Governmental Authority: means, to the extent it has jurisdiction in respect of the relevant matter, any supranational, national,

state, municipal, provincial, regional or local, judicial, arbitral, legislative, executive, administrative,

regulatory or competition agency, entity, official or authority of the Netherlands, United States,

European Union or any other jurisdiction or public international organization (i.e. World Bank, Red

Cross, etc), any stock exchange or similar self-regulatory organization or any quasi-governmental or

private body exercising any regulatory, Taxing or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority,

political party, royal family, and any government-owned or controlled enterprise, organization, entity,

business, or body.

Group or Group Companies: means the Company and each of the Subsidiaries and Group Company means any one of them.

Holdback Amount: means an amount in U.S. dollars equal to eight and one-third percent (8 1/3%) of the aggregate portion

of the Initial Consideration payable to Company Holding before deducting any of the Escrow Amounts

as set out in the Spreadsheet Certificate.

Holdback Escrow Account: means the escrow account opened by the Purchaser and Company Holding with the Escrow Agent on or

before the Completion Date, which escrow account shall be operated by the Escrow Agent in

accordance with the provisions of the Holdback Escrow Agreement.

Holdback Escrow Agreement: means the escrow agreement to be entered into, on or before the Completion Date, between Company

Holding, the Purchaser and the Escrow Agent, in the Agreed Form attached hereto as Schedule 3-A, in

order to secure payment of the Holdback Amount.

Holdback Escrow Amount: means an amount equal to the Holdback Amount, which will serve as security for claims in relation to

the payment of the Holdback Amount, 50% of which shall be released to Company Holding on the 1st

anniversary of the Completion Date and the remaining 50% shall be released on the 2nd anniversary of

the Completion Date, provided that the Service Condition is met on each of these dates and furthermore

in accordance with the provisions of the Holdback Escrow Agreement.

Indemnified Party: has the meaning as defined in Clause 11.1.1.

Indemnities: means the Sellers’ obligation to indemnify the Purchaser as further specified in Clause 11.1.

Indemnity Claim: means a claim by the Purchaser against the Sellers under the Indemnities.

Indemnity Escrow Account: means the escrow account opened by the Parties with the Escrow Agent on or before the Completion

Date, which escrow account shall be operated by the Escrow Agent in accordance with the provisions of

the Indemnity Escrow Agreement.

Indemnity Escrow Agreement: means the escrow agreement to be entered into, on or before the Completion Date, between the Sellers’



Representative, the Purchaser and the Escrow Agent, in the Agreed Form attached hereto as Schedule

3-B, in order to secure claims in relation to a breach of the Seller’s Warranties or the Indemnities and to

secure claims in relation to any Adjustment that may be repayable by the Sellers.

Indemnity Escrow Amount: means an amount of $11,325,000, which will serve as security for Claims and will be released until

thirty (30) days after the date that is eighteen (18) months following the Completion Date in accordance

with the provisions of the Indemnity Escrow Agreement.

Independent Accountant: has the meaning as defined in Clause 4.1.2(c).

Initial Consideration: has the meaning as defined in Clause 3.2.5.

Initial Consideration Certificate: has the meaning as defined in Clause 3.2.1.

Initial Per Share Consideration: means, with respect to each Share, a cash amount (without interest) equal to the quotient obtained by

dividing (x) the Initial Consideration by (y) the Fully Diluted Shares.

Investor Indemnifying Parties: means ECF, EIF, KPNV, PCVF and RBVC, and Investor Indemnifying Party means any one of them,

as the context requires.

IP Warranties: means the Warranties referred to in Section F and G of Schedule 4.

IP Warranty Breach: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

IP Warranty Claim: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Key Employees: means the individuals set forth on Schedule 9-A.

KPNV: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Laws or Law: means any and all applicable statutes, directives, ordinances, decrees, judgments, orders, rules,

regulations, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, writ, injunction,

award, ruling, requirement or laws issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise

put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Authority (including any judicial or

administrative interpretation thereof).

Liability or Liabilities: means any liability, indebtedness, deficiency, guaranty, endorsement, obligation or commitment of any

kind or nature, whether known or unknown, contingent, accrued, absolute, due or to become due,

secured or unsecured, matured, unmatured or otherwise, and whether or not required to be recorded or

reflected on a balance sheet under EU-IFRS.

Limitation Period: has the meaning as defined in Schedule 6, clause 4.

Losses: means, without duplication, any claims, damages, losses, liabilities, injuries, royalties, awards,

judgments, settlements, demands, fines, deficiencies, penalties, Taxes, interest, fees, costs and expenses,

as determined on the basis of section 6:96 DCC (including reasonable legal costs and reasonable

experts’ and consultants’ fees incurred to investigate, defend or obtain satisfaction in and outside legal

proceedings arising out of, resulting from, relating thereto or in connection therewith). For the

avoidance of doubt, all Losses of an Indemnified Party shall be calculated net of insurance proceeds or

sources of recovery for indemnification from third parties (in each case, net of reasonable costs of

collection, deductible, retroactive premium adjustment or other retroactive payments, reimbursement

obligations or other costs directly related to such insurance proceeds or other sources of recovery), in

each case to the extent actually received by such Indemnified Party. It is understood that the decision to

seek indemnification from third parties, insurance proceeds (except from the Warranty Insurance, which

indemnification shall be sought at all times in accordance with Clause 10.1.5 and except for the

Company D&O Tail Policy) or otherwise shall be made by the Purchaser in its reasonable judgment.

Management Agreements: means, collectively, the management or consultancy agreements between (i) Bolzonsoft B.V., Mr.

Damiano Bolzoni and the Company, (ii) Etalle B.V. and the Company and (iii) Zambon B.V., Mr.

Emmanuele Zambon and the Company.

Non Compete Agreements: means the non-compete and non-solicitation agreements or the addenda to the employment agreements



(as the case may be), executed in the Agreed Form on or prior to the date hereof by a Group Company

or the Purchaser’s Group (as the case may be) and each of the Key Employees, to be effective upon the

Completion.

Non Investor Indemnifying Parties: means Company Holding, CHG, ARF and Non Investor Indemnifying Party means any one of them,

as the context requires.

Notary: means civil law notary Mr. R.M. Rieter or another civil law notary of Bird & Bird LLP in The Hague,

or such civil law notary’s substitute.

Notary Account: means the trust account (kwaliteitsrekening) of the office of the Notary, bank account number

NL66ABNA0240486331 in the name of “Kwaliteitsrekening Notariaat Bird & Bird” with ABN AMRO

Bank (BIC: ABNANL2A).

Notary Letter: means the letter of instruction by the Parties to the Notary, inter alia setting out the funds flow at

Completion, which shall be consistent with the Spreadsheet Certificate and the Funds Flow (as it applies

to the Notary) and shall be executed in the Agreed Form by the Purchaser, the Sellers, the Company and

the Notary no later than the Business Day immediately preceding the Completion Date.

Option Consideration: means, the aggregate net cash amount payable hereunder with respect to all Options, based on the Per

Option Consideration.

Option Plan: means the employee participation plan attached to the Disclosure Letter as Annex 1.

Option Release Agreement: has the meaning as defined in Clause 5.1.2(e).

Options: means the options to purchase Shares granted pursuant to the Option Plan to any Person.

Parties: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

PCVF: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Per Option Consideration: means, with respect to each Share subject to an Option, a cash amount (without interest) equal to the

excess of (i) the Initial Per Share Consideration, over (ii) the per share exercise price of such Share

subject to such Option.

Per Share Consideration: means, with respect to each Share, a cash amount (without interest) equal to the quotient obtained by

dividing (x) the Consideration by (y) the Fully Diluted Shares.

Person: means an individual or entity, including a company or corporation, a partnership, a limited liability

company, a trust, a proprietorship, a joint venture, an association, a joint stock company, a foundation or

other legal entity, or unincorporated organisation, including a Governmental Authority (or any

department, agency, or political subdivision thereof).

Personal Fundamental Warranties: has the meaning as defined in Clause 8.1.1.

Protective Covenants: has the meaning as described in Schedule 7.

Pro Rata Part: means each Seller’s share as a percentage of the aggregate shareholding of Sellers at Completion as set

out in the Spreadsheet Certificate.

Purchaser: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Purchaser’s Group: means the Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Group Companies after the Completion).

RBVC: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Rental Deposits: means cash the Company has deposited as security in respect of (i) a €82,000 (eighty two thousand

euro’s), issued in relation to the Lease in the Netherlands, (ii) $5,000 (five thousand U.S. dollars),

issued in relation to the Lease in the United States.

Representative: means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s directors, managers, officers, employees, consultants,

contractors, shareholders, counsel, advisors, agents and other representatives.

Repriced Options: means the Options held by the individuals set forth on Schedule 9-B hereto.



Required Accounts: has the meaning as defined in Clause 7.6.3.

Rules: has the meaning as defined in Clause 17.2.

Second Date: has the meaning as defined in Clause 4.1.2(b).

Securities: means the Shares, the Options and any other Equity Interests of the Company.

Securities Act: means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933.

Securityholder: means a holder of Securities.

Securityholder Matters: means any claim by any current, former or purported Securityholder, any holder of a Repriced Option,

Designated Promised Option, or any other Person, asserting or alleging rights with respect to or in

connection with any Securities, Repriced Option or Designated Promised Options, including any claim

asserted, based upon or related to (i) the ownership or rights to ownership of any Securities, Repriced

Option or Designated Promised Options at any time prior to the Completion, (ii) any rights of a

securityholder of the Company or holder of Repriced Options or Designated Promised Options at any

time prior to the Completion, including any rights to securities, antidilution protections, preemptive

rights, rights of first offer or first refusal or rights to notice or to vote securities of the Company,

(iii) any rights under the Organizational Documents, or the Option Plan, in each case, as in effect prior

to the Completion, (iv) any actual or alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by any current or former

director or officer (in each case, to the extent serving in such role prior to the Completion) of the

Company, (v) the Transaction or the Transaction Agreements to which the Company is a party,

including any inaccuracy in the Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet Certificate or the

Funds Flow, or (vi) any claim that such Person’s securities, Repriced Options or Designated Promised

Options were not issued or wrongfully issued or repurchased by the Company at any time prior to the

Completion, except, in each case, for the right following the Completion and in compliance with the

terms of this Agreement the right of such Person to receive such Person’s portion of the Consideration

as provided herein and set forth on the Spreadsheet Certificate, the Funds Flow and the Notary Letter.

Sellers: has the meaning as defined on the first page of this Agreement.

Sellers’ Bank Accounts: means the bank accounts in the name of each Seller as the Sellers may notify to the Purchaser in writing

and a Seller’s Bank Account means any one of the Sellers’ Bank Accounts.

Sellers’ Group: means the Sellers and their Affiliates (not including the Group Companies after the Completion).

Sellers’ Representative: has the meaning as defined in Clause 14.1.

Seller Transaction Costs: means, without duplication, any amount for fees, costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the

Group (to the extent incurred prior to or as a result of the Completion or if incurred after Completion by

the Company or Purchaser with approval of the Sellers’ Representative) or the Sellers in connection

with the Transaction and in each case to the extent remaining unpaid as of 11:59 pm CET on the date

prior to the Completion, including (i) all fees, costs and expenses of lawyers, accountants, investment

bankers, brokers, financial and other advisers and service providers (including any electronic data room

provider and of the Sellers’ Representative) in relation to the Transaction payable by any Group

Company, (ii) all termination, pre-payment, balloon or similar fees or payments (including penalties)

resulting from early termination of Contracts or otherwise resulting from or in connection with the

Transaction (including the Termination Agreements) (it being understood that any payments resulting

from the early termination of Contracts following the Completion shall be deemed not to be “Seller

Transaction Costs” and shall be made at the Purchaser Group’s expense), (iii) all payments required to

obtain consents, waivers, approvals, terminations or amendments under any Contract of any Group

Company as a result of or in connection with the Transaction or as are otherwise required for any

Contract to remain in full force and effect as of immediately following the Completion (it being

understood that any payments made by Purchaser and/or the Company to obtain consents, waivers,

approvals terminations or amendments under Contracts of any Group Company following the

Completion shall be deemed not to be “Seller Transaction Costs” and shall be made at the Purchaser



Group’s expense), (iv) the employer portion of any payroll or other similar Taxes resulting from any

payment made to Securityholders with respect to the Securities held by them or any other compensatory

payment made in connection with the Completion of the Transactions, (v) all premiums and other

amounts payable to obtain the Company D&O Tail Policy, (vi) one-half of the fees and expenses

payable to the Escrow Agent retained in connection with the Transaction, and (vii) all Change in

Control Payments.

Sellers’ Warranties: has the meaning as defined in Clause 8.1.1.

Service Condition: means the condition that the Continuing Founder continues to remain employed by the Company or, as

the case may be, the Purchaser on the first anniversary of the Completion Date and the second

anniversary of the Completion Date, provided that this condition is:

(a) deemed to be met if the Continuing Founder’s employment with the Company or the Purchaser

(as the case may be) is terminated due to his death or disability or if the Continuing Founder is

terminated by the Company or the Purchaser other than for urgent cause (as defined in section

7:678 of the DCC); and

(b) not met if the Continuing Founder’s employment with the Company or the Purchaser (as the

case may be) is terminated by the Continuing Founder for any reason, or is terminated by the

Company or the Purchaser for urgent cause (as defined in section 7:678 of the DCC).

Shares: has the meaning as defined in the Recital A.

Signing Date: means the date of signing of this Agreement.

Spreadsheet Certificate: has the meaning as defined in Clause 3.2.2.

Subsidiary: means SecurityMatters Americas Inc.

Target Working Capital: means an amount of $654,000 (Six Hundred and Fifty Four Thousand U.S. dollars).

Tax or Taxation: means all forms of taxation imposed, administered or collected by the Netherlands, the United States,

the European Union or any other jurisdiction, including income tax (including income tax or amounts

equivalent to or in respect of income tax required to be deducted or withheld from or accounted for in

respect of any payment), corporation tax, capital gains tax, inheritance tax, value added tax, customs

and other import or export duties, excise duties, transfer taxes or duties, social security or other similar

contributions, any interest, penalty, surcharge or fine relating to such taxation, and any Liability for the

payment of any of the foregoing as a result of being a transferee of or successor to any Person or as a

result of any express or implied obligation to assume such Taxes or to indemnify any other Person, by

operation of law or otherwise.

Tax Document: has the meaning as defined in Clause 13.2.1(a).

Termination Agreements: means the termination agreements to be executed in the Agreed Form on or before the Completion Date,

pursuant to which (inter alia) the parties to the Management Agreements agree to terminate the

Management Agreements.

Third Party Claim: means any claim made by a third party against a member of the Purchaser’s Group or a Group

Company.

Third Party Right: means any interest or equity of any person (including any right to acquire, option or right of pre-

emption or conversion) or any Lien or arrangement, or any agreement to create any of the above.

Third Party Fundamental
Warranty Claim: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Third Party IP Warranty Claim: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Third Party Warranty Claim: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Transaction: means any and all transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Transaction Agreements and the

agreements referred to herein and therein.



Transaction Agreements: means this Agreement, the Escrow Agreements, the Deed of Transfer, the Notary Letter, the

Termination Agreements, the Employment Agreements, the Non Compete Agreements, the Option

Release Agreements, the Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet Certificate and the Funds

Flow and the other agreements and instruments (including instruments of transfer, assignment or

conveyance of the Shares represented thereby) contemplated hereby and thereby.

Unvested Options: means Options other than Vested Options that are issued and outstanding, unexpired and not terminated

as of immediately prior to the Completion.

US GAAP: means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, consistently applied.

VAT: means (i) within the European Union, such Tax as may be levied in accordance with (but subject to

derogations from) the Directive 2006/112/EC and (ii) outside the European Union, any Tax levied by

reference to added value, sales or consumption.

Vested Options: means Options that are outstanding, unexpired, unexercised and vested as of immediately prior to

Completion, after giving effect to any acceleration thereof (if any) as a result of the consummation of

the Completion pursuant to the terms of the Option Plan. For the avoidance of doubt, for all purposes

under this Agreement, fifty percent (50%) of the Options that are outstanding, unexpired, unexercised

and unvested as of immediately prior to Completion that, by virtue of the Completion and without any

further action on the part of any holder of such Options or any other Person, vest at the Completion

pursuant to the terms of the Option Plan shall be deemed to be “Vested Options.”

Warranty Breach: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Warranty Claim: means a claim by the Purchaser for Losses against any Seller arising from a Warranty Breach.

Warranty Insurance: means the warranty insurance policy in respect of Warranty Breaches bound by Euclid Transactional,

LLC, pursuant to the binder of insurance agreement between the Purchaser and the insurers specified

therein, entered into on the date hereof, in Agreed Form, attached hereto as Schedule 8-A.

Warranty Insurance Costs: means the premiums, fees, costs, expenses and taxes payable by Purchaser at or prior to the Completion

in connection with the Warranty Insurance Policy, set out in Schedule 8-B.

Warranty Limitations: has the meaning as defined in Clause 10.1.1.

Working Capital: means the consolidated amount equal to (a) the current assets of the Group (excluding cash and cash

equivalents, uncleared deposits and deferred Tax assets), minus (b) the current liabilities of the Group

(excluding Debt, deferred Tax liabilities, Seller Transaction Costs and Deferred Revenue), in each case

as defined and calculated in accordance with EU-IFRS and calculated as of 11:59 pm CET on the date

prior to the Completion Date.

    

1.2 Interpretation

1.2.1 Headings have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not affect the interpretation of any of the provisions of this

Agreement.

1.2.2 Whenever used in this Agreement, the words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without

limitation”.

1.2.3 The word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase shall not mean

simply “if”.

1.2.4 Whenever used in this Agreement, the words “as of” shall be deemed to include the day or moment in time specified thereafter.

1.2.5 Except when the context otherwise requires, words denoting the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. Words denoting one gender

shall include another gender.

1.2.6 Whenever a reference is made to an Appendix, Exhibit or Schedule, such reference shall be to an Appendix, Exhibit or Schedule to this

Agreement unless otherwise indicated.



1.2.7 The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and words of like import used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and

not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

1.2.8 The word “or” is used in the inclusive sense of “and/or”. The terms “or”, “any” and “either” are not exclusive.

1.2.9 The terms “writing”, “written” and comparable terms refer to printing, typing and other means of reproducing words (including electronic

media) in a visible form.

1.2.10 A “third party” means in this Agreement any Person other than the Sellers, the Purchaser, the Group or any of their Affiliates.

1.2.11 An action taken by a Person will be deemed to have been taken in the ordinary course of business only if such action is consistent with the

past practices of such Person and is taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of such Person.

1.2.12 In respect of any jurisdiction other than the Netherlands, a reference to any Dutch legal term shall be construed as a reference to the term or

concept which most nearly corresponds to it in that jurisdiction. Where in this Agreement words are translated into the Dutch language, the

Dutch translation shall prevail in any dispute as to the interpretation of such word.

1.2.13 Where in this Agreement reference is made to any enactment or regulation, that reference shall be to that enactment or regulation as it may

from time to time be in force, as respectively amended, modified, consolidated or re-enacted from time to time, or to any re-enactment or

regulation (with or without modification), restatement or consolidation of, or any subordinate legislation or regulation made under, such

enactment or regulation (as so amended, modified, consolidated or re-enacted).

1.2.14 Where in this Agreement reference is made to any Contract, that reference shall be to that Contract as amended, modified or supplemented

from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof; provided that with respect to any Contract listed on any Schedules

hereto, all such amendments, modification or supplements must also be listed in the appropriate Schedule.

1.2.15 A reference to this Agreement or to any other agreement or document referred to in this Agreement is a reference to this Agreement or such

other agreement or document as varied or novated in accordance with its terms from time to time.

1.2.16 Where in this Agreement reference is made to books, records or other information, that reference shall be deemed to include books, records

or other information stored in any form including paper, magnetic media, films, microfilms, electronic storage devices and any other data

carriers.

1.2.17 All interest accruing under this Agreement is to be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 360 (three

hundred sixty) days.

1.2.18 When used herein, references to “$” or “dollar” shall be deemed to be references to dollars of the United States of America and references

to “EUR”, “euro” or “€” shall be deemed to be references to euro, the lawful currently of the European Union.

1.2.19 For all purposes of this Agreement, including the calculations described in Clause 3 and Clause 4, the Euro:USD exchange rate shall be

assumed to be 1.00:1.15.

1.2.20 Except as expressly otherwise provided in this Agreement, all periods of time set out in this Agreement shall start on the day following the

day on which the event triggering the relevant period of time occurred. The expiration date shall be included in the period of time. If the

expiration date is not a Business Day, the expiration date shall be the next Business Day.

1.2.21 The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiating and drafting of this Agreement. In the event that an ambiguity or question of intent

or interpretation arises this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall

arise favouring or disfavouring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

2. SALE, PURCHASE AND TRANSFER OF THE SHARES

2.1 Sale and purchase

Each Seller hereby sells the Shares, as detailed in Schedule 1, to the Purchaser and the Purchaser hereby purchases such Shares, on the terms and

subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

2.2 Transfer

On the Completion Date, the Sellers shall transfer (leveren) the Shares, free and clear from any Third Party Right and with all rights attaching to

them, to the Purchaser and the Purchaser shall accept the transfer of the Shares, all in accordance with Clause 5 hereof.

2.3 Benefit and risk



Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, all rights and obligations in connection with the Company, the Shares and the Business shall

be for the benefit and risk of the Purchaser with effect as from the Completion Date.

2.4 Payment of Consideration to Sellers; Treatment of Options

2.4.1 On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, each Seller shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the Initial

Per Share Consideration with respect to each Share held by such Seller at the Completion, such amount to be paid in accordance with

Clause 7.2(e).

2.4.2 Notwithstanding Clause 2.4.1, the amounts payable to each Seller at the Completion shall be reduced by:

(a) such Seller’s Pro Rata Part of the Indemnity Escrow Amount and Adjustment Escrow Amount, which amount shall be withheld

and proceeds therefrom (if any) shall be released to such Seller in accordance with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, this

Agreement, the Indemnity Escrow Agreement and/or the Adjustment Escrow Agreement, as applicable; and

(b) with respect to Company Holding, the Holdback Amount, which amount shall be withheld and proceeds therefrom (if any) shall be

released to Company Holding in accordance with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, this Agreement and the Holdback

Escrow Agreement.

2.4.3 Treatment of Options

(a) The Purchaser will not assume any Options.

(b) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, by virtue of the Completion and without any further action

on the part of any holder of an Option or any other Person, each validly granted award of an Option outstanding immediately prior

to the Completion shall be cancelled and automatically converted into the right to receive the Per Option Consideration. As soon as

practicable following the Completion, the Purchaser will procure that the Company shall pay to each holder of a Vested Option the

Per Option Consideration (if any) required to be paid to any such holder pursuant to this Clause 2.4.3(b). For the avoidance of

doubt, any Vested Option that has a per Share exercise price equal to or greater than the Per Share Consideration automatically will

be cancelled and extinguished at the Completion, without any payment of any consideration therefor.

(c) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and subject to any written Contract between a holder of

Options and the Company Disclosed to Purchaser prior to the Signing Date, by virtue of the Completion and without any further

action on the part of any holder of Unvested Options or any other Person, at the Completion, each validly granted award of an

Unvested Option outstanding immediately prior to the Completion shall be automatically converted, when and to the extent such

Unvested Option vests pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Option Plan, into the right to receive the Per Option

Consideration, provided however, that if, prior to the 1st anniversary of the Completion Date, such holder terminates its service

with the Company (other than involuntary on a Good Leaver basis or voluntary with Good Reason as such terms are defined in the

Option Plan), then all Options held by such holder outstanding at the time such holder terminates its service shall automatically

and immediately become null and void, and no payment of any consideration shall be made with respect thereto. As soon as

practicable following the 1st anniversary of the Completion Date, the Purchaser will procure that the Company shall pay to each

holder of an Unvested Option that has not terminated its service as described above prior to the 1st anniversary of the Completion

Date, the Per Option Consideration (if any) required to be paid to any such holder pursuant to this Clause 2.4.3(c). In the event a

holder of an Unvested Options terminates its service with the Company prior to the 1st anniversary of the Completion Date

involuntary on a Good Leaver basis or voluntary for Good Reason, the Purchaser will procure that the Company shall pay to such

holder of an Unvested Option the Per Option Consideration at such time his or her service is terminated.

(d) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, by virtue of the Completion, each Repriced Option and

Designated Promised Option shall be cancelled without any consideration.

(e) Prior to the Completion, the Company and the Sellers shall take all actions reasonably necessary to effect the transactions

contemplated by this Clause 2.4.

3. TOTAL CONSIDERATION AND PAYMENT

3.1 Total Consideration

The total consideration for the Securities (the Consideration) shall be an amount equal to:

(a) $113,250,000 (one hundred and thirteen million and two hundred and fifty thousand U.S. dollars) (the Base Consideration);



plus

(b) the amount of Cash;

minus

(c) the amount of Debt;

minus

(d) the amount of Seller Transaction Costs;

minus

(e) the amount of Warranty Insurance Costs, up to an amount not to exceed $2,000,000;

plus or minus, as the case may be

(f) the amount by which the Working Capital is greater than the Target Working Capital (in which case the Base Consideration shall

be increased by such an amount) or by which the Working Capital is less than the Target Working Capital (in which case the Base

Consideration shall be decreased by such an amount);

plus

(g) the aggregate exercise price in respect of all Options (other than Repriced Options) outstanding immediately prior to the

Completion.

3.2 Initial Consideration Certificate; Spreadsheet Certificate; Funds Flow

3.2.1 The Sellers’ Representative shall deliver to the Purchaser at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Completion a good-faith draft of (i) the

Company’s unaudited accounts as of 11:59 pm CET on the date prior to the Completion Date, (ii) the Estimated Cash, including an itemized

list of each asset reflected therein, (iii) the Estimated Debt, including an itemized list of each liability reflected therein, (iv) the Estimated

Seller Transaction Costs, including each component thereof, (v) the Estimated Working Capital, including an itemized list of each asset and

liability reflected therein and (vi) a calculation of the Consideration to be paid pursuant to Clause 3.3, using the Estimated Cash, Estimated

Debt, Estimated Seller Transaction Costs and Estimated Working Capital (collectively, the Initial Consideration Certificate), which shall

be prepared, in the case of each of clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (v) in accordance with EU-IFRS and consistent with the internal accounting

standards, policies and principles of the Company as used in preparation of the Accounts.

3.2.2 The Sellers’ Representative shall deliver to the Purchaser at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Completion a good-faith draft of a

spreadsheet (the Spreadsheet Certificate) setting forth in reasonable detail:

(a) with respect to each Seller: (i) the name, address and e-mail address of such Person; (ii) the number, class and series Shares held by

such Person; (iii) the date of acquisition of such Shares; (iv) the amount of Taxes (if any) that are to be withheld from the

consideration that such Person is entitled to receive on account of such Shares; (v) the Initial Per Share Consideration that such

Person is entitled to receive on account of such Shares; (vi) the Pro Rata Part of such Person, and (vii) such other additional

information which the Purchaser may reasonably request in order to facilitate the payments contemplated hereby;

(b) with respect to each holder of Options: (i) the name, address and e-mail address of such Person; (ii) whether such Person is an

employee, consultant, director or officer of the Company; (iii) the grant date of each Option held by such Person and expiration

date of each such Option (if applicable); (iv) whether each such Option (if applicable) was granted pursuant to the Option Plan; (v)

the vesting schedule (including all acceleration provisions) applicable to each such Option, whether such Option is a Vested Option

or an Unvested Option; (vi) the exercise price per share and the number, class, and series of Shares underlying each such Option;

(vii) the amount of Taxes (if any) that are to be withheld from the consideration that such Person is entitled to receive on account

of all Options; (viii) the portion of the Per Option Consideration that such Person is entitled to receive, if any, on account of such

Options, including, with respect to Unvested Options, the portion that such Person is entitled to at the Completion and the portion

such Person is entitled to if he or she remains employed by the Company or the Purchaser through the 1st anniversary of the

Completion Date, and (ix) such other additional information which the Purchaser may reasonably request in order to facilitate the

payments contemplated hereby; and

(c) with respect to each Securityholder, a calculation of (i) the aggregate portion of the Initial Consideration to be paid to such

Securityholder at Completion in accordance with Section 2.4, (ii) the aggregate portion of the Holdback Escrow Amount to be

contributed on behalf of such Securityholder, (iii) the aggregate portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount to be contributed on



behalf of such Securityholder and (iv) the aggregate portion of the Adjustment Escrow Amount to be contributed on behalf of such

Securityholder.

3.2.3 The Sellers’ Representative shall deliver to the Purchaser at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Completion a good-faith draft of a

funds flow memorandum (the Funds Flow) setting forth in reasonable detail the sources and uses of funds at the Completion in connection

with the Transactions, which memorandum shall be consistent with this Agreement, the Initial Consideration Certificate and the

Spreadsheet Certificate, and shall include details regarding the recipients, wire transfer instructions and amounts payable in respect of all

amounts payable by the Purchaser to the Notary’s Account, and by the Notary pursuant to this Agreement.

3.2.4 Each of the Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet Certificate and the Funds Flow shall be certified as complete and correct

(insofar as they represent good faith estimates as of the dates thereof) by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company as of the Completion

Date.

3.2.5 The Sellers’ Representative shall cooperate with the Purchaser in supplying any information the Purchaser may reasonably request in order

to verify the information and amounts reflected on the Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet Certificate and the Funds Flow, and

shall reasonably consider in good faith to update the draft Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet Certificate and the Funds Flow

prior to the Completion to reflect any of the Purchaser’s reasonable good faith comments concerning the information and amounts set forth

therein or any changes to the information or amounts set forth therein occurring between the time of delivery of such draft and the

Completion. Prior to the Completion, the Sellers’ Representative shall deliver the updated Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet

Certificate and the Funds Flow to the Purchaser, and the updated amounts reflected thereon, as so updated and with any changes thereto as

agreed by the Sellers’ Representative and the Purchaser prior to the Completion, will be used for purposes of calculating the Consideration

in accordance with 3.2 (the Initial Consideration) to be paid to the Securityholders at the Completion and the amounts to be paid to and

from the Notary Account, absent manifest error.

3.3 Payment of the Consideration

The Purchaser shall ensure that the aggregate amount required by Funds Flow to be credited to the Notary’s Account shall be credited to the Notary’s

Account no later than 10 am CET on the Completion Date and with value on the Completion Date. The Notary shall hold such aggregate amount in

escrow in accordance with Clause 7.2(e).

4. ADJUSTMENT TO THE INITIAL CONSIDERATION

4.1 Completion Balance Sheet

4.1.1 The Sellers and the Purchaser acknowledge that the Consideration is based on the assumptions that on the Completion Date, (1) the Actual

Cash shall be equal to the Estimated Cash, (2) the Actual Debt shall be equal to the Estimated Debt, (3) the Actual Seller Transaction Costs

shall be equal to the Estimated Seller Transaction Costs and (4) the Actual Working Capital shall be equal to the Estimated Working

Capital, provided that Actual Cash, Actual Debt, Actual Seller Transaction Costs and Actual Working Capital shall be established after the

Completion Date pursuant to this Clause 4.1.

4.1.2 The Actual Cash, Actual Debt, Actual Seller Transaction Costs and Actual Working Capital shall be established after the Completion Date

as follows:

(a) As soon as reasonably possible after the Completion Date, the Purchaser shall prepare, (i) the Company’s unaudited accounts as of

11:59 pm CET on the date prior to the Completion Date and (ii) a calculation of Actual Cash, Actual Debt, Actual Seller

Transaction Costs and Actual Working Capital (collectively the Completion Balance Sheet), which shall be prepared, in the case

of each of clauses (i) and (ii) (excluding Actual Seller Transaction Costs), in accordance with EU-IFRS and consistent with the

internal accounting standards, policies and principles of the Company as used in preparation of the Accounts. The Purchaser shall

submit the Completion Balance Sheet to the Sellers’ Representative as promptly as practicable and in any event within ninety (90)

days after the Completion Date (the First Date). In case the Purchaser fails to submit the Completion Balance Sheet to the Sellers’

Representative within ninety (90) days, the Sellers’ Representative shall have the option to either (i) confirm in writing to the

Purchaser that the Initial Consideration Certificate shall be binding or (ii) prepare the Completion Balance Sheet and submit it to

Purchaser, both within ninety (90) days from the Completion Date.

(b) Within thirty (30) days after the First Date (the Second Date), the Sellers’ Representative (or the Purchaser as the case may be)

shall notify the Purchaser (or Sellers’ Representative) in writing of any item in the Completion Balance Sheet the Sellers wish to

dispute, setting out the reasons for such dispute and a list of proposed amendments. The Sellers’ Representative and the Purchaser

shall consult with each other and seek agreement on the disputed item(s) within 30 days from the Second Date. In case the Sellers’



Representative (or the Purchaser as the case may be) has not confirmed in writing items of the Completion Balance Sheet that the

Sellers dispute before the Second Date, the Sellers (or the Purchaser as the case may be) shall be deemed not to dispute such items

of the Completion Balance Sheet and the Cash, Debt, Seller Transaction Costs and Working Capital included therein shall be final

and binding to the Parties.

(c) If the Sellers’ Representative and the Purchaser have not been able to resolve the disputed items in full within thirty (30) days from

the Second Date, the Sellers’ Representative and the Purchaser shall appoint an independent accountant (the Independent

Accountant) who is mutually acceptable to them to resolve any remaining objections. If the Sellers’ Representative and the

Purchaser are unable to agree on the choice of the Independent Accountant within ten (10) Business Days, the Independent

Accountant shall be appointed or designated for appointment by the president of the Dutch professional organization of

accountants (Nederlandse Beroepsorganisatie van Accountants, NBA) at the request of the Sellers’ Representative or the Purchaser,

whoever contacts the president of the NBA first. Such appointment shall be binding on the Parties.

(d) The Independent Accountant’s term of reference shall be as follows:

(i) the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative shall each promptly, and in any event within fifteen (15) Business Days of

the referral, prepare a written statement on the item(s) in dispute which (together with the relevant documents) shall be

submitted to the Independent Accountant for determination;

(ii) the Sellers’ Representative and the Purchaser shall each, to the extent that they are reasonably able to do so, provide the

Independent Accountant with all information he reasonably requires;

(iii) the Independent Accountant shall be instructed to complete his final determination as soon as possible but in no event

later than thirty (30) Business Days from the receipt of written statements by both the Purchaser and the Sellers’

Representative under Clause 4.1.2(d)(i);

(iv) the Independent Accountant shall act as an expert (and not as an arbitrator) in making any such determination;

(v) the Independent Accountant’s final determination of the Actual Cash, Actual Debt, Actual Seller Transaction Costs and

Actual Working Capital shall be binding on the Parties; and

(vi) the expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be borne between the Purchaser and the Sellers in equal proportions

(50/50), unless the Independent Accountant shall in his discretion determine otherwise.

4.1.3 Following the final determination of the Actual Cash, Actual Debt, Actual Seller Transaction Costs and Actual Working Capital pursuant to

Clause 4.1.2, the Purchaser shall re-calculate the Consideration, replacing Estimated Cash with Actual Cash, Estimated Debt with Actual

Debt, Estimated Seller Transaction Costs with Actual Seller Transaction Costs and Estimated Working Capital with Actual Working

Capital. If the Consideration that would have been payable using the re-calculation set forth in this Clause 4.1.3 exceeds the Initial

Consideration calculated in accordance with Clause 3.1, then the Purchaser shall credit to the Notary’s Account the amount of such excess,

and the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative shall promptly (and in any event within five (5) Business Days) provide a joint written

instruction to the Escrow Agent to deliver the Adjustment Escrow Amount to the Notary’s Account, in each case for further distribution to

the Sellers in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Part as set forth in the Consideration Spreadsheet. If the Consideration that would

have been payable using the re-calculation set forth in this Clause 4.1.3 is less than the Initial Consideration calculated in accordance with

Clause 3.1, then such excess shall be payable from the Adjustment Escrow Account and, to the extent the Adjustment Escrow Amount is

insufficient to satisfy such payment, then such shortfall shall be payable from the Indemnity Escrow Account (in which case the Purchaser

and the Sellers’ Representative shall promptly (and in any event within five (5) Business Days) provide a joint written instruction to the

Escrow Agent to deliver to the Purchaser such excess amount from the Adjustment Escrow Account and, if applicable, the Indemnity

Escrow Account). Payment of any Adjustment payable pursuant to Clause 4.1.3 shall be deemed to be an adjustment of the Consideration.

5. CONDITIONS

5.1 Conditions

5.1.1 Conditions to Obligations of Each Party to Effect the Completion

The respective obligations of the Purchaser and the Sellers to commence with the Completion shall be conditional on each of the following

conditions being waived in writing by each of the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative or fulfilled on or before the Completion Date:

(a) all filings with and other consents or approvals of any Governmental Authority required to be made or obtained in connection with

the Transaction shall have been made or obtained and shall be in full force and effect and any waiting period under any applicable



antitrust or other merger control or similar Law that is applicable to the Transaction shall have expired or been terminated;

(b) no outstanding judgment, order, writ, injunction, decree, arbitral award or decision of a court, tribunal, arbitrator or other

Governmental Authority (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) in any jurisdiction shall be in effect that has the effect of

making the Transaction illegal or otherwise prohibiting or preventing consummation of the Transaction; and

(c) the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative shall have received evidence in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to them

that the Purchaser has entered into the Warranty Insurance Policy prior to the date hereof and that the Warranty Insurance Policy

shall remain in full force and effect as of the Completion Date.

5.1.2 Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser to Effect the Completion

The obligations of the Purchaser to commence with the Completion shall be conditional on each of the following conditions being waived

in writing by the Purchaser or fulfilled on or before the Completion Date:

(a) (i) each of the Fundamental Warranties shall have been true and correct in all respects on the date they were made and shall be true

and correct in all respects on and as of the Completion Date as though such Fundamental Warranties were made on such date

(other than such Fundamental Warranties as of a specified date, which shall be true and correct in all respects as of such date) and

(ii) all other Seller Warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any limitation as to

“materiality” as set forth therein) on the date they were made and shall be true and correct in all material respects (without giving

effect to any limitation as to “materiality” set forth therein) on and as of the Completion Date as though such representations and

warranties were made on and as of such date (other than such Seller Warranties as of a specified date, which shall be true and

correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” set forth therein) as of such date);

(b) each of the Sellers shall have performed (or caused to have been performed) and complied in all material respects with each of the

covenants and obligations under this Agreement relating to actions to be taken (or not taken) by such Sellers prior to the

Completion Date;

(c) no outstanding Action of any nature shall be pending or threatened seeking to restrain or otherwise prohibiting the Transaction or

seeking material damages in respect of the Transaction or that would reasonably be expected to require the Purchaser or any of its

Affiliates to agree to any change to their respective businesses as currently conducted and as currently contemplated to be

conducted;

(d) each of the Employment Agreements and the Non Compete Agreements shall have been executed and shall be in full force and

effect, all of the Key Employees shall remain employed by the Company as of immediately prior to the Completion, and none of

the Key Employees shall have expressed an intention or interest (whether formally or informally), or taken any action toward,

terminating his or her Employment Agreement or Non Compete Agreement;

(e) the Purchaser shall have received from (or on behalf of) each holder of an Option, holder of a Repriced Option or holder of a

Designated Promised Option that is a Key Employee, a release agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser (each, an

Option Release Agreement), agreeing that (i) with respect to Vested Options, such holder shall have no rights with respect to such

Vested Options at the Completion, other than the right to receive the consideration set forth in Clause 2.4.3(b) with respect to such

Options, (ii) with respect to Unvested Options, such holder shall have no rights with respect to such Unvested Option at the

Completion, other than the right to receive the consideration set forth in Clause 2.4.3(c) with respect to such Options, (iii) with

respect to Repriced Options, such holder shall have no rights with respect to such Repriced Options or (iv) with respect to such

Designated Promised Options, such holder shall have no right with respect to such Designated Promised Option, other than the

right to receive a grant of a number of restricted stock units of the Purchaser specified in such holder’s Option Release Agreement;

(f) the Purchaser shall have received the Initial Consideration Certificate, the Spreadsheet Certificate and the Funds Flow in

accordance with Clause 3.2.5;

(g) the Purchaser shall have received evidence in form and substance satisfactory to the Purchaser that the Company shall have

received the Termination Agreements;

(h) the Purchaser shall have received evidence in form and substance satisfactory to the Purchaser that the Company shall have caused

the name of SecurityMatters LLC to eliminate “SecurityMatters” and shall have amended the agreements between the Company

and SecurityMatters LLC in Agreed Form;

(i) the Purchaser shall have received a certificate from the Company, validly executed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company



for and on the Company’s behalf, certifying that, as of the Completion, the conditions set forth in 5.1.2(a), 5.1.2(b), 5.1.2(c) and

5.1.2(d) have been satisfied.

5.1.3 Conditions to Obligations of the Sellers to Effect the Completion

The obligations of the Sellers to commence with the Completion shall be conditional on each of the following conditions being waived in

writing by the Sellers or fulfilled on or before the Completion Date:

(a) each of the Purchaser’s warranties hereunder shall have been true and correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any

limitation as to “materiality” as set forth therein) on the date they were made and shall be true and correct in all material respects

(without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” set forth therein) on and as of the Completion Date as though such

representations and warranties were made on and as of such date (other than such Purchaser’s Warranties as of a specified date,

which shall be true and correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” set forth therein)

as of such date); and

(b) the Purchaser shall have performed (or caused to have been performed) and complied in all material respects with each of the

covenants and obligations under this Agreement relating to actions to be taken (or not taken) by the Purchaser prior to the

Completion.

5.2 Procuring satisfaction

Each Party will use its reasonable endeavours to procure (so far as it is able) that the Conditions are satisfied as soon as practicable after the Signing

Date and to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action under applicable Law to consummate and make effective the Completion promptly,

including using commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all permits, consents, approvals, authorizations, qualifications and orders of Governmental

Authorities as are necessary for the consummation of the Transaction.

5.3 Notification

If, at any time, a Seller or the Sellers’ Representative becomes aware of a fact or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to prevent a

Condition from being satisfied, it shall promptly inform the Purchaser in writing; provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this

Clause 5.3 shall not limit or otherwise affect any remedies available to the Purchaser or be deemed to amend, modify or satisfy any Condition set

forth herein.

6. [RESERVED]

7. COMPLETION

7.1 Date and place

Subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the Purchaser) of the Conditions, Completion shall take place on the Completion Date at the offices of the

Notary at the Zuid-Hollandplein 22, 2596 AW The Hague, the Netherlands, or such other place or places as the Parties shall agree upon.

7.2 Completion Actions

At Completion the Parties shall procure that the following actions are taken in the following order:

(a) the Purchaser shall ensure that the aggregate amount required by the Funds Flow to be paid on the Notary Account shall be paid on

the Notary Account (with reference “Initial Consideration SecurityMatters”);

(b) to the extent this has not already been delivered before the Completion Date, the Sellers’ Representative shall deliver to the

Purchaser:

(i) the original shareholders’ register of the Company in which the transfer of the Shares to the Purchaser shall be registered;

(ii) copies of the Termination Agreements, duly executed by the parties thereto;

(iii) copies of the Employment Agreements, duly executed by the Company and each Key Employee;

(iv) copies of the Non Compete Agreements, duly executed by the Company and each Key Employee;

(v) executed resignation and release letters in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser, from each of the

directors, officers and members of the supervisory board of the Group, effective as of the Completion;

(vi) duly and validly executed resolutions of the relevant Group Companies in form and substance reasonably acceptable to

the Purchaser, (i) accepting the resignations of each of the directors, officers and members of the supervisory board of the



Group and (ii) granting discharge to each of the directors, officers and members of the supervisory board of the Group,

effective as of the Completion; and

(vii) evidence that the Sellers shall have caused the Company to obtain at its expense a fully prepaid directors’ and officers’

liability insurance policy prior to the Completion, which (i) has an effective term of three (3) years from the Completion

Date, (ii) covers only those persons who are currently covered by the Company’s existing directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance policy in effect as of the Signing Date and only for matters occurring at or prior to the Completion, and (iii)

contains coverage terms comparable to those applicable to the current directors and officers of the Company (the

Company D&O Tail Policy).

(c) the Sellers’ Representative and the Purchaser shall sign the Indemnity Escrow Agreement and the Adjustment Escrow Agreement,

and Company Holding and the Purchaser shall sign the Holdback Escrow Agreement;

(d) the Sellers, the Purchaser and the Company shall sign the Deed of Transfer before the Notary who shall execute the Deed of

Transfer, thus effectuating the transfer of the Shares from the Sellers to the Purchaser;

(e) upon execution of the Deed of Transfer, the Notary shall hold the aggregate amount required by the Funds Flow to be paid on the

Notary Account in escrow for the benefit and at the instruction of the Sellers. The Notary is hereby instructed by the Sellers to pay,

on the first Business Day following the Completion Date:

(i) the aggregate amount required by this Agreement to be paid to the Sellers as specified in the Funds Flow and the

Spreadsheet Certificate to the Sellers’ bank accounts as specified in the Notary Letter, in the proportions as set out in the

Notary Letter, the Funds Flow and the Spreadsheet Certificate, following which transfer the Purchaser shall be discharged

of its obligation to pay the Initial Consideration;

(ii) the aggregate amount required by this Agreement to be paid to the holders of Vested Options as specified in the Funds

Flow and the Spreadsheet Certificate to the Company (which, with respect to the Vested Options, the Purchaser shall

cause to be paid in the proportions as set out in the Notary Letter, the Funds Flow and the Spreadsheet Certificate through

the payroll service of the Company, no later than the second regularly scheduled payroll distribution following the

Completion, to the holders of the Vested Options, less any applicable deduction or withholding);

(iii) the Indemnity Escrow Amount to the Indemnity Escrow Account;

(iv) the Holdback Escrow Amount to the Holdback Escrow Account;

(v) the Adjustment Escrow Amount to the Adjustment Escrow Account;

(vi) the aggregate amount of Estimated Debt, to be paid to the holders of Debt in accordance with the Funds Flow; and

(vii) the aggregate amount of Estimated Seller Transaction Costs, to be paid to the recipients thereof in accordance with Funds

Flow.

(f) the Purchaser shall pass a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders of the Company resolving to appoint Darren Jason

Milliken, Christopher Darrin Harms and Holly Rebecca Grey as managing directors of the Company, effective as per the execution

of the Deed of Transfer; and

(g) the Notary shall amend the articles of association of the Company.

7.3 Consequences of default

If any Seller, the Sellers’ Representative or the Purchaser breaches any obligation under Clause 7.2, thereby a Defaulting Party, and such breach

results in Completion not occurring in full compliance with this Clause 7, then, in addition and without prejudice to any other rights and remedies

available to them, the non-Defaulting Party (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be the Sellers’ Representative in the event the Purchaser is the

Defaulting Party) shall be entitled to:

(a) defer Completion to a date not more than fourteen (14) Business Days after the Completion Date in which event the provisions of

this Agreement shall apply as if that later date were the original Completion Date; or

(b) proceed with Completion so far as practicable.

7.4 Acknowledgement of Notary

The Parties acknowledge and agree that:



(a) the Notary is a notary of Bird & Bird LLP;

(b) with reference to the Rules of Professional Conduct (Verordening beroeps- en gedragsregels) of the Royal Dutch Organisation of

Civil Law Notaries (Koninklijke Notariële Beroepsorganisatie), (i) Bird & Bird LLP acts as counsel to the Purchaser in connection

with, or act as counsel for or on behalf of the Purchaser in the event of any dispute relating to, this Agreement or any related

agreement, and that (ii) the Notary shall execute the Deed of Transfer connected with this Agreement or any related agreement;

and

(c) they have engaged the Notary to effect the payment in accordance with Clause 7.2. As an irrevocable third party stipulation

(derdenbeding) in favour of the Notary, the Parties declare that the Notary shall have no obligation to investigate any

circumstances (including bankruptcy) which could affect the validity of the sale and purchase or transfer of the Shares or any part

thereof; and

(d) they approve of ABN AMRO Bank N.V. as the bank to hold the amounts to be transferred in accordance with this Agreement at

Completion. Each of the Parties acknowledges and agrees that neither the Notary nor Bird & Bird LLP shall have a responsibility

to any Party, or anyone claiming through a Party, for any loss arising out of the failure of ABN AMRO Bank N.V. or any inability

on the part of ABN AMRO Bank N.V. to repay any such amounts at any time.

7.5 Acknowledgement of Shareholders of Company Holding

Each of the shareholders of Company Holding acknowledges and agrees that, with respect to Company Holding, the Holdback Escrow Amount shall

be withheld from the proceeds payable at Completion and proceeds therefrom (if any) shall be released to Company Holding in accordance with, and

subject to the terms and conditions of, this Agreement and the Holdback Escrow Agreement.

7.6 Post Completion Obligations

7.6.1 Each Non Investor Indemnifying Party, severally and not jointly, covenants and agrees with the Purchaser and each Group Company that as

from the Completion Date, neither such Non Investor Indemnifying Party nor any of its Affiliates, shall in any way whatsoever use any

corporate and/or trade names, domain names, registered or unregistered trademarks, logos or otherwise, or any abbreviation thereof or any

name or lettering which is confusingly similar thereto, used at the Completion Date by the Group, unless agreed in writing with the

Purchaser.

7.6.2 As soon as reasonably possible, but ultimately within ten (10) Business Days after the Completion Date, Bolzonsoft B.V., Etalle B.V. and

Zambon B.V. shall procure that Company Holding changes the name of Company Holding (and, if applicable, any other company

containing the name “SecurityMatters” so that it does not contain the word “SecurityMatters” or any other word or words that may give rise

to confusion as to the ownership or affiliation of such company.

7.6.3 Required Accounts.

(a) The Sellers shall cooperate with the Purchaser to prepare and deliver the following accounts (collectively, the Required Accounts)

as promptly as practicable following the Completion:

(i) an audited statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the related statement of profit and loss &

comprehensive income, statement of cash flows and statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31,

2017, prepared under EU-IFRS, including customary footnotes and an unaudited footnote that reconciles the foregoing

statements to US GAAP; and

(ii) unaudited statements of financial position as at each of June 30, 2017, and June 30, 2018, and the related statements of

profit and loss & comprehensive income, statements of cash flows and statements of changes in equity for the six (6)

months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2018, respectively, in each case including customary footnotes prepared under

EU-IFRS and an unaudited footnote that reconciles the foregoing statements to US GAAP

(b) The Required Accounts shall, when delivered, (i) satisfy the requirements of Section B.1 of Schedule 4 (including being prepared

in accordance with EU-IFRS consistently applied with the Accounts), (ii) be formally reviewed in accordance with the US

generally accepted auditing standards and (iii) shall be certified by the statutory director of the Company as having been prepared

and reviewed in accordance with the foregoing principles.

(c) Any additional out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and delivery of the Required

Accounts in excess of the amounts provided for such Required Accounts in the Initial Consideration Certificate shall constitute

Seller Transaction Costs for which the Purchaser shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Indemnity Escrow Account (and,



when requested by Purchaser, the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative shall promptly (and in any event within five (5)

Business Days after request) provide a joint written instruction to the Escrow Agent to deliver an amount equal to such costs and

expenses from the Indemnity Escrow Account to the Purchaser.

7.6.4 The Company (following the Completion) and the Purchaser shall not cancel (or permit to be cancelled) the Company D&O Tail Policy

during its term.

8. WARRANTIES

8.1 The Sellers’ Warranties

8.1.1 Subject to the provisions of this Clause 8 and Clause 10, (a) the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, severally and not jointly, represent and

warrant to the Purchaser that each of the statements set out in Schedule 4 (the Sellers’ Warranties), is true, accurate and not misleading on

the Signing Date and on the Completion Date, as though made on the Completion Date (other than those statements made as of a particular

date, which shall be true, accurate and not misleading as of such date), provided that the Fundamental Warranties in A.1.4, A.1.6, A.1.8,

A.1.12, A.4.2, A.4.4 and A.4.10 (the Personal Fundamental Warranties) that relate solely to any Non Investor Indemnifying Party or the

Securities held by itself are given by each such Non Investor Indemnifying Party on a several basis, only in relation to such Non Investor

Indemnifying Party and the Securities held by itself and (b) the Investor Indemnifying Parties, severally and not jointly, represent and

warrant to the Purchaser only that solely with respect to such Investor Indemnifying Party and the Securities held by it, each of such

Investor Indemnifying Party’s Personal Fundamental Warranties are true, accurate and not misleading on the Signing Date and on the

Completion Date, as though made on the Completion Date (other than those statements made as of a particular date, which shall be true,

accurate and not misleading as of such date), provided such Personal Fundamental Warranties that relate solely to any Investor

Indemnifying Party or the Securities held by itself are given by each such Investor Indemnifying Party on a several basis, only in relation to

such Investor Indemnifying Party and the Securities held by itself. For the avoidance of doubt, the Personal Fundamental Warranties shall

constitute Fundamental Warranties.

8.1.2 None of the Sellers’ Warranties shall be qualified by any actual, imputed or constructive knowledge on the part of the Purchaser, its agents

or advisers and no such knowledge shall prejudice or be used as a defence to any Warranty Claim or otherwise operate to reduce the Losses,

except as Disclosed in the Disclosed Information. The applicability of sections 7:17 and 7:20 up to and including 7:23 DCC and section

6:89 DCC is hereby excluded.

8.1.3 Any Non Investor Indemnifying Party’s Sellers’ Warranty (excluding any Personal Fundamental Warranties) qualified by the expression “so

far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware” or “to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties” or any similar

expression shall be deemed to comprise such knowledge that any Non Investor Indemnifying Party actually (feitelijk) has, or is deemed to

have on the basis of due and careful consideration and diligent enquiry of all Service Providers having knowledge of the relevant matters.

8.2 Notification of a breach of the Sellers’ Warranties

8.2.1 Without prejudice to the rights of the Purchaser under this Agreement, each Seller shall, on behalf of the Sellers, before and at the

Completion, promptly (and in any event within 48 hours) notify the Purchaser in writing of any event, circumstance or fact which arises or

about which such Seller becomes aware and which is, or could reasonably be expected to be inconsistent with any of such Seller’s Sellers’

Warranties, or which is or could reasonably be expected to constitute a Warranty Breach, in each case, such as would prevent a Condition

from being satisfied.

8.2.2 At the time of entering into this Agreement no Seller has knowledge of any fact, circumstance or event that constitutes or will constitute a

Warranty Breach that is not Disclosed.

8.3 The Purchaser’s Warranties and Acknowledgements

8.3.1 The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that none of the Sellers, the Company or any other Person has made or is making (nor shall any of

such Persons have any liability, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, with respect to) any representation or warranty as to the

Sellers, the Company, the Group or this Agreement, except as expressly set forth in the express Seller Warranties set forth in this Agreement

and the other certificates delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; provided that this Clause 8.3.1

shall not restrict any remedies as provided in Clause 11.1.1(e) or remedies for fraud, intentional misrepresentation or willful breach in

connection with the Transaction made by a Seller (to the extent such Seller committed any fraud, intentional misrepresentation or willful

breach in connection with the Transaction or had actual knowledge of any fraud, intentional misrepresentation or willful breach in

connection with the Transaction), the Company or any other Person.

8.3.2 Subject to the provisions of this Clause 8 and Clause 10, the Purchaser represents and warrants to the Sellers that each of the statements set



out in Schedule 5 (the Purchaser’s Warranties), is true, accurate and not misleading on the Signing Date and on the Completion Date.

Without prejudice to the rights of the Sellers under this Agreement, Purchaser shall, before and at the Completion, promptly (and in any

event within 48 hours) notify the Sellers’ Representative in writing of any event, circumstance or fact which arises or about which

Purchaser becomes aware and which is, or could reasonably be expected to be inconsistent with any of the Purchaser’s Warranties, or which

is or could reasonably be expected to constitute a Warranty Breach, in each case, such as would prevent a Condition from being satisfied.

8.3.3 At the time of entering into this Agreement the Purchaser has no knowledge of any fact, circumstance or event that constitutes or will

constitute a breach of the Purchaser’s Warranties that is not Disclosed.

9. [RESERVED]

10. LIABILITY

10.1 Liability of the Sellers

10.1.1 Subject to the limitations as set out in Clause 8, 10 and 11 and Schedule 6 (the Warranty Limitations) and except as set forth in Clause

10.1.2, the Sellers shall, severally and not jointly, for their respective Pro Rata Part, be liable towards the Purchaser and the other

Indemnified Parties for any and all Losses paid, incurred, suffered or sustained by the Purchaser or any other Indemnified Party, directly or

indirectly, to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from any Sellers’ Warranties not being true, accurate and not misleading at the

Signing Date and the Completion Date (a Warranty Breach) or any Third Party Claim alleging facts or circumstances that, if accurate,

would entitle the Purchaser to recovery for a Warranty Breach (a Third Party Warranty Claim, and together with Warranty Breaches,

Warranty Claims), including (a) any IP Warranties not being true, accurate and not misleading at the Signing Date and the Completion

Date (an IP Warranty Breach) or any Third Party Claim alleging facts or circumstances that, if accurate, would entitle the Purchaser to

recovery for an IP Warranty Breach (a Third Party IP Warranty Claim, and together with IP Warranty Breaches, IP Warranty Claims),

and (b) any Fundamental Warranties not being true, accurate and not misleading at the Signing Date and the Completion Date (a

Fundamental Warranty Breach) or any Third Party Claim alleging facts or circumstances that, if accurate, would entitle the Purchaser to

recovery for a Fundamental Warranty Breach (a Third Party Fundamental Warranty Claim, and together with Fundamental Warranty

Breaches, Fundamental Warranty Claims). For the avoidance of doubt, an IP Warranty Breach and a Fundamental Warranty Breach shall

constitute a Warranty Breach, and a Third Party IP Warranty Claim and a Fundamental Warranty Claim shall constitute a Third Party

Warranty Claim.

10.1.2 Subject to the limitations as set out in Clauses Clause 8, 10 and 11 and Schedule 6 (the Warranty Limitations), each Seller shall severally

be liable towards the Purchaser and the other Indemnified Parties for any and all Losses paid, incurred, suffered or sustained by the

Purchaser or any other Indemnified Party, directly or indirectly, to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from any Personal

Fundamental Warranties of such Seller not being true, accurate and not misleading at the Signing Date and the Completion Date (a

Personal Fundamental Warranty Breach) or any Third Party Claim alleging facts or circumstances that, if accurate, would entitle the

Purchaser to recovery for a Personal Fundamental Warranty Breach (a Third Party Personal Fundamental Warranty Claim, and together

with Personal Fundamental Warranty Breaches, Personal Fundamental Warranty Claims). For the avoidance of doubt, a Personal

Fundamental Warranty Breach shall constitute a Warranty Breach, and a Personal Fundamental Warranty Claim shall constitute a Third

Party Warranty Claim.

10.1.3 If the Sellers are liable towards the Purchaser (a) pursuant to a Claim; (b) for a breach (before or after the Completion) of this Agreement,

or (c) otherwise under or in connection with this Agreement, the Purchaser shall have the right, after the Completion, to claim the Losses

paid, incurred, suffered or sustained by the Purchaser and/or the Group and/or any other Indemnified Party related to, arising out of or

resulting from such matter.

10.1.4 Any such Losses (as well as Losses which may be payable pursuant to Clause 11) shall (a) be paid free and clear of any deductions or set-

off; and (b) be deemed to be a reduction of the Consideration.

10.1.5 The Parties acknowledge that the Purchaser has caused the Warranty Insurance to be bound and in full force and effect as of the date hereof.

The Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of all Warranty Insurance Costs; provided, however, that up to a maximum amount not

to exceed $2,000,000 shall be funded through a reduction in the Consideration in accordance with this Agreement. Prior to the Completion,

the Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide to the Purchaser such cooperation reasonably requested by the Purchaser

that is necessary to obtain the Warranty Insurance. In case the Purchaser has an IP Warranty Claim or Fundamental Warranty Claim against

any Non Investor Indemnifying Party that the Purchaser reasonably believes would be covered under the Warranty Insurance and would

reasonably be expected to exceed the remaining portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount, if any, (a) the Purchaser shall make a claim

under the Warranty Insurance with respect to the matters giving rise to such Claim concurrently with or prior to making such Claim against



any Non Investor Indemnifying Party, (b) the Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain recovery under the Warranty

Insurance with respect to such matters, and (c) no Non Investor Indemnifying Party shall be obligated to compensate the Purchaser for any

Losses with respect to any such Claim until the claim under the Warranty Insurance with respect to such matters has been resolved (it being

understood and agreed that, in the event such claim under the Warranty Insurance has been rejected in whole or in part by the insurer under

the Warranty Insurance or the Warranty Insurance has been exhausted or is otherwise unavailable, the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties

shall be liable to the Purchaser for any Losses with respect to such Claim). In the event there is a dispute between the Purchaser and the

insurers under the Warranty Insurance as to whether any such claim is covered by the Warranty Insurance, the Purchaser shall notify the

Sellers’ Representative of such dispute and shall consult with the Sellers’ Representative with respect to the resolution of such dispute.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent coverage for any such claim under the Warranty Insurance is denied due to the Purchaser’s

failure to comply with the terms of the Warranty Insurance, or the Purchaser’s failure to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain

recovery under the Warranty Insurance, no Non Investor Indemnifying Party shall be obligated to compensate the Purchaser for any Losses

resulting from such failure. The Non Investor Indemnifying Parties’ liability for IP Warranty Claims and Fundamental Warranty Claims

hereunder shall be reduced by any recovery under the Warranty Insurance

10.1.6 Purchaser shall not amend, modify, or otherwise change, terminate, waive any subrogation or any other provision of the Warranty Insurance

with respect to any Seller in any manner that would be adverse in any material respect to the Sellers, without the prior written consent of the

Sellers’ Representative.

10.2 Liability of the Purchaser

10.2.1 In the event a Purchaser’s Warranty is untrue, inaccurate or misleading on the date on which the same is given and in the event of any other

breach of this Agreement by the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall be liable to the Sellers for the Losses suffered or incurred by the Sellers as a

result thereof.

10.2.2 The restrictions and limitations set forth in Schedule 6 (Warranty Limitations) which are applicable to the Sellers’ liability under the Sellers’

Warranties set out in Section A.1 of Schedule 4 (Sellers’ Warranties) shall apply mutatis mutandis to the Purchaser’s liability under the

Purchaser’s Warranties.

11. INDEMNITIES

11.1 The Sellers’ Indemnities

11.1.1 Subject to the limitations as set out in Clause 11.1.2 and/or Clause 11.2 and the other limitations set forth in this Agreement, the Sellers,

severally and not jointly, for their Pro Rata Part, shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Purchaser or the relevant Group Company

and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents (in each case, acting in their capacities as such), and the successors and

assigns of any of the foregoing (each of the foregoing being referred to individually as an Indemnified Party and collectively as

Indemnified Parties) from and against, and shall compensate and reimburse each Indemnified Party for, any and all Losses paid, incurred,

suffered or sustained by any Indemnified Party, directly or indirectly, whether or not due to a Third Party Claim, in each case, to the extent

relating to or arising out of or resulting from any of the following:

(a) any breach of any of the covenants, agreements or obligations made by the Sellers in this Agreement (for clarity, the Sellers’

Warranties and the conditions set forth in Clause 5.1 do not constitute covenants, agreements or obligations made by Sellers in this

Agreement);

(b) regardless of the disclosure of any matter set forth in the Disclosure Letter, , the Consideration Certificate, the Funds Flow and the

Spreadsheet Certificate not being correct, including any adjustments to the Consideration not taken into account at Completion;

and/or

(c) regardless of the disclosure of any matter set forth in the Disclosure Letter and to the extent not provided for in the Completion

Balance Sheet, any Tax Liabilities (including penalties, costs, fees, interests and charges) of the Group relating to any events, facts

or circumstances which occurred in the period prior to and including the Completion Date and any Tax Liabilities that arise in

connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including any transfer, stamp, registration, sales, use, goods and

services or other similar Taxes; and/or

(d) regardless of the disclosure of any matter set forth in the Disclosure Letter, any Securityholder Matters; and/or

(e) any fraud, intentional misrepresentation or willful breach by any Group Company and/or any Seller and/or any of their respective

Representatives (in each case, whether or not acting in their capacity as such) in connection with the Transaction; and/or



(f) any of the matters set forth on Schedule 11 hereto.

11.1.2 In addition to the applicable limitations included in Schedule 6 (Warranty Limitations), the following limitations shall apply to any

Indemnity Claim:

(a) except for Indemnity Claims to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or

willful breach committed in connection with the Transaction by such Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful

breach in connection with the Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge, (i) the maximum liability of each Investor

Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all Indemnity Claims (and taken together with any liability under Clause 10.1 (Liability

of Sellers) in respect of any and all Warranty Claims (other than such Investor Indemnifying Party’s own Personal Fundamental

Warranty Claims) shall be an amount equal to its Pro Rata Part of the Indemnity Escrow Amount remaining in the Indemnity

Escrow Account, and (ii) the maximum liability of each Non Investor Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all Indemnity

Claims shall be an amount equal to the amount of Consideration actually paid to such Seller; and

(b) (i) the Indemnities with respect to the Investor Indemnifying Parties shall expire at the end of the Limitation Period and (ii) the

Indemnities with respect to the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties shall expire on the expiry of the statutory limitation period

applicable to the relevant Indemnity Claim (save, with respect to each of clauses (i) and (ii), for Indemnity Claims of which the

Sellers’ Representative has been notified in writing by the Purchaser prior to such expiration date and save for Indemnity Claims to

the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach committed in

connection with the Transaction by any Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the

Transaction of which any Seller has actual knowledge).

11.2 Investor Indemnifying Parties

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any of the other Transaction Agreements, but subject to the limitations on Liability

set forth in Clauses 8 and 10 and Schedule 6, (i) the Personal Fundamental Warranties shall constitute Fundamental Warranties, (ii) the Investor

Indemnifying Parties are not making any Seller’s Warranty other than, with respect to any particular Investor Indemnifying Party, the Personal

Fundamental Warranties of such Investor Indemnifying Party, (iii) except as provided in clause “(iv)” or “(v)” below, in no event shall any Investor

Indemnifying Party be liable to, or be deemed to have any indemnity obligations or other liability to, the Purchaser (or any other Person) in

connection with or arising out of the Transaction or any other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or by the other Transaction Agreements,

as of any particular measurement time, for any amounts in excess of such Investor Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Part of the Adjustment Escrow

Amount then remaining in the Adjustment Escrow Account and the Indemnity Escrow Amount then remaining in the Indemnity Escrow Account (it

being understood, for the avoidance of doubt, that except as provided in clause “(iv)” or “(v)” below, all Indemnity Claims and Warranty Claims

shall be satisfied solely and exclusively by a claim against the Indemnity Escrow Account and not directly against any Investor Indemnifying Party),

(iv) notwithstanding the preceding clause “(iii)” and except as provided in clause “(v)” below, the Purchaser (on behalf of itself and the other

Indemnified Parties) shall seek recourse directly against a particular Seller with respect to Losses arising out of a Personal Fundamental Warranty

Breach of such particular Seller’s Fundamental Warranties, provided however that in no event such recovery (when combined with all other

indemnification obligations or liabilities of such Investor Indemnifying Party in this Agreement or in any other Transaction Agreements) shall

exceed, in the aggregate, the portion of the Consideration actually paid to such Seller pursuant hereto and (v) the limitations on liability set forth in

the preceding clause “(iii)” and “(iv)” shall not apply with respect to a particular Investor Indemnifying Party to the extent such Investor

Indemnifying Party has committed fraud, intentional misrepresentation or willful breach, or has actual knowledge of any fraud, intentional

misrepresentation or willful breach in connection with the Transaction.

12. CLAIMS

12.1 Claims to be made by the Purchaser

All Claims against the Sellers or otherwise in connection with in this Agreement shall be brought by the Purchaser (and, for the avoidance of doubt,

not by any other Indemnified Party), on behalf of the Indemnified Parties.

12.2 Notification of potential Claims

Without imposing additional time limits to those set out in Schedule 6 (Warranty Limitations) and Clause 11.1.2, if the Purchaser becomes aware of

any matter or circumstance that may give rise to a Claim against the Seller under or otherwise in connection with this Agreement, then the Purchaser

shall promptly deliver a notice to the Sellers’ Representative setting out such information as is available to the Purchaser as is reasonably necessary

to enable the Sellers’ Representative to assess the merits of the claim, to act to preserve evidence and to make such provision as the Sellers’

Representative may reasonably consider necessary.



12.3 Notification of Claims

Without prejudice to Clause 12.2, notices of any Claim shall be given by the Purchaser to the Sellers’ Representative within the time limits specified

in Schedule 6 (Warranty Limitations) and Clause 11.1.2, specifying in reasonable detail the information available to the Purchaser of the legal and

factual basis of the Claim and, if practicable, an estimate of the amount of Losses which are, or are to be, the subject of the Claim.

12.4 Investigation by the Sellers’ Representative

In connection with any matter or circumstance notified by the Purchaser to the Sellers’ Representative pursuant to Clause 12.2 or Clause 12.3,

provided that the Sellers’ Representative has executed and delivered to the Purchaser a non-disclosure agreement in form and substance reasonably

satisfactory to the Purchaser:

(a) upon any reasonable request made by the Sellers’ Representative, the Purchaser shall allow the Sellers’ Representative to

investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to such Claim and whether and to what extent any amount is or may be

payable in respect of such Claim; provided, that any such investigation shall be conducted upon reasonable advance notice, during

normal business hours on any Business Day, and in such manner so as to not unreasonably interfere with the business or operations

of the Purchaser or its Affiliates; and

(b) the Purchaser shall disclose to the Sellers’ Representative all information of which the Purchaser is aware which is, in the good

faith determination of the Purchaser, relevant to the Claim, in each case as the Sellers’ Representative may reasonably request upon

reasonable advance notice, during normal business hours on any Business Day, and in such manner so as to not unreasonably

interfere with the business or operations of the Purchaser or its Affiliates.

12.5 Procedure for third-party claims

If a Claim notified to the Sellers’ Representative is a result of or connected with a Third Party Claim against or owed by the Purchaser or any of its

Affiliates or the Group, then:

(a) the Purchaser shall have the right in its sole discretion to conduct the defense of and to settle or resolve any Third Party Claim and

the costs of the defense of such Third Party Claim and the amount of such settlement or resolution shall be Losses for which the

Indemnified Parties are entitled to recover hereunder; provided, however, the amount payable to such third party in any such

settlement or resolution that is entered into without the prior consent of the Sellers’ Representative shall not be conclusive

evidence of the amount of Losses incurred by the Indemnified Parties in connection with such Third Party Claim (it being

understood that if the Purchaser requests that the Sellers’ Representative consent to a settlement with a third party, the Sellers’

Representative shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay such consent and such consent shall be deemed to have been

given unless the Sellers’ Representative shall have objected within fifteen (15) Business Days after a written request therefor by

the Purchaser);

(b) the Sellers’ Representative shall have the right to participate in any Third Party Claim (i) by timely receiving copies of all

pleadings, notices and communications, and having a reasonable right of access to any relevant books and records of the Company

in furtherance of its right of participation in this Clause 12.5, with respect to such Third Party Claim, to the extent that receipt of

such documents does not affect any privilege relating to any Indemnified Party, subject to execution by the Sellers’ Representative

of a non-disclosure agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the applicable Indemnified Party to the extent that

such materials contain confidential or propriety information and (ii) by giving input on the materials provided to the Sellers’

Representative; and

(c) the Sellers’ Representative shall make available to the Purchaser and any Group Company access to all relevant books and records

during normal business hours, with the right to make copies thereof and/or take extracts therefrom, and such persons as the

Purchaser may reasonably request for assessing, contesting, disputing, defending, compromising or appealing the Third Party

Claim, and shall attend any relevant proceedings as a witness to give evidence and prepare appropriately for such attendance.

12.6 No Right of Contribution or Subrogation

(a) Each Seller waives, acknowledges and agrees that such Seller shall not have and shall not exercise or assert (or attempt to exercise

or assert), any right of contribution, right of indemnity, right to advancement of expenses or other right or remedy against any

Group Company in connection with any Claims made by any Indemnified Party against such Seller.

(b) Effective as of Completion, the Sellers’ Representative and each Seller expressly waives and releases any right of subrogation,

contribution, advancement or indemnification and any other claim that the Sellers’ Representative or such Seller may have, against



the Purchaser and/or any of its Affiliates and/or any Group Company.

12.7 Knowledge, Waiver of Conditions, Reliance

The rights of the Indemnified Parties under this Agreement shall not be affected by any investigation conducted by or on behalf of any of the

Indemnified Parties or any of their Affiliates or their Representatives, with respect to the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements or

obligations made by any Seller or any other matter, or any waiver of any condition based on the accuracy of any such representation or warranty or

the performance of any such covenant, agreement or obligation, except as Disclosed in the Disclosed Information. No Indemnified Party shall be

required to show reliance on any representation, warranty, certificate or other agreement in order for such Indemnified Party to be entitled to

indemnification, compensation or reimbursement hereunder, other than a claim for fraud, willful breach or intentional misrepresentation.

12.8 No Double Recovery

If an Indemnified Party’s Claim may be brought under different sections, clauses or paragraphs of this Agreement, then such Indemnified Party shall

have the right to bring such Claim under any applicable section, clause or paragraph it chooses; provided, however, that in no event shall any

Indemnified Party be entitled to double recovery with respect to any particular incident, fact or event which resulted in Losses that are recoverable

under this Agreement regardless of whether there were breaches of more than one representation, warranty, covenant, agreement, obligation or

otherwise.

13. COVENANTS

13.1 Non-compete and non-solicitation covenants

Each Non Investor Indemnifying Party acknowledges and agrees that each of the provisions and covenants as laid down in Schedule 7 (the

Protective Covenants) shall have effect to protect the interests of the Purchaser.

13.2 Conduct of Tax affairs

13.2.1 To the extent not yet submitted to the relevant Tax Authorities at Completion, the Purchaser shall be responsible for, and have the conduct

of preparing and submitting to the relevant Tax authorities all Tax Documents (as defined below) of the Group for all Tax accounting

periods ending on or before the Completion Date and in connection therewith:

(a) all tax returns, computations, documents and substantive correspondence relating thereto (each a Tax Document and together the

Tax Documents) shall be made in accordance with past practice unless otherwise required by applicable Laws;

(b) any income or other material Tax Document that reflects a Tax for which the Sellers are liable shall be submitted in draft form to

the Sellers’ Representative;

(c) each Party shall provide to the other Part(y)(ies) information and assistance which may reasonably be required to prepare all such

outstanding Tax Documents;

(d) if a time limit applies in relation to any Tax Document, the Purchaser shall ensure that the Sellers’ Representative receives the Tax

Document no later than 10 (ten) Business Days before the expiry of such time limit;

(e) the Purchaser shall consider in good faith any reasonable timely provided comments by the Sellers’ Representative;

(f) the Tax Documents shall duly, timely, correctly and in compliance with applicable Law be submitted to the relevant Tax authority.

13.2.2 The Parties hereby acknowledge that nothing in this Clause 13.2 shall in any way change a Party’s rights and obligations under this

Agreement.

13.2.3 In relation to Tax accounting periods of the Group starting before the Completion Date and ending after the Completion Date, the Purchaser

shall be responsible for, and have the conduct of preparing, submitting to and agreeing with the relevant Tax authority all Tax Documents of

the Group. The Sellers shall provide to the Purchaser information and assistance which may reasonably be required to prepare all such Tax

Documents.

14. SELLERS’ REPRESENTATIVE

14.1 For purposes of this Agreement, each of the Sellers hereby irrevocably appoints and authorises: HALSTEN M&A B.V., a private company with

limited liability (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands (the Sellers’

Representative) as its agent and attorney with full power and authority in that Seller’s name and on its behalf to:

(a) execute any agreement or instrument entered into or delivered in connection with the Transaction and to give any written consent,

direction, demand, notice or other communication on behalf of that Seller in connection with the Transaction;



(b) receive any written consent, direction, demand, notice or other communication on behalf of that Seller in connection with the

Transaction;

(c) consent or agree to any amendment to, or waiver of any provision of, this Agreement in his, her or its capacity as the Sellers’

Representative or to agree to, negotiate, enter into, or, if applicable, contest, prosecute or defend, settlements and compromises of,

any claims in connection with the resolution of any dispute relating to this Agreement or the Transaction (including with respect to

any inaccuracy in any of the Sellers’ Warranties, any adjustments with respect to the Consideration and any matters related to

Clause 10, Clause 11 or Clause 12 hereof);

(d) review, negotiate and agree to and authorize the Purchaser to reclaim funds from the Escrow Accounts in satisfaction of claims

asserted by the Purchaser;

(e) consult with Representatives for the purposes of performing its duties hereunder, solely at the cost and expense of the Sellers; and

(f) take all actions necessary or appropriate in his, her or its judgment for the accomplishment of the foregoing, in each case without

having to seek or obtain the consent of any Person under any circumstance.

14.2 The Sellers’ Representative in such capacity will not be responsible and will not have any liability to any of the Sellers for any loss or damage any of

them may suffer by reason of the performance by the Sellers’ Representative of his duties under this Agreement, other than loss or damage arising

from fraud. Each of the Sellers appointing the Sellers’ Representative hereby undertakes to ratify and confirm all that the Sellers’ Representative will

do or cause to be done in its capacity as Sellers’ Representative, provided that it is within the scope of such appointment.

14.3 Each of the Sellers agrees that the Purchaser shall be entitled to rely on this Clause 14 in dealing with the Sellers’ Representative and that, subject to

14.4 and so far as permitted by law, the appointment of the Sellers’ Representative shall be conclusively binding on each Seller in favour of the

Purchaser.

14.4 If the appointment of the Sellers’ Representative terminates due to the resignation or bankruptcy of the Sellers’ Representative, the Sellers shall

notify the Purchaser in writing of such termination as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within five (5) Business Days of such

termination. The Sellers shall simultaneously notify the Purchaser in writing upon the appointment of a new sellers’ representative with the same

power and authority as the Sellers’ Representative has been given in this Agreement.

14.5 The Sellers’ Representative is not obliged to do or omit to do anything if it would or might in its reasonable opinion constitute a breach of any law or

regulation or a breach of a fiduciary duty or duty of confidentiality.

15. CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

15.1 Confidentiality

15.1.1 The Parties acknowledge that they are aware, and will advise their respective Representatives who are informed as to the matters which are

the subject of this Agreement, that the Purchaser is a public reporting company and that U.S. securities laws prohibit any Person who has

received from an issuer material, non-public information concerning the matters which are the subject of this Agreement from

communicating such information to any other Person under circumstances in which it is foreseeable that such Person is likely to purchase or

sell the Purchaser’s securities. Therefore, each Seller shall, and shall procure that its Affiliates and Representatives shall, treat as strictly

confidential and not disclose, divulge, furnish, make accessible or use any information regarding or relating to, or obtained in connection

with, this Agreement or any Transaction Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including:

(a) the existence or any terms and conditions hereof or thereof; or

(b) the Purchaser’s Group, or their business activities, including their, affairs, properties, assets, trading practices, services,

developments, trade secrets, intellectual property rights, know-how, personnel, customers or suppliers.

(Confidential Information).

15.1.2 Clause 15.1.1 shall not prevent disclosure by a Seller of Confidential Information to the extent it can demonstrate that:

(a) disclosure is required by applicable Law or by any stock exchange or any regulatory or Governmental Authority having applicable

jurisdiction (provided that the disclosing Seller shall (i) notify the other Parties and (ii) take into account the reasonable

requirements about the proposed form, timing, nature and extent of the disclosure);

(b) disclosure is of Confidential Information which was lawfully in the possession of that Seller any of its directors, officers,

employees, agents, advisers, accountants and consultants of that Seller and/or of its respective Affiliates (in either case as



evidenced by written records) without any obligation of secrecy before its being received or held by that Party or any of its

directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers, accountants and consultants of that Party and/or of its respective Affiliates;

(c) disclosure is of Confidential Information which has previously become publicly available other than through any Seller’s action or

failure to act; or

(d) disclosure is required for the purpose of any arbitral or judicial proceedings arising out of this Agreement or any agreement entered

into pursuant to this Agreement.

15.1.3 The restrictions contained in this Clause 15.1 shall survive Completion and shall continue without limit of time.

15.2 Announcements

15.2.1 No announcement in connection with the existence or the subject matter of this Agreement shall be made or issued by or on behalf of the

Sellers, or their respective Affiliates, without the prior written approval of the Purchaser (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or

delayed).

15.2.2 The restriction in Clause 15.2.1 shall not apply to the extent that the announcement is required by law, by any stock exchange or any

regulatory or other supervisory body or authority of competent jurisdiction, whether or not the requirement has the force of law. If this

exception applies, the Seller making the announcement or issuing the communication to shareholders shall consult with the Purchaser in

advance as to its form, content and the timing of issue and shall use all reasonable efforts to reach agreement on those aspects with the

Purchaser.

15.2.3 Prior to issuing the press release announcing the Transaction, the Purchaser shall provide a draft thereof to the Company for its review (it

being understood that the Purchaser shall make the final determination regarding the content and timing thereof).

16. MISCELLANEOUS

16.1 Further assurances

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Party shall at its own costs and expenses from time to time execute such documents and

perform such acts and things as the other Party may reasonably require to effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to give each

Party the full benefit of this Agreement.

16.2 Specific Performance

The Parties agree that, in the event of any breach or threatened breach by the other Party or Parties hereto of any covenant, obligation or other

agreement set forth in this Agreement or any Transaction Agreements, as the case may be (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, with respect to any

breach of any of the Sellers’ Warranties or any of the Purchaser’s Warranties), (i) each Party shall be entitled, without any proof of actual damages

(and in addition to any other remedy that may be available to it), to an order of specific performance to enforce the observance and performance of

such covenant, obligation or other agreement and an injunction preventing or restraining such breach or threatened breach, and (ii) no Party hereto

shall be required to provide or post any bond or other security or collateral in connection with any such order or injunction or in connection with any

related action or legal proceeding.

16.3 Entire agreement

This Agreement (together with the Transaction Agreements and the Disclosure Letter) contains the entire agreement between the Parties relating to

the subject matter of this Agreement, to the exclusion of any terms implied by Law which may be excluded by contract, and supersedes any previous

written or oral agreement between the Parties to this Agreement in relation to the matters dealt with in this Agreement.

16.4 Assignment

None of the rights or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred without the prior written consent of all of the Parties.

16.5 Invalidity

If any provision in this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, under any applicable Law, then:

(a) such provision or part shall to that extent be deemed not to form part of this Agreement but the legality, validity or enforceability

of the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected; and

(b) the Parties shall use reasonable efforts to agree a replacement provision that is legal, valid and enforceable to achieve so far as

possible the intended effect of the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision.



16.6 Counterparts

This Agreement may be entered into in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The

Parties may enter into this Agreement by signing any such counterpart. Any such counterpart, to the extent delivered by means of a facsimile

machine or by .pdf, .tif, .gif, .jpeg or similar attachment to electronic mail (any such delivery, an Electronic Delivery) shall be treated in all manners

and respects as an original executed counterpart and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version

thereof delivered in person. No party hereto shall raise the use of Electronic Delivery to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or

agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through the use of Electronic Delivery as a defense to the formation of a Contract, and

each such party forever waives any such defense, except to the extent that such defense relates to lack of authenticity.

16.7 Waiver

No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless such waiver is in writing and signed by or on behalf of the Party entitled to

make such waiver. In addition, no failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of a Party, any right or remedy under this Agreement

shall operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise or the exercise of any

other right or remedy.

16.8 Amendment

Subject to the provisions of applicable Law, the parties hereto may amend this Agreement at any time before or after the Completion by execution of

an instrument in writing signed on behalf of the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative. No amendment of this Agreement shall be effective

unless such amendment is in writing and signed by or on behalf of each of the Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative.

16.9 Third-party rights

Save as expressly otherwise stated, this Agreement does not contain any stipulation in favour of a third party (derdenbeding). Nothing contained in

this Agreement will be treated as the establishment, amendment, modification, or termination of any employee benefit plan or arrangement or

constitute a limitation on a Group Company, the Purchaser, or any of their respective Affiliates to establish, amend, modify, merger or terminate any

employee benefit plan, give any Service Provider or any labor organization, union, works council, employee association, trade union, or other similar

employee representative body, any third party beneficiary or other rights under this Agreement or otherwise, or obligate a Group Company, the

Purchaser, or any of their respective Affiliates to maintain any particular employee benefit plan or arrangement or retain the employment or services

of any Service Provider. In the event that any stipulation in favour of a third party (derdenbeding) contained in this Agreement is accepted by any

third party, such third party will not become a party to this Agreement.

16.10 No rescission

Each Party waives its right to rescind (ontbinden) this Agreement, in whole or in part, on the basis of section 6:265 DCC or to request a competent

court to amend this Agreement on the basis of section 6:230(2) DCC. Furthermore, a Party in error (dwaling) shall bear the risk of that error in

making this Agreement.

16.11 Tax deductions and payments

Any sum payable under or otherwise in connection with this Agreement shall be paid free and clear of all Tax deductions except as required by Law.

If any Tax deduction is required to be made pursuant to applicable Law, such deduction or withholding shall be treated for all purposes of this

Agreement as having been paid to the Party in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.

16.12 Costs

Unless this Agreement provides otherwise, all costs which a Party has incurred or must incur in preparing, concluding or performing this Agreement

are for its own account. All fees of the Notary payable in connection with the Deed of Transfer shall be paid by the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall be

responsible for the payment of all Warranty Insurance Costs; provided, however, that up to a maximum amount not to exceed $2,000,000 shall be

funded through a reduction in the Consideration in accordance with this Agreement.

16.13 Interest

If any Party defaults in the payment when due of any amount payable under or otherwise in connection with this Agreement, then the liability of that

Party shall be increased to include interest on such amount from the date when such payment is due under or otherwise in connection with this

Agreement until the date of actual payment (both days inclusive) at the rate referred to in section 6:120 paragraph 2 DCC.

16.14 Notices

16.14.1 Any notice in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing in English and delivered by hand, registered post or courier using an



internationally recognised courier company, or by email. A notice shall be effective upon receipt and shall be deemed to have been

received: (i) at the time of delivery, if delivered by hand, registered post or courier; or (ii) if delivered by email at the time of sending.

16.14.2 The addresses and email addresses of the Parties for the purpose of Clause 16.14 are:

The Sellers or the Sellers’ Representative

For the attention of:

Halsten M&A B.V.

Address:

c/o Eliane Koelmans Cruquiusweg 111 G, 1019 AG
Amsterdam 
The Netherlands 

Email address:

Eliane.Koelmans@halsten.nl

The Purchaser

For the attention of:

Darren J. Milliken

Address:

ForeScout Technologies, Inc.

190 West Tasman Drive 
San Jose, CA 95134 
USA

Email address:

darren.milliken@forescout.com

With a copy to:

For the attention of:

Denny Kwon

Address:

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C. 
One Market Plaza, Spear Tower 
Suite 3300  
San Francisco, CA 94105 
USA

dkwon@wsgr.com

and

With a copy to:
  

Pauline Vos Bird & Bird LLP 
Zuid-Hollandplein 22 2596 AW 
The Hague 
The Netherlands

pauline.vos@twobirds.com

16.14.3 A Party may notify the other Parties of a change to its name, relevant addressee, address or email address for the purposes of this Clause

16.14, provided that such notice shall only be effective on:

(a) the date specified in such notice as the date on which the change is to take place; or

(b) if, in such notice, no date is specified or the date specified is less than five (5) Business Days after the date on which such notice is

given, the date following five (5) Business Days after such notice has been given.

17. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

17.1 Governing law

This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising hereunder or in connection herewith, its subject matter or formation (including any

dispute or claim relating to non-contractual obligations) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Netherlands.

17.2 Jurisdiction and forum

All disputes between the Parties hereto arising under or in connection with this Agreement or further agreements resulting from this Agreement,

including all disputed claims for breach by any party of any representation, warranty, undertaking or covenant under this Agreement (a Dispute),

shall be finally resolved by arbitration in accordance with the rules of the Netherlands Arbitration Institute in Amsterdam (the Rules), provided

always that the Parties have the right to submit any such dispute in summary proceedings to the district court in Amsterdam and the right to obtain

seizure. The arbitrator, who shall be appointed in accordance with the Rules, shall decide according to the rules of the law. The arbitral tribunal shall

consist of one arbitrator. The arbitral proceedings shall be conducted in the English language. The place of arbitration shall be Amsterdam, the

Netherlands.
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IN WITNESS whereof the Purchaser, each of the Sellers and the Sellers’ Representative shall have executed this Agreement on the date which appears first

on the first page.

On behalf of FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

___________/s/_______________        

Name:    Michael DeCesare            

Title:    President and Chief Executive Officer                    

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of SECURITYMATTERS HOLDING B.V.

___________/s/_______________        

Name:    Sandro Etalle    

Title: managing director     

BOLZONSOFT B.V., solely for purposes of Clause 7.5 and Clause 7.6.2

___________/s/_______________

ETALLE B.V., solely for purposes of Clause 7.5 and Clause 7.6.2

___________/s/_______________

ZAMBON B.V., solely for purposes of Clause 7.5 and Clause 7.6.2

___________/s/_______________

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of KPN VENTURES B.V.

___________/s/_______________        

Name:    Maximo Ibarra        

Title: CEO KPN N.V.

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of EMERALD CLEANTECH FUND III LP

___________/s/_______________        

Name:            

Title: director

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of EMERALD INDUSTRIAL INNOVATION FUND LP

___________/s/_______________        

Name:    Karen Haith    

Title: Director

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of PHOENIX CONTACT VENTURE FUNDS I GmbH

___________/s/_______________        

Name:    Marcus Böker        

Title:     Managing Director

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of ROBERT BOSCH VENTURE CAPITAL GmbH

___________/s/_______________        ___________/s/_______________

Name:    Ingo Ramesohl            PH. Rose

Title:     Geschäftsführer            Geschäftsführer

  

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



ALESSANDRO FOTI

___________/s/_______________        

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



CLIFF GREGORY

___________/s/_______________        

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



On behalf of HALSTEN M&A B.V., as the Sellers’ Representative 

___________/s/_______________        

Name:    E.B. Koelmans    

Title:     Director

[Signature Page to Share Purchase Agreement]



For acknowledgement and acceptance of their obligations under Clauses 13.1 and Schedule 7 :

DAMIANO BOLZONI

___________/s/_______________    

SANDRO ETALLE

___________/s/_______________    

EMMANUELE ZAMBON

___________/s/_______________    

18.    
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SCHEDULE 1: OVERVIEW SELLERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

 

Seller Shares Pro Rata Part

SECURITYMATTERS HOLDING B.V. 180,000 69.0079%

EMERALD CLEANTECH FUND III LP 22,957 8.8012%

KPN VENTURES B.V. 13,870 5.3174%

PHOENIX CONTACT VENTURE FUNDS I GmbH 13,870 5.3174%

ROBERT BOSCH VENTURE CAPITAL GmbH 13,870 5.3174%

Mr. CLIFF GREGORY 9,575 3.6708%

EMERALD INDUSTRIAL INNOVATION FUND LP 4,783 1.8337%

Mr. ALESSANDRO FOTI 1,915 0.7342%

TOTAL
260,840 100.0000%

SCHEDULE 2: DISCLOSURE LETTER

[see attached]

SCHEDULE 3-A: HOLDBACK ESCROW AGREEMENT

[see attached]



SCHEDULE 3-B: INDEMNITY ESCROW AGREEMENT

[see attached]

SCHEDULE 3-C: ADJUSTMENT ESCROW AGREEMENT

[see attached]

19.    



SCHEDULE 4: THE SELLERS’ WARRANTIES

In addition to the definitions set forth in Clause 1.1 of the Agreement, the following words shall have the meaning set out below:

Accounts: means, collectively, (i) the audited consolidated annual accounts of the Group comprising the balance sheet as at,

and profit and loss account for the financial year ended on, the Accounts Date and (ii) the unaudited consolidated

accounts of the Group comprising the balance sheet as at, and profit and loss account for the six (6) month

financial period ended on, June 30, 2018.

Accounts Date: means 31 December 2017.

Assets: has the meaning as defined in paragraph C below.

Associated Persons: has the meaning as defined in paragraph A.7.1 below.

Bid: means a bid, quotation or proposal by any Group Company that is outstanding as of the date hereof that if

accepted or awarded could lead to (i) a Contract between any Group Company, on the one hand, and any

Governmental Authority on the other hand or (ii) a Contract between any Group Company, on the one hand, and

a prime contractor or upper-tier subcontractor, on the other hand, relating to a Contract between such Person and

any Governmental Authority.

Business IT Systems: means all computer software and hardware, and telecommunications, network and internet-related equipment

which is owned or used by the Group in the course of the Business.

Code: means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

Company Benefit Plan: means any plan, program, policy, practice, Contract, agreement or other arrangement, whether written or

unwritten, providing for compensation, severance, change in control pay, termination pay, deferred

compensation, bonus, commission, incentive-based pay, performance awards, options, restricted stock, deferred

stock, profit sharing, profits interest, or other equity or equity‑related awards, savings, life, vacation, paid time

off, holiday, sick pay, cafeteria, flexible spending, dependent care assistance, tuition, medical, medical expense

reimbursement, health, dental, vision, disability, death, welfare benefits, fringe benefits, perquisites, or other

employee benefits or remuneration of any kind, funded or unfunded, including, but not limited to, each employee

benefit plan which is or has been maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by the Group

Company for the benefit of any Service Provider (or any spouse, domestic partner, dependent or beneficiary of

any such individual), or with respect to which the Group Company has or may have any Liability or obligation.



Company Business IP: means any and all Intellectual Property Rights used in or necessary to conduct the business of each Group

Company, in the manner currently conducted, including the design, development, manufacture, testing, use,

marketing, distribution, import, sale, offer to sell, licensing, provision, support, and other exploitation of

Company Products and Company Intellectual Property.

Company Government Contract: means a Contract between any Group Company, on the one hand, and any Governmental Authority, on the other

hand, for which performance is ongoing as of the date hereof.

Company Government Subcontract: means a Contract between any Group Company, on the one hand, and any prime contractor or upper-tier

subcontractor, on the other hand, relating to a Contract between such Person and any Governmental Authority for

which performance is ongoing as of the date hereof.

Company Intellectual Property: means any Technology or Intellectual Property Rights (including the Company Registered IP) that are owned by,

or exclusively licensed to, any Group Company.

Company Products: means all products or services (including websites, applications, and end-user interfaces) currently or previously

developed or under development, marketed, distributed, licensed, sold, or offered by or on behalf of any of the

Group Companies.

Data Protection Requirements: means (i) Laws (including Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (the General Data Protection Regulation), (ii) privacy and

data processing policies and notices, (iii) contractual obligations, (iv) applicable published industry standards

(including, to the extent applicable, the PCI Data Security Standard), and (v) applicable self-regulatory

obligations, in each case relating to the collection, interception, use, retention, security, disclosure, transfer, and

other processing of Covered Data.

Disclosed Contracts: means the Contracts set forth on Schedule 10.

Employees: means any and all persons employed by any Group Company at the Completion Date.

FCPA: has the meaning as defined in paragraph A.7.1(b) below.

Hazardous Material: means any substance that has been designated by any Governmental Authority or by applicable Law to be

radioactive, toxic, hazardous or otherwise a danger to health, reproduction or the environment, including PCBs,

asbestos, petroleum, and urea-formaldehyde and all substances listed as hazardous substances pursuant to the

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, or defined as a hazardous

waste pursuant to the United States Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, or



in any similar Law of any other jurisdiction in which the Group operates.

In-Licenses: has the meaning as defined in paragraph F.2.2 below.

Insolvent: means in respect of any Person, if such Person becomes insolvent (voluntarily or involuntarily), including if such

Person: (i) passes any resolution for it to be, or is subject to a court order that it be, or it otherwise is, wound up,

liquidated or dissolved; (ii) becomes the subject of an administration order or an administrator or liquidator is

appointed in respect of it; (iii) is the subject of a proposal for a composition in satisfaction of its debts or a

scheme of arrangement of its affairs or a compromise or arrangement between it and its creditors or any class of

them, or it makes any arrangement or compromise with its creditors generally or ceases to carry on all or

substantially all of its business.

Intellectual Property Rights: includes any rights associated with (i) patents and patent applications, (ii) copyrights, copyright applications and

registrations, moral rights, and other rights of authors in works of authorship, (iii) registered and unregistered

trademarks, trade mark applications, trade names, service marks, business names, registered design, and

unregistered design right, (iv) database and computer algorithm, (v) know-how, confidential and proprietary

information, and trade secrets, (vi) divisions, continuations, continuation-in-part, renewals, reissuances, re-

examination, and extensions of the foregoing (as applicable), and other intellectual or industrial property right

anywhere in the world and rights under licenses, consents, orders, statutes or otherwise in relation to the

foregoing, and all rights of a similar nature, in each case anywhere in the world.

Interested Party: has the meaning as defined in paragraph N.1 below.

IP Contract: has the meaning as defined in paragraph F.2.8 below.

Leases: has the meaning as defined in paragraph C.2 below.

Licenses: means all EC and/or national and/or provincial and/or municipal licences, permits, exemptions, consents, grants

and authorisations howsoever named as are necessary under any Law and/or required by any Governmental

Authority and/or otherwise necessary for carrying out and continuing the operations and Business of the Group

or otherwise for carrying out and continuing the operations and Business of the Group.

Lien: mean any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, mortgage, security interest, encumbrance, interference, option,

right of first refusal, pre-emptive right, community property interest or restriction of any nature



(including any restriction on the voting of any security, any restriction on the transfer of any security or other

asset, any restriction on the possession, exercise or transfer of any other attribute of ownership of any asset).

Management Accounts: means the management accounts of the Company from the Accounts Date to 30 June 2018.

Material Contracts: has the meaning as defined in paragraph D below.

Organizational Documents: means the articles of association, incorporation documents and/or bylaws of the Company and each Subsidiary,

as applicable.

Other In-Licenses: has the meaning as defined in paragraph F.2.2 below.

Out-Licences: has the meaning as defined in paragraph F.2.2 below.

Per Claim Threshold: has the meaning as defined in paragraph 5 of Schedule 6.

Personal Data: means (i) a natural person’s name, street address, telephone number, e-mail address, photograph, identification

number, driver’s license number, passport number, credit or debit card number, biometric identifiers, or any other

piece of information that allows the location of, identification of, or contact with a natural person or a computing

system or device; (ii) any other information defined as “personal data”, “personally identifiable information”,

“individually identifiable health information,” “protected health information,” or “personal information” under

any Law; or (iii) information associated, directly or indirectly (by, for example, records linked via unique keys),

with any of the foregoing.

Privacy Policy: means each external or internal, past or present privacy, data protection, or data processing policy or notice of

any Group Company, and any or privacy or security-related representation or statement of any Group Company

relating to: (i) the privacy of users of any Company Product; or (ii) the collection, use, storage, retention,

hosting, disclosure, security, transmission, interception, transfer, disposal, or other processing of any Covered

Data.

Product Data: means (i) data and content provided by or for customers or users (or their respective users) of any Group

Company to, or stored by or for customers or users (or their respective users) of Company Products on, the

Company Products; (ii)  data and content created, compiled, inferred, derived, or otherwise obtained by or for the

Company Products or by or for any Group Company in connection with the provision or operation of Company

Products; and (iii) data and content compiled, inferred, or derived directly or indirectly from data or content

described in subclauses (i) and (ii) above.



Properties: means all real property, including but not limited to all buildings and structures thereon, owned, leased or

otherwise used, in whole or in part, by any Group Company.

Sanctions: means any sanctions of whatever nature imposed under any applicable Sanctions Laws.

Sanctioned Person: means a Person (i) that is the subject of Sanctions, (ii) that is majority-owned or controlled by a Person that is the

subject of Sanctions, or (iii) that is located in or organized under the laws of a country or territory which is the

subject of country- or territory-wide Sanctions.

Sanctions Laws: means those trade, economic or financial sanctions laws, regulations, embargoes, or restrictive measures (in each

case having the force of law) administered, enacted or enforced from time to time by (i) the United States

(including without limitation the Department of Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control), (ii) the European

Union and enforced by its member states, (iii) the United Nations, and (iv) any other applicable Governmental

Authority.

Service Provider: means any current or former employee, consultant, independent contractor or director of any Group Company.

Service Provider Agreement: means each management, employment, severance, consulting, contractor, relocation, repatriation, expatriation,

loan, visa, work permit or other agreement, or Contract (including, any offer letter or any agreement providing

for acceleration of Company shares or equity awards, or any other agreement providing for compensation or

benefits) between any Group Company and any Service Provider, whether written or unwritten.

Shareholders Agreement means the shareholders agreement dated 19 September 2016 entered into (amongst others) by the Sellers and the

Company.

Technology: means any or all of the following: (i) works of authorship including, computer programs, algorithms, routines,

source code and executable code, whether embodied in software or otherwise, documentation, designs, files,

records and data; (ii) inventions (whether or not patentable), improvements, and technology; (iii) proprietary and

confidential information, including technical data, trade secrets, show how, know how and techniques; (iv)

databases, data compilations and collections and technical data; (v) processes, devices, prototypes, schematics,

bread boards, net lists, mask works, test methodologies and hardware development tools; (vi) logos, trade names,

trade dress, trademarks, service marks, World Wide Web addresses and domain names, tools, methods and

processes; and all instantiations of the foregoing in any form and embodied in any media.



Threshold: has the meaning as defined in paragraph 5 of Schedule 6.

Top Customer: has the meaning as defined in paragraph E.1 below.

Top Supplier: has the meaning as defined in paragraph E.2 below.

Subsidiary Shares: has the meaning as defined in paragraph A.4.6 below.

UK Bribery Act: has the meaning as defined in paragraph A.7.1(b) below.

A. LEGAL

A.1. Organization, authority and capacity of the Group Companies and the Sellers

A.1.1 The Company is duly incorporated and validly exists as a private company with limited liability (besloten vennootschap met beperkte

aansprakelijkheid) under the laws of the Netherlands and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on the Business and to

own, lease and operate its properties and assets.

A.1.2 Each Subsidiary is duly incorporated and validly exists under the laws of its jurisdiction and has all requisite corporate power and authority

to carry on the Business and to own, lease and operate its respective properties and assets.

A.1.3 Each Group Company is duly qualified and is authorized to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the

character or location of its assets or properties (whether owned, leased or licensed) or the nature of its business make such qualification

necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified would not be material to such Group Company or its business.

A.1.4 Each Seller declares for itself that it (except for ARF and CHG) is duly incorporated and validly exists under the laws of its jurisdiction and

has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

A.1.5 Each Group Company has all requisite (corporate or individual, as the case may be) power and authority to execute this Agreement, the

Transaction Agreements to which it is a party, and any agreement referred to herein, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder,

and to effectuate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, all (corporate or individual, as the case may be) action necessary to

validly and duly authorize the execution and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Agreements, any agreement referred to herein

and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby has been taken and such entry and performance will not breach, violate, infringe or

otherwise affect the rights of any other Person.

A.1.6 Each Seller declares for itself that it has all requisite (corporate or individual, as the case may be) power and authority to execute this

Agreement, the Transaction Agreements to which it is a party, and any agreement referred to herein, to perform its obligations hereunder

and thereunder, and to effectuate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, all (corporate or individual, as the case may be) action

necessary to validly and duly authorize the execution and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Agreements, any agreement

referred to herein and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby has been taken and such entry and performance will not breach,

violate, infringe or otherwise affect the rights of any other Person.



A.1.7 This Agreement and all other agreements and documents to be executed in accordance herewith constitute, or will when executed

constitute, binding obligations on the Company and the Subsidiaries and are enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.

A.1.8 Each Seller declares for itself that this Agreement and all other agreements and documents to be executed by such Seller in accordance

herewith constitute, or will when executed constitute, binding obligations for it and are enforceable against it in accordance with their

respective terms.

A.1.9 Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is Insolvent. To the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, no matters or

circumstances exist which might give rise to any such Person becoming Insolvent.

A.1.10 Each Seller declares for itself that it is not Insolvent and that to its knowledge, no matters or circumstances exist which might give rise to it

becoming Insolvent.

A.1.11 Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Agreements, the performance by the Sellers and the Sellers’

Representative of their individual respective obligations hereunder and thereunder, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated

hereby does or will:

(a) conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) or

require the consent, waiver, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, qualification, designation, declaration or filing

with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person under any provisions of: (i) any agreement or instrument to which any

Group Company is a party or by which any properties or assets (whether tangible or intangible) of a Group Company are bound;

(ii) the articles of association, by-laws or similar corporate document of any Group Company; or (iii) any Law or License

applicable to any Group Company or any properties or assets (whether tangible or intangible) of a Group Company;

(b) relieve any other party to any Contract with any Group Company or by which any properties or assets (whether tangible or

intangible) of a Group Company are bound of its obligations or enable that party to vary, cancel, modify, accelerate or terminate its

rights or obligations under that Contract, or give rise to any payment obligation or loss of any benefit thereunder; or

(c) result in the creation or imposition of any Third Party Right on any of the Shares, the Subsidiary Shares, the Properties or Assets of

any Group Company.

A.1.12 Each Seller declares for itself that neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Agreements, the performance

by the Sellers’ Representative of its and the Sellers’ Representative obligations hereunder and thereunder, nor the consummation of the

transactions contemplated hereby does or will: conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under (with or without

notice or lapse of time, or both) or require the consent, waiver, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, qualification, designation,

declaration or filing with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person under any provisions of: (i) any agreement or instrument to

which it is a party or by which any properties or assets (whether tangible or intangible) of a Group Company are bound; (ii) any Law or

License applicable to it.



A.2. Constitutional and corporate documents

All statutory books, minute books and registers of each Group Company have been properly kept and all returns and particulars, resolutions and

other documents which such Group Company is required by Law to file with or deliver to the relevant trade register of the Chamber of Commerce

have been correctly made up, duly filed and/or delivered.

A.3. The Company and the Subsidiaries

A.3.1 No indebtedness (actual or contingent), Liability or obligation in either direction and no Contract or arrangement is outstanding between

any Company and/or any Subsidiary on the one hand and/or any Seller or Affiliate of any Seller on the other hand.

A.3.2 No Group Company has paid or declared any dividends or distributions between the Accounts Date and the Completion Date.

A.3.3 Other than the Subsidiaries, the Company has no subsidiaries and (a) does not hold or beneficially own nor has it agreed to acquire any

shares of any Person; (b) is nor has agreed to become a member of any general partnership, private partnership or other unincorporated

association, joint venture or consortium; (c) does not have any branch, agency, place of business or any permanent establishment outside the

Netherlands; and/or (d) is not a party to any profit or income sharing arrangement.

A.3.4 The Company has neither agreed nor is obligated to make any future investment in or capital contribution to any other Person.

A.3.5 The Subsidiaries have no subsidiaries and (a) do not hold or beneficially own nor have they agreed to acquire any shares of any Person; (b)

are nor have agreed to become a member of any general partnership, private partnership or other unincorporated association, joint venture

or consortium; (c) do not have any branch, agency, place of business or any permanent establishment outside their jurisdiction of

incorporation; and/or (d) are not a party to any profit or income sharing arrangement

A.3.6 None of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, nor any of its Affiliates has any direct or indirect interest in, or is engaged by, any company

or business which competes with the Business.

A.4. The Shares and Subsidiary Shares

A.4.1 The overview of the Sellers’ shareholdings in the Company at the Signing Date and as at the Completion attached as Schedule 1 to the

Agreement is true, complete and accurate. When delivered, the Completion Statement, the Consideration Certificate and the Spreadsheet

Certificate shall be true and correct, including with respect to any adjustments to the Consideration to be taken into account at the

Completion.

A.4.2 Each Seller declares for itself that it (i) is the full legal and beneficial owner of, (ii) has good and marketable and title to, free and clear of all

Third Party Rights, and (iii) has the sole right to vote and to sell, convey, transfer, assign and deliver to the Purchaser, the Shares set

opposite its or his name in Schedule 1.

A.4.3 Each Seller declares for itself that it is not a party to any Contract with respect to the voting of equity securities of the Company or relating

to the allocation of the Consideration in a manner



that is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Other than the Shares specified in Paragraph A.4.1 above, each Seller declares for

itself that it does not beneficially own any other Shares or options, warrants or other rights to acquire Shares. Each Seller declares that to its

own knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances that could give rise to a Securityholder Matter.

A.4.4 Each Seller declares for itself that (i) no Group Company has, or will have on the Completion Date, any borrowings or indebtedness owing

to or from such Seller and/or any of its Affiliates to any Group Company, (ii) as of immediately following the Completion, no Group

Company will have any guarantees, indemnities or similar undertakings given by it prior to Completion to or in respect of such Seller

and/or any of its Affiliates (jointly the Company Guarantees), (iii) as of immediately following the Completion, no Group Company will

have any obligations or Liabilities whatsoever to such Seller under or in connection with any Company Guarantees and (iv) as per the

Completion Date, no Group Company shall pay, nor be obliged to pay, any amounts whatsoever for the benefit of such Seller, any Affiliate

of such Seller and/or any Person connected with such Seller unless specifically otherwise agreed under this Agreement, except, to the extent

applicable to such Seller, any Affiliate of such Seller and/or any Person connect with such Seller, the indemnification provisions under the

Company’s Organizational Documents or the Company D&O Tail Policy and any rights such Seller, any Affiliate of such Seller and/or any

Person connect with such Seller, has pursuant to this Agreement.

A.4.5 The Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid up and non-assessable, constitute the whole of the issued and

outstanding share capital of the Company, and the issuances thereof have been approved by all requisite board and shareholder action. All

of the rights, preferences and privileges of the Shares are set forth in the Organizational Documents and the Shareholders Agreement. True

and complete copies of all agreements and instruments relating to the issuance or sale of Shares have been Disclosed to the Purchaser, and

such agreements and instruments have not been amended, modified or supplemented, and there are no agreements to amend, modify or

supplement such agreements or instruments from the agreements Disclosed to the Purchaser. The Series A Shares of the Company are

convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a 1:1 ratio.

A.4.6 The Company is the full legal and beneficial owner of all issued and outstanding shares in the capital of each of the Subsidiaries (the

Subsidiary Shares). The Subsidiary Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid up and non-assessable, constitute

the whole of the issued and outstanding share capital of the Subsidiaries, and the issuances thereof have been approved by all requisite

board and shareholder action.

A.4.7 As of the Signing Date, the Options are held by the Persons as set forth in A.4.7 (i) of the Disclosure Letter, which further sets forth for each

such person: (i) the address and e-mail address of such Person; (ii) whether such Person is an employee, consultant, director or officer of the

Company; (iii) the grant date of each Option held by such Person and expiration date of each such Option (if applicable); (iv) whether each

such Option (if applicable) was granted pursuant to the Option Plan; (v) the vesting schedule (including all acceleration provisions)

applicable to each such Option, whether such Option is a Vested Option or an Unvested Option; and (vi) the exercise price per share and the

number, class, and series of Shares underlying each such Option. As of



the Signing Date, the Designated Promised Options are held by the Persons as set forth in A.4.7 (ii) of the Disclosure Letter, which further

sets forth for each such Person (i) the address and e-mail address of such Person and (ii) whether such Person is an employee, consultant,

director or officer of the Company; (iii) the date on which such Designated Promised Option was promised and (v) the amount of Shares

underlying such Designated Promised Option. No holder of any Option has the right to exercise any of their Options following the

Completion. Other than the Options and the Designated Promised Options, there are no outstanding securities, options, share appreciation

rights, warrants, rights (including conversion rights), phantom awards, restricted stock units or share units, performance units, performance

shares, profits interests, other equity-based awards (whether settled in Shares, cash, or other property), or agreements or arrangements

which call for the allotment or issue or transfer of, or grant any Person any right to purchase or call for, any Shares or Subsidiary Shares or

any securities or rights convertible into Shares or Subsidiary Shares and no Person has or claims any right to call for the conversion, issue,

sale or transfer, repurchase or repayment of any Shares or Subsidiary Shares or any securities or rights convertible into Shares or Subsidiary

Shares or any right to any distribution of the profits or assets of any Group Company. No Securityholder has entered into any Contract with

respect to the voting of Equity Interests of the Company. There are no Contracts for the purchase or acquisition from the Company of any

Shares or any securities convertible into or ultimately exchangeable or exercisable for any Shares. The Company has not made any

promises or entered into any Contracts to grant equity incentives to any employee of the Company that remain unsatisfied as of the Signing

Date, other than Options and the Designated Promised Options. The Company has no Liability for unpaid distributions. No bonds,

debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company (i) having the right to vote on any matters on which shareholders may vote (or

which is convertible into, or exchange for, securities having such right) or (ii) the value of which is in any way based upon or derived from

capital or voting stock of the Company, are issued or outstanding as of the date hereof. As a result of the Completion, the Purchaser will be

the sole record and beneficial holder of all issued and outstanding Shares and all rights to acquire or receive any Shares, whether or not such

Shares are issued or outstanding.

A.4.8 There is no Third Party Right on, over or affecting any of the Subsidiary Shares, including any subscriptions, preemptive rights, rights of

first refusal or “put” or “call” rights created by statute, the Organizational Documents, or any Contract to which any Group Company is a

party or by which it or any of its assets is bound, nor is there any commitment to give or create such Third Party Right, and no Person has

claimed to be entitled to any such Third Party Right.

A.4.9 Except for the Option Plan, the Company has never adopted, sponsored or maintained any option plan or any other plan or agreement

providing for equity compensation to any Person.

A.4.10 Each Seller declares for itself that, upon the Completion, in exchange for the Consideration paid by the Purchaser to such Seller, the

Purchaser will receive good and marketable title to such Seller’s Shares, free and clear of any and all Third Party Rights, and neither such

Seller nor any other Person (other than the Purchaser) will have as of immediately following the Completion any further interests therein or

rights with respect thereto.



A.4.11 No works council (ondernemingsraad) has been or is in the process of being established by the Company, and the Company has no

obligation to establish a works council, nor has any (former) Employee or other Person requested or demanded the establishment of any

works council by the Company.

A.5. Compliance with Law and Documents; Permits

A.5.1 Each Group Company (a) has carried out and is carrying out the Business in accordance with all applicable Laws in all material respects;

and (b) is not in violation or default of any provisions of its Organizational Documents, any provision of any Contract to which it is a party

or by which it is bound in any material respect, or of any such applicable Laws in any material respect. No Group Company has received

any notice of any suspected, potential or actual violation of any such Laws.

A.5.2 Paragraph A.5.2 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth each permit, license, variance, clearance, consent, registration, listing, exemption,

qualification, designation and approval (each, a Permit) (a) pursuant to which the Group currently operates or holds any interest in any of

its properties or (b) which is required for the operation of the Business or the holding of any such interest, in each case that is material to the

Group. All Permits set forth on Paragraph A.5.2 of the Disclosure Letter are in full force in effect and constitute all Permits required to

permit the Group to operate or conduct the Business or hold any interest in its properties or assets.

A.6. Environmental Laws

A.6.1 No Group Company has released any amount of any Hazardous Material. To the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, no

Hazardous Materials are present in, on or under any property, including the land and the improvements, ground water and surface water

thereof, that any Group Company has at any time owned, operated, occupied or leased. The Group has not transported, stored, used,

manufactured, disposed of, released or exposed its employees or others to Hazardous Materials in violation of any Law or in a manner that

would result in liability to the Purchaser or any Group Company, nor has any Group Company disposed of, transported, sold, or

manufactured any product containing a Hazardous Material (any or all of the foregoing being collectively referred to herein as Hazardous

Materials Activities) in violation of any Law to prohibit, regulate or control Hazardous Materials or any Hazardous Material Activity.

A.7. Anti-corruption and Sanction Laws

A.7.1 Neither the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties nor any Group Company nor, to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties,

any Employee or any other director, authorised representative, officer, employee, or agent of any Group Company (each an Associated

Person and together the Associated Persons) has at any time, directly or indirectly:

(a) made, offered to make, provided or paid any unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or anything of value to any candidate for

political office, or failed to disclose fully any such contributions in violation of any applicable law;

(b) made, offered to make, or provided anything of value to a Government Official, other than anything of value required or allowed

by applicable law (including, without limitation, the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1,



et seq.) (the FCPA) and the UK Bribery Act 2010 (the UK Bribery Act)), in each case, to the extent applicable to the relevant

Group Company;

(c) made, offered to make, or provided anything of value to any agent, employee, officer or director of any entity with which relevant

Group Company does business or accepted or solicited anything of value from any person in each case for the purposes of

influencing such person to do business with the Group or influencing any member Group Company to do business with such

person or to obtain or retain any advantage in the conduct of business of any Group Company;

(d) engaged in any transactions, maintained any bank account or used any corporate funds, except for transactions, bank accounts and

funds which have been and are reflected in the normally maintained books and records of any Group Company;

(e) violated any provision of the FCPA or the UK Bribery Act (in each case, to the extent applicable to the relevant Group Company)

or any other applicable anti-corruption Law; or

(f) made, offered to make, accepted or solicited anything of value in the nature of bribery in violation of any applicable Law or

engaged in any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute an offence under any applicable anti-corruption Law.

A.7.2 None of the Group Companies nor their Associated Persons is or has been the subject of any investigation, inquiry or enforcement

proceedings by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body or any customer regarding any offence or alleged offence under

applicable anti-corruption Law, no such investigation, inquiry or proceedings have been threatened or are pending and there are no

circumstances likely to give rise to any such investigation, inquiry or proceedings.

A.7.3 Each of the Sellers declares for itself and its Associated Persons that it is not or has not been the subject of any investigation, inquiry or

enforcement proceedings by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body or any customer regarding any offence or alleged offence

under applicable anti-corruption Law, no such investigation, inquiry or proceedings have been threatened or are pending and to the

knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties there are no circumstances likely to give rise to any such investigation, inquiry or

proceedings in its respect.

A.7.4 None of the Group Companies nor their employees, directors or officers, is currently a Government Official, and no Governmental Official

holds an ownership or other economic interest, direct or indirect, in any Group Company.

A.7.5 None of the Group Companies nor their Associated Persons is or has been a Sanctioned Person.

A.7.6 None of the Group Companies nor their Associated Persons has transacted business with, or for the benefit of, a Sanctioned Person in

violation of Sanctions Laws on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the any Group Company.

A.7.7 Each of the Sellers declares for itself:

(a) that it nor its employees, directors or officers, is currently a Government Official;



(b) that it nor its Associated Persons is or has been a Sanctioned Person;

(c) that it nor its Associated Persons has transacted business with, or for the benefit of, a Sanctioned Person in violation of Sanctions

Laws on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the any Group Company

A.8. Government Contracts

A.8.1 No Bids, Company Government Contracts or Company Government Subcontracts exist.

B. ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE

B.1. Annual Accounts

B.1.1 The Accounts were and, when delivered, the Required Accounts will be:

(a) true and correct in all material respects;

(b) prepared in accordance with EU-IFRS and applicable Laws and give in all respects a true and fair (getrouw, duidelijk en

stelselmatig) view of the financial position of the Group as at their respective dates and of the profit or loss of the Group for the

period ended on their respective dates;

(c) except as disclosed in Annex B.1.1, prepared on bases and principles which have been consistently applied, and which are

consistent with those used in the preparation of the audited statutory accounts of the Group for the financial year 2016 and 2017;

and

(d) contain provisions adequate to cover (i) all bad and doubtful debts and (ii) all liabilities (including Tax Liabilities), capital

commitments and other liabilities of the Group as at their respective dates, in each case, whether actual, deferred quantified,

disputed, contingent or otherwise.

B.1.2 No Group Company has any outstanding Liabilities, indebtedness, expense, claim, deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of any type

(whether or not accrued, absolute, contingent, matured, unmatured or otherwise) or otherwise and is not a guarantor of any indebtedness of

any other Person other than the Liabilities disclosed in the Accounts or incurred in the ordinary course of Business since the Accounts Date.

B.1.3 The debts included in the Accounts have realized or will realize, in the ordinary course of collection, their nominal amounts less any

provisions for bad and doubtful debts included therein.

B.1.4 No Group Company has applied for or received any grant or other financial assistance from any funding council, Governmental Authority,

agency, department or other similar organization (including, without limitation, charities and other private funding bodies).

B.1.5 The Accounts do not include any unusual, exceptional, non-recurring or extraordinary items of income or expenditure which is material

(save as expressly stated as such therein).

B.1.6 Since the Accounts Date, (a) the Group Companies have conducted the Business in a normal and proper manner so as to maintain it as a

going concern; (b) there has been no material adverse change in the financial or trading position or prospects of any Group Company (c) no

Group



Company has (than in the ordinary and usual course of its business) incurred or assumed, or agreed to incur or assume, any Liability (actual

or contingent) or expense.

B.1.7 The Management Accounts have been properly prepared in accordance with good accounting practice and in a manner materially consistent

with the Annual Accounts and disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group as at the date to which they are

prepared.

B.1.8 The Group Companies maintain accurate business records, financial books and records, personnel records, ledgers, sales accounting

records, tax records and related work papers and other books and records (collectively, the Books and Records) reflecting the Group

Companies’ assets and Liabilities implemented to effect the collection thereof on a timely basis. The Group Companies maintain internal

procedures that provide reasonable assurance that (i) transactions are executed with management’s authorization, (ii) transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of such Group Company’s financial statements in conformity with EU-IFRS and to maintain

accountability of its assets, (iii) access to its assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s authorization, and (iv) the recorded

accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any

differences. No Group Company has engaged in any transaction, maintained any bank account or used any corporate funds except as

reflected in its Books and Records.

B.1.9 Neither a Group Company nor any Key Employee has identified or been made aware of (i) any significant deficiency or material weakness

in the system of internal accounting controls utilized by such Group Company, (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves any

current Employee of a Group Company who has a role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized

by the Company or (iii) any claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing.

B.2. Indebtedness

B.2.1 Other than as fully disclosed in the Accounts, no Group Company has outstanding, nor did it agree to create or incur, any loan capital or any

money borrowed or raised, including money raised by promissory note or debt factoring.

B.2.2 No Group Company has lent any money which has not been repaid to it nor does it own the benefit of any debt (whether present of future)

other than debts accrued to it in the ordinary course of the Business.

B.2.3 No event has occurred or been alleged which has resulted or could result in:

(a) any present or future borrowing or indebtedness in the nature of borrowing of any Group Company becoming due, or capable of

being declared due and payable, prior to its date of maturity and no event has occurred which is an event upon which any of the

financial facilities of any Group Company have or could become immediately repayable; and/or

(b) a Third Party Right being created or constituted in connection with any borrowing, indebtedness in the nature of borrowing,

guarantee, indemnity, surety ship or other similar commitment of any Group Company becoming enforceable.

C. ASSETS AND PROPERTIES



C.1. Save for trading stock disposed of in the ordinary and usual course of Business, the assets included in the Accounts and all other assets used by the

Group (the Assets) are owned by the relevant Group Company free from any Third Party Right. The relevant Group Company has good and valid

title to, or in the case of leased properties and assets, valid leasehold interests in, all of the material tangible properties and assets, real, personal and

mixed, used or held for use in its business free from any Third Party Right. The Assets comprise all the assets, equipment and properties necessary or

desirable for the continuation of its Business as carried on at the Completion Date and all such Assets are in good repair and condition, regularly and

properly maintained, suitable for the purposes for which they are used.

C.2. No Group Company owns any Properties, or has ever owned any Property, or is party to any agreement to purchase or sell any Property. All

Properties used and occupied by the any Group Company are used on the basis of lease agreements, which are attached as Annex C.2 to the

Disclosure Letter (the Leases). The Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all Property currently leased, subleased or licensed by or from any Group

Company or otherwise used or occupied by a Group Company. The Company has provided the Purchaser with true, correct and complete copies of

all Leases (including lease guarantees, amendments, terminations and modifications thereof). The Group Companies currently occupy all of the

Properties for the operation of the Business, and there are no other parties occupying, or with a right to occupy, any Property. No Group Company

has any capitalized leases. The Properties used and occupied by the Group comprise all the real property necessary or desirable for the continuation

of the Business as carried on at the Completion Date and all such Properties are in good repair and condition, regularly and properly maintained,

suitable for the purposes for which they are used.

C.3. Each Group Company has fully complied with any and all obligations under the relevant Lease, including the due and timely payment of rent. Upon

termination of any Lease no Group Company will be under any obligation to restore the relevant Property to its original state. Except for timely

payment of the rent to the relevant landlord, no Group Company has any Liabilities or obligations to any Person with respect to any Lease.

C.4. Each of the Group Companies has performed all of its obligations under any termination agreements pursuant to which it has terminated any leases,

subleases, licenses or other occupancy agreements of real property that are no longer in effect and has no continuing Liability with respect to such

terminated real property leases. No Group Company is party to any agreement or subject to any claim that may require the payment of any real estate

brokerage commissions or finders’ fees.

D. COMMERCIAL

D.1. Annex D.1 of the Disclosure Letter identifies, in each subpart that corresponds to the subparagraph listed below, any Contract (x) to which any

Group Company is a party, (y) by which any Group Company or any of its assets is bound or under which any Group Company has any obligation or

(z) under which any Group Company has any right or interests (the Contracts described below, whether or not set forth in paragraph D of the

Disclosure Letter, are referred to herein as the Material Contracts; to the extent any Contract entered into between the date hereof and the

Completion would otherwise have been deemed a Material Contract under the terms herein, such Contract will also be deemed a Material Contract):

D.1.1 that is with a Top Customer or a Top Supplier;



D.1.2 (A) that provides for any most favored pricing, most favored terms, or similar terms binding on any Group Company, (B) that grants any

right of first refusal, right of first offer or similar rights with respect to any material assets, rights, securities or other interests (including any

Securities) or properties of any Group Company, (C) that caps or otherwise limits the ability of any Group Company to increase fees upon

renewal of a Contract, (D) that requires any Group Company to perform or provide any enhancements to any Company Product, or to

maintain any Company Product customizations, (E) that requires any Group Company to support a particular Company Product version

(including any prohibition or limit on declaring the end-of-life of a version), or (F) that requires any Group Company to provide any free

end-user support;

D.1.3 pursuant to which any Group Company is bound to, or has committed to provide or license, any Company Intellectual Property or Company

Product to any third party on an exclusive basis or to acquire or license any product or service on an exclusive basis from a third party;

D.1.4 imposing any restriction on the right or ability of any Group Company (or that would purport to limit the freedom of the Purchaser or any of

its Affiliates): (A) to engage in any business practices; (B) to compete with any other Person or to engage in any line of business, market or

geographic area, or to sell, license, manufacture or otherwise distribute any of its technology or products, or from providing services, to

customers or potential customers or any class of customers, in any geographic area, during any period of time, or in any segment of the

market; (C) to solicit the employment of, or hire, any potential employees, consultants or independent contractors (provided the Sellers’

Warranty in this clause (C) of paragraph D.1.4 is only made with respect to Disclosed Contracts); (D) to acquire any product, property or

other asset (tangible or intangible), or any services, from any other Person; or (E) to develop or distribute any technology or exploit any

Intellectual Property Rights;

D.1.5 pursuant to which any Group Company has agreed to a covenant not to sue with respect to Intellectual Property Rights or agrees to transfer

or assign any Intellectual Property Rights;

D.1.6 relating to any development, joint development or outsourced development agreement involving the development of Intellectual Property

Rights pertaining to the Company Products;

D.1.7 relating to capital expenditures and involving future payments with respect to acquiring or maintaining fixed assets in the future in excess of

$50,000;

D.1.8 relating to the settlement of any Action (other than any settlement for monetary damages alone not in excess of $50,000);

D.1.9 relating to (A) the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any material interest in any Person or business enterprise or (B) the

acquisition, issuance or transfer of any securities of another Person;

D.1.10 relating to any mortgages, indentures, guarantees, pledges or performance or completion bonds, indemnity or surety arrangements, loans or

credit agreements, security agreements or other Contracts or instruments relating to Debt or extension of credit or the creation of any Lien

with respect to any asset of any Group Company;

D.1.11 creating or relating to any partnership or joint venture or any sharing of revenues, profits, losses, costs or liabilities, including any

agreements requiring any Group Company to pay royalties;



D.1.12 any Lease with annual rental payments exceeding €15,000;

D.1.13 that has a term of more than one year and that may not be terminated by a Group Company (without penalty or any post-termination

support, maintenance, engineering or similar obligations) within sixty (60) days after the delivery of a termination notice (provided the

Sellers’ Warranty in this paragraph D.1.13 is only made with respect to Disclosed Contracts);

D.1.14 except with respect to Service Provider Agreements that are listed in Annex J.3 of the Disclosure Letter, to the extent not disclosed in

another section of Annex D.1, that contemplates or involves: (A) the payment or delivery of cash or other consideration in an amount or

having a value in excess of $75,000 in the aggregate; or (B) the performance of services having a value in excess of $75,000 in the

aggregate; or

D.1.15 any and all other Contracts (other than those listed in a paragraph above) which, by reason of their nature, term, scope, price or otherwise,

are or are likely to be of material importance to the Business.

D.2. All Material Contracts are in written form. The Company has made available true, correct and complete copies of all Material Contracts, including

all amendments or modifications thereto. No Group Company is a party to any Contract with any of the Group’s top twenty (20) resellers and end

customers, based on revenues generated in connection with such resellers and end customers for the calendar year ended December 31, 2017 and the

six months ended June 30, 2018, other than written Contracts that have been Disclosed.

D.3. All Material Contracts are in full force and effect and binding on the parties thereto in accordance with their respective terms. In addition, each of the

parties to any Material Contract has performed all material obligations required to be performed by such party under such Material Contract, and has

not breached or violated in any material respect any obligation of such Material Contract, and is not in default, and no event has occurred and no

circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) would constitute such a default. No Group Company has

received notice from any party asserting any breach, violation or default of, or giving written notice to terminate or modify, any Material Contract

and, so far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no matter, fact or circumstance exists which gives rise to (or may give any party

reasonable cause to assert), with the lapse of time, giving of notice, or both, a breach in any material respect, violation in any material respect,

default or right to terminate or to accelerate the maturity or performance of, any Material Contract (whether by the relevant Group Company or the

relevant other party to the Material Contract), as a consequence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise. No Group

Company has received any written notice or, so far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, any non-written communication regarding

any actual or possible violation or breach of, or default under, any Material Contract. No Group Company has waived any of its material rights under

any Material Contract that would result in Liabilities to the Group Companies in excess of $25,000.

E. Top Customers; Top Suppliers

E.1. Annex E.1 lists each of the top twenty (20) currently active customers of the Group, taken as a whole, ranked by revenue generated in connection

with such customers for the calendar years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 and the six months ended June 30, 2018 (each, a Top

Customer).



E.2. Annex E.2 lists each of the top ten (10) currently active suppliers and vendors of the Group, taken as a whole, by dollar volume of sales and

purchases, respectively, for the calendar years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 and the six months ended June 30, 2018 (each, a

Top Supplier).

E.3. No Top Customer or Top Supplier has ceased to do business with any Group Company or substantially reduced its dealings with any Group

Company, including, with respect to any Top Customer, a reduction in use of products or services, or a reduction in the number of active studies. No

Group Company has received written notice or, to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, non-written communication that any Top

Customer or any Top Supplier intends to cancel, or otherwise materially and adversely modify its relationship with any Group Company (whether

related to payment, price or otherwise) on account of the Transactions or otherwise.

F. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

F.1. Confidential Information

There is not and has not been any actual or alleged misuse by any Person of any confidential information of any Group Company and each of the

Group Companies has taken all commercially reasonable measures necessary or required to protect the confidentiality of confidential information

and trade secrets of any of the Group Companies or of any third party that has provided any confidential information or trade secrets to any of the

Group Companies. Without limiting the foregoing, no Group Company has disclosed to any Person any of its confidential information except (i) to

its professional advisers under a legal duty to maintain the secrecy of the confidential information or (ii) where such disclosure was properly made in

the normal course of the Business and was made subject to a written agreement under which the recipient is obliged to maintain the secrecy of the

confidential information and is restrained from further disclosing or using it other than for the purposes for which it was disclosed by the relevant

Group Company. In addition, except for those Service Providers that have not created or developed any Intellectual Property Rights or Technology

incorporated in any Company Product that has been developed, marketed, distributed, licensed, sold, or offered by or on behalf of any of the Group

Companies since September 16, 2016, each Service Provider has executed the Group Companies’ standard form proprietary information and

confidentiality agreement, a copy of which has been provided to the Purchaser.

F.2. Intellectual Property Rights

F.2.1 Annex F.2.1 to the Disclosure Letter contains an accurate and complete list of (i) (a) all registered Intellectual Property Rights owned by,

filed in the name of, or licensed exclusively to any Group Company (including applications to register the same and specifications of the

countries where (applications to register) Intellectual Property Rights have been filed) and (b) all domain names registered in the name of or

transferred to any Group Company (indicating for each item the applicable registrar and the registration renewal date) and any social media

accounts, addresses, and handles that used or registered by or on behalf of a Group Company (Company Domain Names) ((a) and (b)

together, Company Registered IP), indicating for each item the applicable registration and application number, application and registration

date, and jurisdiction in which such item is filed; and (ii) any proceedings or actions pending before any court or tribunal (including the

European Union Intellectual Property Office, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or equivalent authorities anywhere in the world). Each

item of Company Registered IP is subsisting and, so far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, valid and enforceable.



No Company Registered IP has been adjudged or deemed to be invalid or unenforceable. None of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties is

aware of any information, materials, facts, or circumstances, including any information or fact that would constitute prior art, that would

render any of the Company Registered IP invalid or unenforceable. All necessary registration, maintenance, and renewal fees currently due

in connection with such Company Registered IP have been timely and duly made and all necessary documents, recordations and certificates

in connection with such Company Registered IP have been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or other authorities in the

United States or foreign jurisdictions, as the case may be, for the purposes of prosecuting, perfecting and maintaining such Company

Registered IP, or would materially affect any pending application for any Company Registered IP and no Group Company has knowingly

misrepresented, or knowingly failed to disclose, any facts or circumstances in any application for any Company Registered IP that would

constitute fraud or a misrepresentation with respect to such application or by which any Company Registered IP may be revoked,

invalidated, or rendered unenforceable, or the prospects of registration of such rights may be prejudiced. None of the Company Registered

IP has expired, been cancelled, or abandoned.

F.2.2 Annex F.2.2 to the Disclosure Letter lists all Contracts to which any Group Company is a party pursuant to which (i) a third party has been

granted, licensed, or provided, or otherwise has the right to access or use, any Intellectual Property Right owned or purported to be owned

by or exclusively licensed to any Group Company (Company Intellectual Property Right) or any Company Product (Out-Licenses)

(other than any non-disclosure agreement or any non-exclusive end user agreement for any Company Product, in each case that has been

entered into in the ordinary course of business, that do not materially differ in substance from any of the Group Company’s applicable

standard form agreements that have been made available to the Purchaser, and for which the total of all payments that have been made or

are owed to any of the Group Companies does not exceed $25,000 (Standard NDA and EULA)) and (ii) a third party has licensed or

granted any right in any Intellectual Property Rights to any Group Company (In-Licenses) (other than (a) agreements for generally

commercially available software in executable code form that the Group Companies have licensed for a cost of not more than $10,000 on an

annual basis or $25,000 in the aggregate; (b) non-disclosure agreements that do not materially differ in substance from any of the Group

Company’s standard form non-disclosure agreement that has been made available to the Purchaser; and (c) licenses for Open Source

Software, (a), (b), and (c) collectively, (Other In-Licenses)). No Company Intellectual Property Right is subject to any Contract except for

(x) the agreements listed in Annex F.2.2 to the Disclosure Letter; and (y) the Standard NDA and EULA, in case, in the ordinary course of

business. No Group Company is in breach of and has not breached any such Contract described within the scope of this paragraph F.2.2

and, as far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no third party is in breach in any material respect of and has not breached in

any material respect any provision of such Contract described within the scope of this paragraph F.2.2.

F.2.3 The Group Companies are the sole legal and beneficial owner of or applicant for or has good and exclusive title to, and may freely use and

dispose of, each item of the Company Intellectual



Property, free and clear of, and such Company Intellectual Property is owned by the applicable Group Company free of and clear of, any

Third Party Claim and Liens.

F.2.4 No government funding, facilities, faculty or students of an educational institution or research center or funding from third parties was used

in the development of Company Business IP in a manner that gives any ownership of or license rights of any Company Intellectual Property

Right to any Governmental Authority. As far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no current or former employee,

consultant, or independent contractor of any Group company, who was involved in, or who contributed to, the creation or development of

any Company Intellectual Property, was employed by or has performed services for the government, university, college, or other medical or

educational institution or research center during a period of time in which such employee, consultant, or independent contractor was also

performing services for any Group Company. No university, college or other medical or educational institution or research center has any

rights whatsoever in any Company Intellectual Property. The Group Companies have not permitted the rights of the Group Companies in

any Company Intellectual Property that is or was at the time material to any Group Company to enter into the public domain, including any

contributions to open source software communities.

F.2.5 The activities of each Group Company and operation of its Business, as such Business was conducted, is currently conducted, or is

currently contemplated to be conducted by such Group Company (including the design, development, manufacture, testing, use, marketing,

distribution, import, sale, offer to sell, licensing, provision, support, and other exploitation of any Company Products) have not infringed,

misappropriated, or violated, do not infringe, misappropriate, or violate, and will not infringe, misappropriate, violate, any Intellectual

Property Right of any third party or any right of any person (including any right to privacy or publicity), or constitute unfair competition or

trade practices under the Laws of any jurisdiction. No claim has been made against, or to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying

Parties, threatened against, any Group Company in respect of such infringement, misappropriation, or violation. The Sellers’ Warranties

contained in the first sentence of this paragraph F.2.5 shall be deemed to be made to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying

Parties solely with respect to Company Intellectual Property Rights that are not Company Registered IP or trade secrets.

F.2.6 The Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are not aware of any unauthorised use by any Person of any Company Intellectual Property or

confidential information of any Group Company. As far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no Person has infringed or

misappropriated, or is misappropriating or infringing, any Company Intellectual Property. No Group Company has brought any claims,

suits, arbitrations or other adversarial proceedings before any court, Governmental Authority, or arbitral tribunal against any Person with

respect to any Company Intellectual Property.

F.2.7 Each Group Company has taken appropriate and reasonable measures to protect the Company Intellectual Property, whether registered or

unregistered. Without limiting the foregoing, in each case in which any Group Company has acquired or sought to acquire ownership of any

Intellectual Property Rights or Technology from any Person, including as a result of engaging any current or former employee, consultant or

any other Person to develop or create any Intellectual Property



Rights or Technology for the Group Company, that Group Company has obtained sole and exclusive ownership of, by operation of law or

by a valid and enforceable assignment sufficient to irrevocably transfer all, such Intellectual Property Rights (including the right to seek

past and future damages with respect thereto) or Technology to that Group Company. Except as set forth in Annex F.2.7 to the Disclosure

Letter there are no actions that must be taken by any Group Company within one hundred and twenty (120) days of the date hereof for the

purposes of obtaining, maintaining, preserving, or renewing any Company Registered IP, including the payment of any registration,

maintenance or renewal fees or the filing of any documents, applications or certificates for the purposes of perfecting, maintaining, or

renewing any Company Registered IP.

F.2.8 The execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will neither automatically

(with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time or both) violate nor by their terms result in the breach, modification, cancellation,

termination, suspension of, or acceleration of any payments with respect to, any Contract described within the scope of paragraph F.2.2

(those of which are listed or required to be listed in Annex F.2.2, (IP Contracts)). Neither this Agreement nor the transactions

contemplated by this Agreement will cause, obligate, or require, by operation of law or otherwise of the terms of any Contract to which any

Group Company is a party: (i) the Purchaser or any of its affiliates or any of the Group Companies to grant to any third party any right to or

with respect to any Intellectual Property Rights or Technology owned by, or licensed to, any of them, (ii) the Purchaser or any of its

affiliates or any of the Group Companies, to be restricted from developing, selling, licensing, manufacturing, distributing or

commercializing any Company Intellectual Property or Company Product, (iii) the Purchaser or any of its affiliates or any of the Group

Companies being bound by, or subject to, any non-compete, Lien or other material restriction on the operation or scope of their respective

businesses, or (iv) the release of any source code for any Company Product to any third party.

F.2.9 No Group Company, and to the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties’ knowledge, nor any other Person acting on their behalf, has licensed,

disclosed or delivered, agreed to license, disclose or deliver, or permitted the disclosure or delivery to any escrow agent or other Person, of

any source code for any Company Product or Company Intellectual Property, except for disclosures to employees, contractors or consultants

under binding written agreements that prohibit use or disclosure except solely in the performance of services for a Group Company. To the

Non Investor Indemnifying Parties’ knowledge, no event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice,

lapse of time or both) will, or would reasonably be expected to, require the disclosure or delivery by any of the Group Companies or any

Person acting on behalf of the Group Companies to any third party of any Company Intellectual Property or source code of any Company

Product.

F.2.10 The Company Intellectual Property Rights and the rights that the Group Companies have under the In-Licenses and Other In-Licenses

constitute all of the Company Business IP.

F.2.11 Annex F.2.11 to the Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list of all (i) of those Company Products that have been made

available by any Group Company; and (ii) all of those



Company Products that the Group Companies, in accordance with any product roadmap provided or described to the Purchaser, to develop,

manufacture, deliver, plan to make commercially available, market, support, sell, provide or distribute, offer for sale, import or export for

resale, or license out, in each case, within twelve (12) months after the Completion. The Group Companies have used commercially

reasonable efforts in attempting to make all Company Products (and all parts thereof) free of any disabling codes or instructions and any

“back door,” “time bomb,” “Trojan horse,” “worm,” “drop dead device,” “virus” or other software routines or hardware components that are

designed to permit unauthorized access or the unauthorized disablement or erasure of such Company Product (or all parts thereof) or data or

other software of users (Contaminants). As far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, all of the Company Products that the

Group Companies have manufactured, distributed, licensed, or sold were merchantable, free from defects in design, specifications,

processing, manufacture, material or workmanship, and suitable for the purpose for which they were sold at the time at which they were

sold, in each case in all material respects, except, in each case, (a) where any such failure to be merchantable, free from defects, or suitable,

was corrected, fixed, or otherwise resolved by a Group Company in accordance with any contractual obligation of that Group Company, or

other applicable warranty obligation, or (b) to the extent applicable warranties relating to any of the foregoing were disclaimed in an

agreement with a customer or considered to be disclaimed under applicable Law.

F.2.12 No Group Company, and to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, no other person acting on behalf of a Group

Company, has disclosed, delivered, granted, licensed to any person, agreed to disclose, deliver, grant, or license to any person, or permitted

the disclosure or delivery to any escrow agent or other person of, any software source code that is Company Intellectual Property Rights

(Company Source Code), other than any such Company Source Code disclosed, delivered, provided, or otherwise made available to

consultants or independent contractors solely as necessary for performance of services for the benefit of a Group Company and pursuant to

written agreements containing appropriate non-use and non-disclosure obligations. To the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying

Parties, no event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) will, or would

reasonably be expected to, result in the disclosure or delivery by a Group Company or any person acting on its behalf to any person of any

Company Source Code. Annex F.2.12 to the Disclosure Letter identifies each Contract pursuant to which any Group Company has

deposited, or is or may be required to deposit, with an escrow agent or any other person, any Company Source Code.

F.3. Information Technology

Each Group Company either legally owns or has the right to use the Business IT Systems under licenses, leases or other contractual arrangements

which are in force and have been materially complied with by each Group Company. In the twelve (12) months prior to the Completion Date,

the Business IT Systems, (i) have been free from material defects, (ii) have operated substantially in accordance with the requirements of the relevant

Group Company and (iii) have been all under current maintenance contracts consistent with past practice.



F.4. Open Source Software

F.4.1 In this paragraph, unless the context otherwise requires:

Open Source Software: means the software licensed, distributed, or conveyed as “open source software,” “free software,”

“copyleft,” or under any license that requires as a condition of its use, modification, or distribution that

it, or other software into which such software is incorporated, integrated, or with which such software is

combined or distributed or that is derived from or linked to such software, be disclosed or distributed in

source code form, delivered at no charge, or be licensed, distributed, or conveyed under the same terms

as such agreement that meets the Open Software Initiative’s definition of “open source”, available

online at http://www.opensource.org/osd.html (any such license, an Open Source License).

Proprietary Software: means any software which is not Open Source Software.

Third Party Materials: means any Proprietary Software, content, data, information or other materials made available to any

Group Company by any third party.

F.4.2 Annex F.4.2 to the Disclosure Letter (i) contains an accurate and complete list of (a) each item of Open Source Software that has been

incorporated into any Company Product in any way, distributed or provided with any Company Product, or from which any part of any

Company Product has been derived, (b) the applicable Open Source License for each such item of Open Source Software, (c) the Company

Product to which each such item of Open Source Software relates, and (ii) generally describes, without limitation (a) the manner in which

each item of such Open Source Software has been used, (b) whether (and, if so, how) the Open Source Software has been modified by or

for any of the Group Companies, (c) whether the Open Source Software has been distributed by or for, or otherwise provided by or for, any

of the Group Companies, and (d) whether (and if so, how) such Open Source Software has been incorporated into or linked to, or otherwise

interacts with, any Company Product or any portion thereof.

F.4.3 No Company Product contains, is derived from, or is distributed with, or is being or was developed using Open Source Software that, and

none of the Group Companies has used Open Source Software in any manner that (except with respect to any incorporated Open Source

Software itself), would or could (i) require the disclosure or distribution in source code form of any Company Product, Company

Intellectual Property, or part thereof, (ii) require the licensing of any Company Product, Company Intellectual Property, or part thereof for

the purpose of making derivative works, (iii) impose any restriction on the consideration to be charged for the distribution of any Company

Product, Company Intellectual Property, or part thereof, (iv) create, or purport to create, obligations for any of the Group Companies with

respect to Company Intellectual Property, or grant, or purport to grant, to any third party, any rights or immunities under Company

Intellectual Property Rights, or (v) impose any other material limitation,



restriction, or condition on the right of any of the Group Companies to use or distribute any Company Product or Company Intellectual

Property.

F.4.4 With respect to any Open Source Software that is or has been used by any of the Group Companies in any way, each of the Group

Companies has been and is in compliance with all applicable Open Source Licenses with respect thereto, complete copies of which have

been made available to the Purchaser, including any and all copyright notices, attribution requirements, and notices of availability of source

code, if applicable.

F.4.5 Annex F.4.5 to the Disclosure Letter describes any contributions of Open Source Software made by each Group Company.

F.4.6 So far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware there are not any actual, potential or alleged breach, invalidity, grounds for

termination, grounds for rescission, grounds for avoidance or grounds for repudiation of, any contract to which a Group Company is a party

resulting from such Group Company’s use, distribution or conveyance of Open Source Software.

G. DATA PROTECTION

G.1. The Group, the Company Products, and all Service Providers comply in all material respects, and have at all times complied in all material respects,

with all Data Protection Requirements. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will

not result in a breach or violation of any Data Protection Requirements. Each Group Company has full rights to transfer to the Purchaser and any of

its Affiliates all Covered Data maintained by or for such Group Company without violating any Privacy Requirement. There are no unsatisfied

requests from individuals to any Group Company seeking to exercise their data protection rights under any Law (such as rights to access, rectify, or

delete their Personal Data, or to restrict processing of or object to processing of Personal Data, or to data portability).

G.2. Each Group Company has obtained a written agreement from each Service Provider with access to Covered Data that binds such Person to at least

the same restrictions and conditions that apply to such Group Company with respect to Covered Data and to implement reasonable and appropriate

measures for protecting such Covered Data.

G.3. There has not been any complaint to, or any audit, proceeding, investigation (formal or informal) or other action against, any Group Company, any

Service Providers, or any customers of any Group Company (in the case of customers, to the extent relating to the Company Products or the

practices of any Group Company) by any private party, data protection authority, or any other Governmental Entity, foreign or domestic, relating to

the security, use, or other processing of Covered Data.

G.4. Each Group Company maintains appropriate security plans, procedures and facilities for the Business and has at all times (a) taken reasonable steps

consistent with (or exceeding) industry standards to safeguard the availability, security and integrity of the Business IT Systems and the data

maintained or processed thereon; and (b) maintained reasonable and appropriate security measures to protect Covered Data maintained or processed

by or for each Group Company against loss and against unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure or other misuse. There has been no (y)

breach of the security of the Business IT Systems, or other unauthorized access to or use of the Business IT Systems; or (z) any loss of,



unauthorized access to, or unauthorized use, modification, alteration, destruction, disclosure, or other misuse of, Covered Data maintained or

otherwise processed by or for any Group Company.

H. INSURANCE

H.1. For the insurance policies of each Group Company which are currently in place, all premiums due have been duly and punctually paid and nothing

has been done or omitted to be done which could make any policy of insurance void or voidable. Annex H.1 to the Disclosure Letter lists a summary

of all insurance policies and fidelity bonds covering the assets, business, equipment, properties, operations, employees, officers and directors of each

Group Company, including the type of coverage, the carrier, the amount of coverage, the term and the annual premiums of such policies. To the

knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, there is no threatened termination of, or premium increase with respect to, any of such policies,

other than with respect to premium increases, as a result of growing revenue. None of the Group Companies or any of their Affiliates has ever

maintained, established, sponsored, participated in or contributed to any self-insurance plan.

H.2. No claim is outstanding, and during the previous five (5) years period no claims have been made, under any of the insurance policies entered into by

any Group Company and, as at the date of this Agreement, there are no circumstances or matters which might give rise to such a claim.

H.3. All Assets and the Business are adequately insured (meaning on adequate terms and conditions and for adequate values) against all risks normally

insured against by Persons carrying on the same type of business as the businesses carried on by the Group Companies.

I. TAX

I.1. All Taxes for which any Group Company is liable or for which any Group Company is liable to account for periods up to and including the

Completion Date have been duly and timely paid or, if not due, properly reflected in the Accounts, no fine for late filing or late payment of any Tax

has been imposed on any Group Company. No Group Company has asked for any extensions of time for the filing of any returns or other documents

relating to Tax and no Group Company is subject to a special regime in respect of Tax.

I.2. No Group Company is, or has ever been, liable to Tax in the current financial year or the five (5) financial years preceding the date of this

Agreement in a country, other than the country of its incorporation (a Foreign Country), including as a result of:

(a) it being considered a resident for any Tax purpose in a Foreign Country; or

(b) it having a branch, agency or permanent establishment in a Foreign Country; or

(c) it being considered to be a branch, agency or permanent establishment of a company in a Foreign Country; or

(d) it owing shares in a subsidiary in a Foreign Country.

I.3. All transactions or arrangements of the Group Companies are and were effected on at arm’s length terms and, to the knowledge of the Non Investor

Indemnifying Parties, no such transactions or arrangements involving the Group Companies have taken place or are in existence that are such that

any provision relating to transfer pricing might be invoked by any Tax Authority, affecting the Tax position of the Group



Companies. Each and every Group Company has all relevant information available to demonstrate and defend its transfer pricing position.

I.4. During the current financial year and five (5) financial years preceding the date of this Agreement, no Group Company has claimed or has been

granted exemptions from Taxes in connection with reorganisations or mergers, and there are no reorganisations or mergers which have come into

effect on or before the date of this Agreement, which will or may give rise to the assessment or payment of Taxes after the date of this Agreement.

I.5. No Group Company will be required to include any item of income or gain in, or exclude any item of deduction or loss from, taxable income for any

taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Completion Date as a result of (a) any installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or

prior to the Completion Date, (b) any prepaid amount received on or prior to the Completion Date, (c) any “closing agreement” or other agreement

with any Tax authority executed on or prior to the Completion Date, (d) any deferred intercompany gain or loss in connection with a transaction

consummated on or prior to the Completion Date or (e) any change in the method of accounting made on or prior to the Completion Date.

I.6. All notices, computations and returns which ought to have been given or made for periods up to and including the Completion Date, have been

submitted by the relevant Group Company to the relevant Tax authorities or the authorities competent for social security contributions and all

notices, computations and returns submitted to such Tax authorities are true, accurate and complete in all material aspects and are not the subject of

any material dispute nor are, to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties likely to become the subject of any material dispute with

such authorities. All records which any Group Company is required to keep for Tax purposes, have been duly kept and available for inspection at the

each of the Group Company’s premises.

I.7. Each Group Company has made all deductions in respect, or in account, of any Tax from any payments made by it which it is obliged or entitled to

make and has accounted in full to the appropriate authority for all amounts so deducted.

I.8. No Group Company has, within the past five years, been subject to or is currently subject to any investigation, audit or visit by any Taxation or any

authority competent for social security contributions, and no Group Company is aware of any such investigation, audit or visit planned for the next

twelve (12) months.

I.9. There are no Tax Liabilities that arise in connection with the Transactions, including any transfer, stamp, registration, sales, use, goods and services

or other similar Taxes.

I.10. Each Group Company is duly registered for the purposes of VAT in its country of incorporation and has complied with all material statutory

provisions, rules, regulations, orders and directions concerning VAT, including the making on time of accurate returns and payments and the

maintenance of records. No Group Company has made any exempt supplies in the current or preceding VAT year applicable to it and there are no

circumstances by reason of which there might not be a full entitlement to credit for all VAT chargeable on supplies and acquisitions received and

imports made (or agreed or deemed to be received or made) by it.



I.11. With respect to Service Providers, each Group Company has withheld or collected, and timely paid over to the appropriate Tax authorities (or is

properly holding for such timely payment), all Taxes required by law to be withheld or collected by them.

I.12. No Group Company has distributed any stock or has been the distributee in any distribution of stock.

I.13. Other than Cliff Gregory, none of the Sellers nor any beneficial owner of the Sellers is a United States taxpayer.

I.14. The taxable year of each of Group Company ends on December 31.

I.15. None of the Group Companies has made any entity classification election pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3 to be classified as

anything other than an association for U.S. federal income Tax purposes.

J. SERVICE PROVIDERS

J.1. Annex J.1 to the Disclosure Letter contains a true, accurate and complete list of all Employees employed by the Group Companies and such list

contains all the particulars of their employment, including name and gender, length of service, current salary and indirect remuneration, such as

fringe benefits, profit sharing arrangements, stock option plans, tantièmes and bonuses, severance, medical and life insurance, and other employee

welfare or benefit plans or arrangements.

J.2. Save as Disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, no sum is payable to or for the benefit of any Key Employee or Service Provider (including holiday

allowances, holiday payments etc.) and there is no scheme or arrangement in operation by or in relation to any Group Company under which any

Key Employee, Service Provider or other Person is entitled to a variable or contingent commission or remuneration of any other sort.

J.3. Annex J.3 of the Disclosure Letter contains an accurate and complete list of each Company Benefit Plan and each Service Provider Agreement.

J.4. The Service Provider Agreements are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Law and do not contain any unusual provisions.

J.5. There are no arrears in respect of the payment of salaries, fringe benefits, bonuses, pensions or other financial obligations to or in respect of the

Service Providers and no Group Company has any Liability to pay compensation for loss of office or employment or a redundancy payment to any

present or former Service Provider or any other Person or to make any other statutory payment or any payment for breach of any agreement and no

such sums have been paid (whether pursuant to a legal obligation or agreement ex-gratia) since the Accounts Date.

J.6. There are no ongoing disputes or litigations between the any Group Company and any Service Provider and to the Knowledge of the Non Investor

Indemnifying Parties, there are no circumstances which may result in any dispute involving any of the Service Providers.

J.7. There has not been made any loan or advance payment to any Service Provider which is outstanding.

J.8. No Group Company is a party to any consultancy, secondment or other agreement for the provision of services of any Person by or to any Group

Company and there are no self-employed Persons that are being



or should have been treated for Tax purposes as employees of any Group Company. No Group Company is retaining any employees through

temporary employment agencies.

J.9. Annex J.9 to the Disclosure Letter contains an overview of all pension and voluntary early retirement, death, disability, sickness obligations of the

Group Companies and of the contributions made or to be made by any Group Company with respect to such pension and voluntary early retirement

schemes. All contributions due with respect to the abovementioned pension and voluntary early retirement obligations have at all times been fully

paid or provided for in the Accounts and have been made in accordance with all applicable Law. The Accounts contain a sufficient provision for all

(contingent) pension obligations, including back service obligations as per the relevant balance sheet dates (if any).

J.10. So far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no Employee is in violation of any restrictive covenant, non-competition agreement or

any agreement relating to assignment of intellectual property, in each case, to any former employer or third party (Prior Obligations). So far as the

Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no Employee will be in violation of any Prior Obligations by becoming an employee of or performing

services for the Purchaser.

J.11. So far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, no Employee has indicated, whether verbally or in writing to the Company that he/she is,

or will be prior to the Completion, terminating his or her employment for any reason.

J.12. Save as Disclosed in Annex J.12 of the Disclosure Letter, with respect to any Service Provider, the execution of this Agreement and the

consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events) (i) result

in any payment (including severance, golden parachute, bonus or otherwise), becoming due to any Service Provider, (ii) result in any forgiveness of

indebtedness, (iii) materially increase any benefits otherwise payable by the Group Company (iv) result in any increase in or obligation to fund

benefits with respect to any Service Provider; (v) create any limitation or restriction on the right of the Company (or its successor) to merge, amend,

or terminate any Company Benefit Plan, or (vi) result in the acceleration of the time of payment, funding, or vesting of any such benefits.

J.13. Each Group Company is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, collective bargaining Contracts, orders, extension orders

and binding customs respecting labor and employment, including Laws relating to employment practices, terms and conditions of employment,

discrimination, disability, fair labor standards, workers compensation, wrongful discharge, immigration, occupational safety and health, family and

medical leave, wages and hours (including overtime wages), worker classification, equal opportunity, pay equity, meal and rest periods, and

employee terminations. In each case, with respect to any Service Provider: (i) has withheld and reported all amounts required by Law or by Contract

to be withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments to Service Providers; (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages,

severance pay or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing; and (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other

fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any governmental entity, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or

other benefits or obligations for Service Providers (other than routine payments to be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past

practice). No Group Company has any Liability with respect to any misclassification of (A) any Person or Employee located in the U.S. as an

independent contractor rather than as an employee; (B) any Service Provider



leased from another employer; or (C) any Employee located in the U.S. currently or formerly classified as exempt from overtime wages.

J.14. No Group Company is a party to any collective bargaining Contracts, and there are no labor unions or other organizations representing, purporting to

represent or attempting to represent, any Service Provider. No collective bargaining Contract is being negotiated by any Group Company relating to

any Service Provider. So far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, there are not any strikes, labor disputes, concerted refusal to work

overtime, slowdowns, work stoppages, lockouts or threats thereof, by or with respect to any Service Provider. No Group Company has engaged in

any unfair labor practices within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act or any similar applicable Law.

K. LITIGATION

K.1. Neither any Group Company nor or any Person for whose acts or defaults such Group Company may be liable, is engaged in any dispute in the sense

of any civil, criminal, administrative, arbitration, regulatory or other proceedings, claims, investigations, inquiries, actions (including disciplinary),

suits, audits, reviews or prosecutions in any jurisdiction and none of the foregoing is pending or threatened by or against any Group Company or any

Person for whose acts or defaults the relevant Group Company is liable, or any of the properties, assets, managers, officers or employees (in their

capacities as such or relating to their employment, services or relationship with the Company) of the foregoing.

K.2. So far as the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties are aware, there is no fact or circumstance which is likely to give rise to any dispute as referred to in

paragraph K.1.

K.3. No Group Company is, or has been in the past, the subject of any investigation, inquiry or enforcement proceedings by any Governmental Authority

nor are the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties aware of anything which is likely to give rise to any such investigation, inquiry or proceedings.

K.4. There is no outstanding judgement, order, writ, injunction, decree, arbitral award or decision of a court, tribunal, arbitrator or other Governmental

Authority in any jurisdiction against any Group Company or to which any Group Company is subject.

K.5. There is no action by the Company currently pending or which the Company intends to initiate.

K.6. There is no private or governmental action, suit, proceeding, claim, audit, review, arbitration or investigation of any nature (Action) pending, or to

the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, threatened, against such Non Investor Indemnifying Party or any of such Non Investor

Indemnifying Party’s properties (whether tangible or intangible), arising out of or relating to (i) the Non Investor Indemnifying Party ’s beneficial

ownership of the Shares, (ii) the Non Investor Indemnifying Party’s capacity as a shareholder and managing director of the Company, (iii) this

Agreement or any of the Transaction Agreements or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (iv) any contribution, assignment, sale or

transfer of assets (tangible and intangible) by such Non Investor Indemnifying Party (or any of its Affiliates) to the Company (or any of its

Affiliates), or (v) any other Contract between such Non Investor Indemnifying Party (or any of its Affiliates) and the Company (or any of its

Affiliates), nor to the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties is there any reasonable basis therefor. There is no Action pending or, to

the knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, threatened against such Non Investor Indemnifying Party with respect to which such Non

Investor Indemnifying Party has a right, pursuant to Contract, applicable Law or otherwise, to indemnification from the Company related



to facts and circumstances existing prior to Completion, nor are there any facts or circumstances that would give rise to such an Action.

L. NO FINDER’S FEES

L.1. The Company has not incurred, and will not incur, directly or indirectly, any Liability for brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’ commissions, fees

related to investment banking or similar advisory services or any similar charges in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated

hereby, nor will the Purchaser or the Company incur, directly or indirectly, any such Liability based on arrangements made by or on behalf of the

Company.

M. RESTRICTIONS ON BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

M.1. Except as disclosed in Annex M.1 to the Disclosure Letter, there is no Contract (non-competition or otherwise) to which the Company is a party or

judgment, injunction, order or decree binding upon the Company which restricts or prohibits, purports to restrict or prohibit, has or would reasonably

be expected to have, whether before or after the Completion, the effect of prohibiting, restricting or impairing any current or presently proposed

business practice of the Company, any acquisition of property by the Company or the conduct or operation of the Business. Without limiting the

generality of the foregoing, the Company has not entered into any Contract under which the Company is restricted from selling, licensing,

manufacturing, delivering or otherwise distributing or commercializing any Company Intellectual Property Rights or Company Products or from

providing services to any customers or class of customers, or any potential customers or class of customers, in any geographic area, during any

period of time, or in any segment of the market, including by means of any grant of exclusivity, or from hiring or soliciting potential employees,

consultants or independent contractors.

N. INTERESTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

N.1. No Non Investor Indemnifying Party, no Group Company nor any of their shareholders, officers or managing directors, or Key Employee (nor, to the

knowledge of the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties, any ancestor, sibling, descendant or spouse of any of such persons, or any trust, partnership or

corporation in which any of such persons has or has had an interest) (each, an Interested Party), has or has had, directly or indirectly, (i) any interest

in any Person that licensed or licenses from or to, purchased or purchases from, purchased or purchases from, sold or sells or furnished or furnishes

to any Group Company any services, products, technology or Intellectual Property Rights or (ii) any interest in any Person that purchases from or

sells or furnishes to a Group Company any goods or services or (iii) any interest in, or is a party to, any Contract to which a Group Company is a

party; provided, however, that ownership of no more than one percent (1%) of the outstanding voting stock of a publicly traded corporation shall not

be deemed to be an “interest in any entity” for purposes of this Clause N.1.

N.2. All transactions pursuant to which any Interested Party has purchased any services, products, or technology from, or sold or furnished any services,

products, technology or Intellectual Property Rights to, any Group Company that were entered into on or after the inception of such Group Company

have been on an arm’s length basis on terms no less favorable to such Group Company than would be available from an unaffiliated party.

O. DISCLOSURES



O.1. The Non Investor Indemnifying Parties have Disclosed to the Purchaser all information and facts relating to the Group Companies and the Business

which are or may be material for disclosure to a purchaser of the Shares on the terms of this Agreement and all information and facts so disclosed are

true and accurate in all material respects. No representation or warranty by the Non Investor Indemnifying Parties in this Agreement and no

statement in the Disclosure Letter or any certificate or other document furnished or to be furnished to the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement

contains any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the

circumstances in which they are made, not misleading.

O.2. There is no material fact or circumstance relating to the affairs of any Group Company which has a materially adverse effect on any Group Company

and the Business and which has not been Disclosed to the Purchaser.

SCHEDULE 5: THE PURCHASER’S WARRANTIES

1. The Purchaser is duly incorporated and validly exists under the laws of the State of Delaware.

2. The Purchaser has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute this Agreement and to effectuate the transactions contemplated hereby, all

corporate action necessary to validly and duly authorize the execution and performance of the Agreement and the transactions contemplated

hereby has been taken and such entry and performance will not breach, violate, infringe or otherwise affect the rights of any other Person.

3. This Agreement and all other documents to be executed in accordance with it constitute, or will when executed constitute, binding obligations on the

Purchaser and are enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.

4. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Agreements, the performance by the Purchaser of its obligations hereunder and

thereunder, nor the consummation of the Transactions does or will conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under

(with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) or require the consent, waiver, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, qualification,

designation, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Authority under any provisions of, any Law applicable to the Purchaser.

5. Purchaser has and will have at Completion sufficient funds available to pay the Consideration and any expenses incurred by the Purchaser in connection

with the Transactions.

6. The Purchaser is not Insolvent. No matters or circumstances exist which might give rise to the Purchaser becoming Insolvent.

20.    

SCHEDULE 6: WARRANTY LIMITATIONS

General

1. The Sellers’ Warranties are given subject to facts, matters or other information fully, specifically and fairly disclosed in the Disclosed Information in

such a manner and with such detail that a prudent individual who is knowledgeable in the relevant field reviewing the relevant information should

have reasonably assessed the financial, legal, commercial or other relevance and consequences of such disclosure (Disclosed). Notwithstanding the

foregoing, (i) the disclosures set forth in the Disclosure Letter shall be organized under separate section and subsection references that correspond to

the paragraphs and subsections of Schedule 4 (Sellers’ Warranties) to which such disclosure relates, (ii) the disclosure set forth in a particular section

or subsection of the Disclosure Letter shall qualify (A) the representations and warranties set forth in the corresponding section or subsections of

Schedule 4 (Sellers’ Warranties) and (B) such other representations and warranties set forth in Schedule 4 (Sellers’ Warranties) if, and solely to the

extent that, upon a reading of the disclosure, without any independent knowledge of the subject matter thereof or the contents of any documents

referenced therein, such disclosure is reasonably apparent from the face of such disclosure to apply to such other representations and warranties and

(iii) the disclosures set forth in the Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to be representations and warranties made by the Sellers to the Purchaser under

Schedule 4 (Sellers’ Warranties).

2. Each of the Sellers’ Warranties set out in Schedule 4 is separate and independent and, except as expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement,

is not limited by a reference to any other paragraphs of Schedule 4 and/or anything in this Agreement.

Disclosed Information

3. Except with respect to breaches of paragraph H (Tax), the Sellers shall not be liable for any Warranty Breach in respect of any matters that were

Disclosed in the Disclosed Information or excepted (as the case may be) in the Sellers’ Warranties themselves and/or otherwise in this Agreement.



Time limitations

4. All Warranty Claims are subject to a limitation period of 18 months following the Completion Date (the Limitation Period). The Limitation Period

does not apply:

(a) to Fundamental Warranty Claims, which shall terminate after the lapse of the statutory limitation period, except to the extent a later date is

provided below; and/or

(b) to Fundamental Warranty Claims relating to the Sellers’ Warranties referred to in paragraph I (Tax), which shall terminate three (3) months

after the expiry of the statutory limitation period for the assessment of liability with respect to the relevant Taxes; and/or

(c) to IP Warranty Claims, which shall terminate thirty-six (36) months following the Completion Date;

(d) in connection with a Warranty Claim with respect to a particular Seller to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud,

intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the Transaction committed by such Seller or fraud, intentional

misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge, including any

Warranty Claim in relation to Tax, where any relevant Governmental Authorities alleges fraud, default, negligent conduct or conduct

involving dishonesty on the part of any Seller and/or any Group Company or in relation to the matter giving rise to such Warranty Claim,

which shall survive without limitation or until such time as the allegation from the Governmental Authority has been dismissed with

prejudice or has been determined by a final and non-appealable judgment to have been without merit, or barred through the lapse of time.

Minimum claims

5. A Warranty Claim shall only be permitted if the aggregate Losses resulting from one or more Warranty Breaches exceeds the amount of $500,000

(five hundred thousand U.S. dollars) in which case the full amount of Losses can be claimed (the Threshold). No individual Loss for a Warranty

Claim, which is less than $25,000 (twenty five thousand) shall be taken into account and shall be disregarded for all purposes (the Per Claim

Threshold).

6. Neither the Threshold nor the Per Claim Threshold shall apply to (a) Fundamental Warranty Claims and/or (b) with respect to a particular Seller in

connection with a Warranty Claim to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach

in connection with the Transaction committed by such Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the

Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge, including any Warranty Claim in relation to Tax, where any relevant Governmental

Authorities alleges fraud, default, negligent conduct or conduct involving dishonesty on the part of any Seller and/or any Group Company or in

relation to the matter giving rise to such Warranty Claim, which shall survive without limitation or until such time as the allegation from the

Governmental Authority has been dismissed with prejudice or has been determined by a final and non-appealable judgment to have been without

merit, or barred through the lapse of time.

Maximum liability

7. Except for Warranty Claims to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in

connection with the Transaction committed by such Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the

Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge:

(a) the maximum liability of each Investor Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all Warranty Claims (other than such Investor

Indemnifying Party’s own Personal Fundamental Warranty Claims), taken together with any and all liabilities under Clause 11.1 (Seller’s

Indemnities) shall be an amount equal to its Pro Rata Part of the Indemnity Escrow Amount then remaining in the Indemnity Escrow

Account; and

(b) the maximum liability of each Investor Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all Personal Fundamental Warranty Claims with respect to

such Investor Indemnifying Party’s own Personal Fundamental Warranties shall be an amount equal to the amount of Consideration actually

paid to such Seller.

8. Except for Warranty Claims to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in

connection with the Transaction committed by such Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the

Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge:

(a) the maximum liability of each Non Investor Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all Warranty Claims (other than IP Warranty Claims

and Fundamental Warranty Claims) shall be an amount equal to its Pro Rata Part of the Indemnity Escrow Amount then remaining in the

Indemnity Escrow Account;

(b) the maximum liability of each Non Investor Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all IP Warranty Claims shall be an amount equal to its



Pro Rata Part of 50% of the Consideration (provided that any forfeited Holdback Payment shall reduce the Pro Rata Part of the Company

Holding); and

(c) the maximum liability of each Non Investor Indemnifying Party in respect of any and all Fundamental Warranty Claims shall be an amount

equal to its Pro Rata Part of 100% of the Consideration;

9. Subject to the terms and conditions in this Agreement, except for (a) Claims to the extent related to, arising out of or resulting from fraud, intentional

misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the Transaction committed by such Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or

willful breach in connection with the Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge and (b) Personal Fundamental Warranty Claims, each of

the Sellers shall separately be liable, in proportion to its Pro Rata Part, in respect of any Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, the Sellers shall not be

jointly and severally (hoofdelijk) liable for any Claim of the Purchaser.

10. For the purpose of determining not only whether a breach, inaccuracy or failure of a Sellers’ Warranty has occurred but also the amount of Losses

suffered for the purposes of a Warranty Claim, such Sellers’ Warranty shall be deemed to be made without any qualification or limitation as to

materiality or similar concept (except with respect to the Contracts identified in Paragraph D.1 and the definition of “Material Contracts”).

11. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, nothing in this Agreement shall limit a Seller’s liability (or the source of the Purchaser’s recovery

in respect thereof) in the case of fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the Transaction committed by such

Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the Transaction of which such Seller has actual knowledge,

and in such case, the Purchaser can recover any and all of its Losses related to, arising out of or resulting from such items directly from such Seller.

12. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the maximum total Liability for each Seller for Claims shall not exceed the amount of

Consideration actually paid to such Seller other than in case of fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the

Transaction committed by such Seller or fraud, intentional misrepresentation and/or willful breach in connection with the Transaction of which such

Seller has actual knowledge.

Exclusive remedy

13. From and after the Completion, Claims against any or all of the Sellers and claims under the Warranty Insurance shall be the sole and exclusive

remedy of any Indemnified Party for monetary damages in connection with the Sellers’ Warranties and the Indemnities; provided, however, that

nothing in this Agreement shall limit the right of the Purchaser or any other Indemnified Party to pursue (a) specific performance, injunctive relief or

other non-monetary equitable remedies with respect to any breach of any covenant or other agreement contained herein (but not, for the avoidance of

doubt, with respect to any breach of any of the Sellers’ Warranties and Indemnities (except with respect to any breach of any of the covenants,

agreements or obligations made by Sellers in this Agreement)) or (b) remedies against any Person who committed fraud.

Matters arising after the Completion Date

14. The Sellers shall not be liable in respect of a Warranty Claim in respect of any matter, act, omission or circumstance arising after the Completion

Date to the extent that the same would not have occurred but for:

(a) the passing of, or any change in any Law or administrative practice of any Governmental Authority after the Completion, not actually in

effect at Completion; or

(b) any change in any accounting policy, basis or practice of the Purchaser introduced or having effect after the Completion.

Duty to mitigate

15. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to relieve the Purchaser from any duty to take reasonable steps to mitigate any Loss suffered or incurred

by it as a result of any of the Sellers’ Warranties being untrue or inaccurate to the extent required by applicable Laws.



SCHEDULE 7: PROTECTIVE COVENANTS

1. Non-Compete and non-solicitation obligations

Each Non Investor Indemnifying Party and each Founder covenants and agrees with the Purchaser and the Group that, from the Signing Date, neither

such Non Investor Indemnifying Party nor such Founder, as the case may be, nor its or his respective Affiliates, its or his respective directors and

their respective spouses (whether alone or jointly with another Person and whether directly or indirectly and whether as shareholder, partner,

promoter, director, officer, agent, manager, employee or consultant in or to any other Person), shall, without the prior written consent of the

Purchaser:

(a) directly or indirectly, incorporate, establish or engage (and shall immediately cease to engage if currently so engaged) in any Competing

Business anywhere in the world (the Territory);

(b) acquire or hold an interest in or have a joint venture or other cooperative arrangement with any firm or company which is engaged in any

Competing Business in the Territory;

(c) solicit or endeavour to entice away or discourage from dealing with any Group Company or the Purchaser, any client, customer or supplier

or other Person, who is at the time of the purported solicitation, enticement or discouragement was during the 12 (twelve) months prior

thereto a client, supplier, or customer of a Group Company;

(d) supply or provide any services in, or competitive with those in, any Competing Business, to any Person who is at the time of the supply or

provision or was during the 12 (twelve) months prior thereto a customer of a Group Company; or

(e) solicit, entice away or endeavour to entice away, engage, hire or employ, in each case directly or indirectly, any employee of a Group

Company or the Purchaser.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is acknowledged and agreed that Cliff Gregory shall not be in breach of the covenants set forth in this Clause 1 of

Schedule 7 due to engaging in the business of SecurityMatters LLC, to the extent expressly permitted by the agreement between the Company and

SecurityMatters LLC, as amended in the Agreed Form pursuant to Clause 5.1.2(h) of the Agreement.

2. Duration

Each of the covenants contained in paragraph 1 of this Schedule 7 shall be deemed to constitute a separate covenant and shall be construed

independently of the others and each of these covenants shall remain valid for the period of tw0 (2) years from the Completion Date.

3. Reduction period or scope

Each of the Parties hereby agrees that each of the covenants contained in paragraph 1 of this Schedule 7 is reasonable and necessary for the

protection of the Purchaser’s and the Company’s interests in the Business. If, however, a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that any of

the covenants in paragraph 1 of this Schedule 7 is unenforceable by reason of the given period of time or the geographic scope stated herein, then the

period of time and/or geographic scope shall be reduced to the maximum period or scope which would be enforceable.

4. Penalty



In the event of any Non Investor Indemnifying Party or any Founder breaching any of the covenants contained in paragraph 1 of this Schedule 7, it

shall without any prior notice or other action or formality being required, become liable to the Purchaser and/or the relevant Group Company for an

immediately due and payable penalty amounting to $50,000 for each infringement and to $10,000 for each day such breach will continue, without

any damage or loss requiring to be proven and without prejudice to the right of the Purchaser and/or the relevant Group Company to claim additional

damages.

SCHEDULE 8-A: WARRANTY INSURANCE

[see attached]

SCHEDULE 8-B: WARRANTY INSURANCE COSTS

[see attached]

SCHEDULE 9-A: KEY EMPLOYEES

1. Bolzoni, Damiano    

2. Brown, David    

3. Constante, Elisa    

4. Schade, Christiaan    

5. Trivellato, Daniel    

6. van Westering, Christiaan    

7. Zambon, Emmanuele    



SCHEDULE 9-B: REPRICED OPTION HOLDERS

1. Distler, Dennis

2. Murphy, Dennis

3. Nuth, Thomas

4. Proctor, Brian



SCHEDULE 9-C: DESIGNATED PROMISED OPTION HOLDERS

1. Brown, David

2. Distler, Dennis

3. Proctor, Brian



SCHEDULE 10: Disclosed Contracts

[see attached]



SCHEDULE 11: SPECIFIED INDEMNITY MATTERS

1. Any Tax Liabilities (including social security contributions, penalties, costs, fees, interests and charges) of the Group resulting from any consultancy,

or management agreements with any Person being requalified by the competent Tax authorities as an employment agreement.

2. Any Tax Liabilities of the Group resulting from the Permanent Establishment in Spain.

3. Any failure by a Group Company to acquire from any Service Provider or other Person who developed or created any Intellectual Property Rights or

Technology for any Group Company, a valid, proper, enforceable, sufficient, and timely assignment of that Intellectual Property Right or Technology

(to the extent that the termination of employment or engagement with that Group Company regarding that employee, consultant, or Person occurred

before September 2016).

4. Any failure to comply with the General Data Protection Regulation or to implement appropriate security plans, procedures and facilities to ensure

compliance by the Group with the General Data Protection Regulation.



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF FORESCOUT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Forescout Technologies KK (Japan)
Forescout Technologies GmBH (Germany)
Forescout Technologies UK Ltd (UK)

Forescout Technologies UK Ltd - NRE (Spain)
Forescout Technologies UK Ltd - NRE (France)
Forescout Technologia Promocao de Vendas (Brazil)
Forescout Technologies (India) Pvt. Ltd
Forescout Technologies FZ-LLC (UAE)
Forescout Technologies Pty Ltd (Australia)
Forescout Technologies, S. de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico)
Forescout Technologies UK Limited - External Co. Branch (Republic of So. Africa)
Forescout Technologies Sweden filial-Branch (Sweden)
Forescout Technologies UK Ltd - Rep Office (Italy)
Forescout Technologies UK Ltd - Rep Office (Philippines)

Forescout Government Solutions, LLC (USA)
Forescout Technologies Israel Ltd. (Israel)
Forescout Technologies Canada Inc. (Canada)
Forescout Technologies Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)
Forescout Technologies Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kong)

Forescout Software Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
Forescout Technologies B.V. (Netherlands) - formerly SecurityMatters B.V.

Forescout Technologies Americas Inc. (formerly SecurityMatters, Americas)
SecurityMatters B.V. Sucursal en España - Rep Office (Spain)



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-223429) pertaining to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan and 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Forescout
Technologies Inc., and

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-221193) pertaining to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 2000 Stock
Option and Incentive Plan of Forescout Technologies Inc.;

of our reports dated March 1, 2019, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Forescout Technologies, Inc and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Forescout Technologies, Inc, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2018.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
San Francisco, California
March 1, 2019



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael DeCesare, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ForeScout Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 1, 2019 /s/ Michael DeCesare
 Michael DeCesare
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christopher Harms, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ForeScout Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 1, 2019  /s/ Christopher Harms
  Christopher Harms
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael DeCesare, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of ForeScout Technologies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2018, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of ForeScout Technologies, Inc.

March 1, 2019 /s/ Michael DeCesare
 Michael DeCesare
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christopher Harms, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of ForeScout Technologies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2018, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of ForeScout Technologies, Inc.

March 1, 2019 /s/ Christopher Harms
 Christopher Harms
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)


